

Numéro177PROJECTIONS, MULTIPLIERSNouvelle sérieAND DECOMPOSABLE MAPSON NONCOMMUTATIVE L^p-SPACES

C. ARHANCET & C. KRIEGLER

2 0 2 3

SOCIÉTÉ MATHÉMATIQUE DE FRANCE

Comité de rédaction

Boris ADAMCZEWSKI Christine BACHOC François CHARLES François DAHMANI Béatrice de TILLIÈRE Clotilde FERMANIAN Dorothee FREY Wendy LOWEN Laurent MANIVEL Julien MARCHÉ Eva VIEHMANN

Marc HERZLICH (dir.)

Diffusion

Maison de la SMF Case 916 - Luminy 13288 Marseille Cedex 9 France commandes@smf.emath.fr AMS P.O. Box 6248 Providence RI 02940 USA www.ams.org

Tarifs

Vente au numéro : 43 € (\$65) Abonnement électronique : 113 € (\$170) Abonnement avec supplément papier : 167 €, hors Europe : 197 € (\$296) Des conditions spéciales sont accordées aux membres de la SMF.

Secrétariat

Mémoires de la SMF Société Mathématique de France Institut Henri Poincaré, 11, rue Pierre et Marie Curie 75231 Paris Cedex 05, France Tél : (33) 01 44 27 67 99 • Fax : (33) 01 40 46 90 96 memoires@smf.emath.fr • http://smf.emath.fr/

© Société Mathématique de France 2023

Tous droits réservés (article L 122-4 du Code de la propriété intellectuelle). Toute représentation ou reproduction intégrale ou partielle faite sans le consentement de l'éditeur est illicite. Cette représentation ou reproduction par quelque procédé que ce soit constituerait une contrefaçon sanctionnée par les articles L 335-2 et suivants du CPI.

ISSN papier 0249-633-X; électronique : 2275-3230 ISBN 978-85629-971-5 doi:10.24033/msmf.485

Directeur de la publication : Fabien DURAND

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 177

PROJECTIONS, MULTIPLIERS AND DECOMPOSABLE MAPS ON NONCOMMUTATIVE L^p-SPACES

Cédric Arhancet Christoph Kriegler

Société Mathématique de France 2023

C. Arhancet

6 rue Didier Daurat, 81000 Albi, France.

E-mail: cedric.arhancet@protonmail.com

C. Kriegler

Université Clermont Auvergne, CNRS, LMBP, F-63 000 Clermont-Ferrand, France. *E-mail* : christoph.kriegler@uca.fr

Soumis le 21 juin 2019, révisé le 27 janvier 2021, accepté le 11 janvier 2022.

2000 *Mathematics Subject Classification.* – 46L51, 46L07, 43A07, 43A15, 43A22, 43A30, 43A35, 43A40, 46L52, 47L25.

Key words and phrases. – Noncommutative L^p -spaces, operator spaces, regular operators, decomposable operators, Fourier multipliers, Schur multipliers, factorizable maps, complementations, Chabauty-Fell topology.

Mots clefs. – Espaces L^p non commutatifs, espaces d'opérateurs, opérateurs réguliers, opérateurs décomposables, multiplicateurs de Fourier, multiplicateurs de Schur, applications factorisables, complémentations, topologie de Chabauty-Fell.

We dedicate this book to our families: Clément, Lise, Nina, Christine, Raphael and Clara.

PROJECTIONS, MULTIPLIERS AND DECOMPOSABLE MAPS ON NONCOMMUTATIVE L^p-SPACES

Cédric Arhancet, Christoph Kriegler

Abstract. – We introduce a noncommutative analogue of the absolute value of a regular operator acting on a noncommutative L^p -space. We equally prove that two classical operator norms, the regular norm and the decomposable norm are identical. We also describe precisely the regular norm of several classes of regular multipliers. This includes Schur multipliers and Fourier multipliers on some unimodular locally compact groups which can be approximated by discrete groups in various senses. A main ingredient is to show the existence of a bounded projection from the space of completely bounded L^p operators onto the subspace of Schur or Fourier multipliers, preserving complete positivity. On the other hand, we show the existence of bounded Fourier multipliers which cannot be approximated by regular operators, on large classes of locally compact groups, including all infinite abelian locally compact groups. We finish by introducing a general procedure in order to prove positive results on selfadjoint contractively decomposable Fourier multipliers, beyond the amenable case.

Résumé (Projections, multiplicateurs et applications décomposables sur des L^p -espaces non commutatifs)

On introduit un analogue non commutatif de la valeur absolue d'un opérateur régulier agissant sur un espace L^p non commutatif. Nous prouvons également que deux normes classiques d'opérateurs, la norme régulière et la norme décomposable sont identiques. On décrit aussi précisément la norme régulière de plusieurs classes de multiplicateurs réguliers. Cela inclut les multiplicateurs de Schur et les multiplicateurs de Fourier sur certains groupes localement compacts unimodulaires qui peuvent être approximés par des groupes discrets dans des sens variés. Le principal ingrédient est l'existence d'une projection bornée de l'espace des opérateurs complètement bornés sur l'espace des multiplicateurs de Schur ou de Fourier, préservant la positivité complète. Par ailleurs, on montre l'existence de multiplicateurs de Fourier bornés qui ne peuvent être approximés par des opérateurs réguliers, sur de larges classes de groupes

localement compacts, incluant tous les groupes localement compacts abéliens infinis. On termine en introduisant une procédure générale pour prouver des résultats positifs sur les multiplicateurs de Fourier contractivement décomposables autoadjoints, au-delà du cas moyennable.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Preliminaries 2.1. Noncommutative L ^p -spaces and operator spaces 2.2. Matrix ordered operator spaces 2.3. Relations between matricial orderings and norms 2.4. Positive and completely positive maps on noncommutative L ^p -spaces 2.5. Completely positive maps on commutative L ^p -spaces 2.6. Markov maps and selfadjoint maps	9 9 12 16 17 19 20
3.	 Decomposable maps and regular maps 3.1. Preliminary results 3.2. On the infimum of the decomposable norm 3.3. The Banach space of decomposable operators 3.4. Reduction to the adjoint preserving case 3.5. Decomposable vs regular on Schatten spaces 3.6. Decomposable vs regular on approximately finite-dimensional algebras 3.7. Modulus of regular operators vs 2×2 matrix of decomposable operators 3.8. Decomposable vs completely bounded 	$23 \\ 23 \\ 27 \\ 28 \\ 32 \\ 36 \\ 39 \\ 46 \\ 50$
4.	 Decomposable Schur multipliers and Fourier multipliers on discrete groups 4.1. Twisted von Neumann algebras 4.2. Complementation for Schur multipliers and Fourier multipliers on discrete groups 4.3. Description of the decomposable norm of multipliers 	59 59 62 66
5.	Approximation by discrete groups5.1. Preliminaries5.2. Different notions of groups approximable by discrete groups5.3. The case of second countable compactly generated locally compact groups	71 71 73 78
6.	 Decomposable Fourier multipliers on non-discrete locally compact groups 6.1. Generalities on Fourier multipliers on unimodular groups 6.2. The completely bounded homomorphism theorem for Fourier multipliers 6.3. Extension of Fourier multipliers 	81 81 92 95

	6.4. Groups approximable by lattice subgroups				
	6.5. Examples of computations of the density				
	6.6. Pro-discrete groups				
	6.7. Amenable groups and convolutors				
	6.8. Description of the decomposable norm of multipliers				
7.	Strongly and CB-strongly non decomposable operators				
	7.1. Definitions				
	7.2. Strongly non regular completely bounded Fourier multipliers o	n abelian			
	groups				
	7.3. Strongly non regular completely bounded convolutors on no	n-abelian			
	groups				
	7.4. CB-strongly non decomposable Schur multipliers				
	7.5. CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multipliers				
	7.6. CB-strongly non decomposable operators on approximately fini	te-dimen.			
	algebras				
8.	Property (\mathcal{P}) and decomposable Fourier multipliers	161			
	8.1. A characterization of selfadjoint contractively decomposable mu	ltipliers . 161			
	8.2. Factorizability of some matrix block multipliers				
	8.3. Application to the noncommutative Matsaev inequality				
Bi	Bibliography173				

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The absolute value |T| and the regular norm $||T||_{reg}$ of a regular operator T already appear in the seminal work of Kantorovich [116] on operators on linear ordered spaces. These constructions essentially rely on the structure of (Dedekind complete) Banach lattices. These notions are of central importance in the theory of linear operators between Banach lattices, including classical L^p-spaces, since the absolute value is a positive operator. Indeed it is well-known that positive contractions are well-behaved operators. Actually, contractively regular operators on L^p-spaces share in general the same nice properties as contractions on Hilbert spaces. We refer to the books [1], [133] and [156] and to the papers [147] and [142] for more information.

Due to the lack of local unconditional structure, on a Schatten space and more generally on a noncommutative L^p -space, the canonical order on the space of selfadjoint elements does not induce a structure of a Banach lattice, see [57, Chapter 17] and [148, page 1478]. Nevertheless, there exists a purely Banach space characterization of regular operators on classical L^p -spaces [101, Theorem 2.7.2] which says that a linear operator $T: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega')$ is regular if and only if for any Banach space X the map $T \otimes Id_X$ induces a bounded operator between the Bochner spaces $L^p(\Omega, X)$ and $L^p(\Omega', X)$. In this case, the regular norm is given by

(1.0.1)
$$\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg},\operatorname{L}^{p}(\Omega)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(\Omega')} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sup_{X} \|T\otimes\operatorname{Id}_{X}\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(\Omega,X)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(\Omega',X)},$$

where the supremum runs over all Banach spaces X. Using this property, a natural extension of this notion for noncommutative L^p -spaces is introduced in [143]. A linear map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ between noncommutative L^p -spaces, associated with approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras M and N, is called regular if for any noncommutative Banach space E (that is, an operator space), the map $T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E$ induces a bounded operator between the vector-valued noncommutative L^p -spaces $L^p(M, E)$ and $L^p(N, E)$. As in the commutative case, the regular norm is defined by

(1.0.2)
$$\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sup_E \|T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_E\|_{L^p(M, E) \to L^p(N, E)},$$

where the supremum runs over all operator spaces E. For classical L^{*p*}-spaces, this norm coincides with (1.0.1). Nevertheless, the paper [143] does not give a definition of the absolute value of a regular operator and the definition of the latter is only usable for *approximately finite-dimensional* von Neumann algebras.

In this paper, we define a noncommutative analogue of the absolute value of a regular operator acting on an arbitrary noncommutative L^p -space for any $1 \le p \le \infty$. For that, recall that a linear map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable [85, 112] if there exist linear maps $v_1, v_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that the linear map

$$(1.0.3) \quad \Phi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^{\circ} & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \colon S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(N)), \quad \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \mapsto \begin{bmatrix} v_1(a) & T(b) \\ T^{\circ}(c) & v_2(d) \end{bmatrix}$$

is completely positive (a stronger condition than positivity of operators) where $T^{\circ}(c) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} T(c^{*})^{*}$ and where $S_{2}^{p}(L^{p}(M))$ and $S_{2}^{p}(L^{p}(N))$ are vector-valued Schatten spaces. In this case, v_{1} and v_{2} are completely positive and the decomposable norm of T is defined by

(1.0.4)
$$||T||_{\operatorname{dec}, \operatorname{L}^{p}(M) \to \operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} \stackrel{\operatorname{def}}{=} \inf \{ \max\{||v_{1}||, ||v_{2}||\} \},\$$

where the infimum is taken over all maps v_1 and v_2 . See the books [29], [68] and [146] for more information on this classical notion in the case $p = \infty$. If 1 andif <math>M and N are approximately finite-dimensional, it is alluded in the introduction of [112] that these maps coincide with the regular maps. First, we greatly strengthen this statement by showing that the regular norm $||T||_{\operatorname{reg}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}$ and the decomposable norm $||T||_{\operatorname{dec}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}$ are identical for a regular map T (see Theorem 3.24). Hence, the decomposable norm is an extension of the regular norm for noncommutative L^p -spaces associated to arbitrary von Neumann algebras. Moreover, we prove that if $T: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega')$ is a regular operator between classical L^p -spaces then the map $\begin{bmatrix} |T| & T\\ T^\circ & |T| \end{bmatrix} : S_2^p(L^p(\Omega)) \to S_2^p(L^p(\Omega'))$ is completely positive (Theorem 3.27) where $|T|: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega')$ denotes the absolute value of T. In addition, we show that the infimum (1.0.4) is actually a minimum (Proposition 3.5). Consequently, the map (1.0.3) with some v_1, v_2 which realize the infimum (1.0.4) can be seen as a natural noncommutative analogue of the absolute value |T| although we have no uniqueness results for v_1 and v_2 .

The ingredients of the identification of the decomposable norm and the regular norm involve a reduction of the problem on noncommutative L^p -spaces to the case of finite-dimensional Schatten spaces S_n^p by approximation. Moreover, a 2×2-matrix trick gives a second reduction to adjoint preserving maps between these spaces. Finally, the case of adjoint preserving maps acting on finite-dimensional Schatten spaces is treated in Theorem 3.21. To conclude, note that the ideas of the manuscript [107] (which seems definitely postponed) could be used to define a notion of regular operator between vector-valued noncommutative L^p -spaces associated with QWEP von Neumann algebras. Of course, it is likely that the identification of the decomposable norm and the regular norm is true in this generalized context. Finally, we refer to the preprint [15] for a generalization of the notion of decomposable map and for applications to contractively complemented subspaces of noncommutative L^{p} -spaces.

The next task is devoted to identify precisely decomposable Fourier multipliers on noncommutative L^p -spaces $L^p(VN(G))$ of a group von Neumann algebra VN(G) associated to a unimodular locally compact group G. Recall that if G is a locally compact group then VN(G) is the von Neumann algebra, whose elements act on the Hilbert space $L^2(G)$, generated by the left translation unitaries $\lambda_s \colon f \mapsto f(s^{-1} \cdot), s \in G$. If G is abelian, then VN(G) is *-isomorphic to the algebra $L^{\infty}(\hat{G})$ of essentially bounded functions on the dual group \hat{G} of G. As basic models of quantum groups, they play a fundamental role in operator algebras and this task can be seen as an effort to develop L^p -Fourier analysis of non-abelian locally compact groups, see the contributions [39], [109], [110], [111], [123] and [132] in this line of research and references therein. If G is discrete, a Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ is an operator which maps λ_s to $\varphi(s)\lambda_s$, where $\varphi \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ is the symbol function (see Definition 6.3 for the general case of unimodular locally compact groups).

We connect this problem with several notions of approximation by discrete groups of the underlying locally compact group G. We are able to show that a symbol $\varphi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ inducing a decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi}: L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ already induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi}: \mathrm{VN}(G) \to \mathrm{VN}(G)$ at the level $p = \infty$ for some classes of locally compact groups. We also give a comparison between the decomposable norm at the level p and the operator norm at the level ∞ in some cases (see Theorem 4.8, Theorem 4.10, Theorem 6.45, Theorem 6.47 and Theorem 6.50). Our method for this last point relies on some constructions of compatible bounded projections at the level p = 1 and $p = \infty$ from the spaces of (weak* continuous if $p = \infty$) completely bounded operators on $\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ onto the spaces $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$ of completely bounded Fourier multipliers combined with an argument of interpolation. We highlight that the nature of the group G seems to play a central role in this problem. Indeed, mysteriously, our results are better for a pro-discrete group G than for a non-abelian nilpotent Lie group G. More precisely, let us consider the following definition ⁽¹⁾.

DEFINITION 1.1. – Let G be a (unimodular) locally compact group. We say that G has property (κ) if there exist compatible bounded projections

 $P_G^\infty \colon \mathrm{CB}_{\mathrm{w}^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{CB}_{\mathrm{w}^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \ and \ P_G^1 \colon \mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G))) \to \mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G)))$

onto $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$ and $\mathfrak{M}^{1,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$ preserving complete positivity. In this case, we introduce the constant

$$\kappa(G) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \inf \max \left\{ \left\| P_G^{\infty} \right\|_{\operatorname{CB}_{w^*}(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \to \operatorname{CB}_{w^*}(\operatorname{VN}(G))}, \left\| P_G^1 \right\|_{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^1(\operatorname{VN}(G))) \to \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^1(\operatorname{VN}(G)))} \right\},$$

where the infimum is taken over all admissible couples (P_G^{∞}, P_G^1) of compatible bounded projections and we let $\kappa(G) = \infty$ if G does not have (κ) .

^{1.} The subscript w* means "weak* continuous" and "CB" means completely bounded. The compatibility is taken in the sense of interpolation theory [22, 177].

Haagerup has essentially proved that $\kappa(G) = 1$ if G is a discrete group by a well-known average argument using the unimodularity and the compactness of the quantum group VN(G). The key novelty in our approach is the use of approximating methods by discrete groups in various senses to construct bounded projections for non-discrete groups beyond the case of a dual of a unimodular compact quantum group. If G is a second countable pro-discrete locally compact group, we are able to show that $\kappa(G) = 1$ (see Theorem 6.38). Another main result of the paper gives $\kappa(G) < \infty$ for a certain class of locally compact groups G approximable by lattice subgroups, see Corollary 6.25. Note that a straightforward duality argument combined with some results of Derighetti [53, Theorem 5], Arendt and Voigt [5, Theorem 1.1] says that if G is an abelian locally compact group then $\kappa(G) = 1$ (see Proposition 6.43). Furthermore, in most cases, we will show the existence of compatible projections P_G^p : $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))) \to \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ onto $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\operatorname{cb}}(G)$ for all $1 \leq p \leq \infty^{(2)}$. So we have a strengthening (κ') of property (κ) for some groups. It is an open question whether (κ') is really different from (κ) . Finally, in a paper [14], examples of locally compact groups without (κ) will be described and important complementary results will be given.

Using classical results from approximation properties of discrete groups, it is not difficult to see that there exist completely bounded Fourier multipliers $M_{\varphi} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ on some class of discrete groups which are not decomposable (Proposition 3.32). In Chapter 7, we focus on a more difficult task. We examine the problem to construct completely bounded operators $T \colon L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ which cannot be approximated by decomposable operators, in the sense that T does not belong to the closure $\overline{\text{Dec}(L^p(M))}$ of the space $\text{Dec}(L^p(M))$ of decomposable operators on $L^p(M)$ with respect to the operator norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^p(M)\to L^p(M)}$ (or the completely bounded norm $\|\cdot\|_{cb,L^p(M)\to L^p(M)}$).

We particularly investigate different types of multipliers. We show the existence of such completely bounded Fourier multipliers, on large classes of locally compact groups, including all infinite abelian locally compact groups (see Theorem 7.14). Note that it is impossible to find such bad multipliers on finite groups by an argument of finite dimensionality. Our strategy relies on the use of transference theorems which we prove and structure theorems on groups. It consists in dealing with all possible cases. In the abelian situation, the construction of our examples in the critical cases (e.g., if the dual group \hat{G} is an infinite totally disconnected group or an infinite torsion discrete group) is proved by a Littlewood-Paley decomposition argument on the Bochner space $L^p(G, X)$ where X is a UMD Banach space, which allows us to obtain in addition the complete boundedness of multipliers. We also examine the case of Schur multipliers. In particular, we prove that the discrete noncommutative Hilbert transform $\mathcal{H}: S^p \to S^p$ on the Schatten space S^p is not approximable by decomposable

^{2.} If $p = \infty$, replace $CB(L^p(VN(G)))$ by $CB_{w^*}(VN(G))$.

operators (Corollary 7.22). We equally deal with convolutors (Section 7.3) and operators on arbitrary noncommutative L^p -spaces associated with infinite-dimensional approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras (Theorem 7.35).

In the case of an amenable group G, transference methods [36, 40, 134] between Schur multipliers and Fourier multipliers can sometimes be used for proving theorems on selfadjoint completely bounded Fourier multipliers on VN(G), see, e.g., [9, Corollary 4.5] and [10]. We finish the paper by introducing a general procedure for proving positive results on selfadjoint contractively decomposable Fourier multipliers on *nonamenable* discrete groups relying on the new characterization of Proposition 8.2. This result should allow with reasonable effort to generalize properties which are true for unital completely positive selfadjoint Fourier multipliers by using unital completely positive selfadjoint 2×2 block matrices of Fourier multipliers. Section 8.3 illustrates this method by describing Fourier multipliers which satisfy the noncommutative Matsaev inequality (Theorem 8.6), using the new result of factorizability of such 2×2 block matrices of Fourier multipliers (Theorem 8.5).

The paper is organized as follows. Chapter 2 gives background and preliminary results. Some relations between matricial orderings and norms in Section 2.3 are fundamental to reduce the problem of the comparison of the regular norm and the decomposable norm to the adjoint preserving case. Moreover, in passing, we identify completely positive maps on classical L^p -spaces (Proposition 2.23 and Proposition 2.24).

In Chapter 3, we will investigate the notions of decomposable maps and regular maps on noncommutative L^{p} -spaces. We will see in Theorem 3.24 that on approximately finite-dimensional semifinite von Neumann algebras, the notions of decomposable and regular operators coincide isometrically. The proof of this result requires several reduction intermediate steps, such as self-adjoint maps in place of general maps (Section 3.4) and Schatten spaces in place of general noncommutative L^p -spaces (Theorem 3.21 in Section 3.5). Moreover, we investigate in this chapter the relation of the (completely) bounded norm on noncommutative L^{p} -spaces with the decomposable norm. We will see in Theorem 3.26 that for completely positive maps on L^p -spaces over approximately finite-dimensional algebras, the bounded norm and the completely bounded norm coincide. If the von Neumann algebra has QWEP, then we will see in Proposition 3.30 that the completely bounded norm is dominated by the decomposable norm, so in case of completely positive maps, the completely bounded norm, the bounded norm and the decomposable norm all coincide (Proposition 3.31). However, we will exhibit a class of concrete examples where the decomposable norm is larger than the completely bounded norm (Theorem 3.38). Finally, this chapter contains information on the infimum of the decomposable norm (Section 3.2), the absolute value |T| and decomposability of an operator T acting on a commutative L^p-space (Section 3.7) and examples of completely bounded but non decomposable Fourier multipliers on group von Neumann algebras (Proposition 3.32). We also give explicit examples of computations of the decomposable norm, see Theorem 3.37.

In the following Chapter 4, we give a generalization of the average argument of Haagerup. We will show the existence of contractive projections from some spaces of completely bounded operators onto the spaces of Fourier multipliers, Schur multipliers or even a mix of both (Theorem 4.2 and Section 4.2). This concerns *discrete* groups, possibly deformed by a 2-cocycle and we will also show the independence of the completely bounded norm and the complete positivity with respect to that 2-cocycle, for a Fourier/Schur-multiplier. So the natural framework will be the one of twisted (discrete) group von Neumann algebras, explained in Section 4.1. In particular, this covers the case of noncommutative tori when the group equals \mathbb{Z}^d . As an application, we will describe the decomposable norm of such Fourier and Schur multipliers on the L^p level and see that in the framework of this chapter, this norm equals the (completely) bounded norm on the L^{∞} level (Section 4.3).

In Chapter 5, we introduce and explore some approximation properties of locally compact groups. We connect these to some notions of approximation introduced by different authors. We clarify these properties in the large setting of second countable compactly generated locally compact groups, see Theorem 5.13.

Hereafter, Chapter 6 contains an in-depth study of decomposability of Fourier multipliers on non-discrete locally compact groups. After having introduced these Fourier multipliers and their basic properties in Section 6.1, we will show in Section 6.2 how their completely bounded norm is changed under a continuous homomorphism between two locally compact groups. In Section 6.3, we describe an extension property of Fourier multipliers which passes from a lattice subgroup to the locally compact full group. In Section 6.4, we prove Theorem 6.16 which gives a complementation for second countable unimodular locally compact groups which satisfy the *approximation by lattice subgroups by shrinking* (ALSS) property of Definition 5.3 together with a crucial density condition (6.4.2). Then in Section 6.5, we describe some concrete groups in which Theorem 6.16 applies. These examples contain direct and semidirect products of groups, groups acting on trees, a large class of locally compact abelian groups and the semi-discrete Heisenberg group. In Section 6.6, we show the complementation result for pro-discrete groups by a similar method as in Theorem 6.16, but it turns out that there is no need of a density condition in this case.

There is another notion of generalization of Fourier multipliers on non-abelian groups G, but acting on classical L^p -spaces $L^p(G)$ instead of noncommutative L^p -spaces $L^p(VN(G))$. These are the convolutors, that is, the bounded operators commuting with left translations. In Section 6.7, we show a complementation result for them on locally compact amenable groups. Then in Section 6.8 we apply our complementation to describe the decomposable norm of multipliers.

In Chapter 7, we construct completely bounded operators $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ which cannot be approximated by decomposable operators. In Proposition 3.32, we shall see that in general, the class of completely bounded operators on a noncommutative L^p -space is larger than the class of decomposable operators. In Chapter 7, we deepen this fact and show that in many situations of L^p -spaces and classes of operators on them, there are (completely) bounded operators such that in a small (norm or CB-norm) neighborhood of the operator, there is no decomposable map. This notion of (CB-)strongly non decomposable operator is defined in Section 7.1. Our first class of objects are the Fourier multipliers on abelian locally compact groups. We show in Theorem 7.14 that on all infinite locally compact abelian groups, there always exists a (CB-)strongly non decomposable Fourier multiplier on $L^{p}(G)$. By a transference procedure, this theorem extends to convolutors acting on several non-abelian locally compact groups containing infinite locally compact abelian groups (Section 7.3). Then our next goal are Schur multipliers. In Section 7.4 (see Corollary 7.22) we will show that the very classical discrete noncommutative Hilbert transform and the triangular truncation $\mathcal{T}: S^p \to S^p$ are CB-strongly non decomposable. Then we study CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multipliers on discrete non-abelian groups. We establish some general results and apply them to Riesz transforms associated with cocycles and to free Hilbert transforms (Section 7.5). Finally, we enlarge the class of spaces and consider L^p-spaces over general approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras (Section 7.6). Namely, in Theorem 7.35, we show that for $1 , <math>p \neq 2$ and for any infinite-dimensional approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebra M, there always exists a CB-strongly non decomposable operator on $L^{p}(M)$.

In Chapter 8, we study a certain property for operators on noncommutative L^{p} -spaces which is a combination of contractively decomposable and selfadjointness on $L^{2}(M)$. In general, this notion is more restrictive than being separately contractively decomposable and selfadjoint. However, in Proposition 8.2, we will see that for Fourier multipliers acting on twisted von Neumann algebras over discrete groups and a T-valued 2-cocycle, this difference disappears. As a consequence, we show in the last two Section 8.2 and Section 8.3 that for contractively decomposable and selfadjoint Fourier multipliers on twisted von Neumann algebras, the noncommutative Matsaev inequality holds.

CHAPTER 2

PRELIMINARIES

2.1. Noncommutative L^p-spaces and operator spaces

Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a semifinite normal faithful weight τ . We denote by \mathfrak{m}_{τ}^+ the set of all positive $x \in M$ such that $\tau(x) < \infty$ and \mathfrak{m}_{τ} its complex linear span which is a weak* dense *-subalgebra of M. If \mathfrak{n}_{τ} is the left ideal of all $x \in M$ such that $\tau(x^*x) < \infty$ then we have

(2.1.1)
$$\mathfrak{m}_{\tau} = \operatorname{span} \{ y^* z : y, z \in \mathfrak{n}_{\tau} \}.$$

Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. If τ is in addition a trace then for any $x \in \mathfrak{m}_{\tau}$, the operator $|x|^p$ belongs to \mathfrak{m}_{τ}^+ and we set $||x||_{L^p(M)} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \tau(|x|^p)^{\frac{1}{p}}$. The noncommutative L^p -space $L^p(M)$ is the completion of \mathfrak{m}_{τ} with respect to the norm $||\cdot||_{L^p(M)}$. One sets $L^{\infty}(M) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} M$. We refer to [148], and the references therein, for more information on these spaces. The subspace $M \cap L^p(M)$ is dense in $L^p(M)$. The positive cone $L^p(M)_+$ of $L^p(M)$ is given by

(2.1.2)
$$L^{p}(M)_{+} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{y^{*}y : y \in L^{2p}(M)\}.$$

We also have the following dual description.

PROPOSITION 2.1. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a normal semifinite faithful trace. Suppose $1 \le p < \infty$. We have

$$(2.1.3) \quad \mathcal{L}^{p}(M)_{+} = \left\{ x \in \mathcal{L}^{p}(M) : \langle x, y \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M), \mathcal{L}^{p^{*}}(M)} \ge 0 \text{ for any } y \in \mathcal{L}^{p^{*}}(M)_{+} \right\}.$$

Proof. – Let $x \in L^p(M)$ such that $\langle x, y \rangle_{L^p(M), L^{p^*}(M)} \ge 0$ for any $y \in L^{p^*}(M)_+$. We can write $x = x_1 + ix_2$ where x_1, x_2 are selfadjoint elements of $L^p(M)$. On the one hand, for any $y \in L^{p^*}(M)_+$, we have

$$\langle x_1, y \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^p, \mathrm{L}^{p^*}} + \mathrm{i} \langle x_2, y \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^p, \mathrm{L}^{p^*}} = \langle x_1 + \mathrm{i} x_2, y \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^p, \mathrm{L}^{p^*}} = \langle x, y \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^p, \mathrm{L}^{p^*}} \ge 0.$$

On the other hand $\langle x_1, y \rangle_{L^p, L^{p^*}}$ and $\langle x_2, y \rangle_{L^p, L^{p^*}}$ are real numbers. We deduce the equality $\langle x_2, y \rangle_{L^p, L^{p^*}} = 0$ for any $y \in L^{p^*}(M)_+$. By duality, we infer that $x_2 = 0$. We conclude that x is selfadjoint.

Now, consider a decomposition $x = x_1 - x_2$ with $x_1, x_2 \in L^p(M)_+$ such that there exist ⁽³⁾ projections $e, f \in M$ such that $ef = 0, x_1 = ex_1 = x_1e$ and $x_2 = x_2f = fx_2$. Suppose $x_2 \neq 0$. There exists ⁽⁴⁾ a positive element $z \in L^{p^*}(M)$ such that $\langle x_2, z \rangle_{L^p, L^{p^*}} > 0$. Then

$$\langle x, fzf \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^p, \mathcal{L}^{p^*}} = \langle x_1 - x_2, fzf \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^p, \mathcal{L}^{p^*}} = -\langle x_2, z \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^p, \mathcal{L}^{p^*}} < 0.$$

That is impossible since fzf is a positive element of $L^{p^*}(M)$.

At several times, we will use the following elementary $^{(5)}$ result.

LEMMA 2.2. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a normal semifinite faithful trace. Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. Then $M_+ \cap L^p(M)$ is dense in $L^p(M)_+$ for the topology of $L^p(M)$.

The readers are referred to [68], [137] and [146] for details on operator spaces and completely bounded maps. If $T: E \to F$ is a completely bounded map between two operators spaces E and F, we denote by $||T||_{cb,E\to F}$ its completely bounded norm. If $E \otimes F$ is the operator space projective tensor product of E and F, we have a canonical complete isometry $(E \otimes F)^* = CB(E, F^*)$, see [68, Chapter 7]. We will use the notations E^{op} and \overline{E} for the opposite operator space and the complex conjugate of an operator space E.

The theory of vector-valued noncommutative L^p -spaces was initiated by Pisier [145] for the case where the underlying von Neumann algebra is *hyperfinite* and equipped with a normal semifinite faithful trace (see [107] for the case where the von Neumann algebra is QWEP). Under these assumptions, according to [145, page 37-38], for any operator space E, the spaces $M \otimes_{\min} E$ and $L^1(M^{\text{op}}) \otimes E$ can be embedded by an injective continuous map into a common topological vector space, respecting hereby $(M \cap L^1(M^{\text{op}})) \otimes E$. This compatibility in the sense of interpolation theory, explained in [145, page 37] and [146, page 139] and based on results of Effros and Ruan [67, 66], relies heavily on the fact that the von Neumann algebra is *hyperfinite* (i.e., approximately finite-dimensional). Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Then we can define by complex interpolation

(2.1.4)
$$\mathbf{L}^{p}(M, E) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left(M \otimes_{\min} E, \mathbf{L}^{1}(M^{\text{op}}) \widehat{\otimes} E \right)_{\frac{1}{p}},$$

$$\|x - y_n^* y_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(M)} = \|y^* y - y_n^* y_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(M)} \le \|y^* (y - y_n)\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(M)} + \|(y^* - y_n^*) y_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(M)} \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} 0.$$

^{3.} If x = w|x| is the polar decomposition of a selfadjoint element x then it is known that $w^* = w$ and w|x| = |x|w. We can write w = e - f where e and f are two projections such that ef = 0. We have e|x| = |x|e and f|x| = |x|f. We can take $x_1 = e|x|$ and $x_2 = f|x|$. See [157, pages 138-139] for useful information.

^{4.} Any positive element of $L^{p}(M)$ admits a positive norming functional.

^{5.} Let x be a positive element of $L^{p}(M)$. We can write $x = y^{*}y$ for some $y \in L^{2p}(M)$. Since $M \cap L^{2p}(M)$ is dense in $L^{2p}(M)$, there exists a sequence (y_n) of elements of $M \cap L^{2p}(M)$ which approximate y in $L^{2p}(M)$. Then we have

where \otimes_{\min} and $\widehat{\otimes}$ denote the injective and the projective tensor product of operator spaces. When $E = \mathbb{C}$, we get the noncommutative L^p -space $L^p(M)$.

If Ω is a measure space then we denote by $B(L^2(\Omega))$ the von Neumann algebra of bounded operators on the Hilbert space $L^2(\Omega)$. Using its canonical trace, we obtain the vector-valued Schatten space $S^p_{\Omega}(E) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L^p(B(L^2(\Omega)), E)$. With $\Omega = \mathbb{N}$ or $\Omega = \{1, \ldots, n\}$ equipped with the counting measure and $E = \mathbb{C}$ we recover the classical Schatten spaces S^p and S^p_{Ω} .

Recall the following classical characterization of completely bounded maps, which is essentially [145, Lemma 1.4].

PROPOSITION 2.3. – Let E and F be operator spaces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. A linear map $T: E \to F$ is completely bounded if and only if $\mathrm{Id}_{S^p} \otimes T$ extends to a bounded operator $\mathrm{Id}_{S^p} \otimes T: S^p(E) \to S^p(F)$. In this case, the completely bounded norm $||T||_{\mathrm{ch}, E \to F}$ is given by

$$(2.1.5) ||T||_{\operatorname{cb},E\to F} = ||\operatorname{Id}_{S^p} \otimes T||_{S^p(E)\to S^p(F)}$$

We will use the following result [106, page 984], [107] (see [16, Appendix] for a proof for approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras).

THEOREM 2.4. – Let M_1, M_2, N_1, N_2 be QWEP von Neumann algebras. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T_1: L^p(M_1) \to L^p(N_1)$ and $T_2: L^p(M_2) \to L^p(N_2)$ be completely bounded maps. Then the map $T_1 \otimes T_2: L^p(M_1 \otimes N_2) \to L^p(N_1 \otimes N_2)$ is completely bounded and we have

(2.1.6)
$$||T_1 \otimes T_2||_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{L}^p)\to\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{L}^p)} \le ||T_1||_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p\to\mathrm{L}^p} ||T_2||_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p\to\mathrm{L}^p}$$

A measure space (Ω, μ) (also denoted Ω) is called localizable if its measure algebra ⁽⁶⁾ is semifinite and Dedekind complete, see [135, Lemma 2.6], [77, Theorem 322B] and [160, Corollary 3.2.1]. By [76, Theorem 243G], this is equivalent to the bijectivity of the canonical map $L^{\infty}(\Omega) \rightarrow L^{1}(\Omega)^{*}$ (in which case it is an isometry). Recall that a σ -finite measure space [76, Theorem 211L], [160, Corollary 3.2.1] and a locally compact group equipped with a left Haar measure [160, Corollary 5.2], [78, 443A (a)] are localizable. We warn that there are several notions of localizable measure spaces, see [135] and the recent paper [28] for more information.

The importance of these measure spaces comes from [160, Theorem 5.1] which says that for a measure space Ω , the algebra $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ is a von Neumann algebra if and only if Ω is a localizable measure space. Note that in this case, the integral defines a semifinite (normal, faithful) trace on the von Neumann algebra $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$, and thus, $L^{p}(\Omega)$ carries, as any other noncommutative L^{p} space, an operator space structure. Thus, $S^{p}(L^{p}(\Omega))$ is well-defined. Then, if Ω is a (localizable) measure space, the Banach space $S^{p}(L^{p}(\Omega))$ is isometric to the Bochner space $L^{p}(\Omega, S^{p})$ of S^{p} -valued

^{6.} The measure algebra [77, Definition 321I] of a measure space is defined as the quotient of the ring of measurable sets by the ideal of null sets, with the measure of any residue class defined to be the measure of any representative of the class.

functions. Thus, in particular, if Ω' is another (localizable) measure space then a linear map $T: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega')$ is completely bounded if and only if $T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{S^p}$ extends to a bounded operator $T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{S^p}: L^p(\Omega, S^p) \to L^p(\Omega', S^p)$. In this case, we have

(2.1.7)
$$\|T\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\Omega)\to\mathrm{L}^p(\Omega')} = \|T\otimes\mathrm{Id}_{S^p}\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\Omega,S^p)\to\mathrm{L}^p(\Omega',S^p)}.$$

If E and F are operator spaces and if $T: E \to F$ is a linear map, we will use the map $T^{\text{op}}: E^{\text{op}} \to F^{\text{op}}, x \mapsto T(x)$. Of course, since the underlying Banach spaces of E and E^{op} and of F and F^{op} are identical, the map T is bounded if and only if the map T^{op} is bounded. The following lemma shows that the situation is similar for the complete boundedness. Furthermore, this result is useful when we use duality since in the category of operator spaces we have $L^p(M)^* = L^{p^*}(M)^{\text{op}}$ if $1 \leq p < \infty$. In passing, recall that $L^p(M)^{\text{op}} = L^p(M^{\text{op}})$.

LEMMA 2.5. – Let $T: E \to F$ be a linear map between operator spaces. Then T is completely bounded if and only if the map $T^{\text{op}}: E^{\text{op}} \to F^{\text{op}}$ is completely bounded. Moreover, in this case we have $||T||_{c\mathrm{b},E\to F} = ||T^{\text{op}}||_{c\mathrm{b},E^{\text{op}}\to F^{\text{op}}}$.

Proof. – Assume that T is completely bounded and let $[x_{ij}] \in M_n(E^{op})$. Then

$$\begin{split} \left\| [T(x_{ij})] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(F^{\text{op}})} &= \left\| [T(x_{ji})] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(F)} \\ &\leq \left\| T \right\|_{\text{cb}, E \to F} \left\| [x_{ji}] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(E)} = \left\| T \right\|_{\text{cb}, E \to F} \left\| [x_{ij}] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(E^{\text{op}})}. \end{split}$$

We infer that $||T^{\text{op}}||_{cb,E^{\text{op}}\to F^{\text{op}}} \leq ||T||_{cb,E\to F}$. Since $(E^{\text{op}})^{\text{op}} = E$ completely isometrically, the reverse inequality follows by symmetry.

2.2. Matrix ordered operator spaces

A complex vector space V is matrix ordered [44, page 173] if

- 1. V is a *-vector space (hence so is $M_n(V)$ for any $n \ge 1$),
- 2. each $M_n(V)$, $n \ge 1$, is partially ordered by a cone $M_n(V)_+ \subset M_n(V)_{sa}$, and
- 3. if $\alpha = [\alpha_{ij}] \in \mathcal{M}_{n,m}$, then $\alpha^* \mathcal{M}_n(V)_+ \alpha \subset \mathcal{M}_m(V)_+$.

Now let V and W be matrix ordered vector spaces and let $T: V \to W$ be a linear map. If $n \ge 1$, we say that T is n-positive if $\mathrm{Id}_{M_n} \otimes T: M_n(V) \to M_n(W)$ is positive. We say that T is completely positive if T is n-positive for each $n \ge 1$. We denote the set of completely positive maps from V to W by $\mathrm{CP}(V, W)$.

An operator space E is called a matrix ordered operator space [158, page 143] if it is a matrix ordered vector space and if in addition

- 1. the *-operation is an isometry on $M_n(E)$ for any integer $n \ge 1$ and
- 2. the cones $M_n(E)_+$ are closed in the norm topology.

For a matrix ordered operator space E and its dual operator space E^* , we can define an involution on E^* by $\varphi^*(v) = \overline{\varphi(v^*)}$ for any $\varphi \in E^*$ and a cone on $M_n(E^*)$ for each $n \ge 1$ by $M_n(E^*)^+ = \operatorname{CB}(E, M_n) \cap \operatorname{CP}(E, M_n)$. Note that we have an isometric identification $M_n(E^*) = \operatorname{CB}(E, M_n)$. A lemma of Itoh [104] (see [159, Lemma 2.3.8] for a complete proof) says that if E is a matrix ordered operator space, we have

$$(2.2.1) \quad \mathcal{M}_n(E^*)_+ = \bigg\{ [y_{ij}] \in \mathcal{M}_n(E^*) : \sum_{i,j=1}^n y_{ij}(x_{ij}) \ge 0 \text{ for any } [x_{ij}] \in \mathcal{M}_n(E)_+ \bigg\}.$$

LEMMA 2.6. – Let E be a matrix ordered operator space. We have

$$\mathcal{M}_{n}(E)_{+} = \bigg\{ x \in \mathcal{M}_{n}(E) : \sum_{i,j=1}^{n} y_{ij}(x_{ij}) \ge 0 \text{ for any } [y_{ij}] \in \mathcal{M}_{n}(E^{*})_{+} \bigg\}.$$

Proof. – Note that the dual cone $S_n^1(E^*)_+$ of $M_n(E)_+$ is defined by $S_n^1(E^*)_+ = \{[y_{ij}] \in S_n^1(E^*) : \sum_{i,j=1}^n y_{ij}(x_{ij}) \ge 0$ for any $[x_{ij}] \in M_n(E)_+\}$ and identifies to $M_n(E^*)_+$ by (2.2.1). Since $M_n(E)_+$ is closed in the norm topology, hence weakly closed, we conclude by the bipolar theorem. □

By [158, Corollary 3.2], the operator space dual E^* with this positive cone is a matrix ordered operator space. The category of matrix ordered operator spaces contains the class of C^{*}-algebras.

Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. If $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, the noncommutative L^p -space $L^p(M)$ is canonically equipped with an isometric involution and we can define a cone on $M_n(L^p(M))$ by letting

(2.2.2)
$$M_n(L^p(M))_+ \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L^p(M_n(M))_+ (= S_n^p(L^p(M))_+).$$

Note the following easy ⁽⁷⁾ observation.

PROPOSITION 2.7. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then the noncommutative L^p -space $L^p(M)$ is a matrix ordered operator space.

7. Consider $x \in M_n(L^p(M))_+$, i.e., $x \in S_n^p(L^p(M))_+$. There exists $y \in S_n^{2p}(L^{2p}(M))$ such that $y^*y = x$. We can write $y = \sum_{i,j=1}^n e_{ij} \otimes y_{ij}$ for some $y_{ij} \in L^{2p}(M)$. For any matrix $\alpha \in M_{n,m}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha^* \cdot x \cdot \alpha &= \alpha^* \cdot y^* y \cdot \alpha = \alpha^* \cdot \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^n e_{ij} \otimes y_{ij}\right)^* \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^n e_{kl} \otimes y_{kl}\right) \cdot \alpha \\ &= \alpha^* \cdot \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^n e_{ji} \otimes y^*_{ij}\right) \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^n e_{kl} \otimes y_{kl}\right) \cdot \alpha = \sum_{i,j,k,l=1}^n \alpha^* e_{ji} e_{kl} \alpha \otimes y^*_{ij} y_{kl} \\ &= \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^n \alpha^* e_{ji} \otimes y^*_{ij}\right) \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^n e_{kl} \alpha \otimes y_{kl}\right) = \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^n e_{ij} \alpha \otimes y_{ij}\right)^* \left(\sum_{k,l=1}^n e_{kl} \alpha \otimes y_{kl}\right).\end{aligned}$$

We conclude that $\alpha^* \cdot x \cdot \alpha$ is a positive element of $M_n(L^p(M)) = S_n^p(L^p(M))$. We conclude that $L^p(M)$ is matrix ordered. Moreover, for any $x \in M_n(L^p(M))$, using [143, Lemma 1.7] twice

If N is another von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace then it is easy to see that a map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is completely positive if the map $\mathrm{Id}_{S^p} \otimes T$ induces a (completely) positive map $\mathrm{Id}_{S^p} \otimes T: S^p(L^p(M)) \to S^p(L^p(N))$. Moreover, for any matrix $\alpha \in M_{n,m}$, the map

(2.2.3)
$$L^p(\mathcal{M}_n(M)) \to L^p(\mathcal{M}_m(M)), \quad x \mapsto \alpha^* x \alpha$$

is completely positive.

LEMMA 2.8. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. If $b \in M_n(L^p(M))$ and if b^t is the transpose of b we have $b \in M_n(L^p(M^{\text{op}}))_+$ if and only if $b^t \in M_n(L^p(M))_+$.

Proof. – We start with the case $p = \infty$. We can identify M^{op} with M equipped with the opposed product. We will use the notation \circ for some products where the subscript indicates the space. Let $b \in M_n(M^{\text{op}})_+$. Then we can write $b = c^* \circ_{M_n(M^{\text{op}})} c$ for some $c \in M_n(M)$. For any $1 \leq i, j \leq n$, we have

$$b_{ij} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (c^*)_{ik} \circ_{M^{\text{op}}} c_{kj} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{kj} (c^*)_{ik} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} (c^t)_{jk} (c^{t*})_{ki} = (c^t \circ_{M_n(M)} c^{t*})^t.$$

Hence $b^t = c^t \circ_{M_n(M)} c^{t*}$ belongs to $M_n(M)_+$. The reverse implication follows by symmetry. Suppose that $b \in M_n(L^p(M^{\operatorname{op}}))_+$, i.e., $b \in S_n^p(L^p(M^{\operatorname{op}}))_+$ by (2.2.2). By Lemma 2.2, there exists a sequence (b_k) in $M_n(M^{\operatorname{op}})_+ \cap S_n^p(L^p(M^{\operatorname{op}}))$ converging to b for the topology of $S_n^p(L^p(M))$. By the first part of the proof, each $(b_k)^t$ belongs to $M_n(M)_+$ and of course to $S_n^p(L^p(M))$. In particular, $(b_k)^t$ belongs to $M_n(L^p(M))_+$. Passing to the limit as k approaches infinity yields $b^t \in M_n(L^p(M))_+$. Again, a symmetry argument completes the proof.

We will often use the following observation.

LEMMA 2.9. – Let E and F be matrix ordered operator spaces. A bounded map $T: E \to F$ is (completely) positive if and only if the adjoint map $T^*: F^* \to E^*$ is (completely) positive.

Proof. – By Lemma 2.6, a map $T: E \to F$ is positive if and only if $\langle T(x), y \rangle_{F,F^*} \ge 0$ for any $x \in E_+$ and any $y \in F_+^*$ if and only if $\langle x, T^*(y) \rangle_{E,E^*} \ge 0$ for all such x, y if and only if $T^*: F^* \to E^*$ is positive again by (2.2.1). The completely positive case is similar.

For further use in Lemma 3.22, we record the following.

and the isometric involution, we see that

$$\begin{split} \|x^*\|_{\mathcal{M}_n(\mathcal{L}^p(M))} &= \sup\left\{ \|\alpha \cdot x^* \cdot \beta\|_{S_n^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))} \ : \ \|\alpha\|_{S_n^{2p}} \leq 1, \ \|\beta\|_{S_n^{2p}} \leq 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup\left\{ \|\beta^* \cdot x \cdot \alpha^*\|_{S_n^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))} \ : \ \|\alpha\|_{S_n^{2p}} \leq 1, \ \|\beta\|_{S_n^{2p}} \leq 1 \right\} \\ &= \sup\left\{ \|\beta \cdot x \cdot \alpha\|_{S_n^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))} \ : \ \|\alpha\|_{S_n^{2p}} \leq 1, \ \|\beta\|_{S_n^{2p}} \leq 1 \right\} = \|x\|_{\mathcal{M}_n(\mathcal{L}^p(M))} \,. \end{split}$$

14

LEMMA 2.10. – Let E and F be matrix ordered operator spaces.

- 1. Let (T_{α}) be a net of positive (resp. n-positive or completely positive) mappings from E into F. Suppose that $\lim_{\alpha} T_{\alpha} = T$ in the weak operator topology. Then T is also positive (resp. n-positive or completely positive).
- 2. Let (T_{α}) be a net of positive (resp. n-positive or completely positive) mappings from E into F^* . Suppose that $\lim_{\alpha} T_{\alpha} = T$ in the point weak* topology⁽⁸⁾ of $B(E, F^*)$. Then T is also positive (resp. n-positive or completely positive).

Proof. – 1. Suppose that each $T_{\alpha}: E \to F$ is a positive map. By Lemma 2.6, the map $T: E \to F$ is positive if and only if $\langle T(x), y \rangle_{F,F^*} \geq 0$ for any $x \in E_+$ and any $y \in F_+^*$. Using again Lemma 2.6, we infer that $\langle T(x), y \rangle_{F,F^*} = \lim_{\alpha} \langle T_{\alpha}(x), y \rangle_{F,F^*} \geq 0$. Thus we conclude that T is positive.

Suppose that each T_{α} is completely positive.

By Lemma 2.6, the map $\operatorname{Id}_{M_n} \otimes T \colon \operatorname{M}_n(E) \to \operatorname{M}_n(F)$ is positive if and only if $\sum_{i,j=1}^n \langle T(x_{ij}), y_{ij} \rangle_{F,F^*}$ for any $[x_{ij}] \in \operatorname{M}_n(E)_+$ and any $[y_{ij}] \in \operatorname{M}_n(F^*)_+$. Using again Lemma 2.6, we infer that

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^n \langle T(x_{ij}), y_{ij} \rangle_{F,F^*} = \lim_\alpha \sum_{i,j=1}^n \langle T_\alpha(x_{ij}), y_{ij} \rangle_{F,F^*} \ge 0.$$

Letting n run over all integers, we conclude that T is completely positive. The argument is the same for the n-positive case.

2. Suppose that each $T_{\alpha}: E \to F^*$ is a positive map. By (2.2.1), the map $T: E \to F^*$ is positive if and only if $\langle T(x), y \rangle_{F^*,F} \ge 0$ for any $x \in E_+$ and any $y \in F_+$. Using again (2.2.1), we infer that $\langle T(x), y \rangle_{F^*,F} = \lim_{\alpha} \langle T_{\alpha}(x), y \rangle_{F^*,F} \ge 0$. Thus we conclude that T is positive.

Suppose that each T_{α} is completely positive. By (2.2.1), $\operatorname{Id}_{M_n} \otimes T \colon M_n(E) \to M_n(F^*)$ is positive if and only if $\sum_{i,j=1}^n \langle T(x_{ij}), y_{ij} \rangle_{F^*,F}$ for any $[x_{ij}] \in M_n(E)_+$ and any $[y_{ij}] \in M_n(F)_+$. Using again (2.2.1), we infer that $\langle T(x_{ij}), y_{ij} \rangle_{F^*,F} =$ $\lim_{\alpha} \sum_{i,j=1}^n \langle T_{\alpha}(x_{ij}), y_{ij} \rangle_{F^*,F} \geq 0$. Letting *n* run over all integers, we conclude that *T* is completely positive. The argument is the same for the *n*-positive case. \Box

If E is a matrix ordered operator space, by [159, page 80], the vector-valued Schatten space $S_n^p(E) = R_n(1 - \frac{1}{p}) \otimes_h E \otimes_h R_n(\frac{1}{p})$ admits a structure of a matrix ordered operator space. The cones are defined by the closures

$$\mathcal{M}_k(S_n^p(E))_+ = \overline{\left\{x^* \odot y \odot x \in \mathcal{M}_k(S_n^p(E)) : x \in \mathcal{M}_{l,k}(\mathcal{R}_n(\frac{1}{p})), y \in \mathcal{M}_l(E)_+, l \in \mathbb{N}\right\}}.$$

LEMMA 2.11. – Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let E and F be matrix ordered operator spaces and let $T: E \to F$ be a bounded completely positive map. Then for any integer n, the map $\mathrm{Id}_{S_{r}^{p}} \otimes T: S_{n}^{p}(E) \to S_{n}^{p}(F)$ is completely positive.

^{8.} If X is a Banach space and Y is a dual Banach space, a net (T_{α}) in B(X, Y) converges to an operator $T \in B(X, Y)$ in the point weak* topology if and only if for any $x \in X$ and any $y_* \in Y_*$ we have $\langle T_{\alpha}(x), y_* \rangle_{Y,Y_*} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \langle T(x), y_* \rangle_{Y,Y_*}$.

Proof. – For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, any $x \in M_{l,k}(\mathbb{R}_n(\frac{1}{p}))$ and any $y \in M_l(E)_+$, the element $(\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(x^* \odot y \odot x) = x^* \odot T(y) \odot x$ belongs to $M_k(S_n^p(E))_+$. An argument of continuity gives the result.

2.3. Relations between matricial orderings and norms

For any $x \in S_n^p(E)$ and any $a, b \in M_n$, the result [145, Lemma 1.6 (i)] says that

 $(2.3.1) \|axb\|_{S_n^p(E)} \le \|a\|_{S_n^\infty} \|x\|_{S_n^p(E)} \|b\|_{S_n^\infty}.$

Moreover, for any diagonal matrix $x = \text{diag}(x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in S_n^p(E)$, [145, Corollary 1.3] gives

(2.3.2)
$$\|x\|_{S_n^p(E)} = \left(\sum_{k=1}^n \|x_k\|_E^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

LEMMA 2.12. – Let *E* be an operator space. Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. Then for any $b, c \in E$, we have $\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & b \\ c & 0 \end{bmatrix} \|_{S_2^p(E)} = (\|b\|_E^p + \|c\|_E^p)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ and $\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & b \\ c & 0 \end{bmatrix} \|_{S_2^\infty(E)} = \max \{ \|b\|_E, \|c\|_E \}.$

Proof. - Using the inequality (2.3.1), we see that

 $\| [\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & b \\ c & 0 \end{bmatrix} \|_{S^p_2(E)} = \| [\begin{smallmatrix} b & 0 \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix} [\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \|_{S^p_2(E)} \le \| [\begin{smallmatrix} b & 0 \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix} \|_{S^p_2(E)} \| [\begin{smallmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \|_{S^p_2} = \| [\begin{smallmatrix} b & 0 \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix} \|_{S^p_2(E)}.$

By symmetry, we conclude that $\|\begin{bmatrix} 0 & b \\ c & 0 \end{bmatrix}\|_{S_2^p(E)} = \|\begin{bmatrix} b & 0 \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix}\|_{S_2^p(E)}$. On the other hand, the equality (2.3.2) yields $\|\begin{bmatrix} b & 0 \\ 0 & c \end{bmatrix}\|_{S_2^p(E)} = \left(\|b\|_E^p + \|c\|_E^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$. The case $p = \infty$ is similar, so the lemma is proven.

LEMMA 2.13. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let a, b and c be elements of $L^p(M)$ such that the element $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b^* & c \end{bmatrix}$ of $S_2^p(L^p(M))$ is positive. Then we have $\|b\|_{L^p(M)} \le \sqrt{\|a\|_{L^p(M)} \|c\|_{L^p(M)}}$. So in particular $\|b\|_{L^p(M)} \le \frac{1}{2^{\frac{1}{p}}} (\|a\|_{L^p(M)}^p + \|c\|_{L^p(M)}^p)^{\frac{1}{p}}$.

Proof. – By Lemma 2.2, there exists a sequence $\left(\begin{bmatrix}a_n & b_n\\b_n^* & c_n\end{bmatrix}\right)$ of elements in $M_2(M)_+ \cap L^p(M_2(M))$ converging to the positive element $\begin{bmatrix}a&b\\b^*&c\end{bmatrix}$ for the topology of $L^p(M_2(M))$. By adapting a classical argument [24, Proposition 1.3.2], [183, Lemma 1.21], for each integer *n* there exists $x_n \in M$ with $\|x_n\|_M \leq 1$ such that $b_n = a_n^{\frac{1}{2}} x_n c_n^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Thus $\|b_n\|_p = \|a_n^{\frac{1}{2}} x_n c_n^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_p \leq \|a_n^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{2p} \|c_n^{\frac{1}{2}}\|_{2p} = \sqrt{\|a_n\|_p \|c_n\|_p}$. Passing to the limit as *n* approaches infinity, we obtain the inequality.

The last sentence of the statement follows from the inequality $\sqrt{xy} \leq 2^{-\frac{1}{p}} (x^p + y^p)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ for any reals $x, y \geq 0$.

The following result is folklore. Unable to locate a proof in the literature, we give a very short proof based on Lemma 2.13.

PROPOSITION 2.14. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let b be an element of $S_n^p(L^p(M))$. Then $\|b\|_{S_n^p(L^p(M))} \le 1$ if and only if there are $a, c \in S_n^p(L^p(M))_+$ with $\|a\|_{S_n^p(L^p(M))} \le 1$ and $\|c\|_{S_n^p(L^p(M))} \le 1$ such that the element $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b^* & c \end{bmatrix}$ of $S_{2n}^p(L^p(M))$ is positive.

Proof. – The implication ⇐ is Lemma 2.13. For the implication ⇒, we only need the case n = 1. Consider $b \in L^p(M)$ with $||b||_{L^p(M)} \le 1$. There exists a sequence (b_n) in $M \cap L^p(M)$ converging to b for the topology of $L^p(M)$. By [137, Exercise 8.8 (vi)], the matrix $\begin{bmatrix} |b_n^*| & b_n \\ b_n^* & |b_n| \end{bmatrix}$ is a positive element. Using the continuity of the modulus and passing to the limit as n approaches infinity yields $\begin{bmatrix} |b^*| & b \\ b^* & |b| \end{bmatrix} \ge 0$. Moreover, we have $\||b|\|_{L^p(M)} = \||b^*|\|_{L^p(M)} = \|b\|_{L^p(M)} \le 1$.

LEMMA 2.15. – Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Let a and b be selfadjoint elements of $L^p(M)$ satisfying $-a \leq b \leq a$. Then, in $S_2^p(L^p(M))$, we have $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b & a \end{bmatrix} \geq 0$.

Proof. – The case $p = \infty$ is well-known, see [68, Proposition 1.3.5]. Let us turn to the case $1 \le p < \infty$. By Lemma 2.2, there exists a sequence (y_n) in $M_+ \cap L^p(M)$ converging to the positive element a-b for the topology of $L^p(M)$ and a sequence (z_n) of elements of $M_+ \cap L^p(M)$ converging to the positive element a + b. Note that $a_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{y_n + z_n}{2}$ converges to a and that $b_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{z_n - y_n}{2}$ converges to b. Moreover, we have $-a_n \le b_n \le a_n$. According to the case $p = \infty$, we have $\begin{bmatrix} a_n & b_n \\ b_n & a_n \end{bmatrix} \ge 0$. Finally passing to the limit as n approaches infinity yields $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b & a \end{bmatrix} \ge 0$. □

LEMMA 2.16. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let a, b and c be elements of $L^p(M)$ satisfying $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b & c \end{bmatrix} \ge 0$ in $S_2^p(L^p(M))$. Then we have $-\frac{1}{2}(a+c) \le b \le \frac{1}{2}(a+c)$.

Proof. – Let $A = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b & c \end{bmatrix}$. Since $A \ge 0$, according to (2.2.3), we have $uAu^* \ge 0$ for $u = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$ and for $u = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix}$. The first choice of u then yields $a + 2b + c \ge 0$, so that $b \ge -\frac{1}{2}(a+c)$. The second choice of u yields $a - 2b + c \ge 0$, so that $b \le \frac{1}{2}(a+c)$. \Box

2.4. Positive and completely positive maps on noncommutative L^p -spaces

LEMMA 2.17. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with semifinite faithful normal traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Then a map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is completely positive if and only if $T^{\text{op}}: L^p(M)^{\text{op}} \to L^p(N)^{\text{op}}$ is completely positive.

Proof. – Assume that $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is completely positive.

Let $b \in (\mathcal{M}_n(\mathcal{L}^p(M)^{\mathrm{op}}))_+$. Then applying Lemma 2.8 twice, we deduce that $(\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{M}_n} \otimes T^{\mathrm{op}})(b) = [T(b_{ij})] = [T((b^t)_{ij})]^t = ((\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{M}_n} \otimes T)(b^t))^t$ belongs to $(\mathcal{M}_n(\mathcal{L}^p(N)^{\mathrm{op}}))_+$. We infer that $T^{\mathrm{op}} : \mathcal{L}^p(M)^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathcal{L}^p(N)^{\mathrm{op}}$ is completely positive. The reverse statement is obtained by symmetry. \Box

The boundedness assumption of [143, Theorem 0.1 and Lemma 2.3] is unnecessary since we have the following elementary result.

PROPOSITION 2.18. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Any positive linear map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ is bounded.

Proof. – We first show that there exists a constant $K \ge 0$ satisfying for any $x \in L^p(M)_+$ with $||x||_{L^p(M)} \le 1$ the inequality $||T(x)||_{L^p(M)} \le K$. Suppose that it is not the case then there exists a sequence (x_n) of positive elements of $L^p(M)$ with $||x_n||_{L^p(M)} \le 1$ and $||T(x_n)||_{L^p(M)} \ge 4^n$.

We have $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \left\| \frac{1}{2^n} x_n \right\|_{L^p(M)} \leq \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^n} < \infty$. Hence the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{2^n} x_n$ is convergent and defines a positive element x of $L^p(M)$. Now, for any integer $n \geq 1$, we have $0 \leq \frac{1}{2^n} x_n \leq x$. We deduce that $0 \leq \frac{1}{2^n} T(x_n) \leq T(x)$. Hence we obtain $\frac{1}{2^n} \|T(x_n)\|_{L^p(M)} \leq \|T(x)\|_{L^p(M)}$ and finally $2^n \leq \|T(x)\|_{L^p(M)}$. Impossible.

Now, if $x \in L^{p}(M)$ we have a decomposition $x = x_{1} - x_{2} + i(x_{3} - x_{4})$ with $x_{1}, x_{2}, x_{3}, x_{4} \in L^{p}(M)_{+}$ and $||x_{1}||_{L^{p}(M)}, ||x_{2}||_{L^{p}(M)}, ||x_{3}||_{L^{p}(M)}, ||x_{4}||_{L^{p}(M)}$ less or equal to $||x||_{L^{p}(M)}$. Hence

$$\begin{aligned} \|T(x)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} &= \left\|T(x_{1}) - T(x_{2}) + i(T(x_{3}) - T(x_{4}))\right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} \\ &\leq \|T(x_{1})\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} + \|T(x_{2})\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} + \|T(x_{3})\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} + \|T(x_{4})\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} \\ &\leq K(\|x_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} + \|x_{2}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} + \|x_{3}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)} + \|x_{4}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)}) \\ &\leq 4K\|x\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(M)}. \end{aligned}$$

This result will imply in particular that a decomposable map is bounded.

The following result is proved in [143, Proposition 2.2 and Lemma 2.3] for S^p . It has been long announced in [106, page 2] for QWEP von Neumann algebras (but seems definitely postponed). We will give a proof for hyperfinite von Neumann algebras, see Theorem 3.26. Only Proposition 3.10, Proposition 3.30 and Proposition 3.31 depend on this result.

THEOREM 2.19. – Suppose 1 . Let <math>M, N be QWEP von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful semifinite normal traces. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a completely positive map. Then T is completely bounded and $||T||_{L^p(M)\to L^p(N)} = ||T||_{cb,L^p(M)\to L^p(N)}$.

The next lemmas are important for the proof of Theorem 3.24.

LEMMA 2.20. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let $T, S: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be adjoint preserving maps ⁽⁹⁾ maps such that $-S \le_{cp} T \le_{cp} S$.

Then the map $\begin{bmatrix} S & T \\ T & S \end{bmatrix}$: $L^p(M) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is completely positive.

^{9.} This means that $T(x^*) = T(x)^*$ and $S(x^*) = S(x)^*$.

Proof. – Suppose $x \in S_n^p(L^p(M))_+$.

Then $-(\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes S)(x) \leq (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(x) \leq (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes S)(x)$. By Lemma 2.15, we deduce that $(\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes [\begin{smallmatrix} S & T \\ T & S \end{smallmatrix}])(x) = \begin{bmatrix} (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes S)(x) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(x) \\ (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(x) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes S)(x) \end{bmatrix} \geq 0.$

LEMMA 2.21. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T, S_1, S_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be adjoint preserving maps. If the map $\begin{bmatrix} S_1 & T \\ T & S_2 \end{bmatrix}: L^p(M) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is completely positive then $-\frac{1}{2}(S_1 + S_2) \leq_{\rm cp} T \leq_{\rm cp} \frac{1}{2}(S_1 + S_2).$

Proof. – Suppose $x \in S_n^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))_+$. We have

$$\begin{bmatrix} (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes S_1)(x) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(x) \\ (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(x) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes S_2)(x) \end{bmatrix} = \left(\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes \begin{bmatrix} S_1 & T \\ T & S_2 \end{bmatrix} \right) (x) \ge 0.$$

By Lemma 2.16, we deduce that

$$-\frac{1}{2}\left((\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p}\otimes S_1)(x) + (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p}\otimes S_2)(x)\right) \le (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p}\otimes T)(x) \le \frac{1}{2}\left((\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p}\otimes S_1)(x) + (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p}\otimes S_2)(x)\right).$$

Hence we obtain

$$-\frac{1}{2} \big((\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes (S_1 + S_2))(x) \big) \le (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(x) \le \frac{1}{2} \big((\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes (S_1 + S_2))(x) \big).$$

onclude that $-\frac{1}{2} (S_1 + S_2) \le_{\mathrm{cp}} T \le_{\mathrm{cp}} \frac{1}{2} (S_1 + S_2).$

We conclude that $-\frac{1}{2}(S_1 + S_2) \leq_{cp} T \leq_{cp} \frac{1}{2}(S_1 + S_2).$

2.5. Completely positive maps on commutative L^p -spaces

We start with a characterization of the positive cone of $S_n^p(L^p(\Omega))$ where Ω is a measure space.

LEMMA 2.22. – Let Ω be a (localizable) measure space. Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. Then an element $[f_{ij}]$ of $S_n^p(L^p(\Omega))$ is positive if and only if $[f_{ij}(\omega)]$ is a positive element of M_n for almost every $\omega \in \Omega$.

Proof. – We have $S_n^p(L^p(\Omega)) = L^p(\Omega, S_n^p)$ isometrically. Consider $f \in L^p(\Omega, S_n^p)_+$. Using (2.1.2), there exists $h \in L^{2p}(\Omega, S_n^{2p})$ such that $h^*h = f$. Hence, for almost any $\omega \in \Omega$, we have $h(\omega)^*h(\omega) = f(\omega)$ in the space S_n^p . Consequently, for almost any $\omega \in \Omega$, we have $f(\omega) \in (S_n^p)_+$.

For the converse, consider an element f of $L^p(\Omega, S_n^p)$ such that for almost any $\omega \in \Omega$ we have $f(\omega) \in (S_n^p)_+$. Let $g \in L^{p^*}(\Omega, S_n^{p^*})_+$. By the first part of the proof, for almost any $\omega \in \Omega$, we have $g(\omega) \in (S_n^{p^*})_+$. Using (2.1.3), we deduce that for almost any $\omega \in \Omega$ we have $\operatorname{Tr}(f(\omega)g(\omega)) \ge 0$. We infer that $\left(\int_{\Omega} \otimes \operatorname{Tr}\right)(fg) = \int_{\Omega} \operatorname{Tr}(f(\omega)g(\omega)) \,\mathrm{d}\omega \ge 0$. Using again (2.1.3), we conclude that $f \in L^p(\Omega, S_n^p)$

PROPOSITION 2.23. – Let Ω be a (localizable) measure space and let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. A positive map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(\Omega)$ into a commutative L^p -space is completely positive.

Proof. – The case $p = \infty$ is a particular case of [68, Theorem 5.1.4], so we can suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. Let $x = [x_{ij}]$ be a positive element of $S_n^p(L^p(M))$. Note that in S_n^p , for almost any $\omega \in \Omega$, we have

$$\left((\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p}\otimes T)([x_{ij}])\right)(\omega) = \left([T(x_{ij})]\right)(\omega) = \left[T(x_{ij})(\omega)\right].$$

By Proposition 2.7, for any matrix $u \in M_{n,1}$, the element $u^*[x_{ij}]u$ of $L^p(M)$ is positive. By the positivity of T, we see that $T(u^*[x_{ij}]u)$ is a positive element of $L^p(\Omega)$. Using Lemma 2.22, we deduce that for almost every $\omega \in \Omega$

$$u^* \big[T(x_{ij})(\omega) \big] u = \sum_{i,j=1}^n \overline{u_i} T(x_{ij})(\omega) u_j = T \bigg(\sum_{i,j=1}^n \overline{u_i} x_{ij} u_j \bigg)(\omega) = T \big(u^* [x_{ij}] u \big)(\omega) \ge 0.$$

We infer that for almost every $\omega \in \Omega$, the matrix $[T(x_{ij})(\omega)]$ is a positive element of M_n . By Lemma 2.22, we conclude that $[T(x_{ij})]$ is a positive element of $S_n^p(L^p(\Omega))$.

Using duality, we also have the following variant.

PROPOSITION 2.24. – Let Ω be a (localizable) measure space and let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. A positive mapping $T: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(M)$ defined on a commutative L^p -space is completely positive.

Proof. – The case $p = \infty$ follows from [68, Theorem 5.1.5], so we can suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. According to Lemma 2.9, the map $T: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(M)$ is positive if and only if $T^*: L^{p^*}(M) \to L^{p^*}(\Omega)$ is positive. Thus, by Proposition 2.23, the map T^* is completely positive. Using again Lemma 2.9, we conclude that T is completely positive. \Box

REMARK 2.25. – Note that the situation is different for the complete boundedness between commutative L^p -spaces. Indeed, there exists some example of a measure space Ω and a bounded operator $T: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega)$ which is not completely bounded, see ⁽¹⁰⁾ [145, Proposition 8.1.3] and [7].

2.6. Markov maps and selfadjoint maps

Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces τ_M and τ_N . We say that a linear map $T: M \to N$ is a (τ_M, τ_N) -Markov map if T is a normal unital completely positive map which is trace preserving, i.e., for any $x \in \mathfrak{m}_{\tau_M}^+$ we have $\tau_N(T(x)) = \tau_M(x)$. When $(M, \tau_M) = (N, \tau_N)$, we say that T is a τ_M -Markov map. It is not difficult to check that a (τ_M, τ_N) -Markov map Tinduces a completely positive and completely contractive map $T_p: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$

^{10.} We warn the reader that the proof of [64] is false. Indeed, the main argument of the paper which begins page 7 with "therefore we can get a $L^{p}(H)$ multiplier" is really problematic since H can be a finite subgroup (for example, consider the case $G = \mathbb{Z}$).

on the associated noncommutative L^p -spaces $L^p(M)$ and $L^p(N)$ for any $1 \le p \le \infty$. Moreover, it is easy to prove that there exists a unique normal map $T^* \colon N \to M$ such that

(2.6.1)
$$\tau_N(T(x)y) = \tau_M(xT^*(y)), \quad x \in M \cap L^1(M), y \in N \cap L^1(N).$$

It is easy to show that T^* is a (τ_N, τ_M) -Markov map. In this case, by density, we have

Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a normal semifinite faithful trace τ . Let $T: M \to M$ be a normal contraction. We say that T is selfadjoint if

(2.6.3)
$$\tau(T(x)y^*) = \tau(xT(y)^*), \quad x, y \in M \cap L^1(M)$$

In this case, for any x, y in $M \cap L^1(M)$, we have

$$\left|\tau(T(x)y)\right| = \left|\tau(xT(y^*)^*)\right| \le \|x\|_{\mathrm{L}^1(M)} \|T(y^*)^*\|_M \le \|x\|_{\mathrm{L}^1(M)} \|y\|_M.$$

Hence the restriction of T to $M \cap L^1(M)$ extends to a contraction $T_1: L^1(M) \to L^1(M)$. It also extends by interpolation to a contraction $T_p: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ for any $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Moreover, for any $1 \leq p < \infty$, we have $(T_p)^* = (T_{p^*})^\circ$. Furthermore, the operator $T_2: L^2(M) \to L^2(M)$ is selfadjoint. If T is positive then each T_p is positive and hence $(T_p)^\circ = T_p$. Thus in this case, for any $1 \leq p < \infty$, we have $(T_p)^* = T_{p^*}$. Finally, if $T: M \to M$ is a normal complete contraction, then each T_p is completely contractive.

Finally, it is easy to check that a τ_M -Markov map $T: M \to M$ is selfadjoint if and only if $T^* = T^\circ$.

CHAPTER 3

DECOMPOSABLE MAPS AND REGULAR MAPS

In this chapter, we start by analyzing decomposable maps on noncommutative L^{p} -spaces. In particular, in Section 3.2, we prove that the infimum of the decomposable norm is actually a minimum. In Section 3.6, we state our first main result, Theorem 3.24, and give the end of the proof of this result. In passing, we prove that completely positive maps on noncommutative L^{p} -spaces of approximately finite-dimensional algebras are necessarily completely bounded. In Section 3.8, we compare the space of completely bounded operators and the space of decomposable operators. We show that these are different in general. We also give explicit examples of computations of the decomposable norm, see Theorem 3.37.

3.1. Preliminary results

We need some background on second dual algebras and we refer to [127], [29], [114], [171] and [175] for more information. Let M be a von Neumann algebra of predual M_* . We can see M^{**} as a von Neumann algebra. Since we have a canonical inclusion $M_* \subset M^*$, we can consider the annihilator

$$(M_*)^{\perp} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left\{ \nu \in M^{**} : \langle \varphi, \nu \rangle_{M^*, M^{**}} = 0 \text{ for any } \varphi \in M_* \right\}$$

of M_* in M^{**} . It is well-known [127, Proposition 4.2.3] that there exists a unique central projection e of M^{**} such that $(M_*)^{\perp} = (1 - e)M^{**}$. Using the notation $(R_x\varphi)(y) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \varphi(yx)$ for any $x, y \in M$ and any $\varphi \in M^*$, we have $M_* = R_e(M^*)$ and $^{(11)}M^* = M_* \oplus_1 R_{1-e}(M^*)$. The non-zero elements of $R_{1-e}M^*$ are the singular functionals.

A bounded map $T: M \to N$ is called singular [171, p. 128] [175] if $T^*(N_*) \subset R_{1-e}M^*$. By [175, Theorem 1], for any bounded map $T: M \to N$ there exists a unique couple $(T_{w^*}: M \to N, T_{sing}: M \to N)$ of bounded maps with T_{w^*} weak* continuous, T_{sing} singular and such that

$$T = T_{w^*} + T_{\text{sing}}.$$

^{11.} That means that preduals of von Neumann algebras are L-summands in their biduals.

Consider the completely contractive and completely positive map $\Phi_M: M^{**} \to M^{**}$, $\eta \mapsto \eta e = e\eta e$ and the completely isometric canonical map $i_{N_*}: N_* \to N^*$. By the proof of [175, Theorem 1], the map T_{w^*} is given by

$$T_{\mathbf{w}^*} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \tilde{T} \circ \Phi_M \circ i_M,$$

where $i_M \colon M \to M^{**}, \tilde{T} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (i_{N_*})^* \circ T^{**} \colon M^{**} \to N$ is the unique weak* continuous extension of T given by [29, Lemma A.2.2] (and its proof). The formula of the weak* extension of the proof of [175, Theorem 1] is formally different but equivalent to ours. Indeed, in [175, Theorem 1], the weak* continuous extension \tilde{T} is given by $\tilde{T} = (T^*|N_*)^*$ and we have $(T^*|N_*)^* = (T^* \circ i_{N_*})^* = (i_{N_*})^* \circ T^{**}$.

PROPOSITION 3.1. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras. Then the map $P_{w^*} : B(M, N) \to B(M, N), T \mapsto T_{w^*}$ is a contractive projection. Moreover, if $T : M \to N$ is completely positive then the map $P_{w^*}(T)$ is completely positive. Finally, if $T : M \to N$ is completely bounded then $P_{w^*}(T)$ is also completely bounded and $P_{w^*} : CB(M, N) \to CB(M, N)$ is a contractive projection.

Proof. – It is obvious that P_{w^*} is a projection. Note that by [29, Lemma A.2.2], we have $\|\tilde{T}\|_{M^{**}\to N} = \|T\|_{M\to N}$. Now, it is clear that, by composition, P_{w^*} is contractive. If $T: M \to N$ is completely positive, using Lemma 2.9, it is immediate to see that T_{w^*} is completely positive. By [29, Section 1.4.8], if $T: M \to N$ is completely bounded, then $\tilde{T}: M^{**} \to N$ is completely bounded with the same completely bounded norm. By composition, we deduce that $P_{w^*}(T)$ is completely bounded and that $\|P_{w^*}(T)\|_{cb,M\to N} \leq \|T\|_{cb,M\to N}$. □

LEMMA 3.2. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with semifinite faithful normal traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a linear map. Then T is decomposable if and only if T^{op} is decomposable. In this case, we have $\|T\|_{\text{dec},L^p(M)\to L^p(N)} = \|T^{\text{op}}\|_{\text{dec},L^p(M)^{\text{op}}\to L^p(N)^{\text{op}}}.$

Proof. – Assume that $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable. By (1.0.4), there exist linear maps $v_1, v_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}: S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is completely positive with max{ $\|v_1\|, \|v_2\|$ } ≤ $\|T\|_{\text{dec}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)} + \varepsilon$. We claim that $\begin{bmatrix} v_2 & T \\ T^\circ & v_1 \end{bmatrix}: S_2^p(L^p(M)^{\text{op}}) \to S_2^p(L^p(N)^{\text{op}})$ is also completely positive. Indeed, let $b \in M_n(S_2^p(L^p(M)^{\text{op}}))_+ = S_{2n}^p(L^p(M^{\text{op}}))_+$. Denoting b^t the transposed matrix, where transposition is executed in S_{2n}^p , i.e., both in the M_n and in the S_2^p component, an obvious computation gives

$$\left(\mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{M}_n}\otimes \begin{bmatrix} v_2 & T\\ T^\circ & v_1 \end{bmatrix}\right)(b) = \left(\left(\mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{M}_n}\otimes \begin{bmatrix} v_2 & T^\circ\\ T & v_1 \end{bmatrix}\right)(b^t)\right)^t$$

which is positive in $\mathcal{M}_n(S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)^{\mathrm{op}}))$ according to Lemma 2.8, applied twice, provided that we show that the map $\begin{bmatrix} v_2 & T^{\circ} \\ T & v_1 \end{bmatrix}$: $S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(N))$ is completely positive. But this can be seen using the identity

$$\begin{bmatrix} v_2 & T^{\circ} \\ T & v_1 \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{F}_N \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^{\circ} & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \mathcal{F}_M,$$

where $\mathcal{F}_M \colon S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))$ denotes the flip mapping

$$\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \mapsto \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} d & c \\ b & a \end{bmatrix},$$

which is completely positive according to (2.2.3) (and similarly for \mathcal{F}_N). We infer that the linear map $T^{\text{op}} \colon L^p(M)^{\text{op}} \to L^p(N)^{\text{op}}$ is decomposable and that

$$\left\|T^{\mathrm{op}}\right\|_{\mathrm{dec},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)^{\mathrm{op}}\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(N)^{\mathrm{op}}} \leq \max\{\left\|v_{2}\right\|,\left\|v_{1}\right\|\} \leq \left\|T\right\|_{\mathrm{dec},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(N)} + \varepsilon.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ and using symmetry, we can finish the proof of the lemma.

We will use the following easy ⁽¹²⁾ lemma several times.

LEMMA 3.3. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with semifinite faithful normal traces. Suppose $1 \le p < \infty$. The Banach adjoint of a bounded operator

$$\begin{bmatrix} T_{11} & T_{12} \\ T_{21} & T_{22} \end{bmatrix} : S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(N))$$

 $\begin{array}{l} \textit{identifies to } \left[\begin{smallmatrix} (T_{11})^* & (T_{12})^* \\ (T_{21})^* & (T_{22})^* \end{smallmatrix} \right] \colon S_2^{p^*}(\mathbf{L}^{p^*}(N)) \to S_2^{p^*}(\mathbf{L}^{p^*}(M)) \textit{ and the Banach preadjoint} \\ \textit{of a weak* continuous operator } \left[\begin{smallmatrix} T_{11} & T_{12} \\ T_{21} & T_{22} \end{smallmatrix} \right] \colon \mathbf{M}_2(M) \to \mathbf{M}_2(N) \textit{ identifies to the bounded} \\ \textit{operator } \left[\begin{smallmatrix} (T_{11})_* & (T_{12})_* \\ (T_{21})_* & (T_{22})_* \end{smallmatrix} \right] \colon S_2^1(\mathbf{L}^1(N)) \to S_2^1(\mathbf{L}^1(M)). \end{array}$

The following complements [112, Lemma 3.2] and completes a gap in the proof of the case p = 1.

$$\begin{split} &\left\langle \begin{bmatrix} T_{11} & T_{12} \\ T_{21} & T_{22} \end{bmatrix} \left(\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \right), \begin{bmatrix} x & y \\ z & w \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle_{S_2^p(L^p(N)), S_2^{p^*}(L^{p^*}(N))} = \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} T_{11}(a) & T_{12}(b) \\ T_{21}(c) & T_{22}(d) \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} x & y \\ z & w \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle \\ &= \tau(T_{11}(a)x) + \tau(T_{12}(b)y) + \tau(T_{21}(c)z) + \tau(T_{22}(d)w) \\ &= \tau(aT_{11}^*(x)) + \tau(bT_{12}^*(y)) + \tau(cT_{21}^*(z)) + \tau(dT_{22}^*(w)) \\ &= \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} T_{11} & T_{12}^* \\ T_{21}^* & T_{22}^* \end{bmatrix} \left(\begin{bmatrix} x & y \\ z & w \end{bmatrix} \right) \right\rangle_{S_2^p(L^p(M)), S_2^{p^*}(L^{p^*}(M))}. \end{split}$$

^{12.} The first part is a consequence of the following computation (and the second part can be proved similarly):

PROPOSITION 3.4. – Let M and N be two von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p < \infty$. A bounded map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable if and only if the Banach adjoint $T^*: L^{p^*}(N) \to L^{p^*}(M)$ is decomposable. In this case, we have

(3.1.1)
$$||T||_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} = ||T^{*}||_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p^{*}}(N)\to\operatorname{L}^{p^{*}}(M)}$$

Proof. – Suppose 1 ≤ p < ∞. Suppose that $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable. There exist some maps $v_1, v_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive. Using Lemma 3.3, we obtain that $\left(\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}\right)^* = \begin{bmatrix} v_1^* & T^* \\ (T^\circ)^* & v_2^* \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} v_1^* & T^* \\ (T^*)^\circ & v_2^* \end{bmatrix}$. By Lemma 2.9, this operator is completely positive as a map $S_2^{p^*}(L^{p^*}(M))^{\text{op}} \to S_2^{p^*}(L^{p^*}(N))^{\text{op}}$. So by Lemma 2.17, it also defines a completely positive map $S_2^{p^*}(L^{p^*}(M)) \to S_2^{p^*}(L^{p^*}(N))$. We conclude that $T^*: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable with

$$||T^*||_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^p(M)\to\operatorname{L}^p(N)} \le \max\{||v_1^*||, ||v_2^*||\} = \max\{||v_1||, ||v_2||\}.$$

Taking the infimum, we obtain $||T^*||_{\operatorname{dec}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)} \leq ||T||_{\operatorname{dec}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}$. If $p \neq 1$, a symmetric argument gives the result.

Suppose p = 1 and that the map $T^* \colon N \to M$ is decomposable. There exist some maps $v_1, v_2 \colon N \to M$ such that $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T^* \\ (T^*)^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive. Note that v_1 and v_2 are not necessarily weak* continuous. However, it is not difficult to see by uniqueness that $P_{w^*}\left(\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T^* \\ (T^*)^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}\right) = \begin{bmatrix} (v_1)_{w^*} & T^* \\ (T^*)^\circ & (v_2)_{w^*} \end{bmatrix}$, where $P_{w^*} \colon B(M_2(N), M_2(M)) \to B(M_2(N), M_2(M))$ is the projection of Proposition 3.1. Moreover, the same result says that $\begin{bmatrix} (v_1)_{w^*} & T^* \\ (T^*)^\circ & (v_2)_{w^*} \end{bmatrix}$ is still completely positive and that $\max\{\|(v_1)_{w^*}\|, \|(v_2)_{w^*}\|\} \le \max\{\|v_1\|, \|v_2\|\}$. Using Lemma 3.3, we obtain that $\left(\begin{bmatrix} (v_1)_{w^*} & T^* \\ (T^*)^\circ & (v_2)_{w^*} \end{bmatrix}\right)_* = \begin{bmatrix} ((v_1)_{w^*})_* & T \\ T^\circ & ((v_2)_{w^*})_* \end{bmatrix}$. By Lemma 2.9 and Lemma 2.17, this operator is completely positive as a map $S_2^1(L^1(M)) \to S_2^1(L^1(N))$. We conclude that T is decomposable with $\|T\|_{dec,L^1(M)\to L^1(N)} \le \max\{\|((v_1)_{w^*})_*\|, \|((v_2)_{w^*})_*\|\} = \max\{\|(v_1)_{w^*}\|, \|(v_2)_{w^*}\|\} \le \max\{\|v_1\|, \|v_2\|\}$. Taking the infimum, we obtain the inequality $\|T\|_{dec,L^1(M)\to L^1(N)} \le \|T^*\|_{dec,N\to M}$.

Let M_1 , M_2 and M_3 be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T_1: L^p(M_1) \to L^p(M_2)$ and $T_2: L^p(M_2) \to L^p(M_3)$ be some decomposable maps. It is easy to see that the composition $T_2 \circ T_1$ is decomposable and that

(3.1.2)
$$\|T_2 \circ T_1\|_{\text{dec}} \le \|T_2\|_{\text{dec}} \|T_1\|_{\text{dec}} .$$

Let M_1 , M_2 and M_3 be approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras equipped with normal semifinite faithful traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T_1: L^p(M_1) \to L^p(M_2)$ and $T_2: L^p(M_2) \to L^p(M_3)$ be some regular maps. It is easy to see that the composition $T_2 \circ T_1$ is regular and that

(3.1.3)
$$||T_2 \circ T_1||_{\text{reg}} \le ||T_2||_{\text{reg}} ||T_1||_{\text{reg}}.$$
Let M and N be approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras equipped with normal semifinite faithful traces. Suppose 1 . According to [143, Corollary 3.3] and [143, Theorem 3.7] (see also [142, (6) page 264]), we have the isometricinterpolation identity ⁽¹³⁾

(3.1.4)
$$\operatorname{Reg}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(M), \operatorname{L}^{p}(N)) = (\operatorname{CB}_{\mathrm{w}^{*}}(M, N), \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{1}(M), \operatorname{L}^{1}(N)))^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

where we use the Caldéron's second method or upper method [22, page 88] and where the subscript w* means "weak* continuous". The replacement of the space CB(M, N)of [143, Corollary 3.3] by $CB_{w^*}(M, N)$ is irrelevant thanks to Proposition 3.1. We prefer to use weak* continuous maps on von Neumann algebras in the sequel.

By Lemma 2.5 and (3.1.4), note that we have isometrically

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Reg}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(M^{\operatorname{op}}),\operatorname{L}^{p}(N^{\operatorname{op}})) &= (\operatorname{CB}_{\operatorname{w}^{*}}(M^{\operatorname{op}},N^{\operatorname{op}}),\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{1}(M^{\operatorname{op}}),\operatorname{L}^{1}(N^{\operatorname{op}})))^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= (\operatorname{CB}_{\operatorname{w}^{*}}(M,N),\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{1}(M),\operatorname{L}^{1}(N)))^{\frac{1}{p}} = \operatorname{Reg}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(M),\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)). \end{aligned}$$

So a map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is regular if and only if the opposite map $T^{\mathrm{op}}: L^p(M^{\mathrm{op}}) \to L^p(N^{\mathrm{op}})$ is regular with equality of regular norms.

Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. Let M and N be hyperfinite von Neumann algebras equipped with normal faithful semifinite traces. A bounded map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is regular if and only if the Banach adjoint map $T^*: L^{p^*}(N) \to L^{p^*}(M)$ is regular. In this case, we have

(3.1.5) $\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg}, L^{p}(M) \to L^{p}(N)} = \|T^{*}\|_{\operatorname{reg}, L^{p^{*}}(N)^{\operatorname{op}} \to L^{p^{*}}(M)^{\operatorname{op}}}.$

3.2. On the infimum of the decomposable norm

PROPOSITION 3.5. – Let M and N be two von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a decomposable map. Then the infimum in the definition of $||T||_{dec}$ is actually a minimum i.e., we can choose v_1 and v_2 in (1.0.4) such that $||T||_{dec,L^p(M)\to L^p(N)} = \max\{||v_1||, ||v_2||\}$.

Proof. – See [85, page 184] for the case $p = \infty$. Suppose 1 . Forany integer <math>n, let $v_n, w_n \colon L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be bounded maps such that the map $\begin{bmatrix} v_n & T \\ T^\circ & w_n \end{bmatrix} \colon S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is completely positive with max{ $\|v_n\|, \|w_n\|$ } ≤ $\|T\|_{dec} + \frac{1}{n}$. Note that since $L^p(N)$ is reflexive, the closed unit ball of the space $B(L^p(M), L^p(N))$ of bounded operators in the weak operator topology is compact. Hence the bounded sequences (v_n) and (w_n) admit convergent subnets (v_α) and (w_α) in the weak operator topology which converge to some $v, w \in B(L^p(M), L^p(N))$. Now, it is easy to see that $\begin{bmatrix} v & T \\ T^\circ & w \end{bmatrix} = \lim_{\alpha} \begin{bmatrix} v_\alpha & T \\ T^\circ & w_\alpha \end{bmatrix}$ in the weak operator topology of $B(S_2^p(L^p(M)), S_2^p(L^p(N)))$. By Lemma 2.10, the

^{13.} The compatibility means, roughly speaking, that the elements of the intersection $\operatorname{CB}(M,N) \cap \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^1(M),\operatorname{L}^1(N))$ are the maps simultaneous bounded from M into N and from $\operatorname{L}^1(M)$ into $\operatorname{L}^1(N)$.

operator on the left hand side is completely positive as a weak limit of completely positive mappings. Moreover, using the weak lower semicontinuity of the norm, we see that $||v|| \leq \liminf_{\alpha} ||v_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||_{dec}$ and $||w|| \leq \liminf_{\alpha} ||w_{\alpha}|| \leq ||T||_{dec}$. Hence, we have $\max\{||v||, ||w||\} = ||T||_{dec}$.

The case p = 1 can be proved by duality using the proof of Proposition 3.4.

REMARK 3.6. – Suppose $1 . If <math>T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is a contractively decomposable map, we ignore if we can find some linear maps v_1, v_2 such that the map Φ of (1.0.3) is completely positive *and* contractive.

3.3. The Banach space of decomposable operators

PROPOSITION 3.7. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. If $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable then the map λT is decomposable and $\|\lambda T\|_{\det, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)} = |\lambda| \|T\|_{\det, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}$.

 $\begin{array}{l} Proof. - \text{By symmetry, it suffices to prove } \|\lambda T\|_{\text{dec}} \leq |\lambda| \|T\|_{\text{dec}}, \text{ since then } \|T\|_{\text{dec}} = \\ \left\|\frac{1}{\lambda}\lambda T\right\|_{\text{dec}} \leq \frac{1}{|\lambda|} \|\lambda T\|_{\text{dec}}. \text{ We can write } \lambda = |\lambda|\theta \text{ where } \theta \text{ is a complex number such that } |\theta| = 1. \text{ Assume that } v_1, v_2 \colon L^p(M) \to L^p(N) \text{ are linear maps such that the map } \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \colon S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N)) \text{ is completely positive. By (2.2.3), the linear map } \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \theta & \theta \end{bmatrix}^* \begin{bmatrix} v_1(\cdot) & T(\cdot) \\ T^\circ(\cdot) & v_2(\cdot) \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & \theta \end{bmatrix} \text{ is also completely positive on } S_2^p(L^p(M)). \text{ But it is easy to check that the latter operator equals } \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & \theta T \\ \theta T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}. \text{ Thus the map } |\lambda| \cdot \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & \theta T \\ \theta T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix} = \\ \begin{bmatrix} |\lambda|v_1 & \lambda T \\ (\lambda T)^\circ & |\lambda|v_2 \end{bmatrix} \text{ is also completely positive. We deduce that } T \text{ is decomposable and that } \|\lambda T\|_{\text{dec}} \leq \max \left\{ \||\lambda|v_1\|, \||\lambda|v_2\| \right\} = |\lambda| \max \left\{ \|v_1\|, \|v_2\| \right\}. \text{ Passing to the infimum yields the desired inequality } \|\lambda T\|_{\text{dec}} \leq |\lambda| \|T\|_{\text{dec}}. \end{array}$

It is not proved in [112] that $\|\cdot\|_{\det L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}$ is a norm.

PROPOSITION 3.8. – Let M and N be two von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then $\text{Dec}(L^p(M), L^p(N))$ is a vector space and $\|\cdot\|_{\text{dec}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}$ is a norm on $\text{Dec}(L^p(M), L^p(N))$.

Proof. – Let $T_1, T_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be decomposable maps. There exist some linear maps $v_1, v_2, w_1, w_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T_1 \\ T_1^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$ and $\begin{bmatrix} w_1 & T_2 \\ T_2^\circ & w_2 \end{bmatrix}$ are completely positive. We can write $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T_1 \\ T_1^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} w_1 & T_2 \\ T_2^\circ & w_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} v_1+w_1 & T_1+T_2 \\ T_1^\circ+T_2^\circ & v_2+w_2 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} v_1+w_1 & T_1+T_2 \\ (T_1+T_2)^\circ & v_2+w_2 \end{bmatrix}$. Moreover, this map is completely positive. Hence $T_1 + T_2$ is decomposable. Furthermore,

we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_1 + T_2\|_{dec} &\leq \max \left\{ \|v_1 + w_1\|, \|v_2 + w_2\| \right\} \\ &\leq \max \left\{ \|v_1\| + \|w_1\|, \|v_2\| + \|w_2\| \right\} \\ &\leq \max \left\{ \|v_1\|, \|v_2\| \right\} + \max \left\{ \|w_1\|, \|w_2\| \right\}. \end{aligned}$$

Passing to the infimum, we conclude that the sum $T_1 + T_2$ is decomposable and we obtain the inequality $||T_1 + T_2||_{dec} \le ||T_1||_{dec} + ||T_2||_{dec}$. The absolute homogeneity is Proposition 3.7. For the separation property, we can use Proposition 3.30 if the von Neumann algebras are QWEP. If it is not the case, suppose $||T||_{dec} = 0$. By Proposition 3.5, the map $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & T \\ T^{\circ} & 0 \end{bmatrix} : S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is completely positive. Now, let $b \in L^p(M)$ with $\|b\|_{L^p(M)} \leq 1$. By Proposition 2.14 there exist some $a, c \in L^p(M)$ with $||a||_{L^p(M)} \leq 1$ and $||c||_{L^p(M)} \leq 1$ such that the element $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b^* & c \end{bmatrix}$ of $S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))$ is positive. We deduce that the element $\begin{bmatrix} 0 & T(b) \\ T(b)^* & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ is also positive. Using Lemma 2.13, we infer that T(b) = 0. We conclude that T = 0.

LEMMA 3.9. - Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a decomposable map. Then $T^{\circ}: L^{p}(M) \to L^{p}(N)$ defined by $T^{\circ}(x) = (T(x^{*}))^{*}$ is also decomposable and we have $||T||_{dec} = ||T^{\circ}||_{dec}$.

Proof. – Consider some completely positive maps $v_1, v_2 \colon L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^{\circ} & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive. Using (2.2.3), note that the map

$$\mathcal{F}_M \colon S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)), \ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \mapsto \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} d & c \\ b & a \end{bmatrix}$$

is completely positive and similarly $\mathcal{F}_N \colon S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(N)) \to S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(N))$. We deduce that the map

$$\begin{bmatrix} v_2 & T^{\circ} \\ T & v_1 \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{F}_N \circ \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^{\circ} & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \circ \mathcal{F}_M$$

is completely positive. Hence T° is decomposable and $\|T^{\circ}\|_{\text{dec}} \leq \max\{\|v_1\|, \|v_2\|\}$. Passing to the infimum gives $||T^{\circ}||_{dec} \leq ||T||_{dec}$. Since $(T^{\circ})^{\circ} = T$, we even have $\|T^\circ\|_{\operatorname{dec}} = \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec}}.$

PROPOSITION 3.10. – Let M and N be two von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then the space $Dec(L^p(M), L^p(N))$ is a Banach space with respect to the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\det L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}$.

Proof. – Note first that $||T||_{L^p(M)\to L^p(N)} \leq ||T||_{\det,L^p(M)\to L^p(N)}$ for any decomposable map T. Indeed, for given $\varepsilon > 0$, let $v_1, v_2 \colon L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be completely positive maps such that $\begin{vmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^{\circ} & v_2 \end{vmatrix}$ is completely positive and $\max\{\|v_1\|, \|v_2\|\} \le \|T\|_{dec} + \varepsilon$. Let $b \in L^p(M)$ of norm less than one. According to Proposition 2.14, there exist

 $a, c \in L^p(M)$ of norm less than one such that $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b^* & c \end{bmatrix}$ is positive. Thus, $\begin{bmatrix} v_1(a) & T(b) \\ T^{\circ}(b^*) & v_2(c) \end{bmatrix}$ is positive. Then by Lemma 2.13,

$$\|T(b)\|_{p} \leq \sqrt{\|v_{1}(a)\|_{p} \|v_{2}(c)\|_{p}} \leq \max\{\|v_{1}\|, \|v_{2}\|\} \sqrt{\|a\|_{p} \|c\|_{p}} \leq \|T\|_{\text{dec}} + \varepsilon.$$

Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ shows that $||T||_{\mathrm{L}^p(M) \to \mathrm{L}^p(N)} \leq ||T||_{\mathrm{dec},\mathrm{L}^p(M) \to \mathrm{L}^p(N)}$. Thus, if (T_n) is a sequence in $\mathrm{Dec}(\mathrm{L}^p(M),\mathrm{L}^p(N))$ such that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||T_n||_{\mathrm{dec}} < \infty$, we have that $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} T_n$ converges in $\mathrm{B}(\mathrm{L}^p(M),\mathrm{L}^p(N))$ with sum T. Let $v_{1,n}, v_{2,n}$ be maps such that $\begin{bmatrix} v_{1,n} & T_n \\ T_n^{\circ} & v_{2,n} \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive with $\max\{||v_{1,n}||, ||v_{2,n}||\} \leq ||T_n||_{\mathrm{dec}} + \varepsilon 2^{-n}$. Then the series $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \begin{bmatrix} v_{1,n} & T_n \\ T_n^o & v_{2,n} \end{bmatrix}$ converges in $B(S_2^p(L^p(M)), S_2^p(L^p(N)))$ and is com-

pletely positive by Lemma 2.10. With $v_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} v_{i,n}$ where i = 1, 2, we infer that $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive. So T is decomposable with

$$||T||_{dec} \le \max\{||v_1||, ||v_2||\} \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \max\{||v_{1,n}||, ||v_{2,n}||\} \le \varepsilon + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} ||T_n||_{dec}.$$

Finally, replacing T by $T - \sum_{n=1}^{N} T_n$ in the previous argument shows that $\left\|T - \sum_{n=1}^{N} T_n\right\|_{\text{dec}} \leq \varepsilon + \sum_{n=N+1}^{\infty} \|T_n\|_{\text{dec}}.$

Hence $(\sum_{n=1}^{N} T_n)$ converges in $\text{Dec}(L^p(M), L^p(N))$ to T.

PROPOSITION 3.11. – Let M and N be two von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a completely positive map. Then T is decomposable and

$$\|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^p(M)\to\operatorname{L}^p(N)} \le \|T\|_{\operatorname{L}^p(M)\to\operatorname{L}^p(N)}.$$

Proof. – Using Lemma 2.11, we see that the linear map $\begin{bmatrix} T & T \\ T & T \end{bmatrix} : S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is completely positive. We infer that T is decomposable and that the inequality is \square true.

PROPOSITION 3.12. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a linear map. Then the following are equivalent.

- 1. The map T is decomposable.
- 2. The map T belongs to the span of the completely positive maps from $L^p(M)$ into $L^p(N)$.
- 3. There exist some completely positive maps $T_1, T_2, T_3, T_4: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that

$$T = T_1 - T_2 + i(T_3 - T_4).$$

If the latter case is satisfied, we have

 $||T||_{\det, L^{p}(M) \to L^{p}(N)} \leq ||T_{1} + T_{2} + T_{3} + T_{4}||_{L^{p}(M) \to L^{p}(N)}.$

Proof. – If there exist some completely positive maps $T_1, T_2, T_3, T_4: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that $T = T_1 - T_2 + i(T_3 - T_4)$ then T belongs to to the span of the completely positive maps from $L^p(M)$ into $L^p(N)$. If T belongs to the span of the completely positive maps from $L^p(M)$ into $L^p(N)$, by Proposition 3.11 and Proposition 3.8, we deduce that T is decomposable. Moreover, the proof of these results shows that if $T = T_1 - T_2 + i(T_3 - T_4)$ for some completely positive maps T_1, T_2, T_3, T_4 then we can use ⁽¹⁴⁾ $v_1 = v_2 = T_1 + T_2 + T_3 + T_4$ in (1.0.3).

Hence we have $||T||_{\det, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)} \le ||T_1 + T_2 + T_3 + T_4||_{L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}$.

Now, suppose that the map T is decomposable. There exist some completely positive maps $v_1, v_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that $\Phi = \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive. By (2.2.3), the maps $T_1 = \frac{1}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \Phi \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}$, $T_2 = \frac{1}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \Phi \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -1 \end{bmatrix}$, $T_3 = \frac{1}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & i \end{bmatrix} \Phi \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ -i \end{bmatrix}$ and $T_4 = \frac{1}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & -i \end{bmatrix} \Phi \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ i \end{bmatrix}$ are completely positive from $L^p(M)$ into $L^p(N)$ and it is easy to check that $T = T_1 - T_2 + i(T_3 - T_4)$.

REMARK 3.13. – Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a decomposable operator. We can define

$$||T||_{[d]} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \inf \{ ||T_1|| + ||T_2|| + ||T_3|| + ||T_4|| \},\$$

where the infimum runs over all the previous possible decompositions of T as $T = T_1 - T_2 + i(T_3 - T_4)$ where each T_i is completely positive. It is stated in [146, page 230] that $\|\cdot\|_{[d]}$ is a norm, but it is not correct. Indeed, let $M = \mathbb{C}$. We have $L^p(M) = \mathbb{C}$. Let $T: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}, x \mapsto x$. Then we will prove that $\|T\|_{[d]} = 1$ and that $\|(1+i)T\|_{[d]} = 2 \neq \sqrt{2} = |1+i| \|T\|_{[d]}$. First, we have

$$||T||_{[d]} = \inf \left\{ a_1 + a_2 + a_3 + a_4 : a_k \ge 0, \ 1 = a_1 - a_2 + i(a_3 - a_4) \right\}$$

For such a decomposition, we have $1 = \Re(a_1 - a_2 + i(a_3 - a_4)) = a_1 - a_2$. We deduce that $||T||_{[d]} \ge a_1 = 1 + a_2 \ge 1$. The decomposition 1 = 1 - 0 + i(0 - 0) gives the reverse inequality. Moreover, we have

$$\|(1+i)T\|_{[d]} = \inf \left\{ a_1 + a_2 + a_3 + a_4 : a_k \ge 0, \ 1+i = a_1 - a_2 + i(a_3 - a_4) \right\}.$$

For such a decomposition, we have $1 = \Re(a_1 - a_2 + i(a_3 - a_4)) = a_1 - a_2$ and $1 = \Im(a_1 - a_2 + i(a_3 - a_4)) = a_3 - a_4$. We deduce that $a_1 = 1 + a_2 \ge 1$ and $a_3 = 1 + a_4 \ge 1$. Then $\|(1 + i)T\|_{[d]} \ge a_1 + a_3 \ge 1 + 1 = 2$. The decomposition 1 + i = 1 - 0 + i(1 - 0) gives the reverse inequality.

However, it seems that $\|\cdot\|_{[d]}$ is a norm on the real vector space of decomposable operators. The verification is left to the reader.

^{14.} The argument is similar to the one of [68, Proposition 5.4.1] and uses a straightforward generalization of a part of [68, Proposition 1.3.5].

PROPOSITION 3.14. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Any finite rank bounded map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable.

Proof. – Suppose 1 ≤ $p < \infty$. It suffices to prove that a rank one operator $T = \text{Tr}(y \cdot) \otimes x$ is decomposable where $y \in L^{p^*}(M)$ and $x \in L^p(N)$. We can write $x = x_1 - x_2 + i(x_3 - x_4)$ and $y = y_1 - y_2 + i(y_3 - y_4)$ with $x_k, y_k \ge 0$. Hence we can suppose that $y \ge 0$ and $x \ge 0$. By Proposition 2.23, we deduce that the linear form $\text{Tr}(y \cdot) \colon L^p(M) \to \mathbb{C}$ is completely positive. It is easy to deduce that $\text{Tr}(y \cdot) \otimes x$ is completely positive, hence decomposable by Proposition 3.11. The case $p = \infty$ is similar. □

3.4. Reduction to the adjoint preserving case

LEMMA 3.15. – Let E be an operator space and suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then for any $a, b, c, d \in E$, we have

$$\left\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & b \\ c & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(E)} \le \left\| \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(E)}$$

Proof. – Consider the Schur multiplier $M_A: S_2^{\infty} \to S_2^{\infty}$ where $A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$. Using Lemma 2.12 with $E = \mathbb{C}$ and $p = \infty$, we note that for any $a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{C}$

$$\begin{split} \left\| \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_{2}^{\infty}}^{2} &= \left\| \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix}^{*} \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_{2}^{\infty}} \\ &\geq \max\left\{ |a|^{2} + |c|^{2}, |b|^{2} + |d|^{2} \right\} \geq \max\left\{ |c|, |b| \right\}^{2} &= \left\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & b \\ c & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_{2}^{\infty}}^{2} \end{split}$$

We deduce that the Schur multiplier M_A is a contraction, hence a complete contraction. By duality, $M_A: S_2^1 \to S_2^1$ is also a complete contraction. Using Lemma 3.20, we deduce that M_A is contractively regular on S_2^p and the lemma follows.

LEMMA 3.16. – Let M and N be approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$ and let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a regular map. Then $T^\circ: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ defined by $T^\circ(x) = (T(x^*))^*$ is also regular and we have $||T^\circ||_{reg} = ||T||_{reg}$.

Proof. – We recall that by (3.1.4), Reg(L^{*p*}(*M*), L^{*p*}(*N*)) is a complex interpolation space following Calderón's upper method. Choose now an analytic function *F*: *S* → CB(*M*, *N*) + CB(L¹(*M*), L¹(*N*)) of *G* defined on the usual complex interpolation strip *S* = {*z* ∈ ℂ : 0 ≤ ℜ*z* ≤ 1}, such that *F'*(*θ*) = *T* with $||F||_{\mathcal{G}} \le ||T||_{reg} + \varepsilon$. Put *G*(*z*) = *F*(\overline{z})°. Then the function *G* also belongs to *G* with $||G||_{\mathcal{G}} = ||F||_{\mathcal{G}}$ and we have *G'*(*θ*) = *T*°. Thus the map *T*° is regular and $||T^\circ||_{reg} \le ||T||_{reg} + \varepsilon$. Letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ we obtain $||T^\circ||_{reg} \le ||T||_{reg}$. Since $(T^\circ)^\circ = T$, we even have $||T^\circ||_{reg} = ||T||_{reg}$.

PROPOSITION 3.17. – Let M and N be approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$ and that $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is a linear mapping. Define $\tilde{T}: S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ by

$$\tilde{T}\left(\begin{bmatrix}a&b\\c&d\end{bmatrix}\right) = \begin{bmatrix}0&T(b)\\T^{\circ}(c)&0\end{bmatrix}$$

Then \tilde{T} is adjoint preserving in the sense that $\tilde{T}(x^*) = (\tilde{T}(x))^*$. Moreover, T is regular if and only if the map $\tilde{T}: S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is regular and in this case, we have $\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg},L^p(M)\to L^p(N)} = \|\tilde{T}\|_{\operatorname{reg},S_2^p(L^p(M))\to S_2^p(L^p(N))}$.

Proof. – Let $x = \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))$. We have

$$\tilde{T}(x^*) = \tilde{T}\left(\begin{bmatrix} a^* & c^* \\ b^* & d^* \end{bmatrix} \right) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T(c^*) \\ T^\circ(b^*) & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T(c^*) \\ T(b)^* & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

and also

$$\left(\tilde{T}(x)\right)^* = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T(b) \\ T^{\circ}(c) & 0 \end{bmatrix}^* = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T^{\circ}(c)^* \\ T(b)^* & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T(c^*) \\ T(b)^* & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

We conclude that \tilde{T} is adjoint preserving, i.e., $\tilde{T}^{\circ} = \tilde{T}$. Assume first that $1 \leq p < \infty$. Let E be any operator space. Assume first that T is regular. For any $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \in S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M, E))$, according to Lemma 2.12 with E replaced by $\mathcal{L}^p(N, E)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(\tilde{T} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E \right) \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(N,E))} &= \left\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & (T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)(b) \\ (T^\circ \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)(c) & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(N,E))} \\ &= \left(\left\| (T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)(b) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(N,E)}^p + \left\| (T^\circ \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)(c) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(N,E)}^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

The previous quantity can be estimated by $||T||_{\text{reg}} \left(||b||_{L^p(M,E)}^p + ||c||_{L^p(M,E)}^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$ due to Lemma 3.16. According to Lemmas 2.12 and 3.15 with *E* replaced by $L^p(M,E)$, this in turn can be estimated by

$$\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \left\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & b \\ c & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M, E))} \le \|T\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \left\| \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M, E))}$$

This shows that $\|\tilde{T} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E\|_{S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(M,E)) \to S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(N,E))} \leq \|T\|_{\mathrm{reg}}$. Passing to the supremum over all operator spaces E, we deduce that \tilde{T} is regular and that $\|\tilde{T}\|_{\mathrm{reg}} \leq \|T\|_{\mathrm{reg}}$.

For the converse inequality, assume that \tilde{T} is regular and let $x \in L^p(M, E)$. Applying Lemma 2.12 twice, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| (T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)(x) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(N,E)} &= \left\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & (T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)(x) \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(N,E))} \\ &= \left\| \left(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & T \\ T^\circ & 0 \end{bmatrix} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E \right) \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(N,E))} \\ &\leq \|\tilde{T}\|_{\mathrm{reg}} \left\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & x \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(M,E))} \\ &= \|\tilde{T}\|_{\mathrm{reg}} \|x\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(M,E)} \,. \end{split}$$

We conclude that T is regular and that $||T||_{\text{reg}} \leq ||\tilde{T}||_{\text{reg}}$.

The case $p = \infty$ is similar, using in the second part of Lemma 2.12 each time. \Box

PROPOSITION 3.18. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a linear map. Then T is decomposable if and only if the map $\tilde{T}: S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ from Proposition 3.17 is decomposable, and in this case, we have $||T||_{\text{dec},L^p(M)\to L^p(N)} =$ $||\tilde{T}||_{\text{dec},S_2^p(L^p(M))\to S_2^p(L^p(N))}$.

Proof. – Suppose that *T* is decomposable. Choose some maps v_1, v_2 : L^{*p*}(*M*) → L^{*p*}(*N*) such that $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$: $S_2^p(\mathbf{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathbf{L}^p(N))$ is completely positive. By (2.2.3), the mapping

0	0	1	0	v_1	T	0	0		0	0	1	0		$\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	$_{\tilde{T}}$
0	1	0	0	T°	v_2	0	0) (•)	0	1	0	0	_	$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$	1
1	0	0	0	0	0	v_1	T		1	0	0	0 0	$ ilde{T}$	$\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$	
0	0	0	1	0	0	T°	v_2		0	0	0	1			$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$

is also completely positive from $S_4^p(L^p(M))$ into $S_4^p(L^p(N))$. Therefore the map \tilde{T} is decomposable and $\|\tilde{T}\|_{dec} \leq \|\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & 0\\ 0 & v_2 \end{bmatrix}\| = \max\{\|v_1\|, \|v_2\|\}$, the latter according to [145, Corollary 1.3]. By passing to the infimum over all admissible v_1, v_2 , we see that $\|\tilde{T}\|_{dec} \leq \|T\|_{dec}$.

Now suppose that the map \tilde{T} is decomposable. Let $v_1, v_2 \colon S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(N))$ such that the map $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & \tilde{T} \\ \tilde{T} & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \colon S_4^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_4^p(\mathcal{L}^p(N))$ is completely positive. Put $w_1 \colon \mathcal{L}^p(M) \to \mathcal{L}^p(N), a \mapsto (v_1(\begin{bmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}))_{11}$ and $w_2 \colon \mathcal{L}^p(M) \to \mathcal{L}^p(N), d \mapsto (v_2(\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & d \end{bmatrix}))_{22}$. Then each w_i is also completely positive as a composition of completely positive mappings. We also define

$$\begin{array}{ccccc} J \colon & S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) & \longrightarrow & S_4^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \\ & & \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} & \longmapsto & \begin{bmatrix} a & 0 & 0 & b \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ c & 0 & 0 & d \end{bmatrix} \ . \end{array}$$

It is easy to see that J is a completely positive and completely isometric embedding. Then an easy computation gives

Г

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \left(\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & \tilde{T} \\ \tilde{T} & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \left(J \left(\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \right) \right) \right) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \left(\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & \tilde{T} \\ \tilde{T} & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \left(\begin{bmatrix} a & 0 & 0 & b \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ c & 0 & 0 & d \end{bmatrix} \right) \right) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} v_1 \left(\begin{bmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right) & \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T(b) \\ 0 & 0 \\ T^{\circ}(c) & 0 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} w_1(a) & T(b) \\ T^{\circ}(c) & w_2(d) \end{bmatrix} .$$

Using (2.2.3), we deduce by composition that the map $\begin{bmatrix} w_1 & T \\ \tilde{T} & w_2 \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive. We infer that T is decomposable and that

$$||T||_{\text{dec}} \le \max\{||w_1||, ||w_2||\} \le \max\{||v_1||, ||v_2||\}.$$

Passing to the infimum over all admissible v_1, v_2 , we obtain that $||T||_{dec} \leq ||\tilde{T}||_{dec}$.

PROPOSITION 3.19. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. An adjoint preserving $^{(15)}$ map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable if and only if one of the two following

15. That means that $T(x^*) = T(x)^*$ for any $x \in L^p(M)$.

infimums is finite. In this case, we have

$$\begin{split} \|T\|_{\mathrm{dec},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(N)} &= \inf \left\{ \, \|S\| \ : \ S : \mathrm{L}^{p}(M) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(N) \, \operatorname{cp}, \ -S \leq_{\mathrm{cp}} T \leq_{\mathrm{cp}} S \right\} \\ &= \inf \left\{ \, \|T_{1}+T_{2}\| \ : \ T_{1},T_{2} \colon \mathrm{L}^{p}(M) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(N) \, \operatorname{cp}, \ T = T_{1} - T_{2} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Proof. – The first equality is a consequence of Lemma 2.20 and Lemma 2.21. To prove the second equality, first assume that there exists some completely positive map $S: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that

$$-S \leq_{\rm cp} T \leq_{\rm cp} S.$$

Then $T_1 = \frac{1}{2}(S+T)$ and $T_2 = \frac{1}{2}(S-T)$ are completely positive and we have $T_1 + T_2 = \frac{1}{2}(S+T) + \frac{1}{2}(S-T) = S$ and $T_1 - T_2 = \frac{1}{2}(S+T) - \frac{1}{2}(S-T) = T$.

Conversely, suppose that we can write $T = T_1 - T_2$ for some completely positive maps $T_1, T_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$. Then we have

$$-(T_1+T_2) \leq_{\rm cp} T \leq_{\rm cp} (T_1+T_2).$$

This proves the second equality.

3.5. Decomposable vs regular on Schatten spaces

Similarly to the commutative case, an absolute contraction between noncommutative L^p -spaces is contractively regular.

LEMMA 3.20. – Let M and N be approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras which are equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Let $T: M \to N$ be a completely contractive map such that the restriction to $M \cap L^1(M)$ induces a completely contractive map from $L^1(M)$ into $L^1(N)$. Then for any $1 \le p \le \infty$, we have $\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg},L^p(M)\to L^p(N)} \le 1$.

Proof. – Let E be any operator space. According to [68, Proposition 8.1.5], the map $T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_E: L^{\infty}(M, E) = M \otimes_{\min} E \to L^{\infty}(N, E) = N \otimes_{\min} E$ is completely contractive. Moreover, by [68, Corollary 7.1.3] the map

$$T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E \colon \mathrm{L}^1(M, E) = \mathrm{L}^1(M)\widehat{\otimes}E \to \mathrm{L}^1(N, E) = \mathrm{L}^1(N)\widehat{\otimes}E$$

is also completely contractive, where $\widehat{\otimes}$ denotes the operator space projective tensor product. By interpolation, we infer that the map $T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E \colon \mathrm{L}^p(M, E) \to \mathrm{L}^p(N, E)$ is completely contractive for any $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Passing over the supremum of all operator spaces, we obtain the lemma.

Suppose $1 \le p < \infty$. If n and d are integers then a particular case of [143, Theorem 1.5] gives for any $x \in S_n^p(M_d)$

$$(3.5.1) \|x\|_{S_n^p(\mathcal{M}_d)} = \inf \left\{ \|\alpha\|_{S_n^{2p}} \|y\|_{\mathcal{M}_n(\mathcal{M}_d)} \|\beta\|_{S_n^{2p}} : x = (\alpha \otimes \mathcal{I}_d)y(\beta \otimes \mathcal{I}_d) \right\}.$$

THEOREM 3.21. – Let $n,m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Then any linear mapping $T: S_m^p \to S_n^p$ satisfies

$$\left\|T\right\|_{\operatorname{reg},S_m^p\to S_n^p} = \left\|T\right\|_{\operatorname{dec},S_m^p\to S_n^p}.$$

37

Proof. – Assume that the theorem is true for all adjoint preserving maps $T: S_m^p \to S_n^p$, i.e., $T(x^*) = T(x)^*$. Then we can deduce from Propositions 3.18 and 3.17, with the adjoint preserving mapping $\tilde{T}: S_{2m}^p \to S_{2n}^p$, that $\|T\|_{dec} = \|\tilde{T}\|_{dec} = \|\tilde{T}\|_{reg} = \|T\|_{reg}$. Hence we can assume in addition that T is adjoint preserving.

First we show $||T||_{\text{reg}} \leq ||T||_{\text{dec}}$. The following proof is inspired by the proof of [143, Lemma 2.3]. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. According to Proposition 3.19, there exist some completely positive maps $T_1, T_2: S_m^p \to S_n^p$ such that $T = T_1 - T_2$ and $||T_1 + T_2|| \leq ||T||_{\text{dec}} + \varepsilon$. According to Choi's characterization [43, Theorem 1], there exist $a_1, \ldots, a_l, b_1, \ldots, b_l \in \mathcal{M}_{m,n}$ such that $T_1(x) = \sum_{k=1}^l a_k^* x a_k$ and $T_2(x) = \sum_{k=1}^l b_k^* x b_k$. Let x be an element of $S_m^p(\mathcal{M}_d)$ with $||x||_{S_m^p(\mathcal{M}_d)} < 1$. By (3.5.1), there exists a decomposition $x = (\alpha \otimes I_d)y(\beta \otimes I_d)$ with $\alpha, \beta \in S_m^{2p}$ of norm less than 1 and $y \in \mathcal{M}_m(\mathcal{M}_d)$ which is also of norm less than 1. Using the notations

$$\alpha_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [a_1^*\alpha, \dots, a_l^*\alpha], \quad \beta_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (a_1^*\beta^*, \dots, a_l^*\beta^*),$$

and

$$\alpha_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} [b_1^*\alpha, \dots, b_l^*\alpha], \quad \beta_2 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (b_1^*\beta^*, \dots, b_l^*\beta^*)$$

of $M_{1,l}(M_{n,m})$, we can write

$$\begin{split} (T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{M_d})(x) &= (T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{M_d}) \left((\alpha \otimes I_d) y(\beta \otimes I_d) \right) \\ &= (T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{M_d}) \left((\alpha \otimes I_d) \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^m e_{ij} \otimes y_{ij} \right) (\beta \otimes I_d) \right) = \sum_{i,j=1}^m (T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{M_d}) (\alpha e_{ij} \beta \otimes y_{ij}) \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^m T(\alpha e_{ij} \beta) \otimes y_{ij} = \sum_{i,j=1}^m T_1(\alpha e_{ij} \beta) \otimes y_{ij} - T_2(\alpha e_{ij} \beta) \otimes y_{ij} \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^m \sum_{k=1}^l a_k^* \alpha e_{ij} \beta a_k \otimes y_{ij} - b_k^* \alpha e_{ij} \beta b_k \otimes y_{ij} \\ &= \sum_{i,j=1}^m \sum_{k=1}^l (a_k^* \alpha \otimes I_d) (e_{ij} \otimes y_{ij}) (\beta a_k \otimes I_d) - (b_k^* \alpha \otimes I_d) (e_{ij} \otimes y_{ij}) (\beta b_k \otimes I_d) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^l (a_k^* \alpha \otimes I_d) \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^m e_{ij} \otimes y_{ij} \right) (\beta a_k \otimes I_d) - (b_k^* \alpha \otimes I_d) \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^m e_{ij} \otimes y_{ij} \right) (\beta b_k \otimes I_d) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^l (a_k^* \alpha \otimes I_d) y(\beta a_k \otimes I_d) - (b_k^* \alpha \otimes I_d) y(\beta b_k \otimes I_d) \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^l (a_k^* \alpha \otimes I_d) y(\beta a_k \otimes I_d) - (b_k^* \alpha \otimes I_d) y(\beta b_k \otimes I_d) \\ &= \left([a_1^* \alpha, \dots, a_l^* \alpha] \otimes I_d \right) \begin{bmatrix} y & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & y \end{bmatrix} \left(\begin{pmatrix} \beta a_1 \\ \vdots \\ \beta a_l \\ \end{pmatrix} \right) \end{split}$$

$$- \left(\begin{bmatrix} b_1^* \alpha, \dots, b_l^* \alpha \end{bmatrix} \otimes \mathbf{I}_d \right) \begin{bmatrix} y & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \ddots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & 0 \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & y \end{bmatrix} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \beta b_1 \\ \vdots \\ \vdots \\ \beta b_l \end{bmatrix} \otimes \mathbf{I}_d \right)$$
$$= (\alpha_1 \otimes \mathbf{I}_d) \cdot (\mathbf{I}_l \otimes y) \cdot (\beta_1^* \otimes \mathbf{I}_d) - (\alpha_2 \otimes \mathbf{I}_d) \cdot (\mathbf{I}_l \otimes y) \cdot (\beta_2^* \otimes \mathbf{I}_d).$$

The matrix $I_l \otimes y \in M_l(M_m(M_d))$ is of norm less than 1. A simple computation shows that

$$\begin{bmatrix} (T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{M}_d})(x) & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} (\alpha_1 \otimes \mathrm{I}_d) \cdot (\mathrm{I}_l \otimes y) \cdot (\beta_1^* \otimes \mathrm{I}_d) - (\alpha_2 \otimes \mathrm{I}_d) \cdot (\mathrm{I}_l \otimes y) \cdot (\beta_2^* \otimes \mathrm{I}_d) & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \left(\begin{bmatrix} \alpha_1 & -\alpha_2\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \otimes \mathrm{I}_d \right) \begin{bmatrix} \mathrm{I}_l \otimes y & 0\\ 0 & \mathrm{I}_l \otimes y \end{bmatrix} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \beta_1^* & 0\\ \beta_2^* & 0 \end{bmatrix} \otimes \mathrm{I}_d \right).$$

On the other hand, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_{1} & -\alpha_{2} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S^{2p}} &= \left\| \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_{1} & -\alpha_{2} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{*} \right\|_{S^{2p}} = \operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(\begin{bmatrix} \alpha_{1} & -\alpha_{2} \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_{1}^{*} & 0 \\ -\alpha_{2}^{*} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right)^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{2p}} \\ &= \operatorname{Tr} \left(\begin{bmatrix} \alpha_{1}\alpha_{1}^{*} + \alpha_{2}\alpha_{2}^{*} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{2p}} = \operatorname{Tr} \left((\alpha_{1}\alpha_{1}^{*} + \alpha_{2}\alpha_{2}^{*})^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{2p}} \\ &= \operatorname{Tr} \left(\left(\sum_{k=1}^{l} a_{k}^{*}\alpha\alpha^{*}a_{k} + b_{k}^{*}\alpha\alpha^{*}b_{k} \right)^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{2p}} = \left\| T_{1}(\alpha\alpha^{*}) + T_{2}(\alpha\alpha^{*}) \right\|_{S^{p}_{n}}^{\frac{1}{2p}} \\ &\leq \|T_{1} + T_{2}\|_{S^{p}_{m} \to S^{p}_{n}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\alpha\alpha^{*}\|_{S^{p}_{m}}^{\frac{1}{2}} = \|T_{1} + T_{2}\|_{S^{p}_{m} \to S^{p}_{n}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\alpha\|_{S^{2p}_{m}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \|T_{1} + T_{2}\|_{S^{p}_{m} \to S^{p}_{n}}^{\frac{1}{2}} . \end{split}$$

In the same way, it follows that $\left\| \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1^* & 0 \\ \beta_2^* & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S^{2p}} \leq \|T_1 + T_2\|_{S_m^p \to S_n^p}^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Using (3.5.1), we infer that

$$\left\| (T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{M}_d})(x) \right\|_{S^p_n(\mathrm{M}_d)} = \left\| \begin{bmatrix} (T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{M}_d})(x) & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{S^p_{2n}(\mathrm{M}_d)} \le \|T_1 + T_2\|_{S^p_m \to S^p_n}^{\frac{1}{2}} \|T_1 + T_2\|_{S^p_m \to S^p_n}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

This yields $\|T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{M_d}\|_{S^p_m(M_d) \to S^p_n(M_d)} \leq \|T_1 + T_2\|_{S^p_m \to S^p_n} \leq \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec}} + \varepsilon$, hence $\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \leq \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec}} + \varepsilon$. Passing $\varepsilon \to 0$ yields one of the desired estimates $\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \leq \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec}}$.

Finally we shall show $||T||_{dec} \leq ||T||_{reg}$. Assume that $||T||_{reg} \leq 1$. According to [146, Theorem 5.12], note that we have isometrically

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 177

where \otimes_h denotes the Haagerup tensor product. Moreover, using the properties of this tensor product [145, pages 95-97], we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{M}_{n}^{\mathrm{op}} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{M}_{n}^{\mathrm{op}} &= (\mathbf{C}_{n} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{R}_{n})^{\mathrm{op}} \otimes_{h} (\mathbf{C}_{n} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{R}_{n})^{\mathrm{op}} = \mathbf{R}_{n}^{\mathrm{op}} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{C}_{n}^{\mathrm{op}} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{R}_{n}^{\mathrm{op}} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{C}_{n}^{\mathrm{op}} \\ &= \mathbf{C}_{n} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{R}_{n} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{C}_{n} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{R}_{n} = \mathbf{C}_{n} \otimes_{h} S_{n}^{1} \otimes_{h} \mathbf{R}_{n} = \mathbf{M}_{n} (S_{n}^{1}) \\ &= \mathbf{M}_{n} \otimes_{\min} S_{n}^{1} = \mathbf{CB} (S_{n}^{1}). \end{split}$$

We have $\gamma_{\theta}(T) \leq 1$ with $\theta = \frac{1}{p}$ and γ_{θ} defined in [144, Theorem 8.5], according to [143, Corollary 3.3]. Then since T is adjoint preserving, [144, Corollary 8.7] yields that $||T||_{\text{dec}} \leq ||T_1 + T_2||_{S_m^p \to S_n^p} \leq 1$ where $T = T_1 - T_2$ and T_1 , T_2 are completely positive mappings $M_m \to M_n$ given there. The proof of the theorem is complete. \Box

3.6. Decomposable vs regular on approximately finite-dimensional algebras

In this chapter, we will extend by approximation Theorem 3.21 to approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras. We start with two lemmas which show that, under suitable assumptions, the decomposability or the regularity of maps is preserved under a passage to the limit.

LEMMA 3.22. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let (T_{α}) be a net of decomposable operators from $L^{p}(M)$ into $L^{p}(N)$ such that $||T_{\alpha}||_{\det,L^{p}(M)\to L^{p}(N)} \leq C$ for some constant C which converges to some $T: L^{p}(M) \to L^{p}(N)$ in the weak operator topology (in the point weak* topology of B(M, N) if $p = \infty$). Then T is decomposable and $||T||_{\det,L^{p}(M)\to L^{p}(N)} \leq \liminf_{\alpha} ||T_{\alpha}||_{\det,L^{p}(M)\to L^{p}(N)}$.

Proof. – We assume first that $1 . By Proposition 3.5, for any <math>\alpha$, there exist some maps $v_{\alpha}, w_{\alpha} \colon L^{p}(M) \to L^{p}(N)$ such that the map

$$\begin{bmatrix} v_{\alpha} & T_{\alpha} \\ T_{\alpha}^{\circ} & w_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} : S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(N))$$

is completely positive with $\max\{\|v_{\alpha}\|, \|w_{\alpha}\|\} = \|T_{\alpha}\|_{dec} \leq C$. Note that since $L^{p}(N)$ is reflexive, the closed unit ball of the space $B(L^{p}(M), L^{p}(N))$ of bounded operators in the weak operator topology is compact. Hence the bounded nets (v_{α}) and (w_{α}) admit convergent subnets (v_{β}) and (w_{β}) in the weak operator topology which converge to some $v, w \in B(L^{p}(M), L^{p}(N))$. Now, it is easy to see that

$$\begin{bmatrix} v & T \\ T^{\circ} & w \end{bmatrix} = \lim_{\beta} \begin{bmatrix} v_{\beta} & T_{\beta} \\ T^{\circ}_{\beta} & w_{\beta} \end{bmatrix}$$

in the weak operator topology of $B(S_2^p(L^p(M)), S_2^p(L^p(N)))$. By Lemma 2.10, the operator on the left hand side is completely positive as a weak limit of completely positive mappings. Hence the operator T is decomposable. Moreover, using the weak lower semicontinuity of the norm, we see that $||v|| \leq \liminf_{\beta} ||v_{\beta}|| \leq \liminf_{\beta} ||T_{\beta}||_{dec}$ and $||w|| \leq \liminf_{\beta} ||w_{\beta}|| \leq \liminf_{\beta} ||T_{\beta}||_{dec}$.

Hence, we have $||T||_{dec} \leq \max\{||v||, ||w||\} \leq \liminf_{\beta} ||T_{\beta}||_{dec}$. By considering a priori only subnets β of α such that $\lim_{\beta} \|T_{\beta}\|_{\text{dec}} = \lim \inf_{\alpha} \|T_{\alpha}\|_{\text{dec}}$ (see [131, Exercise 2.55 (f)]), we finish the proof in the case 1 .

Assume now that $p = \infty$. Then the Banach space B(M, N) is still a dual space, namely that of the projective tensor product $M \otimes L^1(N)$. Consequently, the bounded nets (v_{α}) and (w_{α}) admit convergent subnets (v_{β}) and (w_{β}) which converge in the weak* topology of B(M, N) to some v, w, where v_{β}, w_{β} are constructed as previously. Note that the weak* convergence implies the point weak* convergence and thus allows us to apply Lemma 2.10 and deduce that $\begin{bmatrix} v & T \\ T^{\circ} & w \end{bmatrix} : M_2(M) \to M_2(N)$ is completely positive. Using the weak* lower semicontinuity of the norm, we infer that $\|v\| \leq \liminf_{\beta} \|v_{\beta}\| \leq \liminf_{\beta} \|T_{\beta}\|_{\text{dec}}$ and similarly $\|w\| \leq \liminf_{\beta} \|T_{\beta}\|_{\text{dec}}$ and thus $||T||_{\text{dec}} \leq \max\{||v||, ||w||\} \leq \liminf_{\beta} ||T_{\beta}||_{\text{dec}} = \liminf_{\alpha} ||T_{\alpha}||_{\text{dec}}$, again under suitable choices of subnets β of α .

Assume finally that p = 1. According to (3.1.1), we note that the case $p = \infty$ is applicable ⁽¹⁶⁾ to T^*_{α} and T^* and thus

$$\|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{1}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{1}(N)} = \|T^{*}\|_{\operatorname{dec},N\to M} \leq \liminf_{\alpha} \|T^{*}_{\alpha}\|_{\operatorname{dec},N\to M} = \liminf_{\alpha} \|T_{\alpha}\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{1}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{1}(N)},$$

where we used again (3.1.1) in the last equality. \Box

where we used again (3.1.1) in the last equality.

LEMMA 3.23. – Let M and N be approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras which are equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose 1 .Let (T_{α}) be a net of maps from $L^{p}(M)$ into $L^{p}(N)$ such that $||T_{\alpha}||_{\operatorname{reg},L^{p}(M)\to L^{p}(N)} \leq C$ for some constant C which converges to some $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ in the strong operator topology.

Then the map T is regular and $||T||_{\operatorname{reg}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)} \leq \liminf_{\alpha} ||T_{\alpha}||_{\operatorname{reg}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)}.$

Proof. – Let E be an operator space. For any $x \in L^p(M) \otimes E$, an easy computation gives (17)

$$\lim_{\alpha} (T_{\alpha} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)(x) = (T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)(x).$$

17. If $\sum_{k=1}^{n} x_k \otimes y_k \in L^p(M) \otimes E$ then

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| (T_{\alpha} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{E}) \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} x_{k} \otimes y_{k} \right) - (T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{E}) \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} x_{k} \otimes y_{k} \right) \right\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(M,E)} \\ &= \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} T_{\alpha}(x_{k}) \otimes y_{k} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} T(x_{k}) \otimes y_{k} \right\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(M,E)} \\ &= \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{n} (T_{\alpha}(x_{k}) - T(x_{k})) \otimes y_{k} \right\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(M,E)} \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} \|T_{\alpha}(x_{k}) - T(x_{k})\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)} \|y_{k}\|_{E} \xrightarrow{\sim} 0. \end{aligned}$$

^{16.} If X is a dual Banach space with predual X_* , it is well-known that the mapping $B(X_*) \to B_{w^*}(X), T \mapsto T^*$ is a weak operator-point weak* homeomorphism onto the space $B_{w^*}(X)$ of weak^{*} continuous operators of B(X) and the point weak^{*} topology and the weak^{*} topology coincide on bounded sets by [137, Lemma 7.2].

We deduce ⁽¹⁸⁾ that $T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E$ induces a bounded operator on $\mathrm{L}^p(M, E)$ and that the net $(T_\alpha \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E)$ converges strongly to $T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E$. By the strong lower semicontinuity of the norm, we deduce that

$$\|T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(M,E) \to \mathrm{L}^p(N,E)} \leq \liminf_{\alpha} \|T_\alpha \otimes \mathrm{Id}_E\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(M,E) \to \mathrm{L}^p(N,E)}$$
$$\leq \liminf_{\alpha} \|T_\alpha\|_{\mathrm{reg},\mathrm{L}^p(M) \to \mathrm{L}^p(N)}.$$

Taking the supremum, we get the desired conclusion.

THEOREM 3.24. – Let M and N be approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras which are equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a linear mapping. Then T is regular if and only if T is decomposable. In this case, we have

$$\|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} = \|T\|_{\operatorname{reg},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)}$$

Proof. – The case $p = \infty$ is [68, Lemma 5.4.3] and a straightforward generalization of [143, Remark following Definition 2.1] since $L^{\infty}(M, E) = M \otimes_{\min} E$. The case p = 1 is also true by duality using Lemma 2.17, (3.1.1) and (3.1.5).

Let us now turn to the case $1 . We denote by <math>\tau$ and σ the traces of M and N.

Case 1: *M* and *N* are finite-dimensional. – By [171, Theorem 11.2] and [60, proof of Proposition 7 page 109, Theorem 5 page 105, corollary page 103], there exist $m_1, \ldots, m_K, n_1, \ldots, n_L \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_K, \mu_1, \ldots, \mu_L \in (0, \infty)$ such that $(M, \tau) = (M_{m_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus M_{m_K}, \lambda_1 \operatorname{Tr}_{m_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus \lambda_K \operatorname{Tr}_{m_K})$ and $(N, \sigma) = (M_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus M_{n_L}, \mu_1 \operatorname{Tr}_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mu_L \operatorname{Tr}_{n_L})$.

Case 1.1: All λ_k and μ_l belong to \mathbb{N} . – Then let $m = \sum_{k=1}^{K} \lambda_k m_k$ and $n = \sum_{l=1}^{L} \mu_l n_l$. Let further $J: M \to M_m$ be the normal unital trace preserving *-homomorphism defined by

 $J(x_1 \oplus \dots \oplus x_K) = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 & & & & \\ & \ddots & & & \\ & x_1 & & 0 & \\ & & \ddots & & \\ & & & x_K & & \\ & & & & x_K & \\ & 0 & & & \ddots & \\ & & & & & x_K \end{bmatrix},$

^{18.} Let X be a Banach space and D a dense subset of X. Let (T_{α}) be a bounded net of bounded linear operators in B(X). Suppose that, for each $x \in D$, the net $(T_{\alpha}(x))$ is convergent in X. By [63, page 55], there exists a bounded linear operator $T: X \to X$ such that (T_{α}) converges strongly to T.

where x_k appears λ_k times on the diagonal, $k = 1, \ldots, K$. Let moreover $\mathbb{E} \colon \mathcal{M}_m \to M$ be the associated conditional expectation. Moreover, we introduce similar maps $J' \colon N \to \mathcal{M}_n$ and $\mathbb{E}' \colon \mathcal{M}_n \to N$. We denote by the same symbols the induced maps on the associated \mathcal{L}^p -spaces.

Lemma 3.20 is applicable for both J' and \mathbb{E} and we obtain the estimates $\|J'\|_{\operatorname{reg}, L^p(N) \to S_n^p} \leq 1$ and $\|\mathbb{E}\|_{\operatorname{reg}, S_m^p \to L^p(M)} \leq 1$. Moreover, by Proposition 3.11, we also infer that $\|J\|_{\operatorname{dec}, L^p(M) \to S_m^p} \leq 1$ and $\|\mathbb{E}'\|_{\operatorname{dec}, S_n^p \to L^p(N)} \leq 1$. Suppose that $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is regular. By Theorem 3.21 applied to $J'T\mathbb{E}: S_m^p \to S_n^p$ together with (3.1.2) and (3.1.3), we obtain that $T = \mathbb{E}'(J'T\mathbb{E})J$ is decomposable and that

$$\begin{aligned} \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} &= \left\|\mathbb{E}'J'T\mathbb{E}J\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \leq \|\mathbb{E}'\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \|J'T\mathbb{E}\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \|J\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \\ &\leq \|J'T\mathbb{E}\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \leq \|J'\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \|T\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \|\mathbb{E}\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \leq \|T\|_{\operatorname{reg},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} \,. \end{aligned}$$

Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a decomposable map. In a similar manner, we obtain the inequalities $\|J\|_{\text{reg}}, \|\mathbb{E}'\|_{\text{reg}}, \|J'\|_{\text{dec}}, \|\mathbb{E}\|_{\text{dec}} \leq 1$ and that T is regular and we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|T\|_{\operatorname{reg},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} &= \|\mathbb{E}'J'T\mathbb{E}J\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \leq \|\mathbb{E}'\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \|J'T\mathbb{E}\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \|J\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \\ &\leq \|J'T\mathbb{E}\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \leq \|J'\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \|\mathbb{E}\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \leq \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} \,. \end{aligned}$$

Case 1.2: All λ_k and μ_l belong to \mathbb{Q}_+ . – Then there exists a common denominator of the λ_k 's and the μ_l 's, that is, there exists $t \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\lambda_k = \frac{\lambda'_k}{t}$, $\mu_l = \frac{\mu'_l}{t}$ for some integers λ'_k and μ'_l . Since we have $\|x\|_{L^p(M_1, t\tau_1)} = t^{\frac{1}{p}} \|x\|_{L^p(M_1, \tau_1)}$ for any semifinite von Neumann algebra (M_1, τ_1) , it is easy to deduce that

$$\|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^p(M,t\tau)\to\operatorname{L}^p(N,t\sigma)}=\|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^p(M,\tau)\to\operatorname{L}^p(N,\sigma)}$$

and also that $T: L^p(M, t\tau) \to L^p(N, t\sigma)$ is regular if and only if $T: L^p(M, \tau) \to L^p(N, \sigma)$ is regular with equal regular norms in this case. Thus, Case 1.2 follows from Case 1.1.

Case 1.3: λ_k , $\mu_l \in (0, \infty)$. – For $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\lambda_{k,\varepsilon}$, $\mu_{l,\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{Q}_+$ be ε -close to λ_k and μ_l in the sense that $(1+\varepsilon)^{-1}\lambda_k \leq \lambda_{k,\varepsilon} \leq (1+\varepsilon)\lambda_k$, and similarly for $\mu_l, \mu_{l,\varepsilon}$. We introduce the trace $\tau_{\varepsilon} = \lambda_{1,\varepsilon} \operatorname{Tr}_{m_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus \lambda_{K,\varepsilon} \operatorname{Tr}_{m_K}$ on $M = M_{m_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus M_{m_K}$. Consider the (non-isometric) identity mapping $\operatorname{Id}_M^{\varepsilon} : \operatorname{L}^p(M,\tau) \to \operatorname{L}^p(M,\tau_{\varepsilon})$. Note that for any element $x = x_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus x_K$ of $\operatorname{L}^p(M,\tau)$, the definition of multiplication and adjoint in the sum space $M_{m_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus M_{m_K}$ yields immediately that $|x|^p = |x_1|^p \oplus \ldots \oplus |x_K|^p$. Thus, $||x||_{\operatorname{L}^p(M,\tau)}^p = \tau(|x|^p) = \sum_{k=1}^K \lambda_k \operatorname{Tr}_{m_k}(|x_k|^p)$. By the same argument, $||x||_{\operatorname{L}^p(M,\tau_{\varepsilon})}^p = \sum_{k=1}^K \lambda_{k,\varepsilon} \operatorname{Tr}_{m_k}(|x_k|^p)$. Thus,

$$\begin{split} \|\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau_{\varepsilon})}^{p} &= \sup_{x\in\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau)\setminus\{0\}} \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{K}\lambda_{k,\varepsilon}\operatorname{Tr}_{m_{k}}(|x_{k}|^{p})}{\sum_{k=1}^{K}\lambda_{k}\operatorname{Tr}_{m_{k}}(|x_{k}|^{p})} \\ &\leq \sup_{x\in\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau)\setminus\{0\}} \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{K}(1+\varepsilon)\lambda_{k}\operatorname{Tr}_{m_{k}}(|x_{k}|^{p})}{\sum_{k=1}^{K}\lambda_{k}\operatorname{Tr}_{m_{k}}(|x_{k}|^{p})} = 1+\varepsilon. \end{split}$$

In the same manner, one obtains $\|\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau_{\varepsilon})}^{p} \leq 1+\varepsilon$. Also, using $(1+\varepsilon)^{-1}\lambda_{k}\leq\lambda_{k,\varepsilon}$, one obtains that

$$\left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau_{\varepsilon})\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau)}^{p} \leq 1+\varepsilon.$$

We infer that $\|\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathrm{cb}}, \|(\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \to 1$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. In the case $p = \infty$, this convergence also holds, since $\|x\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\infty}(M,\tau_{\varepsilon})} = \|x\|_{\mathrm{L}^{\infty}(M,\tau)}$. We also define the trace $\sigma_{\varepsilon} = \mu_{1,\varepsilon} \operatorname{Tr}_{n_{1}} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mu_{L,\varepsilon} \operatorname{Tr}_{m_{L}}$ on the algebra N. Moreover, we also have a map $\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon} \colon \mathrm{L}^{p}(N,\sigma) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(N,\sigma_{\varepsilon})$ and $\|\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathrm{cb}}, \|(\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\|_{\mathrm{cb}}$ go to 1 when ε approaches 0. Since $\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}$, $\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}$ and their inverses are completely positive (since they are identity mappings and complete positivity is independent of the trace), by Proposition 3.11, their decomposable norms approach 1 when ε approaches 0. Moreover, interpolating between p = 1 and $p = \infty$, using Lemma 3.20, we also infer that their regular norms approach 1 as ε goes to 0. Suppose that $T \colon \mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(N,\sigma)$ is regular. Using Case 1.2 with the map $\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}T(\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \colon \mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau_{\varepsilon}) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(N,\sigma_{\varepsilon}), (3.1.2)$ and (3.1.3), we see that

$$\begin{split} \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M,\tau)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N,\sigma)} &= \left\|(\operatorname{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\operatorname{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}T(\operatorname{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\operatorname{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M,\tau)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N,\sigma)} \\ &\leq \left\|(\operatorname{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}}\left\|\operatorname{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}T(\operatorname{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}}\left\|\operatorname{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \\ &= \left\|(\operatorname{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}}\left\|\operatorname{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}T(\operatorname{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\right\|_{\operatorname{reg}}\left\|\operatorname{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \\ &\leq \left\|(\operatorname{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}}\left\|\operatorname{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}\right\|_{\operatorname{reg}}\left\|T\right\|_{\operatorname{reg}}\left\|(\operatorname{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\right\|_{\operatorname{reg}}\left\|\operatorname{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}}. \end{split}$$

Going to the limit, we obtain $||T||_{dec} \leq ||T||_{reg}$. In the same vein, one shows that any map $T: L^p(M, \tau) \to L^p(N, \sigma)$ is regular and that we have $||T||_{reg} \leq ||T||_{dec}$. The proof of Case 1.3, and thus of Case 1, is complete.

Case 2: M and N are approximately finite-dimensional and finite. – In this case [27, page 291], $M = \overline{\bigcup_{\alpha} M_{\alpha}}^{w^*}$ and $N = \overline{\bigcup_{\beta} N_{\beta}}^{w^*}$ where (M_{α}) and (N_{β}) are nets directed by inclusion of finite dimensional unital *-subalgebras (as in Case 1). Moreover, we denote by $J_{\alpha} \colon M_{\alpha} \to M, J_{\beta}' \colon N_{\beta} \to N$ the canonical unital *-homomorphisms and by $\mathbb{E}_{\alpha} \colon M \to M_{\alpha}$ and $\mathbb{E}'_{\beta} \colon N \to N_{\beta}$ the associated conditional expectations given by [166, Corollary 10.6] since the traces are finite. All these maps induce completely contractive and completely positive maps on the associated L^p -spaces denoted by the same notations such that ⁽¹⁹⁾

(3.6.1)
$$\lim_{\alpha} J_{\alpha} \mathbb{E}_{\alpha}(x) = x \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{\beta} J_{\beta}' \mathbb{E}_{\beta}'(y) = y$$

(for the L^{*p*}-norm) for any $x \in L^p(M)$ and any $y \in L^p(N)$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a bounded map. The net ⁽²⁰⁾ $(J'_{\beta}\mathbb{E}'_{\beta}, J_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}_{\alpha})_{(\alpha,\beta)}$ of $B(L^p(N)) \times B(L^p(M))$ is obviously

$$\|x - J_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}_{\alpha}(x)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)} \leq \|x - y\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)} + \|y - J_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}_{\alpha}(x)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)} \leq \varepsilon + \|J_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}_{\alpha}(y - x)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)} \leq 2\varepsilon.$$

20. The index set $A \times B$ is directed by letting $(\alpha, \beta) \leq (\alpha', \beta')$ if $\alpha \leq \alpha'$ and $\beta \leq \beta'$.

^{19.} Recall that $\bigcup_{\alpha} L^p(M_{\alpha})$ is dense in $L^p(M)$. Let $x \in L^p(M)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. There exists α_0 and $y \in L^p(M_{\alpha_0})$ such that $||x - y||_{L^p(M)} \le \varepsilon$. Hence for any $\alpha \ge \alpha_0$, since $y \in L^p(M_{\alpha})$, we have

convergent to $(\mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{L}^p(N)}, \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{L}^p(M)})$ where each factor is equipped with the strong topology. Using the strong continuity of the product on bounded sets, we infer that the net $(J'_{\beta}\mathbb{E}'_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}_{\alpha})$ converges strongly to T. Suppose that T is decomposable. Using Case 1 with the operator $\mathbb{E}'_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha}: \mathrm{L}^p(M_{\alpha}) \to \mathrm{L}^p(N_{\beta})$, we deduce that T is regular and that, using (3.1.2) and (3.1.3)

$$\begin{split} \left\| T \right\|_{\operatorname{reg}, \operatorname{L}^{p}(M) \to \operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} &\leq \liminf_{\alpha, \beta} \left\| J_{\beta}' \mathbb{E}_{\beta}' T J_{\alpha} \mathbb{E}_{\alpha} \right\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \leq \liminf_{\alpha, \beta} \left\| J_{\beta}' \right\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \left\| \mathbb{E}_{\beta}' T J_{\alpha} \right\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \\ &\leq \liminf_{\alpha, \beta} \left\| \mathbb{E}_{\beta}' T J_{\alpha} \right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \leq \liminf_{\alpha, \beta} \left\| \mathbb{E}_{\beta}' \right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \left\| T \right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \left\| J_{\alpha} \right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \\ &\leq \left\| T \right\|_{\operatorname{dec}, \operatorname{L}^{p}(M) \to \operatorname{L}^{p}(N)}. \end{split}$$

For the converse inequality, suppose that the map $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is regular. Since $T = \lim_{\alpha,\beta} J'_{\beta} \mathbb{E}'_{\beta} T J_{\alpha} \mathbb{E}_{\alpha}$ is the strong, hence weak, limit of decomposable operators, hence decomposable by Proposition 3.22, we obtain, using again (3.1.2) and (3.1.3),

$$\begin{split} \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} &\leq \liminf_{\alpha,\beta} \left\|J_{\beta}'\mathbb{E}_{\beta}'TJ_{\alpha}\mathbb{E}_{\alpha}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \leq \liminf_{\alpha,\beta} \left\|J_{\beta}'\right\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \|\mathbb{E}_{\beta}'TJ_{\alpha}\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \|\mathbb{E}_{\alpha}'\|_{\operatorname{dec}} \\ &\leq \liminf_{\alpha,\beta} \left\|\mathbb{E}_{\beta}'TJ_{\alpha}\right\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \leq \liminf_{\alpha,\beta} \left\|\mathbb{E}_{\beta}'\right\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \|T\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \|J_{\alpha}\|_{\operatorname{reg}} \\ &\leq \|T\|_{\operatorname{reg},\operatorname{L}^{p}(M)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)} \,. \end{split}$$

Thus, Case 2 is proved.

Case 3: M and N are general approximately finite-dimensional semifinite von Neumann algebras. By [169, page 57], there exist an increasing net of projections (e_i) which is strongly convergent to 1 with $\tau(e_i) < \infty$ for any i. We set $M_i \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} e_i M e_i$. The trace $\tau|_{M_i}$ is obviously finite. Moreover, it is well-known ⁽²¹⁾ that M_i is approximately finite-dimensional. We conclude that M_i is a von Neumann algebra satisfying the properties of Case 2. We also introduce the completely positive and completely contractive adjoint preserving normal map $Q_i: M \to M_i, x \mapsto e_i x e_i$ and the canonical inclusion map $J_i: M_i \to M$. We do the same construction on N and obtain some maps $Q'_j: N \to N_j$ and $J'_j: N_j \to N$. All these maps induce completely positive and completely contractive maps on all L^p levels, $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Moreover, for any $1 \leq p < \infty$ and any $x \in L^p(M)$ we have ⁽²²⁾ $x = \lim_i e_i x e_i = \lim_i J_i Q_i(x)$ and similarly $y = \lim_j J'_j Q'_j(y)$ for any $y \in L^p(N)$. We conclude by the same arguments as in Case 2.

REMARK 3.25. – Using Proposition 3.12, this theorem also shows that the space of regular operators between $L^{p}(M)$ and $L^{p}(N)$ is precisely the span of the completely

^{21.} This observation relies on the equivalence between "injective" and "approximately finitedimensional".

^{22.} Since the product of strongly convergent bounded nets of bounded operators on $L^p(M)$ define a strongly convergent net, it suffices to prove that the net $(e_i x)$ converges to x in $L^p(M)$. Now using the GNS representation $\pi \colon M \to B(L^2(M))$ and [114, Corollary 7.1.16], we deduce that for any $x \in L^2(M)$, the net $(e_i x)$ converges to x in $L^2(M)$. Using interpolation between 2 and ∞ , we obtain the convergence for $2 . For the case <math>1 \le p < 2$, it suffices to write an element $x \in L^p(M)$ as x = yz with $y, z \in L^{2p}(M)$ and use Hölder inequality.

positive maps from $L^p(M)$ into $L^p(N)$. This assertion is alluded in [143, Theorem 3.7] and proved ⁽²³⁾ in [143, Lemma 2.3] and [144, Theorem 8.8] for $L^p(M) = L^p(N) = S^p$.

With the same method, we can prove the particular case of Theorem 2.19. Using the same notations, we only indicate the changes.

THEOREM 3.26. – Let M and N be approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras which are equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a completely positive map. Then T is completely bounded and we have

$$||T||_{L^{p}(M)\to L^{p}(N)} = ||T||_{cb,L^{p}(M)\to L^{p}(N)}.$$

Proof. – Case 1. M and N are finite-dimensional – Then as explained in the proof of Theorem 3.24, we can write $(M, \tau) = (M_{m_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus M_{m_K}, \lambda_1 \operatorname{Tr}_{m_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus \lambda_k \operatorname{Tr}_{m_K})$ and $(N, \sigma) = (M_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus M_{n_L}, \mu_1 \operatorname{Tr}_{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus \mu_L \operatorname{Tr}_{n_L}).$

Case 1.1. All λ_k and μ_l belong to \mathbb{N} . – We thus have, as in the proof of Theorem 3.24, unital trace preserving *-homomorphisms $J: M \to M_m$ and $J': N \to M_n$ as well as associated conditional expectations $\mathbb{E}: M_m \to M$ and $\mathbb{E}': M_n \to N$. Suppose that $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ is completely positive. By a straightforward extension of [143, Proposition 2.2 and Lemma 2.3] applied to $J'T\mathbb{E}: S_m^p \to S_n^p$, we obtain that $T = \mathbb{E}'(J'T\mathbb{E})J$ is completely bounded and that

$$\begin{aligned} \|T\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(N)} &= \left\|\mathbb{E}'J'T\mathbb{E}J\right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \le \|\mathbb{E}'\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \,\|J'T\mathbb{E}\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \,\|J\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \le \|J'T\mathbb{E}\|\\ &\le \|J'\| \,\|T\| \,\|\mathbb{E}\| \le \|T\| \,. \end{aligned}$$

Case 1.2. All λ_k and μ_l belong to \mathbb{Q}_+ . – It is easy to prove that $T: L^p(M, t\tau) \to L^p(N, t\sigma)$ is bounded if and only if $T: L^p(M, \tau) \to L^p(N, \sigma)$ is bounded with equal norms. A similar result holds for the complete boundedness. Thus, Case 1.2 follows from Case 1.1.

Case 1.3. λ_k , $\mu_l \in (0, \infty)$. – Suppose that $T: L^p(M, \tau) \to L^p(N, \sigma)$ is completely positive. Using Case 1.2 with the map $\mathrm{Id}_N^{\varepsilon} T(\mathrm{Id}_M^{\varepsilon})^{-1}: L^p(M, \tau_{\varepsilon}) \to L^p(N, \sigma_{\varepsilon})$, we see that T is completely bounded and that

$$\begin{split} \|T\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(N,\sigma)} &= \left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}T(\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1}\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M,\tau)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(N,\sigma)} \\ &\leq \left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \left\| \mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}T(\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \|\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \\ &= \left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \left\| \mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon}T(\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \right\| \left\| \mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \\ &\leq \left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \left\| \mathrm{Id}_{N}^{\varepsilon} \right\| \|T\| \left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon})^{-1} \right\| \left\| \mathrm{Id}_{M}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}}. \end{split}$$

^{23.} The proof of [144, Theorem 8.8] for Schatten spaces does not generalize in a straightforward manner to the case of noncommutative L^p -spaces. Indeed, the equality (3.5.2) is not true with a von Neumann algebra M instead of M_n . For example, by [146, page 97], the space $\ell_n^{\infty} \otimes_h \ell_n^{\infty}$ is isometric to the space \mathfrak{M}_n^{∞} of Schur multipliers on M_n and the space $\operatorname{CB}(\ell_n^{\infty})$ is isometric to $\operatorname{B}(\ell_n^{\infty})$ by [68, Proposition 2.2.6] and it is easy to see that \mathfrak{M}_n^{∞} is not isometric to $\operatorname{B}(\ell_n^{\infty})$.

Going to the limit, we obtain $||T||_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(M)\to\mathrm{L}^p(N)} \leq ||T||_{\mathrm{L}^p(M)\to\mathrm{L}^p(N)}$. Thus Case 1 is complete.

Case 2. M and N are approximately finite-dimensional and finite. – Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a completely positive map. The net $(J'_{\beta} \mathbb{E}'_{\beta} T J_{\alpha} \mathbb{E}_{\alpha})$ converges strongly to T. Using Case 1 with the operator $\mathbb{E}'_{\beta} T J_{\alpha} : L^p(M_{\alpha}) \to L^p(N_{\beta})$ and [137, Theorem 7.4] we deduce that T is completely bounded and that

$$\begin{split} \left\| T \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(N)} &\leq \liminf_{\alpha,\beta} \left\| J_{\beta}' \mathbb{E}_{\beta}' T J_{\alpha} \mathbb{E}_{\alpha} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \leq \liminf_{\alpha,\beta} \left\| J_{\beta}' \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \left\| \mathbb{E}_{\beta}' T J_{\alpha} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \left\| \mathbb{E}_{\alpha} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \\ &\leq \liminf_{\alpha,\beta} \left\| \mathbb{E}_{\beta}' T J_{\alpha} \right\| \leq \liminf_{\alpha,\beta} \left\| \mathbb{E}_{\beta}' \right\| \left\| T \right\| \left\| J_{\alpha} \right\| \leq \left\| T \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(M) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(N)}. \end{split}$$

Thus, Case 2 is proved. The Case 3 is similar to the Case 2.

3.7. Modulus of regular operators vs 2×2 matrix of decomposable operators

For any regular operator $T: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega')$ on classical L^p -spaces, it is well-known that $|||T|||_{L^p(\Omega)\to L^p(\Omega')} = ||T||_{\operatorname{reg},L^p(\Omega)\to L^p(\Omega')}$, see, e.g., [133, Proposition 1.3.6]. We recall that the modulus of a regular operator T between real-valued L^p -spaces is given by $|T| \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} -T \lor T$, in the sense that |T| is the supremum of the set $\{-T, T\}$ in $B(L^p(\Omega), L^p(\Omega'))$, see [156, page 229]. For any positive $f \in L^p(\Omega)$, we have |T|(f) = $\sup\{|T(g)|: |g| \leq f\}$, see [133, Theorem 1.3.2] and [133, Proposition 2.2.6] in the case of complex-valued L^p -spaces.

THEOREM 3.27. – Let Ω and Ω' be (localizable) measure spaces. Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$ (see Remark 3.29 for the case $p = \infty$). Let $T: L^p(\Omega) \to L^p(\Omega')$ be a regular operator. Then the map $\Phi = \begin{bmatrix} |T| & T \\ T^{\circ} & |T| \end{bmatrix}: S_2^p(L^p(\Omega)) \to S_2^p(L^p(\Omega'))$ is completely positive, i.e., the infimum of (1.0.3) is attained with $v_1 = v_2 = |T|$.

Proof. – We say that a finite collection $\alpha = \{A_1, \ldots, A_{n_\alpha}\}$ of disjoint measurable subsets of Ω with finite measures is a semipartition of Ω . We introduce a preorder on the set \mathcal{A} of semipartitions of Ω by letting $\alpha \leq \alpha'$ if each set in α is a union of some sets in α' . It is not difficult to prove that \mathcal{A} is a directed set. For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$, we denote by $\{A_1, \ldots, A_{n_\alpha}\}$ the elements of α of measure > 0. Similarly, we introduce the set \mathcal{B} of semipartitions of Ω' . It is not difficult to see⁽²⁴⁾ that the operator $\ell^p_{n_\alpha} \to \text{span}\{1_{A_1}, \ldots, 1_{A_{n_\alpha}}\}, e_j \mapsto \frac{1}{\mu(A_j)^{\frac{1}{p}}} 1_{A_j}$ is a positive isometric isomorphism

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \frac{a_j}{\mu(A_j)^{\frac{1}{p}}} \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^p(\Omega)} &= \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \left\| \frac{a_j}{\mu(A_j)^{\frac{1}{p}}} \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^p(\Omega)}^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \frac{|a_j|^p}{\mu(A_j)} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{A_j} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^p(\Omega)}^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} |a_j|^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \left\| \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} a_j e_j \right\|_{\ell_{n_{\alpha}}^p}.\end{aligned}$$

^{24.} Since the functions 1_{A_i} are disjoint, for any complex numbers $a_1, \ldots, a_{n_{\alpha}}$, we have

onto the subspace span $\{1_{A_1}, \ldots, 1_{A_{n_\alpha}}\}$ of $L^p(\Omega)$. By composition with the canonical identification of span $\{1_{A_1}, \ldots, 1_{A_{n_\alpha}}\}$ in $L^p(\Omega)$, we obtain a positive isometric embedding $J_{\alpha} \colon \ell^p_{n_{\alpha}} \to L^p(\Omega)$. We equally define the average operator $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \colon L^p(\Omega) \to \ell^p_{n_{\alpha}}$ by

$$\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}(f) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(A_j)^{1-\frac{1}{p}}} \int_{A_j} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu \right) e_j, \quad f \in \mathrm{L}^p(\Omega).$$

We need the following folklore lemma.

LEMMA 3.28. – Suppose $1 \le p < \infty$.

- 1. For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$, the map \mathcal{P}_{α} is positive and contractive.
- 2. For any $f \in L^p(\Omega)$, we have $\lim_{\alpha} J_{\alpha} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}(f) = f$.

Proof. - 1. The positivity is obvious. Using Jensen's inequality, it is elementary to check the contractivity.

2. Since $||J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}||_{L^{p}(\Omega)\to L^{p}(\Omega)}$ is uniformly bounded by 1, by [32, III 17.4, Proposition 5] it suffices to show this for f in the dense class of integrable simple functions constructed with subsets of measure > 0. So let f be such a function, say with respect to some semipartition α_{f} . For any $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ which refines α_{f} , it is easy to see that $J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}(f) = f$. Hence, for this f, the assertion is true.

The net ⁽²⁵⁾
$$\left(\begin{bmatrix} J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta} & J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta} \\ J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta} & J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta} \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} |T|J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} & TJ_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \\ T^{\circ}J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} & |T|J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \right)_{(\alpha,\beta)}$$
 of the product
B $(S_{2}^{p}(\mathcal{L}^{p}(\Omega'))) \times B(S_{2}^{p}(\mathcal{L}^{p}(\Omega)), S_{2}^{p}(\mathcal{L}^{p}(\Omega')))$

is obviously convergent to $\left(\operatorname{Id}_{S_2^p(L^p(\Omega'))}, \begin{bmatrix} |T| & T \\ T^\circ & |T| \end{bmatrix}\right)$ where each factor is equipped with the strong operator topology. Using the strong continuity of the product on bounded sets (see [69, Proposition C.19]), we infer that the net

$$\begin{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} & J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \\ J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}T^{\circ}J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} & J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \end{pmatrix}_{(\alpha,\beta)}$$

converges strongly to the map $\begin{bmatrix} |T| & T \\ T^{\circ} & |T| \end{bmatrix}$: $S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\Omega)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\Omega'))$. By Lemma 2.10, since we have the equality

$$\begin{bmatrix} J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha}P_{\alpha} & J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \\ J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}T^{\circ}J_{\alpha}P_{\alpha} & J_{\beta}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} = (\mathrm{Id}_{S_{2}^{p}}\otimes J_{\beta})\circ \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha} & \mathcal{P}_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha} \\ \mathcal{P}_{\beta}T^{\circ}J_{\alpha} & \mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \circ (\mathrm{Id}_{S_{2}^{p}}\otimes \mathcal{P}_{\alpha})$$

it suffices to show that the three linear maps $\operatorname{Id}_{S_2^p} \otimes J_{\beta} \colon S_2^p(\ell_{n_{\beta}}^p) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\Omega')),$ $\Phi_{\alpha,\beta} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha} & \mathcal{P}_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha} \\ \mathcal{P}_{\beta}T^{\circ}J_{\alpha} & \mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \colon S_2^p(\ell_{n_{\alpha}}^p) \to S_2^p(\ell_{n_{\beta}}^p) \text{ and } \operatorname{Id}_{S_2^p} \otimes \mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \colon S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\Omega)) \to S_2^p(\ell_{n_{\alpha}}^p)$ are all completely positive. By Proposition 2.23, the positive maps $J_{\beta} \colon \ell_{n_{\beta}}^p \to \mathcal{L}^p(\Omega')$

^{25.} The index set $A \times B$ is directed by letting $(\alpha, \beta) \leq (\alpha', \beta')$ if $\alpha \leq \alpha'$ and $\beta \leq \beta'$.

and $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} \colon \mathcal{L}^{p}(\Omega) \to \ell_{n_{\alpha}}^{p}$ are completely positive. It remains to show the second assertion. For any $1 \leq j \leq n_{\alpha}$, we have

$$(\mathcal{P}_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha})(e_{j}) = (\mathcal{P}_{\beta}T)\left(\frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}}1_{A_{j}}\right) = \frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}(T(1_{A_{j}}))$$
$$= \frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}}\sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}}\frac{1}{\nu(B_{i})^{1-\frac{1}{p}}}\left(\int_{B_{i}}T(1_{A_{j}})\,\mathrm{d}\mu'\right)e_{i}.$$

We deduce that the matrix $[t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}]$ of the linear map $\mathcal{P}_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha} \colon \ell^{p}_{n_{\alpha}} \to \ell^{p}_{n_{\beta}}$ in the canonical basis is $\left[\frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}}\frac{1}{\nu(B_{i})^{1-\frac{1}{p}}}\int_{B_{i}}T(1_{A_{j}})\,\mathrm{d}\mu'\right]$. Moreover, we have

$$(\mathcal{P}_{\beta}T^{\circ}J_{\alpha})(e_{j}) = (\mathcal{P}_{\beta}T^{\circ})\left(\frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}}1_{A_{j}}\right) = \frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}}\mathcal{P}_{\beta}(\overline{T(1_{A_{j}})})$$
$$= \overline{\frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}}\sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}}\frac{1}{\nu(B_{i})^{1-\frac{1}{p}}}\left(\int_{B_{i}}T(1_{A_{j}})\,\mathrm{d}\mu'\right)}e_{i}.$$

Hence the matrix of $P_{\alpha}T^{\circ}J_{\alpha}$ is $[\overline{t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}}]_{ij}$. Finally, we equally have

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha})(e_{j}) &= (\mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|) \left(\frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}} \mathbf{1}_{A_{j}}\right) = \frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}} \mathcal{P}_{\beta}(|T|(\mathbf{1}_{A_{j}})) \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu(A_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}} \frac{1}{\nu(B_{i})^{1-\frac{1}{p}}} \left(\int_{B_{i}} |T|(\mathbf{1}_{A_{j}}) \,\mathrm{d}\mu'\right) e_{i}. \end{aligned}$$

Now, we note that

$$\int_{B_i} |T|(1_{A_j}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu' \ge \int_{B_i} |T(1_{A_j})| \, \mathrm{d}\mu' \ge \left| \int_{B_i} T(1_{A_j}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu' \right| = \mu(A_j)^{\frac{1}{p}} \nu(B_i)^{1-\frac{1}{p}} |t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|.$$

Thus, $\mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha}$ is associated with some matrix $[s_{\alpha,\beta,ij}]$ with $s_{\alpha,\beta,ij} = |t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}| + r_{\alpha,\beta,ij}$ where $r_{\alpha,\beta,ij} \ge 0$ for any i, j. Further, let $\psi_{\alpha,\beta,ij} \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} = |t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|\psi_{\alpha,\beta,ij}$.

We denote by $i_{\alpha} \colon \ell_{n_{\alpha}}^{p} \hookrightarrow S_{n_{\alpha}}^{p}$ the canonical diagonal embedding, $\tilde{J}_{\alpha} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Id}_{S_{2}^{p}} \otimes i_{\alpha} \colon S_{2}^{p}(\ell_{n_{\alpha}}^{p}) \to S_{2}^{p}(S_{n_{\alpha}}^{p})$ and by $Q_{\alpha} \colon S_{2}^{p}(S_{n_{\alpha}}^{p}) \to S_{2}^{p}(\ell_{n_{\alpha}}^{p})$ the canonical projection. Note that $Q_{\alpha}\tilde{J}_{\alpha} = \operatorname{Id}_{S_{2}^{p}(\ell_{n_{\alpha}}^{p})}$.

Now, we show that the map
$$\tilde{J}_{\beta}\Phi_{\alpha,\beta}Q_{\alpha}: S_{2}^{p}(S_{n_{\alpha}}^{p}) \to S_{2}^{p}(S_{n_{\beta}}^{p})$$
 is completely pos-
itive. If we take $a_{ij} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{|t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|\psi_{\alpha,\beta,ij}e_{ij}} & 0\\ 0 & \sqrt{|t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|e_{ij}} \end{bmatrix}, b_{ij}^{(1)} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{r_{\alpha,\beta,ij}e_{ij}} & 0\\ 0 & \sqrt{|t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|e_{ij}} \end{bmatrix}$, we obtain for any $x \in S_{2}^{p}(S_{n_{\alpha}}^{p})$
 $(\tilde{J}_{\beta}\Phi_{\alpha,\beta}Q_{\alpha})(x) = (\tilde{J}_{\beta}\Phi_{\alpha,\beta}Q_{\alpha}) \left(\begin{bmatrix} x_{11} & x_{12}\\ x_{21} & x_{22} \end{bmatrix} \right)$
 $= \left(\tilde{J}_{\beta} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha} & \mathcal{P}_{\beta}TJ_{\alpha}\\ \mathcal{P}_{\beta}T^{\circ}J_{\alpha} & \mathcal{P}_{\beta}|T|J_{\alpha} \end{bmatrix} \right) \left(\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{11jj}e_j & \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{12jj}e_j\\ \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{21jj}e_j & \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{22jj}e_j \end{bmatrix} \right)$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 177

$$\begin{split} &= \tilde{J}_{\beta} \left(\left[\sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{11jj} \mathcal{P}_{\beta} | T | J_{\alpha} e_{j} \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{12jj} \mathcal{P}_{\beta} T J_{\alpha} e_{j} \right] \right) \\ &= \tilde{J}_{\beta} \left(\left[\sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{21jj} \mathcal{P}_{\beta} T^{\circ} J_{\alpha} e_{j} \qquad \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{22jj} \mathcal{P}_{\beta} | T | J_{\alpha} e_{j} \right] \right) \\ &= \tilde{J}_{\beta} \left(\left[\sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{11jj} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}} \frac{s_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{i}}{t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} x_{12jj} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}} t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{i} \right] \right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}} \left[x_{11jj} \frac{s_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{i}}{x_{21jj} t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{ii}} x_{12jj} t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{ii} \right] \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}} \left(\left[x_{11jj} | t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} | e_{ii} x_{12jj} t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{ii} \right] + \left[x_{11jj} r_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{ii} & 0 \right] \right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}} \left(\left[x_{11jj} | t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} | e_{ii} x_{12jj} t_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{ii} \right] \right) \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}} \left(\left[\sqrt{|t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|} \psi_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{ij} & 0 \right] \right] \left[x_{11} x_{12} \right] \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\beta}} \left(\left[\sqrt{|t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|} \psi_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{ji} & 0 \right] + \left[\sqrt{r_{\alpha,\beta,ij}} e_{ij} & 0 \right] \left[x_{11} x_{12} \right] \\ &= \left[\sqrt{|t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|} \psi_{\alpha,\beta,ij} e_{ji} & 0 \right] \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \left(\left[x_{11j} x_{12} x_{12} x_{22} \right] \left[0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{|t_{\alpha,\beta,ij}|} e_{ji} \right] \right] + \left[\sqrt{r_{\alpha,\beta,ij}} e_{ij} \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \sum_{i=1}^{n_{\alpha}} \left(a_{ij} x_{ij}^{*} + b_{ij}^{(1)} x b_{ij}^{(1)*} + b_{ij}^{(2)} x b_{ij}^{(2)*} \right). \end{split}$$

We infer that $\tilde{J}_{\beta}\Phi_{\alpha,\beta}Q_{\alpha}$ is completely positive. Since $\Phi_{\alpha,\beta} = Q_{\beta}(\tilde{J}_{\beta}\Phi_{\alpha,\beta}Q_{\alpha})\tilde{J}_{\alpha}$, we conclude that $\Phi_{\alpha,\beta}$ is completely positive. The case $1 \leq p < \infty$ is proved. \Box

REMARK 3.29. – Theorem 3.27 seems to us to be true equally in the case $p = \infty$. That is, if $T: L^{\infty}(\Omega) \to L^{\infty}(\Omega')$ is a (regular) operator, then the map $\Phi = \begin{bmatrix} |T| & T \\ T^{\circ} & |T| \end{bmatrix}: S_{2}^{\infty}(L^{\infty}(\Omega)) \to S_{2}^{\infty}(L^{\infty}(\Omega'))$ is completely positive. To prove this, replace the mapping $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}: L^{\infty}(\Omega) \to \ell_{n}^{\infty}$ by $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}(f) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \phi_{A_{i}}(f|_{A_{i}})e_{i}$, where $\phi_{A_{i}}$ is an arbitrary state on $L^{\infty}(A_{i})$ and Ω is partitioned (not semipartitioned) into $\Omega = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} A_{i}$. We equally take $J_{\alpha}: \ell_{n}^{\infty} \to L^{\infty}(\Omega), e_{i} \mapsto 1_{A_{i}}$. Then Lemma 3.28 admits an L^{∞} -variant (the verification is entirely left to the reader), in particular $J_{\alpha}\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}$ converges strongly to the identity on $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ (the partitions are of course directed by refinement). Also the proof of Theorem 3.27 works in a similar way. If T is in addition weak* continuous, we can use a duality argument ⁽²⁶⁾.

^{26.} Assume in addition that $T: L^{\infty}(\Omega) \to L^{\infty}(\Omega')$ is weak* continuous with preadjoint $T_*: L^1(\Omega') \to L^1(\Omega)$. Then by (3.1.5) and by the case p = 1 proved previously, the map $\begin{bmatrix} |T_*| & T_* \\ (T_*)^\circ & |T_*| \end{bmatrix}: S_2^1(L^1(\Omega')) \to S_2^1(L^1(\Omega))$ is completely positive. Note that $|T_*|^* = |(T_*)^*| = |T|$ where we use [1, Theorem 2.28 page 85] in the first equality and it is easily checked that $((T_*)^\circ)^* = T^\circ$. So by Lemma 2.9, its adjoint $\begin{bmatrix} |T_*|^* & (T_*)^* \\ ((T_*)^\circ)^* & |T_*|^* \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} |T| & T \\ T^\circ & |T| \end{bmatrix}: S_2^\infty(L^\infty(\Omega)) \to S_2^\infty(L^\infty(\Omega'))$ is also completely positive.

3.8. Decomposable vs completely bounded

The authors of [112] say that the following result is true without the QWEP assumption (and without proof). However, we think that QWEP is necessary ⁽²⁷⁾ for 1 .

PROPOSITION 3.30. – Let M and N be two QWEP von Neumann algebras which are equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a decomposable map. Then T is completely bounded and $\|T\|_{cb,L^p(M)\to L^p(N)} \leq \|T\|_{dec,L^p(M)\to L^p(N)}$.

Proof. – By Proposition 3.5, there exist linear maps $v_1, v_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that the map $\Phi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix} : S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is completely positive with max $\{ \|v_1\|, \|v_2\| \} = \|T\|_{\text{dec}}$. Let *b* be an element of $S_n^p(L^p(M))$ with $\|b\|_{S_n^p(L^p(M))} \leq 1$. By Lemma 2.14, we can find $a, c \in S_n^p(L^p(M))$ with $\|a\|_{S_n^p(L^p(M))} \leq 1$ and $\|c\|_{S_n^p(L^p(M))} \leq 1$ such that $\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b^* & c \end{bmatrix}$ is a positive element of $S_{2n}^p(L^p(M))$. We deduce that

$$\begin{bmatrix} (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes v_1)(a) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(b) \\ (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(b)^* & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes v_2)(c) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes v_1)(a) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(b) \\ (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)^{\circ}(b^*) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes V_2)(c) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes v_1)(a) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)(b) \\ (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T)^{\circ}(b^*) & (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes V_2)(c) \end{bmatrix} = (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes \Phi) \left(\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ b^* & c \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

is a positive element of $S_{2n}^p(L^p(N))$. By Lemma 2.13, using Theorem 2.19, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{S_{n}^{p}} \otimes T)(b) \right\|_{S_{n}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(N))} &\leq \frac{1}{2^{\frac{1}{p}}} \left(\left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{S_{n}^{p}} \otimes v_{1})(a) \right\|_{S_{n}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(N))}^{p} + \left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{S_{n}^{p}} \otimes v_{2})(c) \right\|_{S_{n}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(N))}^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2^{\frac{1}{p}}} \left(\left\| v_{1} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}}^{p} \left\| a \right\|_{S_{n}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(M))}^{p} + \left\| v_{2} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}}^{p} \left\| c \right\|_{S_{n}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(M))}^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \max \left\{ \left\| v_{1} \right\|, \left\| v_{2} \right\| \right\} \frac{1}{2^{\frac{1}{p}}} \left(\left\| a \right\|_{S_{n}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(M))}^{p} + \left\| c \right\|_{S_{n}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(M))}^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \max \left\{ \left\| v_{1} \right\|, \left\| v_{2} \right\| \right\} = \left\| T \right\|_{\mathrm{dec}}. \end{split}$$
We obtain $\left\| \mathrm{Id}_{S_{n}^{p} \otimes T} \right\|$

We obtain $\|\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes T\|_{S_n^p(\mathrm{L}^p(M)) \to S_n^p(\mathrm{L}^p(N))} \leq \|T\|_{\mathrm{dec}}.$ We conclude that $\|T\|_{\mathrm{cb}} \leq \|T\|_{\mathrm{dec}}.$

PROPOSITION 3.31. – Let M and N be two QWEP von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$.

Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a completely positive map. Then T is decomposable and we have $||T||_{cb} = ||T||_{dec} = ||T||$.

^{27.} Another point of view is to replace the formula of Definition (1.0.4) by $||T||_{\operatorname{dec}, L^p(M) \to L^p(N)} = \inf \{ \max\{||v_1||_{\operatorname{cb}}, ||v_2||_{\operatorname{cb}} \} \}.$

Proof. – By Proposition 3.11, we know that T is decomposable and that $||T||_{dec} \leq ||T||$. If M and N are QWEP, by Proposition 3.30, we have $||T||_{cb} \leq ||T||_{dec}$.

To complement the previous proposition, we observe that completely bounded operators are not decomposable in general. For that, we give a result on group von Neumann algebras of discrete groups, see Section 4.1 for background.

- PROPOSITION 3.32. 1. Let G be a non-amenable weakly amenable discrete group. Then there exists a completely bounded Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon VN(G) \to VN(G)$ which is not decomposable.
 - 2. Suppose 1 . Let G be a non-amenable discrete group with AP andsuch that <math>VN(G) has QWEP. Then there exists a completely bounded Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi}: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ which is not decomposable.

Proof. – 1. By the proofs of [37, Theorem 12.3.10] and [111, Theorem 4.4], there exists a net $(M_{\varphi_{\alpha}})$ of finite-rank completely bounded Fourier multipliers on VN(G) with $||M_{\varphi_{\alpha}}||_{cb} \leq C$ such that $M_{\varphi_{\alpha}} \rightarrow \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{VN}(G)}$ in the point weak* topology. If all the completely bounded Fourier multipliers were decomposable, since two comparable complete norms on a linear space are in fact equivalent, the von Neumann algebra VN(G) would have the bounded normal decomposable approximation property of [126, Theorem 4.3 (iv)] (see also [112, page 355]) and VN(G) would be injective. By [162, Theorem 3.8.2], we conclude that G is amenable. This is the desired contradiction.

2. By [111, Theorem 4.4], there exists a net of completely contractive finite-rank Fourier multipliers $M_{\varphi_{\alpha}} : L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ such that $M_{\varphi_{\alpha}} \to Id_{L^p(VN(G))}$ in the point-norm topology. If all the Fourier multipliers were decomposable, again since two comparable complete norms on a linear space are in fact equivalent, the space $L^p(VN(G))$ would have the bounded decomposable approximation property of [112, page 356]. By [112, Theorem 5.2] the von Neumann algebra VN(G) would be injective. By [162, Theorem 3.8.2], we conclude that G is amenable. This is a second contradiction.

REMARK 3.33. – Note that we can use the free group \mathbb{F}_n where $2 \le n \le \infty$ (*n* countable) with the two parts of the last result. Indeed, by [83, Theorem 1.8] (see also [51, Corollary 3.11]), the group \mathbb{F}_n is weakly amenable, hence has AP by [87, page 677]. Moreover, it is well-known that $VN(\mathbb{F}_n)$ has QWEP, see, e.g., [146, Theorem 9.10.4].

We will describe in Theorem 3.38 an explicit result in the same vein. For that, we need intermediate results.

LEMMA 3.34. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. For any integer $n \ge 2$, the maps

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \alpha_n \colon \ \mathbf{L}^p(M) & \longrightarrow & S^p_n(\mathbf{L}^p(M)) \\ & x & \longmapsto & \begin{bmatrix} x & \cdots & x \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ x & \cdots & x \end{bmatrix} \end{array}$$

and

$$\sigma_{n}: \qquad S_{n^{2}}^{p}(\mathbf{L}^{p}(M)) \qquad \longrightarrow \qquad S_{n}^{p}(\mathbf{L}^{p}(M)) \\ \begin{bmatrix} b_{11}^{11} & \cdots & b_{11}^{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ b_{11}^{n1} & \cdots & b_{11}^{nn} \end{bmatrix} & \cdots & \begin{bmatrix} b_{1n}^{11} & \cdots & b_{1n}^{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ b_{1n}^{n1} & \cdots & b_{n1}^{nn} \end{bmatrix} & \cdots & \begin{bmatrix} b_{1n}^{n1} & \cdots & b_{1n}^{nn} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \begin{bmatrix} b_{n1}^{11} & \cdots & b_{n1}^{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ b_{n1}^{n1} & \cdots & b_{n1}^{nn} \end{bmatrix} & \cdots & \begin{bmatrix} b_{1n}^{11} & \cdots & b_{1n}^{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ b_{n1}^{n1} & \cdots & b_{n1}^{nn} \end{bmatrix} & \cdots & \begin{bmatrix} b_{nn}^{11} & \cdots & b_{nn}^{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ b_{nn}^{n1} & \cdots & b_{nn}^{nn} \end{bmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \longmapsto \qquad \begin{bmatrix} b_{n1}^{11} & \cdots & b_{nn}^{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ b_{n1}^{n1} & \cdots & b_{nn}^{nn} \end{bmatrix}$$

are completely positive.

Proof. – For any $x \in L^p(M)$, we have $\alpha_n(x) = \begin{bmatrix} x \cdots x \\ \vdots \\ x \cdots x \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ \vdots \\ 1 \end{bmatrix} x \begin{bmatrix} 1 \cdots 1 \end{bmatrix}$. Moreover, for any $b \in S_{n^2}^p(L^p(M))$, we have $\sigma_n(b) = AbA^*$ where $A \in M_{n,n^2}$ is defined by $A = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} & \cdots & \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}$

Now, we appeal to (2.2.3).

PROPOSITION 3.35. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let $n \ge 2$ be an integer and consider some bounded maps $T_{ij} \colon L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ where $1 \leq i, j \leq n$. If α_n is the completely positive map from Lemma 3.34 then the map

$$\Phi: \qquad S_n^p(\mathbf{L}^p(M)) \qquad \longrightarrow \qquad S_n^p(\mathbf{L}^p(N)) \\ \begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{bmatrix} \qquad \longmapsto \qquad \begin{bmatrix} T_{11}(a_{11}) & \cdots & T_{1n}(a_{1n}) \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ T_{n1}(a_{n1}) & \cdots & T_{nn}(a_{nn}) \end{bmatrix}$$

is completely positive if and only if the map $\Phi \circ \alpha_n$ is completely positive.

Proof. – One direction is obvious. For the reverse direction, we have

$$\begin{split} \sigma_n \circ \left(\operatorname{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes (\Phi \circ \alpha_n) \right) \left(\begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{bmatrix} \right) &= \sigma_n \left(\begin{bmatrix} \Phi \circ \alpha_n(a_{11}) & \cdots & \Phi \circ \alpha_n(a_{1n}) \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ \Phi \circ \alpha_n(a_{n1}) & \cdots & \Phi \circ \alpha_n(a_{nn}) \end{bmatrix} \right) \\ &= \sigma_n \left(\begin{bmatrix} T_{11}(a_{11}) & \cdots & T_{1n}(a_{11}) \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ T_{n1}(a_{11}) & \cdots & T_{nn}(a_{11}) \end{bmatrix} & \cdots & \begin{bmatrix} T_{11}(a_{1n}) & \cdots & T_{1n}(a_{1n}) \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ T_{n1}(a_{1n}) & \cdots & T_{nn}(a_{n1}) \end{bmatrix} \\ &\vdots & & \vdots \\ T_{n1}(a_{n1}) & \cdots & T_{nn}(a_{n1}) \end{bmatrix} & \cdots & \begin{bmatrix} T_{11}(a_{nn}) & \cdots & T_{1n}(a_{nn}) \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ T_{n1}(a_{n1}) & \cdots & T_{nn}(a_{n1}) \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} T_{11}(a_{11}) & \cdots & T_{1n}(a_{1n}) \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ T_{n1}(a_{n1}) & \cdots & T_{nn}(a_{nn}) \end{bmatrix} = \Phi \left(\begin{bmatrix} a_{11} & \cdots & a_{1n} \\ \vdots & & \vdots \\ a_{n1} & \cdots & a_{nn} \end{bmatrix} \right). \end{split}$$

Hence $\Phi = \sigma_n \circ (\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes (\Phi \circ \alpha_n))$. Note that if $\Phi \circ \alpha_n$ is completely positive then $\mathrm{Id}_{S_n^p} \otimes (\Phi \circ \alpha_n)$ is also completely positive by Lemma 2.11. In this case, since σ_n is completely positive we deduce that Φ is completely positive. \Box

PROPOSITION 3.36. – Let M and N be von Neumann algebras equipped with faithful normal semifinite traces. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ be a linear map. Then T is decomposable if and only if the map $\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2: L^p(M) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ where \tilde{T} is the map from Proposition 3.17 is decomposable. Moreover, in this case, we have

 $\|T\|_{\mathrm{dec},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(N)} \leq \|\tilde{T}\circ\alpha_{2}\|_{\mathrm{dec},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)\to S_{2}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(N))} \leq 2^{\frac{1}{p}} \|T\|_{\mathrm{dec},\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(N)}.$

Furthermore, $\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2$ is adjoint preserving.

Proof. – Let $x \in L^p(M)$. We have

$$\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2(x^*) = \tilde{T} \left(\begin{bmatrix} x^* & x^* \\ x^* & x^* \end{bmatrix} \right) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T(x^*) \\ T^\circ(x^*) & 0 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T(x^*) \\ T(x)^* & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

and also

$$\left(\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2(x)\right)^* = \left(\tilde{T}\left(\begin{bmatrix}x & x\\ x & x\end{bmatrix}\right)\right)^* = \begin{bmatrix}0 & T(x)\\ T^\circ(x) & 0\end{bmatrix}^* = \begin{bmatrix}0 & T^\circ(x)^*\\ T(x)^* & 0\end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix}0 & T(x^*)\\ T(x)^* & 0\end{bmatrix}.$$

We conclude that $\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2$ is adjoint preserving, i.e., $(\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2)^\circ = \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2$.

Suppose that T is decomposable. By Proposition 3.5, there exist some maps $v_1, v_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ such that $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^\circ & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive with $\max\{\|v_1\|, \|v_2\|\} = \|T\|_{\text{dec}}$. Using (2.2.3), we note that the map

$$S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M)), \ \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \mapsto \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} a & -b \\ -c & d \end{bmatrix}$$

is completely positive. By composition, we deduce that the map $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & -T \\ -T^{\circ} & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \circ \alpha_2$ is completely positive. We define the map $S \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{bmatrix} v_1 & 0 \\ 0 & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \circ \alpha_2$: $L^p(M) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$. Then in the light of the foregoing, S is completely positive and it is easy to check using (2.3.2) that $\|S\| \leq 2^{\frac{1}{p}} \|T\|_{\text{dec}}$. Moreover, $-S \leq_{\text{cp}} \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2 \leq_{\text{cp}} S$. By Proposition 3.19, we conclude that $\|\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2\|_{\text{dec}} \leq 2^{\frac{1}{p}} \|T\|_{\text{dec}}$.

Now suppose that the map $\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2 \colon L^p(M) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ is decomposable. Moreover let $v_1, v_2 \colon L^p(M) \to S_2^p(L^p(N))$ such that the map $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2 \\ \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2 & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \colon S_2^p(L^p(M)) \to S_4^p(L^p(N))$ is completely positive.

Put $w_1: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$, $a \mapsto (v_1(a))_{11}$ and $w_2: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$, $a \mapsto (v_2(a))_{22}$. Then each w_i is also completely positive as a composition of completely positive mappings. Then an easy computation gives

$$\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \left(\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2 \\ \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2 & v_2 \end{bmatrix} \left(\begin{bmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{bmatrix} \right) \right) \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
$$= \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} v_1(a) & \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2(b) \\ \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2(c) & v_2(d) \end{bmatrix} \cdot \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} w_1(a) & T(b) \\ T^{\circ}(c) & w_2(d) \end{bmatrix}.$$

Using (2.2.3), we deduce by composition that the map $\begin{bmatrix} w_1 & T \\ T^\circ & w_2 \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive. We infer that T is decomposable and that $||T||_{dec} \leq \max\{||w_1||, ||w_2||\} \leq \max\{||v_1||, ||v_2||\}$ and passing to the infimum over all admissible v_1, v_2 shows that $||T||_{dec} \leq ||\tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2||_{dec}$.

In the following result, we generalize the results of [68, Theorem 5.4.7] and [85, page 204] done for $p = \infty$.

THEOREM 3.37. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a normal finite faithful normalized trace and let $u_1, \ldots, u_n \in M$ be arbitrary unitaries. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Consider the map $T: \ell_n^p \to L^p(M)$ defined by $T(e_k) = u_k$. Then $\|T\|_{\det, \ell_n^p \to L^p(M)} = n^{1-\frac{1}{p}}$. *Proof.* – As observed, we can suppose $1 \le p < \infty$. Note that the unit element 1 of M belongs to $L^p(M)$ since M is finite. The map $\varphi \colon \ell_n^p \to \mathbb{C}, \sum_{k=1}^n c_k e_k \mapsto \sum_{k=1}^n c_k$ is a positive linear functional. Since ℓ_n^p is a commutative L^p -space, by Proposition 2.24, we deduce that the linear map

$$\begin{array}{rccc} v \colon & \ell_n^n & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{L}^p(M) \\ & \sum_{k=1}^n c_k e_k & \longmapsto & \left(\sum_{k=1}^n c_k\right) \mathrm{1} \end{array}$$

is completely positive. Moreover, using the normalization of the trace in the third equality and Hölder's inequality in the last inequality, we have

$$\left\| v\left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k} e_{k}\right) \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{p}(M)} = \left\| \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k}\right) \mathbf{1} \right\|_{\mathbf{L}^{p}(M)} = \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k} \right| \|\mathbf{1}\|_{\mathbf{L}^{p}(M)}$$
$$= \left| \sum_{k=1}^{n} c_{k} \right| \leq \sum_{k=1}^{n} |c_{k}| \leq n^{1-\frac{1}{p}} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{n} |c_{k}|^{p} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

We infer that $||v|| \le n^{1-\frac{1}{p}}$.

We consider the map $\tilde{T} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & T \\ T^\circ & 0 \end{bmatrix} : S_2^p(\ell_n^p) \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))$ and the map $\alpha_4 : \ell_n^p \to S_4^p(\ell_n^p)$ of Lemma 3.34 with $M = \ell_n^\infty$. Since $e_k^* = e_k$, we have

$$\left(\begin{bmatrix} v & 0 \\ 0 & v \end{bmatrix} & \tilde{T} \\ \tilde{T} & \begin{bmatrix} v & 0 \\ 0 & v \end{bmatrix} \right) \circ \alpha_4 \right) (e_k) = \begin{bmatrix} v(e_k) & 0 & 0 & T(e_k) \\ 0 & v(e_k) & T^{\circ}(e_k) & 0 \\ 0 & T(e_k) & v(e_k) & 0 \\ T^{\circ}(e_k) & 0 & 0 & v(e_k) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & u_k \\ 0 & 1 & u_k^* & 0 \\ 0 & u_k & 1 & 0 \\ u_k^* & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The 2×2 matrix $\tilde{u}_k = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & u_k \\ u_k^* & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ is a (selfadjoint) unitary.

Hence we have $\left\| \begin{bmatrix} 0 & u_k \\ u_k^* & 0 \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{M_2(M)} \leq 1$. By [68, Proposition 1.3.2], we conclude that the matrix on the right hand side of the previous equation is positive. Thus the map $\begin{bmatrix} v & 0 \\ T & v & 0 \\ T & v & 0 \end{bmatrix} \circ \alpha_4$ is positive. Using again Proposition 2.24, we obtain that this map is indeed completely positive. By Proposition 3.35, we deduce that the map $\begin{bmatrix} v & 0 \\ 0 & v \\ T & v \\ 0 & v \end{bmatrix}$ is completely positive.

Hence \tilde{T} is decomposable with $\left\|\tilde{T}\right\|_{\text{dec}} \leq \|\begin{bmatrix}v & 0\\ 0 & v\end{bmatrix}\| \leq \|v\|$ where the last inequality is easy to prove using [145, Corollary 1.3]. Using Proposition 3.18, we conclude that T is decomposable and that $\|T\|_{\text{dec}} = \left\|\tilde{T}\right\|_{\text{dec}} \leq \|v\| \leq n^{1-\frac{1}{p}}$.

On the other hand, let $S: \ell_n^p \to S_2^p(L^p(M))$ be a completely positive map satisfying $-S \leq_{\rm cp} \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2 \leq_{\rm cp} S$ where $\alpha_2: \ell_n^p \to S_2^p(\ell_n^p)$. If we let $x_k \stackrel{\rm def}{=} S(e_k)$ and $\tilde{u}_k \stackrel{\rm def}{=} \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2(e_k)$, then $\tilde{u}_k = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & u_k \\ u_k^* & 0 \end{bmatrix}$ is a selfadjoint unitary with $-x_k \leq \tilde{u}_k \leq x_k$. Thus we have

$$x_k = \frac{1}{2} [(x_k - \tilde{u}_k) + (x_k + \tilde{u}_k)],$$

with $x_k \pm \tilde{u}_k \ge 0$. Consider the finite trace $\tau_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{Tr} \otimes \tau$ on $M_2(M)$ where τ is the normalized trace on M. Then it follows that

$$\tau_1(x_k) = \tau_1 \left(\frac{1}{2} \left[(x_k - \tilde{u}_k) + (x_k + \tilde{u}_k) \right] \right) = \frac{1}{2} \left[\tau_1 \left(x_k - \tilde{u}_k \right) + \tau_1 \left(x_k + \tilde{u}_k \right) \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left[\| x_k - \tilde{u}_k \|_1 + \| x_k + \tilde{u}_k \|_1 \right] \ge \frac{1}{2} \| x_k - \tilde{u}_k - (x_k + \tilde{u}_k) \|_1 = \| \tilde{u}_k \|_{S_2^1(L^1(M))},$$

where $\|\tilde{u}_k\|_{S_2^1(L^1(M))} = \tau_1\left(\left(\tilde{u}_k^*\tilde{u}_k\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) = \tau_1(I_2 \otimes 1) = 2$. Moreover, we have $\|I_2 \otimes 1\|_{S_2^{p^*}(L^{p^*}(M))} = 2^{\frac{1}{p^*}}$. By duality, we obtain

$$\|x_1 + \dots + x_n\|_{S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))} \ge \frac{\langle x_1 + \dots + x_n, \mathcal{I}_2 \otimes 1 \rangle}{\|\mathcal{I}_2 \otimes 1\|_{S_2^{p^*}(\mathcal{L}^{p^*}(M))}} = \frac{\tau_1(x_1 + \dots + x_n)}{\|\mathcal{I}_2 \otimes 1\|_{S_2^{p^*}(\mathcal{L}^{p^*}(M))}} = 2^{1 - \frac{1}{p^*}}n.$$

We deduce that

$$||S||_{\ell_n^p \to S_2^p(\mathbf{L}^p(M))} \ge \frac{||S(1)||_{S_2^p(\mathbf{L}^p(M))}}{||1||_{\ell_n^p}} = n^{-\frac{1}{p}} ||S(e_1) + \dots + S(e_n)||_{S_2^p(\mathbf{L}^p(M))}$$
$$= n^{-\frac{1}{p}} ||x_1 + \dots + x_n||_{S_2^p(\mathbf{L}^p(M))} \ge n^{-\frac{1}{p}} 2^{1-\frac{1}{p^*}} n = n^{1-\frac{1}{p}} 2^{1-\frac{1}{p^*}}.$$

Using Proposition 3.36 in the first inequality and Proposition 3.19 in the second inequality, we conclude that

$$\|T\|_{\mathrm{dec},\ell_n^p \to \mathcal{L}^p(M)} \ge 2^{-\frac{1}{p}} \left\| \tilde{T} \circ \alpha_2 \right\|_{\mathrm{dec},\ell_n^p \to S_2^p(\mathcal{L}^p(M))} \ge 2^{-\frac{1}{p}} n^{1-\frac{1}{p}} 2^{1-\frac{1}{p^*}} = n^{1-\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Let $n \ge 1$ be an integer and let $G = \mathbb{F}_n$ be a free group with n generators denoted by g_1, \ldots, g_n .

THEOREM 3.38. – Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $n \geq 2$ be an integer. Consider the map $T_n : \ell_n^p \to L^p(VN(\mathbb{F}_n))$ defined by $T_n(e_k) = \lambda_{g_k}$. We have $||T_n||_{cb} \leq (2\sqrt{n-1})^{1-\frac{1}{p}}$ and $||T_n||_{dec} = n^{1-\frac{1}{p}}$. In particular, if $1 we have <math>\frac{||T_n||_{dec}}{||T_n||_{cb}} \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{+\infty}$.

Proof. – The equality is a consequence of Theorem 3.37. For any $1 \le k \le n$, using the normalized trace $\tau_{\mathbb{F}_n}$, note that

$$\left\|\lambda_{g_k}\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_n))} = \tau_{\mathbb{F}_n}(|\lambda_{g_k}|) = \tau_{\mathbb{F}_n}\left(\left(\lambda_{g_k}^*\lambda_{g_k}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) = \tau_{\mathbb{F}_n}(1) = 1.$$

For any $A_1, \ldots, A_l \in S_n^1$, using the isometry $S_n^1(\ell_n^1) = \ell_n^1(S_n^1)$ in the last equality, we deduce that

$$\left\| \left(\mathrm{Id}_{S_{n}^{1}} \otimes T_{n} \right) \left(\sum_{k=1}^{l} A_{k} \otimes e_{k} \right) \right\|_{S_{n}^{1}(\mathrm{L}^{1}(\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_{n})))} = \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{l} A_{k} \otimes \lambda_{g_{k}} \right\|_{S_{n}^{1}(\mathrm{L}^{1}(\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_{n})))}$$

$$\leq \sum_{k=1}^{l} \|A_{k}\|_{S_{n}^{1}} \left\| \lambda_{g_{k}} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_{n}))} = \sum_{k=1}^{l} \|A_{k}\|_{S_{n}^{1}} = \left\| \sum_{k=1}^{l} A_{k} \otimes e_{k} \right\|_{S_{n}^{1}(\ell_{n}^{1})}.$$

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 177

We deduce that $||T_n||_{\mathrm{cb},\ell_n^1\to\mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_n))} \leq 1$. Note that [68, Theorem 5.4.7] gives the estimate $||T_n||_{\mathrm{cb},\ell_n^\infty\to\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_n)} \leq 2\sqrt{n-1}$. Hence, by interpolation, we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_n\|_{\mathrm{cb},\ell_n^p \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_n))} &\leq \left(\|T_n\|_{\mathrm{cb},\ell_n^1 \to \mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_n))} \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\|T_n\|_{\mathrm{cb},\ell_n^\infty \to \mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_n)} \right)^{1-\frac{1}{p}} \\ &\leq \left(2\sqrt{n-1}\right)^{1-\frac{1}{p}}. \end{aligned}$$

In Chapter 7, we will continue these investigations.

CHAPTER 4

DECOMPOSABLE SCHUR MULTIPLIERS AND FOURIER MULTIPLIERS ON DISCRETE GROUPS

In this chapter, we give a generalization of the average argument of Haagerup. This construction simultaneously gives a complementation for spaces of completely bounded Schur multipliers and completely bounded Fourier multipliers on *discrete* groups, possibly deformed by a 2-cocycle and the independence of the completely bounded norm and the complete positivity with respect to the 2-cocycle. In Section 4.3 below, we give our first results on decomposable Fourier multipliers (and Schur multipliers).

4.1. Twisted von Neumann algebras

A basic reference on this subject is [181]. See also [18] and references therein. Let G be a discrete group. We first recall that a 2-cocycle on G with values in \mathbb{T} is a map $\sigma: G \times G \to \mathbb{T}$ such that

(4.1.1)
$$\sigma(s,t)\sigma(st,r) = \sigma(t,r)\sigma(s,tr)$$

for any $s, t, r \in G$. We will consider only normalized 2-cocycles, that is, satisfying $\sigma(s, e) = \sigma(e, s) = 1$ for any $s \in G$. This implies that $\sigma(s, s^{-1}) = \sigma(s^{-1}, s)$ for any $s \in G$. The set $\mathbb{Z}^2(G, \mathbb{T})$ of all normalized 2-cocycles becomes an abelian group under pointwise product, the inverse operation corresponding to conjugation: $\sigma^{-1} = \overline{\sigma}$, where $\overline{\sigma}(s, t) = \overline{\sigma(s, t)}$, and the identity element being the trivial cocycle on G denoted by 1.

Now, suppose that G is equipped with a T-valued 2-cocycle. For any $s \in G$, we define the bounded operator $\lambda_{\sigma,s} \in B(\ell_G^2)$ by

(4.1.2)
$$\lambda_{\sigma,s}\varepsilon_t \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sigma(s,t)\varepsilon_{st},$$

where $(\varepsilon_t)_{t\in G}$ is the canonical basis of ℓ_G^2 . We define the twisted group von Neumann algebra $VN(G, \sigma)$ as the von Neumann subalgebra of $B(\ell_G^2)$ generated by the *-algebra

$$\mathbb{C}(G,\sigma) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{span} \{\lambda_{\sigma,s} : s \in G\}.$$

For example, let $d \geq 2$ and set $G = \mathbb{Z}^d$. To each $d \times d$ real skew symmetric matrix θ , one may associate $\sigma_{\theta} \in \mathbb{Z}^2(\mathbb{Z}^d, \mathbb{T})$ by $\sigma_{\theta}(m, n) = e^{2i\pi \langle m, \theta n \rangle}$ where $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. The resulting algebras $\mathbb{T}^d_{\theta} = \mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{Z}^d, \sigma_{\theta})$ are the so-called *d*-dimensional noncommutative tori. See [42] for a study of harmonic analysis on this algebra.

If $\sigma = 1$, we obtain the left regular representation $\lambda: G \to B(\ell_G^2)$ and the group von Neumann algebra VN(G) of G.

The von Neumann algebra $\operatorname{VN}(G, \sigma)$ is a finite algebra with trace given by $\tau_{G,\sigma}(x) = \langle \varepsilon_e, x(\varepsilon_e) \rangle_{\ell^2_G}$ where $x \in \operatorname{VN}(G, \sigma)$. In particular $\tau_{G,\sigma}(\lambda_{\sigma,s}) = \delta_{s,e}$. The generators $\lambda_{\sigma,s}$ satisfy the relations

(4.1.3)
$$\lambda_{\sigma,s}\lambda_{\sigma,t} = \sigma(s,t)\lambda_{\sigma,st}, \qquad \left(\lambda_{\sigma,s}\right)^* = \overline{\sigma(s,s^{-1})}\lambda_{\sigma,s^{-1}}.$$

Moreover, we have

$$au_{G,\sigma} (\lambda_{\sigma,s} \lambda_{\sigma,t}) = \sigma(s,t) \delta_{s,t^{-1}}, \quad s,t \in G.$$

Given a discrete group G and a T-valued 2-cocycle σ , we can consider the fundamental unitary $W : \varepsilon_t \otimes \varepsilon_r \mapsto \varepsilon_t \otimes \varepsilon_{tr}$ on $\ell_G^2 \otimes_2 \ell_G^2$ and another unitary operator $\tilde{\sigma} : \varepsilon_t \otimes \varepsilon_r \to \sigma(t, r)\varepsilon_t \otimes \varepsilon_r$ representing σ . We define the σ -fundamental unitary as the unitary operator

(4.1.4)
$$W^{(\sigma)} = W\tilde{\sigma} \colon \varepsilon_t \otimes \varepsilon_r \mapsto \sigma(t, r)\varepsilon_t \otimes \varepsilon_{tr}.$$

LEMMA 4.1. – Suppose that σ and ω are \mathbb{T} -valued 2-cocycles on a discrete group G. Then, for any $s \in G$ we have

$$W^{(\omega)} \big(\lambda_{\sigma \cdot \omega, s} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{\ell_G^2} \big) \big(W^{(\omega)} \big)^* = \lambda_{\sigma, s} \otimes \lambda_{\omega, s}.$$

Proof. – On the one hand, for any $s, t, r \in G$, using (4.1.2) in the second equality and (4.1.4) in the third equality, we have

$$W^{(\omega)}(\lambda_{\sigma\cdot\omega,s}\otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\ell_G^2})(\varepsilon_t\otimes\varepsilon_r) = W^{(\omega)}(\lambda_{\sigma\cdot\omega,s}\varepsilon_t\otimes\varepsilon_r)$$
$$= (\sigma\cdot\omega)(s,t)W^{(\omega)}(\varepsilon_{st}\otimes\varepsilon_r) = \sigma(s,t)\omega(s,t)\omega(st,r)\varepsilon_{st}\otimes\varepsilon_{str}$$

On the other hand, using (4.1.4) in the first equality and (4.1.2) in the third equality, we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\lambda_{\sigma,s} \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s}) W^{(\omega)}(\varepsilon_t \otimes \varepsilon_r) &= (\lambda_{\sigma,s} \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s})(\omega(t,r)\varepsilon_t \otimes \varepsilon_{tr}) \\ &= \omega(t,r)(\lambda_{\sigma,s}\varepsilon_t \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s}\varepsilon_{tr}) = \sigma(s,t)\omega(t,r)\omega(s,tr)\varepsilon_{st} \otimes \varepsilon_{str}. \end{aligned}$$

Using (4.1.1) with ω instead of σ , we conclude that these quantities are equal.

Using this lemma, we obtain a well-defined kind of "twisted coproduct" which is a unital normal *-monomorphism:

(4.1.5)
$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Delta_{\sigma,\omega} \colon & \mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma\cdot\omega) & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)\overline{\otimes}\mathrm{VN}(G,\omega) \\ & \lambda_{\sigma\cdot\omega,s} & \longmapsto & \lambda_{\sigma,s}\otimes\lambda_{\omega,s}. \end{array}$$

A very particular case of this construction is considered in [42, Corollary 2.2] for noncommutative tori with $\sigma = 1$, under the notation $x \mapsto \tilde{x}$.

Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Then a linear map $T: L^p(VN(G, \sigma)) \to L^p(VN(G, \sigma))$ is a (completely) bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G, \sigma))$ if T is (completely) bounded (and normal if $p = \infty$) and if there exists a complex function $\varphi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $T(\lambda_{\sigma,s}) = \varphi_s \lambda_{\sigma,s}$ for any $s \in G$. In this case, we denote T by

$$\begin{aligned} M_{\varphi} \colon & \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)) & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)) \\ & \lambda_{\sigma,s} & \longmapsto & \varphi_{s}\lambda_{\sigma,s}. \end{aligned}$$

We denote by $\mathfrak{M}^p(G, \sigma)$ the space of bounded Fourier multipliers on $L^p(VN(G, \sigma))$ and by $\mathfrak{M}^{p,cb}(G, \sigma)$ the space of completely bounded Fourier multipliers on $L^p(VN(G, \sigma))$.

More generally, if I is a set, we denote by $\mathfrak{M}_{I}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma)$ the space of (normal if $p = \infty$) completely bounded operators $\Phi \colon \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{B}(\ell_{I}^{2}) \overline{\otimes} \mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{B}(\ell_{I}^{2}) \overline{\otimes} \mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))$ such that $\Phi = [M_{\varphi_{ij}}]_{i,j \in I}$ for some functions $\varphi_{ij} \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$. For a (normal if $p = \infty$) bounded operator Φ , this is equivalent to the existence of a family of functions $(\varphi_{ij} \colon G \to \mathbb{C})_{i,j \in I}$ such that

(4.1.6)
$$(\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,t})^* \big) = \varphi_{ij}(s) \delta_{s,t} \delta_{i,k} \delta_{j,l}$$

for any $s, t \in G$ and any $i, j, k, l \in I$.

If σ is a T-valued 2-cocycle on a discrete group G and if H is a subgroup of G, we denote by $\sigma|H: H \times H \to \mathbb{T}$ the restriction of σ to $H \times H$. It follows from [181, Section 4.26] that there is a canonical normal unital *-monomorphism J of $VN(H, \sigma|H)$ into $VN(G, \sigma)$ sending $\lambda_{\sigma|H,s}$ to $\lambda_{\sigma,s}$ for each $s \in H$ which is trace preserving. Its L^p -extension $J_p: L^p(VN(H, \sigma|H)) \to L^p(VN(G, \sigma)), \lambda_{\sigma|H,s} \mapsto \lambda_{\sigma,s}$ is a complete contraction for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$.

Moreover, it is easy to see for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ that the adjoint of J_{p^*} (preadjoint if p = 1) is given by $(J_{p^*})^* \colon L^p(VN(G, \sigma)) \to L^p(VN(H, \sigma|H)), \lambda_{\sigma,s} \mapsto \delta_{s \in H} \lambda_{\sigma|H,s}$, which is again a complete contraction. Thus, for an element

$$T = [M_{\varphi_{ij}}]_{i,j \in I} \colon S^p_I(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(H,\sigma|H))) \to S^p_I(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(H,\sigma|H)))$$

of $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}_{I}(H,\sigma|H),$ we can consider the completely bounded map

$$S \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\mathrm{Id}_{S_{I}^{p}} \otimes J_{p})T(\mathrm{Id}_{S_{I}^{p}} \otimes (J_{p^{*}})^{*}) \colon S_{I}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))) \to S_{I}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))).$$

We clearly have $||S||_{cb} \leq ||T||_{cb}$ and using $(J_{p^*})^*J_p = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(H,\sigma|H))}$, we also have $||T||_{cb} \leq ||S||_{cb}$. Thus we can identify isometrically $\mathfrak{M}_I^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(H,\sigma|H)$ as a subspace of the Banach space $\mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{B}(\ell_I^2)\overline{\otimes}\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)))$ by identifying $[M_{\varphi_{ij}}]_{i,j\in I}$ to $[M_{\tilde{\varphi}_{ij}}]_{i,j\in I}$ where $\tilde{\varphi}: G \to \mathbb{C}$ denotes the extension of $\varphi: H \to \mathbb{C}$ on G which is zero off H.

Moreover, we have a canonical contraction $\mathfrak{M}_{I}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma) \to \mathfrak{M}_{I}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(H,\sigma|H)$, sending $[M_{\varphi_{ij}}]_{ij}$ to $[M_{\varphi_{ij}|H}]_{ij}$. Indeed, note that $[M_{\varphi_{ij}|H}]_{ij} = \mathrm{Id}_{S_{I}^{p}} \otimes (J_{p^{*}})^{*} \cdot [M_{\varphi_{ij}}] \cdot \mathrm{Id}_{S_{I}^{p}} \otimes J_{p}$.

4.2. Complementation for Schur multipliers and Fourier multipliers on discrete groups

The following theorem generalizes an average trick of Haagerup [86, proof of Lemma 2.5]⁽²⁸⁾. The important point of the proof (for $1 \le p \le \infty$) is the fact that the map Δ below is trace preserving.

THEOREM 4.2. – Let I be an index set equipped with the counting measure. Let G be a discrete group equipped with two normalized \mathbb{T} -valued 2-cocycles σ, ω . Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. If $p \neq \infty$, we suppose that $VN(G, \omega)$ has QWEP.

Let $T: S_I^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))) \to S_I^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)))$ be a completely bounded operator. For any $i, j \in I$, we define the complex function $\varphi_{ij}: G \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$\varphi_{ij}(s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\text{Tr } \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s})^* \big), \qquad s \in G.$$

Then the map

$$\begin{array}{ccc} P^p_{I,G} \colon & \operatorname{CB}(S^p_I(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G,\sigma)))) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{CB}(S^p_I(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G,\sigma\cdot\omega)))) \\ & T & \longmapsto & [M_{\varphi_{ij}}] \end{array}$$

is a well-defined contractive map into $\mathfrak{M}_{I}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma\cdot\omega)$. There are the following additional properties of $P_{I,G}^{p}$.

- 1. If $\omega = 1$, the map $P_{I,G}^p$ is a projection onto $\mathfrak{M}_I^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma)$.
- 2. For $p = \infty$, the same assertions are true by replacing $\operatorname{CB}(S_I^p(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G, \sigma))))$ by the space $\operatorname{CB}_{w^*}(\operatorname{B}(\ell_I^2) \otimes \operatorname{VN}(G, \sigma))$.
- 3. If T is completely positive then the map $P_{I,G}^p(T)$ is completely positive.
- 4. For any values $p, q \in [1, \infty]$ and any

$$T \in CB(S^p_I(L^p(VN(G, \sigma)))) \cap CB(S^q_I(L^q(VN(G, \sigma))))$$

we have $(P_{I,G}^p(T))([x_{ij}]) = (P_{I,G}^q(T))([x_{ij}])$ for any element $[x_{ij}]$ of $S_t^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G, \sigma \cdot \omega))) \cap S_t^q(\mathcal{L}^q(\mathcal{VN}(G, \sigma \cdot \omega))).$

So the mappings $P_{I,G}^p$, $1 \le p \le \infty$, are compatible.

- 5. Furthermore, if $p = \infty$ and if T is selfadjoint then $P_{I,G}^{\infty}(T)$ is selfadjoint. If $T = [T_{ij}]$ is a normal operator where $T_{ij} \colon VN(G, \sigma) \to VN(G, \sigma)$ and if each T_{ii} is unital then $P_{I,G}^{\infty}(T)$ is unital.
- 6. We have an isometry

$$\mathfrak{M}_{I}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma) = \mathfrak{M}_{I}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma\cdot\omega).$$

^{28.} We warn the reader that the assumption "normal" is lacking in [86, Lemma 2.5] for maps defined on $\mathfrak{M}(\Gamma)$.
Proof. – Using the map (4.1.5), it is easy to see that we can define a well-defined unital normal *-isomorphism

$$\Delta \colon \mathrm{M}_{I}(\mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma \cdot \omega)) \to \mathrm{M}_{I}(\mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma)) \overline{\otimes} \mathrm{M}_{I}(\mathrm{VN}(G, \omega))$$

onto the sub-von Neumann algebra $\Delta(M_I(VN(G, \sigma \cdot \omega)))$ of $M_I(VN(G, \sigma)) \otimes M_I(VN(G, \omega))$ such that

$$\Delta(e_{ij}\otimes\lambda_{\sigma\cdot\omega,s})=e_{ij}\otimes\lambda_{\sigma,s}\otimes e_{ij}\otimes\lambda_{\omega,s},\qquad s\in G.$$

Using the flip $M_I \otimes VN(G, \sigma) \otimes M_I \otimes VN(G, \omega) \rightarrow M_I \otimes M_I \otimes VN(G, \sigma) \otimes VN(G, \omega)$, $x \otimes y \otimes z \otimes t \mapsto x \otimes z \otimes y \otimes t$, it is not difficult to check with [166, Theorem 6.2] that the operator Δ preserves the traces. Consequently Δ is a Markov map in the sense of Section 2.6 and admits a canonical extension

$$\Delta_p \colon S^p_I(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma \cdot \omega))) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{B}(\ell^2_I) \overline{\otimes} \mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma) \overline{\otimes} \mathrm{B}(\ell^2_I) \overline{\otimes} \mathrm{VN}(G, \omega)),$$

which is completely contractive and completely positive (and normal if $p = \infty$).

Suppose that $T: S_I^p(L^p(VN(G, \sigma))) \to S_I^p(L^p(VN(G, \sigma)))$ is a completely bounded operator. If $VN(G, \omega)$ is QWEP then by (2.1.6) the operator

$$P_{I,G}^p(T) = (\Delta^*)_p \big(T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{S_I^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G,\omega)))} \big) \Delta_p$$

is a completely bounded map on the space $S_I^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G, \sigma \cdot \omega)))$. Moreover, we have $\|P_{I,G}^p(T)\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_I^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G,\sigma \cdot \omega))) \to S_I^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G,\sigma \cdot \omega)))} \leq \|(\Delta^*)_p(T \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{S_I^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G,\omega)))})\Delta_p\|_{\mathrm{cb}}$ $\leq \|T\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_I^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G,\sigma))) \to S_I^p(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G,\sigma)))}$.

Thus $P_{I,G}^p$ is contractive. For any $i, j, k, l \in I$ and any $s, s' \in G$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma \cdot \omega}) \Big(\Big((\Delta^*)_p \big(T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{S_I^p(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G,\omega)))} \big) \Delta_p(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma \cdot \omega,s}) \Big) (e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma \cdot \omega,s'})^* \Big) \\ &= (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma \cdot \omega}) \Big((\Delta^*)_p \big(T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{S_I^p(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G,\omega)))} \big) (e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s} \otimes e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s}) (e_{kl}^* \otimes \lambda_{\sigma \cdot \omega,s'}^*) \Big) \\ &= (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma \cdot \omega}) \Big(\big((\Delta^*)_p \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) \otimes e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s} \big) \big) (e_{lk} \otimes \overline{(\sigma \cdot \omega)(s', s'^{-1})} \lambda_{\sigma \cdot \omega, s'^{-1}}) \Big) \\ &= \overline{(\sigma \cdot \omega)(s', s'^{-1})} (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma} \otimes \operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\omega}) \Big(\big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) \otimes e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s} \big) \Delta_{p^*} (e_{lk} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma \cdot \omega, s'^{-1}}) \Big) \\ &= \overline{(\sigma \cdot \omega)(s', s'^{-1})} (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma} \otimes \operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\omega}) \big((T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) \otimes e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s}) \Delta_{p^*} (e_{lk} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma \cdot \omega, s'^{-1}}) \Big) \\ &= \overline{(\sigma \cdot \omega)(s', s'^{-1})} (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma} \otimes \operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\omega}) \big((T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) \otimes e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s}) \times (e_{lk} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma, s'^{-1}}) \big) \\ &= \overline{(\sigma \cdot \omega)(s', s'^{-1})} (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{lk} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s'^{-1}}) \big) (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\omega}) \big(e_{ij}e_{lk} \otimes \lambda_{\omega,s}\lambda_{\omega,s'^{-1}} \big) \\ &= \overline{(\sigma \cdot \omega)(s', s'^{-1})} (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{lk} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s'^{-1}}) \big) \big) \delta_{i,k} \delta_{j,l} \delta_{s,s'} \\ &= (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{lk} \otimes \overline{\sigma(s', s'^{-1})} \lambda_{\sigma,s'^{-1}}) \big) \delta_{i,k} \delta_{j,l} \delta_{s,s'} \\ &= (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s'})^* \big) \delta_{i,k} \delta_{j,l} \delta_{s,s'} . \end{aligned}$$

Hence according to (4.1.6), $P_{I,G}^p(T)$ is the operator $[M_{\varphi_{ij}}]$.

1. If we choose $\omega = 1$, according to the discussion at the end of Section 4.1, $P_{I,G}^p(T)$ belongs to $\mathfrak{M}_I^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma) \subset \mathrm{CB}(S_I^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))))$. If $T = [M_{\psi_{ij}}]$ right from the beginning, for some symbols $\psi_{ij}: G \to \mathbb{C}$, then for $s \in G$

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_{ij}(s) &= (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s})^* \big) \\ &= \psi_{ij}(s) (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big((e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s})^* \big) \\ &= \psi_{ij}(s) \tau_{G,\sigma}(\lambda_{\sigma,s}\lambda_{\sigma,s}^*) = \psi_{ij}(s) \overline{\sigma(s,s^{-1})} \tau_{G,\sigma}(\lambda_{\sigma,s}\lambda_{\sigma,s^{-1}}) \\ &= \psi_{ij}(s) \overline{\sigma(s,s^{-1})} \sigma(s,s^{-1}) \delta_{s,s} = \psi_{ij}(s). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, in this case $P_{I,G}^p(T) = T$, so that $P_{I,G}^p$ is indeed a projection onto $\mathfrak{M}_I^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma)$.

2. We turn to the case $p = \infty$. Since multipliers on the level $p = \infty$ are by definition normal mappings, we need to define $P_{I,G}^{\infty}(T) = (\Delta^*)_{\infty}(P_{w^*}(T) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{\operatorname{B}(\ell_I^2) \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{VN}(G, \omega)}) \Delta_{\infty}$, where $P_{w^*} : \operatorname{CB}(M) \to \operatorname{CB}(M)$ with $M = \operatorname{B}(\ell_I^2) \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{VN}(G, \sigma)$ is the projection onto normal maps from Proposition 3.1. Note that P_{w^*} is contractive and preserves complete positivity according to this proposition. Moreover, then $P_{w^*}(T) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{\operatorname{B}(\ell_I^2) \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{VN}(G, \omega)}$ is also normal, and since $(\Delta^*)_{\infty}$ and Δ_{∞} are normal, and normality is preserved under composition, we finally infer that $P_{I,G}^{\infty}(T)$ is normal.

Moreover, as $e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s} \in S^1_I(\mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)))$ for any $i,j \in I$ and $s \in G$, $P_{\mathrm{w}^*}(T)(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) = T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s})$, so that $P^{\infty}_{I,G}(T)$ is the multiplier with symbol φ_{ij} from the statement.

3. Note that if T is completely positive then $P_{I,G}^p(T)$ is also a completely positive map by composition.

4. The statement about the compatibility of $P_{I,G}^p$ for different values of $p \in [1,\infty]$ follows directly from the defining formula of $P_{I,G}^p$ and the fact that $(\Delta^*)_p, \Delta_p$ and $\mathrm{Id}_{S_{I}^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)))}$ are all compatible for two different values of p.

5. Suppose $p = \infty$. If $T: M_I(VN(G, \sigma)) \to M_I(VN(G, \sigma))$ is selfadjoint then for any $s \in G$ and any $i, j \in I$ we have

$$\varphi_{ij}(s) = (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) (e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s})^* \big) \\ = (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s} (T(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}))^* \big) \\ = \overline{\varphi_{ij}(s)}.$$

It is not difficult to conclude that $P_{I,G}^{\infty}(T)$ is selfadjoint.

Suppose that $T = [T_{ij}]$ is a matrix of operators such that each T_{ii} is unital, i.e., $T(e_{ii} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,e}) = e_{ii} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,e}$. We have

$$\varphi_{ii}(e) = (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(T(e_{ii} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,e}) (e_{ii} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,e})^* \big) \\ = (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big((e_{ii} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,e}) (e_{ii} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,e})^* \big) = 1$$

We conclude that $P_{I,G}^{\infty}(T)$ is unital.

6. It suffices to use the map $P_{I,G}^p|_{\mathfrak{M}_r^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G,\sigma)}$ and a symmetry argument.

REMARK 4.3. – This result admits a generalization for *unimodular discrete* quantum groups. We warn the reader that the formula given in [49, Remark 7.6] for unimodular locally compact quantum groups does not make sense ⁽²⁹⁾ already in the case of the locally compact group \mathbb{R} of real numbers.

The case $G = \{e\}$ gives the following complementation for the space of completely bounded Schur multipliers. Compare to [6, Proposition 2.6].

COROLLARY 4.4. – Suppose that I is equipped with the counting measure. Let $T: S_I^p \to S_I^p$ be a completely bounded operator. We define the matrix φ by

(4.2.1)
$$\varphi_{ij} = \operatorname{Tr} \left(T(e_{ij}) e_{ij}^* \right), \quad i, j \in I.$$

Then the map $P_I^p: \operatorname{CB}(S_I^p) \to \operatorname{CB}(S_I^p), T \mapsto M_{\varphi}$ is a well-defined contractive projection onto the subspace $\mathfrak{M}_I^{p,\operatorname{cb}}$ of completely bounded Schur multipliers. Moreover, if T is completely positive then the Schur multiplier $P_I^p(T)$ is completely positive. For $p = \infty$ the same assertions are true by replacing $\operatorname{CB}(S_I^p)$ by the space $\operatorname{CB}_{w^*}(\mathbb{B}(\ell_I^2))$.

The case where I contains one element and a symmetry argument show that the complete positivity of a multiplier is independent from the \mathbb{T} -valued 2-cocycle σ (this first point can be proved as the point 6 of the Theorem 4.2).

COROLLARY 4.5. – Let G be a discrete group. Let σ be a T-valued 2-cocycle on G. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. If $p \neq \infty$, we suppose that VN(G) and $VN(G, \sigma)$ have QWEP. Let $\varphi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ be a complex function. Then,

1. φ induces a completely positive multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon L^{p}(VN(G, \sigma)) \to L^{p}(VN(G, \sigma))$ if and only if φ induces a completely positive multiplier

$$M_{\varphi} \colon \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G));$$

2. φ induces a completely bounded multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon L^{p}(VN(G, \sigma)) \to L^{p}(VN(G, \sigma))$ if and only if φ induces a completely bounded multiplier

$$M_{\varphi} \colon L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)).$$

In this case, we have the equality

(4.2.2) $\|M_{\varphi}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))} = \|M_{\varphi}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}.$

Note that [18, Proposition 4.3] gives a proof of (4.2.2) for $p = \infty$. In the following result, $P_{I,G}^p$ is the map of Theorem 4.2 with $\omega = 1$.

SOCIÉTÉ MATHÉMATIQUE DE FRANCE 2023

^{29.} With the notations of [49, Remark 7.6], if we identify $L^{\infty}(\hat{\mathbb{G}})$ with $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, and x with a function f, we obtain $L(f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} [\Phi(f_t)]_{-t} d\mu_{\mathbb{R}}(t)$ where $\Phi \colon L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}) \to L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and where we use translations by t and -t. This integral is meaningless. We would like to thank Adam Skalski for his confirmation of this problem by email on his own initiative.

THEOREM 4.6. – Let I be an index set equipped with the counting measure. Let G be a discrete group equipped with a normalized T-valued 2-cocycle σ and H be a subgroup of G. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. If $p \neq \infty$, we suppose that $VN(G, \sigma)$ has QWEP. Then we have a natural contraction $Q_H^p: \mathfrak{M}_I^{p,cb}(G, \sigma) \to \mathfrak{M}_I^{p,cb}(H, \sigma|H)$ sending $[M_{\varphi_{ij}}] \mapsto [M_{\varphi_{ij}|H}]$ and an isometric embedding $J_H^p: \mathfrak{M}_I^{p,cb}(H, \sigma|H) \to \mathfrak{M}_I^{p,cb}(G, \sigma)$ sending $[M_{\varphi_{ij}}] \mapsto [M_{\varphi_{ij}\delta_{\cdot\in H}}]$, so that $J_H^p \circ Q_H^p$ is a projection. Then $P_{I,H}^p \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} J_H^p \circ Q_H^p \circ P_{I,G}^p$ defines a projection $CB(S_I^p(L^p(VN(G, \sigma)))) \to CB(S_I^p(L^p(VN(G, \sigma))))$ having its image in $J_H^p(\mathfrak{M}_I^{p,cb}(H, \sigma|H))$ and satisfying the same properties as the previous map $P_{I,G}^p$: it preserves complete positivity, is compatible for different values of p, and preserves selfadjointness and unital mappings.

The case where I contains one element and where $\sigma = \omega = 1$ gives the following.

COROLLARY 4.7. – Let G be a discrete group and H be a subgroup of G. Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. If $p \neq \infty$, we suppose that VN(G) has QWEP. Let $T: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ be a completely bounded operator. We define the complex function $\varphi: H \to \mathbb{C}$ by

$$\varphi(s) = \tau_G (T(\lambda_s)(\lambda_s)^*), \qquad s \in H.$$

Then the map $P_H^p: \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))) \to \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))), T \mapsto M_{\varphi}$ is a welldefined contractive projection onto the subspace $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\operatorname{cb}}(H)$ (identified as a subspace of $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$). Moreover, if T is completely positive then the map $P_H^p(T)$ is completely positive. For $p = \infty$ the same assertions are true by replacing $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ by the space $\operatorname{CB}_{w^*}(\operatorname{VN}(G))$.

4.3. Description of the decomposable norm of multipliers

The following theorem is our first result describing decomposable multipliers on noncommutative L^p -spaces.

THEOREM 4.8. – Let G be a discrete group equipped with a normalized \mathbb{T} -valued 2-cocycle σ . Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. We suppose that VN(G) and $VN(G,\sigma)$ have QWEP. Then a function $\phi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G,\sigma))$ if and only if it induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier on VN(G).

Proof. – ⇒: Let M_{ϕ} : L^{*p*}(VN(*G*, σ)) → L^{*p*}(VN(*G*, σ)) be a decomposable Fourier multiplier. By Proposition 3.12, we can write $M_{\phi} = T_1 - T_2 + i(T_3 - T_4)$, where each T_j is a completely positive map on L^{*p*}(VN(*G*, σ)). Using the projection P_G^p of Theorem 4.2 with *G* = *H*, *I* = {0} and $\omega = 1$, we obtain that

$$M_{\phi} = P_{G}^{p}(M_{\phi}) = P_{G}^{p}(T_{1} - T_{2} + i(T_{3} - T_{4})) = P_{G}^{p}(T_{1}) - P_{G}^{p}(T_{2}) + i(P_{G}^{p}(T_{3}) - P_{G}^{p}(T_{4}))$$

and that each $P_G^p(T_j) = M_{\phi_j}$ is a completely positive Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G, \sigma))$. By Corollary 4.5, each ϕ_j also induces a completely positive Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$. By the proof of [51, Proposition 4.2], we see that the (continuous) function ϕ_j is ⁽³⁰⁾ positive definite. Hence it induces a completely positive Fourier multiplier on VN(G) again by [51, Proposition 4.2]. We conclude that ϕ induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier on VN(G).

⇐: Let M_{ϕ} : VN(G) → VN(G) be a decomposable Fourier multiplier. Similarly, with Theorem 4.2, we can write $M_{\phi} = M_{\phi_1} - M_{\phi_2} + i(M_{\phi_3} - M_{\phi_4})$ where each M_{ϕ_j} : VN(G) → VN(G) is completely positive. By [95, page 216] ⁽³¹⁾, each Fourier multiplier ϕ_j induces a completely positive ⁽³²⁾ multiplier on L^p(VN(G)) and also on L^p(VN(G, σ)) by Corollary 4.5. Using Proposition 3.12, we conclude that ϕ induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier on L^p(VN(G, σ)).

The following is essentially [177, Section 1.17.1 Theorem 1], see also [146, page 58].

LEMMA 4.9. – Let (E_0, E_1) be an interpolation couple (of operator spaces) and let C be a complemented subspace of $E_0 + E_1$. We assume that the corresponding bounded projection $P: E_0 + E_1 \rightarrow E_0 + E_1$ satisfies $P(E_i) \subset E_i$ and that the restriction $P: E_i \rightarrow E_i$ is bounded for i = 0, 1. Then $(E_0 \cap C, E_1 \cap C)$ is an interpolation couple and the canonical inclusion $J: C \rightarrow E_0 + E_1$ induces an isomorphim \tilde{J} from $(E_0 \cap C, E_1 \cap C)^{\theta}$ onto the subspace $P((E_0, E_1)^{\theta}) = (E_0, E_1)^{\theta} \cap C$ of $(E_0, E_1)^{\theta}$. More precisely, if $x \in (E_0 \cap C, E_1 \cap C)^{\theta}$, we have

$$\left\|\tilde{J}(x)\right\|_{(E_0,E_1)^{\theta}} \le \|x\|_{(E_0\cap C,E_1\cap C)^{\theta}} \le \max\left\{ \|P\|_{E_0\to E_0}, \|P\|_{E_1\to E_1} \right\} \left\|\tilde{J}(x)\right\|_{(E_0,E_1)^{\theta}}$$

In particular, if $\max\{\|P\|_{E_0\to E_0}, \|P\|_{E_1\to E_1}\} = 1$ then \tilde{J} is an isometry.

^{30.} Here we use the inclusion $VN(G) \subset L^p(VN(G))$ and the realization of $L^p(VN(G))$ as a subspace of measurable operators. See also Proposition 6.11 which is a more general result.

^{31.} See also Lemma 6.6 which is a generalization.

^{32.} We use here the fact, left to the reader, that if $T: M \to N$ is a completely positive map which induces a bounded map $T_p: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ then T_p is also completely positive.

Let (E_0, E_1) be an interpolation couple. If $T_0: E_0 \to E_0$, $T_1: E_1 \to E_1$ are (completely) bounded maps such that T_0 and T_1 agree on $E_0 \cap E_1$, then we say that T_0 and T_1 are compatible. In this case, it is elementary and well-known that there exists a unique (completely) bounded map $T_0 + T_1: E_0 + E_1 \to E_0 + E_1$ which extends T_0 and T_1 and we have $||T_0 + T_1||_{E_0 + E_1 \to E_0 + E_1} \leq \max\{||T_0||_{E_0 \to E_0}, ||T_1||_{E_1 \to E_1}\}$ and similarly for the completely bounded norms. Moreover, if T_0 and T_1 are projections onto F_0 and F_1 then $T_0 + T_1$ is a projection onto $F_0 + F_1$.

It allows us to deduce the following description of decomposable Fourier multipliers on amenable groups.

Let G be a discrete group. Recall that the group von Neumann algebra VN(G) is approximately finite-dimensional if and only if G is amenable, see [162, Theorem 3.8.2]. Using Corollary 4.7 with H = G, we obtain the following result.

THEOREM 4.10. – Let G be an amenable discrete group. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then a function $\phi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier

 $M_{\phi} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$

if and only if it induces a (completely) bounded Fourier multiplier

$$M_{\phi} \colon \mathrm{VN}(G) \to \mathrm{VN}(G).$$

In this case, we have the isometric identity

$$\|M_{\phi}\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G))\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G))} = \|M_{\phi}\|_{\operatorname{cb},\operatorname{VN}(G)\to\operatorname{VN}(G)} = \|M_{\phi}\|_{\operatorname{VN}(G)\to\operatorname{VN}(G)}$$

Proof. – By [51, Corollary 1.8], since G is amenable, we have $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G) = \mathfrak{M}^{\infty,cb}(G)$ isometrically. The first part is Theorem 4.8 using [85, Theorem 2.1] (which says that the decomposable norm and the completely bounded norm coincide for operators on approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebras). By [95], we have $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G) = \mathfrak{M}^1(G)$ isometrically. Now, we use Lemma 4.9 with the interpolation couple (3.1.4) and with $C = \mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G)$ and we also use the projection from Corollary 4.7 with H = G. Note that we have isometrically

$$\left(\mathrm{CB}_{\mathrm{w}^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \cap \mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G), \mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G))) \cap \mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \left(\mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G), \mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = \mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G).$$

We infer that the space

$$\operatorname{Reg}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))) \cap \mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G) = (\operatorname{CB}_{\mathrm{w}^*}(\operatorname{VN}(G)), \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^1(\operatorname{VN}(G))))^{\frac{1}{p}} \cap \mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G),$$

equipped with the regular norm $\|\cdot\|_{\operatorname{reg}, L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))}$ is isometric to the space $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty, \operatorname{cb}}(G)$. We finally employ Theorem 3.24 to pass isometrically from regular operators to decomposable operators.

Similarly, we obtain the following description of decomposable Schur multipliers with the projection of Corollary 4.4.

THEOREM 4.11. – Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Then a function $\phi: I \times I \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a decomposable Schur multiplier on S_I^p if and only if it induces a (completely) bounded Schur multiplier on $B(\ell_I^2)$. In this case, we have the isometric identity

$$\|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{dec},S_{I}^{p}\to S_{I}^{p}} = \|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{reg},S_{I}^{p}\to S_{I}^{p}} = \|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{B}(\ell_{I}^{2})\to\mathrm{B}(\ell_{I}^{2})} = \|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{B}(\ell_{I}^{2})\to\mathrm{B}(\ell_{I}^{2})}.$$

CHAPTER 5

APPROXIMATION BY DISCRETE GROUPS

The complementation Theorem 4.2 from Chapter 4 is stated only for a *discrete* group G. In order to exhibit a suitable class of admissible *non-discrete* locally compact groups, approximations by discrete subgroups of G become important. In this chapter, we introduce and study several notions of approximation which are of independent interest, but which will be important in the subsequent Chapter 6.

5.1. Preliminaries

Chabauty-Fell topology. – For a topological space Y, let $\mathscr{F}(Y)$ denote the set of closed subsets of Y. For a compact subset K and an open subset U of Y, set ⁽³³⁾

$$\mathcal{O}_{K} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \{ F \in \mathscr{F}(Y) \ : \ F \cap K = \emptyset \} \quad \text{ and } \quad \mathcal{O}'_{U} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} \{ F \in \mathscr{F}(Y) \ : \ F \cap U \neq \emptyset \}.$$

The finite intersections $\mathcal{O}_{K_1} \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{O}_{K_m} \cap \mathcal{O}'_{U_1} \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{O}'_{U_n}$ constitute a basis of a topology on $\mathscr{F}(Y)$, called the Chabauty-Fell topology, introduced in [73, page 472] under the name of H-topology. By [73, Theorem 1], if Y is locally compact then $\mathscr{F}(Y)$ is a (Hausdorff) compact space. See also [20] and [96] for more information.

Geometric convergence. – The Chabauty-Fell topology is related to the geometric convergence of Thurston. By [20, Proposition E.1.2], if Y is a locally compact metrizable space then a sequence (F_n) of closed subsets of Y converges to an element F of $\mathscr{F}(Y)$ if and only if the two following conditions are satisfied:

- Let (F_{n_k}) be a subsequence of (F_n) and let $x_k \in F_{n_k}$ such that the sequence (x_k) converges in Y to some x in Y. Then we have $x \in F$.
- Any point in F is the limit in Y of a sequence (x_n) with $x_n \in F_n$ for each n.

^{33.} Note that $\mathcal{O}_{K_1} \cap \cdots \cap \mathcal{O}_{K_m} = \mathcal{O}_{K_1 \cup \cdots \cup K_m}$.

Spaces of closed subgroups. – By [73, IV page 474] (see also [31, Chapitre VIII, §5, no. 3, Théorème 1]), if Y = G is a locally compact group, the space $\mathscr{C}(G)$ of closed subgroups of G equipped with the induced topology is closed in $\mathscr{F}(G)$, hence compact. Moreover, in this case, it is folklore but not entirely obvious that a basis of neighborhoods of a closed subgroup $H \in \mathscr{C}(G)$ is given by the sets

(5.1.1)
$$\mathcal{N}_{U}^{K}(H) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{ H' \in \mathscr{C}(G) : H' \cap K \subset HU \text{ and } H \cap K \subset H'U \},\$$

where K runs over the compact subsets of G and U runs over the neighborhoods of e_G . In words, H' is very close to H if, on a large compact set K, the elements of H' belong uniformly to a small neighborhood of H, and conversely. In this specific case, the convergence of a sequence was introduced by Chabauty [41, page 147] to generalize Mahler's well-known compactness criterion to lattices in locally compact groups. The following is folklore, see, e.g., [26, Appendix A].

PROPOSITION 5.1. – Let G be a locally compact group. The sets $\mathcal{N}_U^K(H)$ generate the neighborhood filter of H in the Chabauty-Fell topology.

Lattices and fundamental domains. – A lattice Γ in a locally compact group G is a discrete subgroup for which G/Γ has a bounded G-invariant Borel measure [19, Definition B.2.1 page 332]. A locally compact G that admits a lattice is necessarily unimodular [19, Proposition B.2.2 page 332]. The same reference says that if Γ is a cocompact ⁽³⁴⁾ (i.e., G/Γ is compact) discrete subgroup of a locally compact group Gthen Γ is a lattice of G.

Let Γ be a discrete group of a locally compact group G. If A is a subset of G and $\gamma \in \Gamma$, then the set $A\gamma$ is called an image of A. A fundamental domain X relative to Γ is a Borel measurable subset of G satisfying the following two properties:

$$(5.1.2) X\Gamma = G.$$

(5.1.3) $X\gamma \cap X\gamma' = \emptyset$ for any distinct elements γ, γ' of Γ .

These properties say that every element $x \in G$ is covered by one and only one image of X. These conditions are equivalent to the following statement: X is a Borel measurable subset of G such that the restriction of the canonical mapping $G \to G/\Gamma$ of G onto left cosets, restricted to X, becomes a bijection onto G/Γ . We obtain a set X with these two properties, if we select a representative s from every left coset $s\Gamma$ of Γ relative to G. However, in general, such a set X is not a Borel set. If G is σ -compact the result [19, Proposition B.2.4 page 333] (see also [161, Lemma 2]) gives the existence of a fundamental domain for any discrete subgroup Γ and if in addition Γ is a lattice in G then every fundamental domain for Γ has finite Haar measure [19, Proposition B.2.4 page 333].

^{34.} The word uniform is also used.

5.2. Different notions of groups approximable by discrete groups

Recall that a locally compact group G is approximable by a sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups [121, Definition 1] [176, page 36] if for any non-empty open set Oof G, there exists an integer j_0 such that for any $j \ge j_0$ we have $O \cap \Gamma_j \ne \emptyset$. We say that a locally compact group G is approximable by discrete subgroups (ADS) if G is approximable by some sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups. It is obvious that a second countable locally compact group G is approximable by a sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups if and only if (Γ_j) converges to G for the Chabauty-Fell topology. Using the definition of the geometric convergence we obtain the following characterization.

PROPOSITION 5.2. – Let G be second countable locally compact group. Let (Γ_j) be a sequence of discrete subgroups of G. The following are equivalent.

- 1. The group G is approximable by the sequence (Γ_j) .
- 2. Any $s \in G$ is the limit in G of a sequence (γ_j) with $\gamma_j \in \Gamma_j$ for any integer j.

Moreover, note that a connected ADS locally compact group G is necessarily nilpotent (see [92, Theorem 2.18]) and that a connected simply connected Lie group is ADS if and only if G is nilpotent and if it admits a discrete cocompact subgroup ([94, Theorem 1.6, 1.7 and 1.9]. We refer to [94], [93], [92], [121], [176] and [178] for more information on this notion. Now, we introduce different notions of approximation by discrete groups. These will be used in Chapter 6.

DEFINITION 5.3. – Let G be a second countable locally compact group.

- 1. The group G is said to be approximable by lattice subgroups (ALS) if there exists a sequence (Γ_j) of lattices in G such that (Γ_j) converges to G for the Chabauty-Fell topology.
- 2. The group G is said to be (right) uniformly approximable by a sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups if there exists a right invariant metric dist such that for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists an integer j_0 such that for all $j \ge j_0$ and all $s \in G$ there exists $\gamma_j \in \Gamma_j$ such that dist $(s, \gamma_j) < \varepsilon$. The group G is said to be uniformly ADS if G is uniformly approximable by a sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups. We also define the notion "uniformly ALS" where "discrete groups" is replaced by "lattice subgroups".
- The group G is said to be approximable by shrinking by a sequence (Γ_j) of lattice subgroups with associated fundamental domains (X_j) if for any neighborhood V of the identity e_G (equivalently, for any ball V = B(e_G, ε) with ε > 0, associated with a right invariant metric generating the topology of G) there exists some integer j₀ such that X_j ⊂ V for any j ≥ j₀. The group G is said to be approximable by lattice subgroups by shrinking (ALSS) if there exists a sequence (Γ_j)_{j≥1} of lattice subgroups in G and some associated fundamental domains (X_j) such that G is approximable by shrinking by (Γ_j) and (X_j).

- REMARK 5.4. 1. If we assume in Part 3 of Definition 5.3 that the subgroups Γ_j are only discrete subgroups instead of being lattices, we obtain the same definition. Indeed, for any sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$ and any sufficiently large j, we have $X_j \subset B(e_G, \varepsilon)$ where $B(e_G, \varepsilon)$ is relatively compact according to the local compactness of G. Thus the closure $\overline{X_j}$ is compact. The canonical mapping $\pi: G \to G/\Gamma_j$ being continuous, $\pi(\overline{X_j})$ is also compact. But since X_j is a fundamental domain, we have $\pi(X_j) = G/\Gamma_j$ and a fortiori $\pi(\overline{X_j}) = G/\Gamma_j$. Therefore, G/Γ_j is compact, and so by [19, Proposition B.2.2], the discrete subgroup Γ_j is automatically a lattice.
 - 2. We shall see in Part 3 of Proposition 5.9 that a second countable locally compact group which is uniformly ADS with respect to a sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups admits fundamental domains which are almost all included in small balls. Therefore, combined with the first part of this remark, we deduce that if *G* is uniformly ADS then *G* is uniformly ALS.
 - 3. Part 3 of Definition 5.3 is inspired by the notion ADS from [39, page 3]. It is formally slightly weaker since we assume that the X_j are becoming smaller and smaller around e_G instead of forming a neighborhood basis of e_G as in [39]. Moreover, the authors of [39] use only lattice subgroups. However, we shall see in Part 3 of Proposition 5.9 that our notion of ALSS is equivalent to ADS from [39, page 3].
 - 4. It is obvious that the property uniformly ADS implies the property ADS, that uniformly ALS implies ALS and that ALS implies ADS.

Recall that any locally compact group G which contains a lattice subgroup Γ is unimodular by [19, Proposition B.2.2] and that the subset of unimodular closed subgroups of G is closed in $\mathscr{C}(G)$ for the Chabauty topology, see [31, Chapitre VIII, §5, no. 3, Théorème 1].

We start with a result giving the existence of fundamental domains satisfying some inclusion constraint. In this proposition and the subsequent lemma, we equip the group G with a left invariant metric dist generating its topology and we consider the balls $B(e_G, r) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{s \in G : \operatorname{dist}(s, e_G) < r\}$. However, note that the statement in Proposition 5.5 remains valid if one replaces the distance dist by a *right* invariant one dist', generating the topology of G, together with balls $\tilde{B}(e_G, r) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{s \in G : \operatorname{dist}'(s, e_G) < r\}$. Indeed, note that since both dist and dist' generate the same topology, if D contains a ball $\tilde{B}(e_G, \tilde{r})$, it will contain a ball $B(e_G, r)$, so X will contain a ball $B(e_G, r')$ and thus also a ball $\tilde{B}(e_G, r'')$.

PROPOSITION 5.5. – Let G be a second countable locally compact group together with a discrete subgroup $\Gamma \subset G$. Let $D \subset G$ be a measurable subset satisfying $\bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma} D\gamma = G$. Then there exists a fundamental domain $X \subset D$ associated with Γ . Moreover, if D contains a ball $B(e_G, r)$ then X contains a ball $B(e_G, r')$.

Proof. – Note first that since G is second countable, Γ endowed with the trace topology is again second countable. Since Γ is discrete, this implies that Γ is at most countable, and we choose one enumeration (γ_j) of Γ .

Consider the canonical map $p: G \to G/\Gamma$. Since G is second countable, there exists by [129, Lemma 1.1] (see also the discussions [30, page 11] and [79, page 67]) a locally bounded Borel section $q: G/\Gamma \to G$. By [179, Corollary 4.49], the map $\gamma: G \to \Gamma$, $s \mapsto (q(s\Gamma))^{-1}s$ is a (locally bounded) Borel function.

LEMMA 5.6. – There exists some $\rho > 0$ such that $\gamma(B(e, \rho)) \subset \{e\}$.

Proof. – Let dist be a left invariant metric on *G* generating its topology as a locally compact group and dist_{*G*/Γ} the associated distance on *G*/Γ. Consider the strictly ⁽³⁵⁾ positive number $r_0 = \text{dist}(\Gamma \setminus \{e\}, e) > 0$. Since $B(e, r_0) \cap \Gamma = \{e\}$, for any $s \in G$, the condition dist($\gamma(s), e$) < r_0 implies that $\gamma(s) = e$. Now by definition of γ , we have dist($\gamma(s), e$) < r_0 if and only if dist($q(s\Gamma)^{-1}s, e$) < r_0 and finally if and only if dist($s, q(s\Gamma)$) < r_0 by left invariance. Since *q* is continuous in a neighborhood of $e\Gamma$, there exists $r_1 > 0$ such that dist_{*G*/Γ}($s\Gamma, e\Gamma$) < r_1 implies dist($q(s\Gamma), e$) < $\frac{r_0}{2}$. If dist(*s*, *e*) < min{ $r_1, \frac{r_0}{2}$ } we have

$$\operatorname{dist}_{G/\Gamma}(s\Gamma, e\Gamma) \leq \operatorname{dist}(s, e) < r_1,$$

hence dist $(e, q(s\Gamma)) < \frac{r_0}{2}$. Thus the triangle inequality gives

$$\operatorname{dist}(s, q(s\Gamma)) \leq \operatorname{dist}(s, e) + \operatorname{dist}(e, q(s\Gamma)) < \frac{r_0}{2} + \frac{r_0}{2} = r_0.$$

The lemma is proved.

Define now $A_1 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{s \in D : \gamma(s) = \gamma_1\} = D \cap \gamma^{-1}(\{\gamma_1\})$, which is measurable as the intersection of two measurable sets. Assuming without loss of generality that $\gamma_1 = e$, we have that $B(e, r') \subset A_1$ for $r' = \min(r, \rho)$ since $B(e, r) \subset D$. Define then recursively for $k \geq 2$, the subsets

$$A_k \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \left\{ s \in D : \gamma(s) = \gamma_k, \ \exists \ j \in \{1, \dots, k-1\}, \ \exists \ l \in \mathbb{N} : \ s\gamma_l \in A_j \right\}$$
$$= D \cap \gamma^{-1}(\{\gamma_k\}) \cap \bigcap_{j=1}^{k-1} \bigcap_{l \in \mathbb{N}} A_j^c \gamma_l^{-1}.$$

It can easily be shown recursively that A_k is measurable as the countable intersection of measurable sets. Define finally $X \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k$.

We claim that X is a (measurable) fundamental domain of Γ which is contained in D. First, it is measurable as a countable union of measurable sets. Since by definition, we have $A_k \subset D$ for any integer $k \geq 1$, we also have $X \subset D$.

LEMMA 5.7. – For any $\gamma \in \Gamma \setminus \{e\}$, we have $X\gamma \cap X = \emptyset$.

^{35.} The subset $\{e\}$ is open in Γ , so $\Gamma \setminus \{e\}$ is closed.

Proof. – Indeed, let $s \in X$, so that $s \in A_{k_0}$ for some $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$. This implies that $\gamma(s) = \gamma_{k_0}$. Put $t = s\gamma$. Since $\gamma \neq e$, we cannot have $\gamma(t) = \gamma(s)$, because otherwise $Y(t) = (t\Gamma, \gamma(t)) = (s\Gamma, \gamma(s)) = Y(s)$, and since Y is bijective, we obtain t = s, which is a contradiction. So $\gamma(t) = \gamma_{k_1}$ for some $k_1 \neq k_0$.

If $k_1 > k_0$, then t cannot belong to A_{k_1} . Indeed, $t \in A_{k_1}$ implies that we cannot find $l \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $t\gamma_l \in A_{k_0}$ since $k_0 < k_1$. This implies with $\gamma_l = \gamma^{-1}$ that $s = t\gamma^{-1} \notin A_{k_0}$, which is a contradiction.

If $k_1 < k_0$, then t cannot belong to A_{k_1} either. Indeed, since $s \in A_{k_0}$, we cannot find $l \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $s\gamma_l \in A_{k_1}$ since $k_1 < k_0$. This implies with $\gamma_l = \gamma$ that $t = s\gamma \notin A_{k_1}$. Thus $t \notin X$, so we have $X\gamma \cap X = \emptyset$.

LEMMA 5.8. – We have

(5.2.1)
$$\bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} A_k \Gamma = \left\{ s \in D : \gamma(s) \in \{\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \ldots\} \right\} \Gamma$$

Proof. – For the inclusion ⊂, we note that if $s \in A_k$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, then in particular $s \in D$ and $\gamma(s) = \gamma_k$, so that $s\Gamma$ is contained in the right hand side of (5.2.1). For the inclusion ⊃, if $s \in D$ and $\gamma(s) = \gamma_k$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, then either $s \in A_k$, which implies that $s\Gamma$ is contained in the left hand side of (5.2.1) or there exists $l \in \mathbb{N}$ and $j \in \{1, \ldots, k-1\}$ such that $s\gamma_l \in A_j$. Then $s\Gamma = s\gamma_l\gamma_l^{-1}\Gamma \subset A_j\Gamma$, so it is also contained in the left hand side of (5.2.1) is shown. □

The left hand side of (5.2.1) equals clearly $X\Gamma$, and the right hand side equals $D\Gamma$, since $\gamma(s)$ must belong to $\{\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \ldots\}$ for any $s \in D$. Since $D\Gamma = G$, we obtain $X\Gamma = G$, so that X is a fundamental domain. Since $B(e, r') \subset A_1$, we also have $B(e, r') \subset X$.

PROPOSITION 5.9. – Let G be a second countable locally compact group.

- 1. If the group G is ALSS with respect to (Γ_j) and (X_j) then G is uniformly ALS with respect to (Γ_j) .
- 2. Let G be an ADS group with respect to a sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups. Suppose that for some $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, some compact $K \subset G$ and any $j \ge j_0$ there exists a fundamental domain X_j with respect to Γ_j such that $X_j \subset K$. Then the group G is uniformly ADS with respect to (Γ_j) . We have a similar property for ALS and uniformly ALS.
- 3. If the group G is uniformly ADS with respect to discrete subgroups (Γ_j) then G is ALSS with respect to (Γ_j) and some particular sequence (X_j) of fundamental domains. Moreover, the X_j can be chosen to be neighborhoods of e_G if j is large enough. In particular, if G is uniformly ALS then G is ALSS.
- 4. The group G is uniformly ADS if and only if it is uniformly ALS if and only if it is ALSS.

Proof. – 1. First assume that *G* is ALSS with respect to a sequence of lattice subgroups (Γ_j) with associated fundamental domains (X_j). Take a right invariant metric dist on *G* generating its topology as a locally compact group. Fix ε > 0. By the ALSS property, there exists some integer j_0 such that the fundamental domains X_j are contained in B(e, ε) for any $j \ge j_0$. For any $s \in G$ and any j, there exists $x \in X_j$ and $γ \in Γ_j$ such that s = xγ. For any $j \ge j_0$, we conclude that

$$\operatorname{dist}(s,\gamma) = \operatorname{dist}(x\gamma,\gamma) = \operatorname{dist}(x,e) < \varepsilon.$$

Thus, the group G is uniformly ALS.

2. Let G be an ADS group with respect to a sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups in G. Suppose that for some $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, some compact $K \subset G$ and any $j \geq j_0$, there exists a fundamental domain X_j with respect to Γ_j such that $X_j \subset K$. Fix a right invariant metric dist on G. The compact subset K is totally bounded. Then for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist some $s_1, \ldots, s_N \in K$ such that for $j \geq j_0$,

$$X_j \subset K \subset \bigcup_{k=1}^N B\left(s_k, \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\right).$$

Moreover, since G is ADS, for any $1 \le k \le N$, there exists some $j_k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $i \ge j_k$ there is some $\gamma_i \in \Gamma_i$ with $\operatorname{dist}(s_k, \gamma_i) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. Note that this implies that if $x \in B(s_k, \frac{\varepsilon}{2})$ we have

$$\operatorname{dist}(x,\gamma_i) \leq \operatorname{dist}(x,s_k) + \operatorname{dist}(s_k,\gamma_i) < \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = \varepsilon$$

Thus, for $j_{\max} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \max\{j_0, j_1, \dots, j_N\}$, any $j \ge j_{\max}$, any $x \in X_j$ and any $i \ge j_{\max}$, there exists some $\gamma_i \in \Gamma_i$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(x, \gamma_i) < \varepsilon$.

For an arbitrary $s \in G$ and any $j \geq j_{\max}$, we write $s = x_j \tilde{\gamma}_j$ with $x_j \in X_j$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_j \in \Gamma_j$ and we have (setting i = j) dist $(x_j, \gamma_j) < \varepsilon$ for some $\gamma_j \in \Gamma_j$ so also

$$\operatorname{dist}(s,\gamma_j\widetilde{\gamma}_j) = \operatorname{dist}(x\widetilde{\gamma}_j,\gamma_j\widetilde{\gamma}_j) = \operatorname{dist}(x,\gamma_j) < \varepsilon.$$

Note that $\gamma_j \tilde{\gamma}_j$ belongs to Γ_j . Thus the group G is uniformly ADS. The proof of the second property is identical.

3. Now assume that G is uniformly ADS with respect to a sequence (Γ_j) of discrete subgroups. We fix a right invariant metric dist of G which generates the topology of G and with respect to which the uniformly ADS property holds. There exists $\delta > 0$ such that any closed ball of radius $< \delta$ is compact.

For any j, we introduce the Dirichlet cell

$$D_{\Gamma_j} = \{ s \in G : \operatorname{dist}(s, e) \le \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma) \text{ for any } \gamma \in \Gamma_j \}.$$

We first show that for given $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $D_{\Gamma_j} \subset B(e,\varepsilon)$ for $j \geq j_0$. Note that by the uniformly ADS property there exists a $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $s \in G$ and any $j \geq j_0$ there exists $\gamma_j \in \Gamma_j$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(s,\gamma_j) \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$. If $s \in B(e,\varepsilon)^c$ and if $j \geq j_0$ we obtain

$$\operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma_j) \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} < \varepsilon \leq \operatorname{dist}(s, e).$$

Hence s does not belong to D_{Γ_j} . We deduce that $B(e, \varepsilon)^c \subset D_{\Gamma_j}^c$ if $j \ge j_0$. The claim is proved.

Now we prove that the Dirichlet cell D_{Γ_j} satisfies $\bigcup_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j} D_{\Gamma_j} \gamma = G$ if j is large enough. Let $s \in G$. For any j, consider the positive real number

$$r_j \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \inf_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_j} \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma').$$

There exists j_1 such that for any $j \ge j_1$ and any $s \in G$ there exists $\gamma_j \in \Gamma_j$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma_j) < \frac{\delta}{3}$, hence $r_j < \frac{\delta}{3}$.

LEMMA 5.10. – For any $j \ge j_1$, there exists $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma) \le \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma')$ for any $\gamma' \in \Gamma_j$.

Proof. – If $s \in \Gamma_j$, it is obvious that the infimum is a minimum. Suppose $s \notin \Gamma_j$. We have $r_j > 0$. We let $K = B'(x, 2r_j) \cap \Gamma_j$. This subset is nonempty and compact. If $\gamma' \in \Gamma_j \setminus K$ we have $\operatorname{dist}(x, \gamma') > 2r_j$. We deduce that

$$r_j = \inf_{\gamma' \in \Gamma_j} \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma') = \inf_{\gamma' \in K} \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma').$$

Finally, the map $\gamma' \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma')$ is continuous on the compact K, hence attains its infimum on K.

In particular, for any $\gamma'' \in \Gamma_j$, using the right-invariance of the distance, we obtain

$$\operatorname{dist}(s\gamma^{-1}, e) = \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma) \le \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma''\gamma) = \operatorname{dist}(s\gamma^{-1}, \gamma'')$$

Therefore, $s\gamma^{-1} \in D_{\Gamma_j}$, that is $s \in D_{\Gamma_j}\gamma$.

Moreover, $D_{\Gamma_j} = \bigcap_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j} \{s \in G : \operatorname{dist}(s, e) \leq \operatorname{dist}(s, \gamma)\}$ is an intersection of closed sets, and hence itself closed, hence measurable.

Note that $\Gamma_j \setminus \{e\}$ is closed. Hence we have $r'_j = \text{dist}(e, \Gamma_j \setminus \{e\}) > 0$. Thus the ball $B(e, \frac{r'_j}{2})$ is contained in D_{Γ_j} . According to Proposition 5.5, there exists some fundamental domain $X_j \subset D_{\Gamma_j}$ associated with Γ_j , which is a neighborhood of $e \in G$. Furthermore, if $j \geq j_0$ we have $X_j \subset D_{\Gamma_j} \subset B(e, \varepsilon)$. Hence we conclude that the group G is ALSS with respect to (Γ_j) and (X_j) . The proof of the second property is identical.

4. This statement is now obvious.

5.3. The case of second countable compactly generated locally compact groups

The following uses a trick of the proof of [178, Lemma 5.7]. For the sake of completeness, we give all the details. Recall that a topological group is compactly generated if it has a compact generating set [98, Definition 5.12]. For example, a connected locally compact group is compactly generated [46, Proposition 2.C.3 (2)].

LEMMA 5.11. – Let G be a compactly generated locally compact group and (Γ_i) a sequence of subgroups of G which converges to G for the Chabauty-Fell topology. Then there exists a compact subset K of G and i_0 such that $G = K\Gamma_i$ for any $i \ge i_0$.

Proof. – By the proof of [98, Theorem 5.13], there exists an open subset V of G containing e with $G = \bigcup_{n \ge 1} (V \cup V^{-1})^n$ such that \overline{V} is compact. We let $U = V \cup V^{-1}$. The subset U is open and contains e. Moreover, the set $K \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{U} = \overline{V \cup V^{-1}} = \overline{V} \cup \overline{V}^{-1}$ is compact and we have $G = \bigcup_{n \ge 1} K^n$. Since e belongs to U, we have UG = G. Moreover, by [98, Theorem 4.4], the subset K^3 is compact and included in UG. Using [98, Theorem 4.4] again, we deduce that $(Us)_{s \in G}$ is an open covering of K^3 . By compactness there exist some elements $s_1, \ldots, s_m \in G$ such that

$$K^3 \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^m Us_j$$

Since (Γ_i) approximates the group G, there exists some i_0 such that for any $i \ge i_0$ we have $\{s_1, \ldots, s_m\} \subset U\Gamma_i$. For $i \ge i_0$, we deduce that $K^3 \subset U^2\Gamma_i \subset K^2\Gamma_i$. By induction ⁽³⁶⁾, we obtain $K^n \subset K^2\Gamma_i$ for any $n \ge 3$. Moreover, we have $K^2 \subset K^2\Gamma_i$. For any $i \ge i_0$, we deduce that

$$G \setminus K \subset \bigcup_{n \ge 2} K^n \subset K^2 \Gamma_i.$$

Note that $K \subset K\Gamma_i$. Thus the compact $K \cup K^2$ has the desired property.

COROLLARY 5.12. – Let G be a compactly generated locally compact group and (Γ_i) a sequence of discrete subgroups which converges to G for the Chabauty-Fell topology. For any large enough i, the subgroup Γ_i is a cocompact lattice.

Proof. – Use the previous Lemma 5.11 and recall that a discrete subgroup Γ which is cocompact ⁽³⁷⁾ is a lattice.

THEOREM 5.13. – Let G be a second countable compactly generated locally compact group. The following are equivalent.

- 1. G is ADS.
- 2. G is ALS.
- 3. G is uniformly ALS.
- 4. G is ALSS.

Proof. – The implications $2. \Rightarrow 1$. and $3. \Rightarrow 2$. are obvious. By Corollary 5.12, we have the implication $1. \Rightarrow 2$. By the part 3 of Proposition 5.9, the properties 3. and 4. are equivalent.

Suppose that G is ALS with respect to a sequence (Γ_j) of lattice subgroups in G. Then by Lemma 5.11, there exists a compact subset K of G and i_0 such that $G = K\Gamma_i$

^{36.} If $K^n \subset K^2 \Gamma_i$ for some $n \geq 3$ then we have $K^{n+1} = KK^n \subset KK^2 \Gamma_i = K^3 \Gamma_i \subset K^2 \Gamma_i \Gamma_i = K^2 \Gamma_i$.

^{37.} If $G = K\Gamma_i$ for a compact K, then for the canonical and continuous $q: G \to G/\Gamma_i$, we have $q(K) = G/\Gamma_i$, so that G/Γ_i is compact.

for any $i \ge i_0$. By Proposition 5.5, there exists ⁽³⁸⁾ a fundamental domain X_i for Γ_i in G such that $X_i \subset K$ for any $i \ge i_0$. From part 2 of Proposition 5.9, we conclude that G is ALSS and thus 2. implies 3.

^{38.} If G is a second countable locally compact group and if Γ is a cocompact lattice in G then there exists a relatively compact fundamental domain X for Γ in G. This result [161, 8] of Siegel does not suffice here.

CHAPTER 6

DECOMPOSABLE FOURIER MULTIPLIERS ON NON-DISCRETE LOCALLY COMPACT GROUPS

In this chapter, we start by giving general results on Fourier multipliers on noncommutative L^p -spaces. After this, we construct our projections by approximation. Then we study (classes of) examples, including direct and semi-direct products of groups, the semi-discrete Heisenberg group, groups acting on trees and pro-discrete groups. We conclude by drawing the relevant consequences for decomposable multipliers.

6.1. Generalities on Fourier multipliers on unimodular groups

Group von Neumann algebras of locally compact groups. – Let G be a locally compact group equipped with a left invariant Haar measure μ_G . For a complex function $g: G \to \mathbb{C}$, we write $\lambda(g)$ for the left convolution operator (in general unbounded) by g on $L^2(G)$. This means that the domain of $\lambda(g)$ consists of all f of $L^2(G)$ for which the integral $(g * f)(t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \int_G g(s)f(s^{-1}t) \, d\mu_G(s)$ exists for almost all $t \in G$ and for which the resulting function g * f belongs to $L^2(G)$, and for such f, we let $\lambda(g)f \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} g * f$. Finally, by [98, Corollary 20.14], each $g \in L^1(G)$ induces a bounded operator $\lambda(g): L^2(G) \to L^2(G)$.

Let VN(G) be the von Neumann algebra generated by the set $\{\lambda(g) : g \in L^1(G)\}$. It is called the group von Neumann algebra of G and is equal to the von Neumann algebra generated by the set $\{\lambda_s : s \in G\}$ where

(6.1.1)
$$\lambda_s \colon \begin{cases} \mathcal{L}^2(G) & \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}^2(G) \\ f & \longmapsto (t \mapsto f(s^{-1}t)) \end{cases}$$

is the left translation by s. Recall that for any $g \in L^1(G)$ we have $\lambda(g) = \int_G g(s)\lambda_s d\mu_G(s)$, where the latter integral is understood in the weak operator sense ⁽³⁹⁾.

$$\langle \lambda(g)f,h\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(G)} = \int_{G} g(s)\langle \lambda_{s}f,h\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(G)} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s), \quad f,h \in \mathrm{L}^{2}(G).$$

^{39.} That means (see, e.g., [80, Theorem 5 page 289]) that $\lambda(g): L^2(G) \to L^2(G)$ is the unique bounded operator such that

Let H be a closed subgroup of G equipped with a left Haar measure. The prescription $\lambda_{H,s} \mapsto \lambda_{G,s}, s \in H$ (where $\lambda_{H,s}$ denotes the left translation by h on $L^2(H)$ and $\lambda_{G,s}$ the corresponding left translation by h on $L^2(G)$) extends to a normal injective *-homomorphism from VN(H) to VN(G), see, e.g., [115, Proposition 2.6.6], [56, Theorem 2 page 113] and [50] for generalizations to quantum groups.

We also use the notation $\lambda(\mu) \colon L^2(G) \to L^2(G)$ for the convolution operator by the measure μ .

Plancherel weights. – Let G be a locally compact group. A function $g \in L^2(G)$ is called left bounded [84, Definition 2.1] if the convolution operator $\lambda(g)$ induces a bounded operator on $L^2(G)$. The Plancherel weight $\tau_G \colon VN(G)^+ \to [0, \infty]$ is ⁽⁴⁰⁾ defined by the formula

$$\tau_G(x) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{cases} \|g\|_{\mathrm{L}^2(G)}^2 & \text{if } x^{\frac{1}{2}} = \lambda(g) \text{ for some left bounded function } g \in \mathrm{L}^2(G) \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

By [84, Proposition 2.9] (see also [139, Theorem 7.2.7]), the canonical left ideal $\mathfrak{n}_{\tau_G} = \{x \in \mathrm{VN}(G) : \tau_G(x^*x) < \infty\}$ is given by

$$\mathfrak{n}_{\tau_G} = \{\lambda(g) : g \in \mathrm{L}^2(G) \text{ is left bounded}\}.$$

Recall that $\mathfrak{m}_{\tau_G}^+$ denotes the set $\{x \in \mathrm{VN}(G)^+ : \tau_G(x) < \infty\}$ and that \mathfrak{m}_{τ_G} is the complex linear span of $\mathfrak{m}_{\tau_G}^+$ which is a *-subalgebra of $\mathrm{VN}(G)$. By [84, Proposition 2.9] and [166, Proposition page 280], we have

 $\mathfrak{m}_{\tau_G}^+ = \big\{ \lambda(g) : g \in \mathrm{L}^2(G) \text{ continuous and left bounded}, \ \lambda(g) \ge 0 \big\}.$

By [84, page 125] or [139, Proposition 7.2.8], the Plancherel weight τ_G on VN(G) is tracial if and only if G is unimodular, which means that the left Haar measure of G and the right Haar measure of G coincide. Now, in the sequel, we suppose that the locally compact group G is unimodular.

We will use the involution $f^*(t) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{f(t^{-1})}$. By [120, Theorem 4], if $f, g \in L^2(G)$ are left bounded then f * g and f^* are left bounded and we have

(6.1.2)
$$\lambda(g)\lambda(f) = \lambda(g*f) \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda(f)^* = \lambda(f^*).$$

If $f, g \in L^2(G)$ it is well-known [31, Corollaire page 168 and (17) page 166] that the function f * g is continuous and that we have $(f * g)(e_G) = (g * f)(e_G) = \int_G \check{g}f d\mu_G$ where e_G denotes the identity element of G and where $\check{g}(s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} g(s^{-1})$. By [167, (4) page 282], if $f, g \in L^2(G)$ are left bounded, the operator $\lambda(g)^*\lambda(f)$ belongs to \mathfrak{m}_{τ_G} and we have the fundamental "noncommutative Plancherel formula" (6.1.3)

$$au_Gig(\lambda(g)^*\lambda(f)ig) = \langle g,f
angle_{\mathrm{L}^2(G)} \quad ext{which gives} \quad au_Gig(\lambda(g)\lambda(f)ig) = \int_G\check{g}f\,\mathrm{d}\mu_G = (g*f)(e_G).$$

^{40.} This is the natural weight associated with the left Hilbert algebra $C_c(G)$.

In particular, this formula can be used with any functions f, g of $L^1(G) \cap L^2(G)$. By (2.1.1), if we consider the subset $C_e(G) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \text{span} \{g^* * f : g, f \in L^2(G) \text{ left bounded}\}$ of C(G), we have

(6.1.4)
$$\mathfrak{m}_{\tau_G} = \lambda \big(\mathcal{C}_e(G) \big)$$

and we can see τ_G as the functional that evaluates functions of $C_e(G)$ at $e_G \in G$. Although the formula $\tau_G(\lambda(h)) = h(e)$ seems to make sense for every function h in $C_c(G)$, we warn the reader that it is not true⁽⁴¹⁾ in general that $\lambda(C_c(G)) \subset \mathfrak{m}_{\tau_G}$ contrary to what is unfortunately too often written in the literature.

Averaging projections. – If K is a compact subgroup of a locally compact group G equipped with its normalized Haar measure μ_K , we can consider the element $p_K \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lambda_K(\mu_K)$ of VN(K). It is easy to see that it identifies to the element $\lambda_G(\mu_K^0)$ of VN(G) where μ_K^0 is the canonical extension of the measure μ_K on the locally compact space G. We say that it is the averaging projection associated with K. The following lemma is folklore. For the sake of completeness, we give a short proof.

LEMMA 6.1. – If K is a normal compact subgroup then the averaging projection p_K associated with K is a central projection in VN(G) and finally the map

(6.1.5)
$$\begin{aligned} \pi \colon & \operatorname{VN}(G/K) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{VN}(G)p_K \\ \lambda_{sK} & \longmapsto & \lambda_s p_K \end{aligned}$$

is a well-defined *-isomorphism.

Proof. – For any $s \in G$, we have sK = Ks and consequently $\lambda_s \lambda(\mu_K^0) = \lambda(\delta_s * \mu_K^0) = \lambda(\mu_K^0) \lambda_s$. Hence p_K is central. For any $s \in G$, if sK = s'K, we have $\lambda_s p_K = \lambda_s \lambda(\mu_K^0) = \lambda(\delta_s * \mu_K^0) = \lambda(\delta_{s'} * \mu_K^0) = \lambda_{s'}\lambda(\mu_K^0) = \lambda_{s'}p_K$. Hence π is well-defined. Other statements are obvious.

If K is in addition an *open* subgroup, the following allows us to consider maps on the associated noncommutative L^p -spaces.

LEMMA 6.2. – Let K be a compact open normal subgroup of a unimodular locally compact group G. We suppose that G is equipped with a Haar measure μ_G and that K is equipped with its normalized Haar measure μ_K . We have $p_K = \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)}\lambda(1_K)$ and the map $\mu_G(K)\pi \colon \text{VN}(G/K) \to \text{VN}(G)p_K$ is trace preserving. Finally if $1 \le p \le \infty$, the

$$C_e(G) = \operatorname{span} L^2(G) * L^2(G).$$

^{41.} In fact, suppose that G is compact. Since $L^2(G) \subset L^1(G)$, any function of $L^2(G)$ is left bounded. Moreover, the group G is unimodular so the map $f \mapsto f^*$ is an anti-unitary operator on $L^2(G)$. We infer that $L^2(G)^* = L^2(G)$ and consequently that

As already noted, we always have $C_e(G) \subset C(G)$. If in addition $\lambda(C(G)) \subset \lambda(C_e(G))$, we have $C(G) = C_c(G) \subset C_e(G)$ (if $f, g \in L^1(G)$ and $\lambda(f) = \lambda(g)$, we have f = g almost everywhere since the regular representation $\lambda \colon L^1(G) \to B(L^2(G)), f \mapsto \lambda(f)$ is injective by [59, page 285]), then we obtain span $L^2(G) * L^2(G) = C(G)$. But this is true only if G is finite (see [97, 34.16, 34.40 (ii) and 37.4]).

*-isomorphism π induces a complete isometry $\mu_G(K)^{\frac{1}{p}}\pi_p$ from $L^p(VN(G/K))$ into $L^p(VN(G)p_K)$. In particular π_p is of completely bounded norm less than $\frac{1}{\mu_G(K)^{\frac{1}{p}}}$.

Proof. – The subgroup K is open, so $\mu_G|_K$ is a Haar measure on K and $\mu_K = \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)} \mu_G|_K$. So

$$p_K = \lambda(\mu_K^0) = \lambda\left(\left(\frac{1}{\mu_G(K)}\mu_G|_K\right)^0\right) = \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)}\lambda((\mu_G|_K)^0)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)}\lambda(1_K\mu_G) = \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)}\lambda(1_K).$$

Note that the group G/K is discrete by [98, Theorem 5.21] since K is open and that $p_K = p_K p_K^*$. For any $s \in G$, using Plancherel Formula (6.1.3) in the second equality, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_G(\pi(\lambda_{sK})) &= \tau_G(\lambda_s p_K) = \tau_G(p_K^* \lambda_s p_K) = \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)^2} \tau_G(\lambda(1_K)^* \lambda_s \lambda(1_K)) \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)^2} \langle 1_K, 1_{sK} \rangle_{L^2(G)} = \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)} 1_K(s) = \frac{1}{\mu_G(K)} \tau_{G/K}(\lambda_{sK}). \end{aligned}$$

The statements on induced maps by π between L^p -spaces are now standard using interpolation. Indeed, if $x \in L^p(VN(G/K))$ we have $(\tau_G(|\pi(x)|^p))^{\frac{1}{p}} = (\frac{1}{\mu_G(K)}\tau_{G/K}(|x|^p))^{\frac{1}{p}}$.

Noncommutative L^p -spaces of group von Neumann algebras. – By (6.1.3), the linear map $L^1(G) \cap L^2(G) \to L^2(VN(G))$, $g \mapsto \lambda(g)$ is an isometric map which can be extended to an isometry between $L^2(G)$ and $L^2(VN(G))$ using [165, Corollary 9.3].

We need a convenient dense subspace of $L^p(VN(G))$. If $p = \infty$, [56, Corollary 7 page 51] says ⁽⁴²⁾ that $\lambda(C_c(G))$ is weak^{*} dense in VN(G), so by Kaplansky's density theorem, the closed unit ball of $\lambda(C_c(G))$ is weak^{*} dense in the closed unit ball of VN(G). Moreover, it is proved in [48, Proposition 4.7] (see [72, Proposition 3.4] for the case p = 1) that $\lambda(\operatorname{span} C_c(G) * C_c(G))$ is dense in $L^p(VN(G))$ in the case $1 \le p < \infty$.

Fourier multipliers on noncommutative L^p -spaces. – Note that if $\phi \in L^1_{loc}(G)$ is a locally integrable function and if $f \in C_c(G)$ then the product ϕf belongs to $L^1(G)$ and consequently induces a bounded operator $\lambda(\phi f) \colon L^2(G) \to L^2(G)$. Recall that this operator is equal to the weak integral $\int_G \phi(s) f(s) \lambda_s d\mu_G(s)$. Finally, recall that $L^2_{loc}(G) \subset L^1_{loc}(G)$.

DEFINITION 6.3. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then we say that a (weak* continuous if $p = \infty$) bounded operator $T: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ is a (L^p) Fourier multiplier if there exists a locally

^{42.} Note that $PM_2(G) = VN(G)$.

2-integrable function $\phi \in L^2_{loc}(G)$ such that for any $f \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$ $(f \in C_c(G)$ if $p = \infty$) the element $\int_G \phi(s) f(s) \lambda_s d\mu_G(s)$ belongs to $L^p(VN(G))$ and

(6.1.6)
$$T\left(\int_{G} f(s)\lambda_{s} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s)\right) = \int_{G} \phi(s)f(s)\lambda_{s} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s), \quad i.e., \quad T(\lambda(f)) = \lambda(\phi f).$$

In this case, we let $T = M_{\phi}$.

Then $\mathfrak{M}^p(G)$ is defined to be the space of all bounded L^p Fourier multipliers and $\mathfrak{M}^{p,cb}(G)$ to be the subspace consisting of completely bounded L^p Fourier multipliers.

Note that we take symbols in $L^2_{loc}(G)$ to use Plancherel Formula (6.1.3) in the sequel of this section. We will see in Proposition 6.5 combined with Lemma 6.6 that the symbol ϕ of a bounded Fourier multiplier necessarily belongs to the smaller space $L^{\infty}(G)$. So, we could replace $L^2_{loc}(G)$ by $L^{\infty}(G)$ in the definition. It is not clear if we can replace $L^2_{loc}(G)$ by $L^1_{loc}(G)$ for an arbitrary group G. Recall that the space $L^1(VN(G))$ canonically identifies to the Fourier algebra A(G). Using the regularity of the Fourier algebra [115, Th 2.3.8], it is not difficult in the case p = 1 to see that a Fourier multiplier ϕ is equal almost everywhere to a continuous complex function defined on G. Moreover, there exists ⁽⁴³⁾ at most one function ϕ (up to identity almost everywhere) such that $T = M_{\phi}$ and we say that ϕ induces the bounded Fourier multiplier M_{ϕ} . Finally, it is obvious that the linear map MA(G) $\rightarrow \mathfrak{M}^1(G), \varphi \mapsto M_{\varphi}$ is an isometry, where the space MA(G) of multipliers of the Fourier algebra A(G) is defined in [115, pages 153-154].

Finally, note that we can see $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G)$ as a subset of the space $B(C^*_{\lambda}(G), VN(G))$ where $C^*_{\lambda}(G)$ is the reduced C*-algebra of G. See [115, Remark 1.3].

The following results generalize the alluded observations of [95] done for discrete groups.

LEMMA 6.4. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. We have the isometries $\mathfrak{M}^{p}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p^{*}}(G)$, $M_{\phi} \mapsto M_{\phi}$ and $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p^{*},\mathrm{cb}}(G)$, $M_{\phi} \mapsto M_{\phi}$. Moreover, the Banach adjoint $(M_{\phi})^{*} \colon L^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ (preadjoint if $p = \infty$) of $M_{\phi} \colon L^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ identifies to the Fourier multiplier whose symbol is $\check{\phi}$. Moreover, the maps $\mathfrak{M}^{p}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p}(G)$, $M_{\phi} \mapsto M_{\overline{\phi}}$ and $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p^{*},\mathrm{cb}}(G)$, $M_{\phi} \mapsto M_{\overline{\phi}}$ are isometries. Finally, we can replace $M_{\overline{\phi}}$ by $M_{\check{\phi}}$ in the last sentence.

Proof. – Let M_{ϕ} : L^{*p*}(VN(*G*)) → L^{*p*}(VN(*G*)) be an element of $\mathfrak{M}^{p}(G)$. For any $f, g \in \mathcal{C}_{c}(G) * \mathcal{C}_{c}(G)$ $(f \in \mathcal{C}_{c}(G) \text{ and } g \in \mathcal{C}_{c}(G) * \mathcal{C}_{c}(G)$ if $p = \infty$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}_{c}(G) * \mathcal{C}_{c}(G)$ and $g \in \mathcal{C}_{c}(G)$ if p = 1), we have $g, \phi f \in L^{1}(G) \cap L^{2}(G)$ since $\phi \in L^{2}_{loc}(G)$. Using Plancherel Formula (6.1.3) in the second and third equalities, we deduce that

$$\tau \left(M_{\phi}(\lambda(f))\lambda(g) \right) = \tau \left(\lambda(\phi f)\lambda(g) \right) = \int_{G} \check{\phi}\check{f}g \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{G} = \tau \left(\lambda(f)\lambda \left(\check{\phi}g\right) \right) = \tau \left(\lambda(f)M_{\check{\phi}}(\lambda(g)) \right).$$

^{43.} This is clear since the regular representation $\lambda \colon L^1(G) \to B(L^2(G)), f \mapsto \lambda(f)$ is injective by [59, page 285].

We conclude that the adjoint $(M_{\phi})^* \colon L^{p^*}(VN(G)) \to L^{p^*}(VN(G))$ (preadjoint if $p = \infty$) identifies to the multiplier M_{ϕ} . Thus the map $M_{\phi} \mapsto M_{\phi}$ provides an isometry $\mathfrak{M}^p(G) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p^*}(G)$.

On the other hand, note that the map $\kappa \colon VN(G) \to VN(G)$, $\lambda_s \mapsto \lambda_{s^{-1}}$ is a *-antiautomorphism of the algebra VN(G), hence weak* continuous. For any $g \in C_c(G)$, using [34, VI.3 Proposition 1] in the second equality, we see that

$$\begin{split} \kappa(\lambda(g)) &= \kappa \left(\int_G g(s) \lambda_s \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) \right) = \int_G g(s) \kappa(\lambda_s) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) \\ &= \int_G g(s) \lambda_{s^{-1}} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) = \int_G g(s^{-1}) \lambda_s \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) = \lambda(\check{g}), \end{split}$$

where we use that $\int_G f(s)\lambda_s d\mu_G(s)$ is a well-defined weak* integral (by [11, Lemma 2.2] and [34, Corollary 2, III.38]). For any $f, g \in C_c(G)$, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \tau(\kappa(\lambda(g)\lambda(f))) &= \tau(\kappa(\lambda(g*f))) = \tau(\lambda(\widehat{g*f})) = \tau\left(\lambda(\widehat{f}*\check{g})\right) \\ &= \int_G f\check{g} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G = \int_G \check{f}g \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G = \tau(\lambda(g*f)) = \tau(\lambda(g)\lambda(f)). \end{split}$$

We conclude with [166, Theorem 6.2] that κ preserves the trace. Hence, it induces an isometric map $\kappa_{p^*} : L^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G))$. Now, if M_{ϕ} belongs to $\mathfrak{M}^{p^*}(G)$ note that the map $\kappa_{p^*}^{\mathrm{op}} \circ M_{\varphi} \circ \kappa_{p^*} : L^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ identifies to the multiplier M_{ϕ} . We conclude that the map $\mathfrak{M}^{p^*}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p^*}(G), M_{\varphi} \mapsto M_{\phi}$ is an isometry. We conclude by composition that the map $\mathfrak{M}^{p}(G) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p^*}(G), M_{\phi} \mapsto M_{\phi}$ is an isometry. To show the isometry $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G) = \mathfrak{M}^{p^*,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$, we proceed in the same way using Lemma 2.5 observing that $\kappa_{p^*} : L^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G))^{\mathrm{op}} \to L^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ is completely isometric. Finally, with the isometric map $\Theta : L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)), x \mapsto x^*$, it is easy to check that the map $\Theta M_{\phi} \Theta : L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ identifies to the multiplier M_{ϕ} . Moreover, recall that $\Theta : \overline{L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))^{\mathrm{op}}} \to L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ is a complete isometry. Then it is not difficult to obtain the final assertions.

LEMMA 6.5. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. We have the following isometries

$$\mathfrak{M}^2(G) = \mathfrak{M}^{2,\mathrm{cb}}(G) = \mathrm{L}^\infty(G).$$

Proof. – Suppose that $\phi \in L^2_{loc}(G)$ induces a bounded Fourier multiplier. Using the Plancherel isometry $L^2(VN(G)) \cong L^2(G)$, for any function $f \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$, we obtain (since $\phi f \in L^1(G) \cap L^2(G)$) that $\|M_{\phi}(\lambda(f))\|_{L^2(VN(G))} = \|\lambda(\phi f)\|_{L^2(VN(G))} = \|\phi f\|_{L^2(G)}$. We deduce that

$$\|M_{\phi}\|_{L^{2}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to L^{2}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} = \sup_{f\in \mathcal{C}_{c}(G)*\mathcal{C}_{c}(G), \|f\|_{L^{2}(G)} \le 1} \|\phi f\|_{L^{2}(G)} = \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}(G)}.$$

Conversely, if $\phi \in L^{\infty}(G)$ then for any $f \in C_{c}(G) * C_{c}(G)$ we have $\phi f \in L^{1}(G) \cap L^{2}(G)$ and consequently $\lambda(\phi f) \in L^{2}(VN(G))$. Moreover, we have $\|\lambda(\phi f)\|_{L^{2}(VN(G))} =$ $\|\phi f\|_{L^2(G)} \leq \|\phi\|_{L^{\infty}(G)} \|f\|_{L^2(G)}$. So ϕ induces a bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^2(VN(G))$. This shows that $\mathfrak{M}^2(G) = L^{\infty}(G)$.

Moreover, the operator space structure of $L^2(VN(G))$ turns it into an operator Hilbert space [146, page 139], so that the completely bounded mappings on $L^2(VN(G))$ coincide with the bounded ones by [146, page 127]. We conclude that $\mathfrak{M}^{2,cb}(G) = \mathfrak{M}^2(G) = \mathfrak{L}^\infty(G)$.

LEMMA 6.6. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. Suppose $1 \le p \le q \le 2$. We have the contractive inclusions $\mathfrak{M}^1(G) \subset \mathfrak{M}^p(G) \subset \mathfrak{M}^q(G) \subset \mathfrak{M}^2(G)$ and $\mathfrak{M}^{1,\mathrm{cb}}(G) \subset \mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G) \subset \mathfrak{M}^{q,\mathrm{cb}}(G) \subset \mathfrak{M}^{2,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$.

Proof. – Note that the first inclusion is a particular case of the second inclusion. If M_{ϕ} belongs to $\mathfrak{M}^{p}(G)$ then by Lemma 6.4, it also belongs to $\mathfrak{M}^{p^{*}}(G)$, consequently, by complex interpolation, M_{ϕ} belongs to $\mathfrak{M}^{2}(G)$. Using again interpolation between 2 and p, we deduce that M_{ϕ} belongs to $\mathfrak{M}^{q}(G)$. The second chain is proved in the same manner.

The first part of the following result generalizes [115, Lemma 5.1.4].

LEMMA 6.7. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let (M_{ϕ_j}) be a bounded net of bounded Fourier multipliers on $L^p(VN(G))$ and suppose that ϕ is an element of $L^{\infty}(G)$ such that (ϕ_j) converges to ϕ for the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}(G)$. Then ϕ induces a bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$. In addition if $1 , the net <math>(M_{\phi_j})$ converges to M_{ϕ} for the weak operator topology of $B(L^p(VN(G)))$ and

$$\|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \leq \liminf_{j\to\infty} \|M_{\phi_{j}}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}.$$

If $p = \infty$, for any functions $f \in C_c(G)$ and $g \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$, we have

$$\left\langle M_{\phi_j}(\lambda(f)), \lambda(g) \right\rangle_{\mathrm{VN}(G), \mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \xrightarrow{}_{j} \left\langle M_{\phi}(\lambda(f)), \lambda(g) \right\rangle_{\mathrm{VN}(G), \mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G))}.$$

A similar statement is true by replacing "bounded" by "completely bounded" and the norms by $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))}$.

Proof. – For any functions $f, g \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$ (to adapt if if p = 1), we have $f\check{g} \in L^1(G)$. For any j, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{G} \phi_{j} f \check{g} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G} \right| &= \left| \left\langle \lambda(\phi_{j} f), \lambda(g) \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)), \mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \right| \\ &= \left| \left\langle M_{\phi_{j}}(\lambda(f)), \lambda(g) \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)), \mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \right| \\ &\leq \left\| M_{\phi_{j}} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \left\| \lambda(f) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \left\| \lambda(g) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}. \end{split}$$

Passing to the limit, we obtain

$$\left| \int_{G} \phi f \check{g} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G} \right| \leq \liminf_{j \to \infty} \left\| M_{\phi_{j}} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \left\| \lambda(f) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \left\| \lambda(g) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}$$

By density if $p < \infty$, we conclude that ϕ induces a bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$ with the estimate on the norm (use duality if $p = \infty$).

Using again Plancherel Formula (6.1.3) and the weak* convergence of the net (ϕ_j) , we deduce that for any functions $f, g \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$

$$\left\langle (M_{\phi} - M_{\phi_j})(\lambda(f)), \lambda(g) \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)), \mathrm{L}^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} = \tau \left((M_{\phi} - M_{\phi_j})(\lambda(f))\lambda(g) \right)$$

= $\tau \left(\lambda((\phi - \phi_j)f)\lambda(g) \right) = \int_G (\phi - \phi_j)f\check{g} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G = \left\langle \phi - \phi_j, f\check{g} \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^\infty(G), \mathrm{L}^1(G)} \xrightarrow{} 0.$

By density, using a $\frac{\varepsilon}{4}$ -argument and the boundedness of the net, we conclude ⁽⁴⁴⁾ the proof. The case $p = \infty$ is similar.

Now, we prove the last sentence, it suffices to show that ϕ induces a completely bounded Fourier multiplier. For any $f_{kl}, g_{kl} \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$ $(f_{kl} \in C_c(G) \text{ if } p = \infty)$ where $1 \leq k, l \leq N$, we have $f_{kl}\check{g}_{kl} \in L^1(G)$ and for any j

$$\begin{split} \left| \left\langle \left[M_{\phi_j}(\lambda(f_{kl})) \right], \left[\lambda(g_{kl}) \right] \right\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_N(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{V}\mathcal{N}(G))), S_N^1(\mathcal{L}^{p*}(\mathcal{V}\mathcal{N}(G)))} \right| \\ \leq \left\| M_{\phi_j} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, \mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{V}\mathcal{N}(G)) \to \mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{V}\mathcal{N}(G))} \left\| \left[\lambda(f_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_N(\mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{V}\mathcal{N}(G)))} \left\| \left[\lambda(g_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{S_N^1(\mathcal{L}^{p*}(\mathcal{V}\mathcal{N}(G)))}, \end{split}$$

that is, using Plancherel Formula (6.1.3),

$$\begin{aligned} &\left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \int_{G} \phi_{j}(s) f_{kl}(s) \check{g}_{kl}(s) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s) \right| \\ &\leq \left\| M_{\phi_{j}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \left\| \left[\lambda(f_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{\mathrm{M}_{N}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)))} \left\| \left[\lambda(g_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{S_{N}^{1}(\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G)))}. \end{aligned}$$

Passing to the limit, we obtain

$$\left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \int_{G} \phi(s) f_{kl}(s) \check{g}_{kl}(s) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s) \right|$$

$$\leq \liminf_{j \to \infty} \left\| M_{\phi_{j}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \left\| \left[\lambda(f_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{\mathrm{M}_{N}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)))} \left\| \left[\lambda(g_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{S_{N}^{1}(\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G)))}.$$

We deduce that ϕ induces a completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$ with the suitable estimate on the completely bounded norm.

LEMMA 6.8. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group and 1 . Then $the space <math>\mathfrak{M}^{p,cb}(G)$ is weak* closed in $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$. Similarly, the space $\mathfrak{M}^p(G)$ is weak* closed in the space $\operatorname{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$. Finally, the spaces $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty}(G)$ and $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty,cb}(G)$ are weak* closed in the spaces $\operatorname{B}(\operatorname{C}^*_{\lambda}(G),\operatorname{VN}(G))$ and $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{C}^*_{\lambda}(G),\operatorname{VN}(G))$.

^{44.} More precisely, if X is a Banach space, if E_1 is dense subset of X, if E_2 is a dense subset of X^* and if (T_j) is a bounded net of B(X) with an element T of B(X) such that $\langle T_j(x), x^* \rangle \xrightarrow{j} \langle T(x), x^* \rangle$ for any $x \in E_1$ and any $x^* \in E_2$, then the net (T_j) converges to T for the weak operator topology of B(X).

Proof. – By the Banach-Dieudonné theorem [100, page 154], it suffices to show that the closed unit ball of $\mathfrak{M}^{p,cb}(G)$ is weak* closed in $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$. Let (M_{ϕ_j}) be a net in that unit ball converging for the weak* topology to some completely bounded map $T: \operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \to \operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))$. By Lemma 6.5 and Lemma 6.6, for any j, we have

$$\left\|\phi_{j}\right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G)} \leq \left\|M_{\phi_{j}}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathcal{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathcal{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \leq 1.$$

Hence by Banach-Alaoglu's theorem there exists a subnet of (ϕ_j) converging for the weak* topology to some $\phi \in L^{\infty}(G)$. It remains to show that $T = M_{\phi}$. Recall that the predual of the space $\operatorname{CB}(L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ is given by $L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \widehat{\otimes} L^{p^*}(\operatorname{VN}(G))^{\operatorname{op}}$, where $\widehat{\otimes}$ denotes the operator space projective tensor product and the duality bracket is given by

$$\langle T, x \otimes y \rangle_{\mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))), \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \widehat{\otimes} \mathrm{L}^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} = \langle T(x), y \rangle_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)), \mathrm{L}^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}.$$

This implies that $\langle M_{\phi_j}(x), y \rangle \xrightarrow{j} \langle T(x), y \rangle$ for any $x \in L^p(VN(G))$ and any $y \in L^{p^*}(VN(G))$. By Lemma 6.7, the net (M_{ϕ_j}) converges in addition to M_{ϕ} for the weak operator topology. So by uniqueness of the limit, we obtain that $T = M_{\phi}$.

For the last sentence, we use a similar proof where here $T: C^*_{\lambda}(G) \to VN(G)$. On the one hand, we have $\langle M_{\phi_j}(x), y \rangle \xrightarrow{j} \langle T(x), y \rangle$ for any $x \in C^*_{\lambda}(G)$ and any $y \in L^1(VN(G))$. On the other hand by Lemma 6.7, for any $f \in C_c(G)$ and any $g \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$, we have $\langle M_{\phi_j}(\lambda(f)), \lambda(g) \rangle \to \langle M_{\phi}(\lambda(f)), \lambda(g) \rangle$. By uniqueness of the limit, we deduce that $\langle T(\lambda(f)), \lambda(g) \rangle_{VN(G), L^1(VN(G))} = \langle M_{\phi}(\lambda(f)), \lambda(g) \rangle_{VN(G), L^1(VN(G))}$. Consequently, we obtain $M_{\phi}(\lambda(f)) = T(\lambda(f))$ for any function $f \in C_c(G)$. Finally $T = M_{\phi}$.

The statement on the space $\mathfrak{M}^p(G)$ can be proved in a similar manner, using the predual $L^p(VN(G)) \otimes L^{p^*}(VN(G))$ of $B(L^p(VN(G)))$ where \otimes denotes the Banach space projective tensor product. The last sentence is similar.

REMARK 6.9. – We do not know if $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$ and $\mathfrak{M}^p(G)$ are maximal commutative subsets of $\mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)))$ and $\mathrm{B}(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)))$ which is a stronger assertion.

If G is an *abelian* locally compact group and if $M_{\varphi} \colon L^{p}(G) \to L^{p}(G)$ is a positive multiplier in $\mathfrak{M}^{p}(\hat{G})$, note that φ is equal almost everywhere to a function of the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra $B(\hat{G})$, thus to a continuous function. The next lemma extends this result to the noncommutative context.

LEMMA 6.10. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Let $\varphi \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ be a complex function which induces a positive Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$. Then φ is equal almost everywhere to a continuous function.

Proof. – We can suppose $1 . Let <math>g \in C_c(G)$. Then the operator $\lambda(g^* * g) = \lambda(g)^*\lambda(g) \colon L^2(G) \to L^2(G)$ is positive. Moreover, by (6.1.4), it belongs to $\mathfrak{m}_{\tau_G} \subset L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))$. We conclude that $\lambda(g^* * g)$ belongs to $L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))_+$.

We deduce that $M_{\varphi}(\lambda(g^* * g))$ is a positive element of $L^p(VN(G))$. Since $\varphi(g^* * g)$ belongs to $L^1(G) \cap L^2(G)$, the operator $M_{\varphi}(\lambda(g^* * g)) = \lambda(\varphi(g^* * g))$ is bounded on $L^2(G)$. Now, for any $\xi \in L^2(G)$, by positivity,

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \left\langle M_{\varphi} \left(\lambda(g^* * g) \right) \xi, \xi \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(G)} = \left\langle \left(\int_G \varphi(s)(g^* * g)(s) \lambda_s \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) \right) \xi, \xi \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(G)} \\ &= \int_G \left\langle \left(\varphi(s)(g^* * g)(s) \lambda_s \right) \xi, \xi \right\rangle_{L^2(G)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) \\ &= \int_G \left(\int_G \overline{g(t^{-1})} g(t^{-1}s) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(t) \right) \varphi(s) \left\langle \lambda_s \xi, \xi \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(G)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) \\ &= \int_G \left(\int_G \overline{g(t)} g(ts) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(t) \right) \varphi(s) \left\langle \lambda_s \xi, \xi \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(G)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) \\ &= \int_G \int_G \overline{g(t)} g(s) \varphi(t^{-1}s) \left\langle \lambda_{t^{-1}s} \xi, \xi \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^2(G)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(t). \end{split}$$

Hence the function $s \mapsto \varphi(s) \langle \lambda_s \xi, \xi \rangle_{L^2(G)}$ of $L^{\infty}(G)$ is positive definite [172, VII.3, Definition 3.20], [59, page 296]. By [172, VII.3, Corollary 3.22], we deduce that it coincides almost everywhere with a continuous function on G. To conclude the lemma, it suffices now to show that there exists a neighborhood K_1 of $e \in G$ such that for any $s_0 \in G$, there exists $\xi \in L^2(G)$ such that $\langle \lambda_s \xi, \xi \rangle_{L^2(G)}$ does not vanish for $s \in K_1 s_0$. To this end, let K_0 be a compact neighborhood of e and set $K = K_1^{-1} \cdot K_0$, which is also compact. Let $\xi_0 \in L^2(G)$ such that $\xi_0 \ge 0$ almost everywhere and $\xi_0 > 0$ on K. Put $\xi = \xi_0 + \lambda_{s_0}^{-1} \xi_0$. Then

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \lambda_{s}\xi,\xi\right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(G)} &= \left\langle \lambda_{s}\left(\xi_{0}+\lambda_{s_{0}^{-1}}\xi_{0}\right),\xi_{0}+\lambda_{s_{0}^{-1}}\xi_{0}\right\rangle_{L^{2}(G)} \geq \left\langle \lambda_{ss_{0}^{-1}}\xi_{0},\xi_{0}\right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(G)} \\ &= \int_{G}\xi_{0}\left(s_{0}s^{-1}t\right)\xi_{0}(t)\,\mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(t) \geq \int_{K_{0}}\xi_{0}\left(s_{0}s^{-1}t\right)\xi_{0}(t)\,\mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(t). \end{split}$$

For $t \in K_0$ and $s \in K_1 s_0$, we have $s_0 s^{-1} t \in K_1^{-1} K_0 = K$, so that $\xi_0(s_0 s^{-1} t) > 0$. Also, $\xi_0(t) > 0$ for such t. Thus, the last integral is strictly positive for $s \in K_1 s_0$, and the lemma is shown.

PROPOSITION 6.11. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. The following are equivalent for a complex measurable function $\varphi: G \to \mathbb{C}^{(45)}$.

- 1. φ induces a completely positive Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$.
- 2. φ induces a completely positive Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon VN(G) \to VN(G)$.
- 3. φ is equal almost everywhere to a continuous positive definite function.

^{45.} This proposition admits a generalization for n-positive maps.

Proof. $-3. \Rightarrow 2.$: This is [51, Proposition 4.3].

2. \Rightarrow 1.: Suppose first that M_{φ} : VN(G) \rightarrow VN(G) is completely positive. Since M_{φ} is bounded on VN(G), by Lemma 6.6, φ induces a Fourier multiplier on $L^{p}(VN(G))$ which is ⁽⁴⁶⁾ completely positive.

1. \Rightarrow 3.: According to Lemma 6.10, the function φ is continuous almost everywhere, so we can assume that φ is continuous without changing the operator M_{φ} . For $i = 1, \ldots, n$ let $f_i \in C_c(G)$. Note that by [124, Proposition 2.1] the matrix $[\lambda(f_i^* * f_j)] = [\lambda(f_i)^*\lambda(f_j)]$ is a positive element of $M_n(VN(G))$ and an element of $M_n(L^p(VN(G)))$ by (6.1.4), hence a positive element of $M_n(L^p(VN(G)))$. Consequently, $[Id_{M_n} \otimes M_{\varphi}][\lambda(f_i^* * f_j)] = [\lambda(\varphi(f_i^* * f_j))]$ is an element of

 $M_n(L^p(VN(G))_+ \cap M_n(VN(G))).$

In particular, for any $g_1, \ldots, g_n \in C_c(G)$ we have

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^{n} \left\langle \lambda \left(\varphi(f_{i}^{*} * f_{j}) \right) \overline{g_{j}}, \overline{g_{i}} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(G)} \geq 0$$

that is

$$\sum_{i,j=1}^n \int_G \varphi(s)(f_i^* * f_j)(s)(g_i * \tilde{g}_j)(s) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) \ge 0.$$

By [51, Proposition 4.3 and Proposition 4.2], we conclude that the function φ is continuous and positive definite.

PROPOSITION 6.12. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. Let (M_{ϕ_n}) be a bounded sequence of bounded Fourier multipliers on $L^p(VN(G))$ such that (ϕ_n) converges almost everywhere to some function $\phi \in L^{\infty}(G)$. Then ϕ induces a bounded Fourier multiplier M_{ϕ} on $L^p(VN(G))$ and

$$\left\|M_{\phi}\right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(\mathcal{VN}(G))\to\mathcal{L}^{p}(\mathcal{VN}(G))} \leq \liminf_{n\to+\infty} \left\|M_{\phi_{n}}\right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(\mathcal{VN}(G))\to\mathcal{L}^{p}(\mathcal{VN}(G))}$$

A similar result is true for completely bounded multipliers.

Proof. – By Lemma 6.5, the sequence (ϕ_n) of functions is uniformly bounded in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}(G)}$. Note that if $f \in L^1(G)$, the sequence $(\int_G \phi_n f \, d\mu_G)$ converges to $\int_G \phi f \, d\mu_G$ by the dominated convergence theorem. Hence (ϕ_n) converges to ϕ for the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}(G)$. The conclusion is a consequence of Lemma 6.7. \Box

^{46.} We use here the fact, left to the reader, that if $T: M \to N$ is a completely positive map which induces a bounded map $T_p: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ then T_p is also completely positive.

6.2. The completely bounded homomorphism theorem for Fourier multipliers

Suppose $1 \leq p < \infty$. Let us remind the definition of a Schur multiplier on $S_{\Omega}^{p} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} L^{p}(\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}^{2}(\Omega)))$ where (Ω, μ) is a $(\sigma$ -finite) measure space [123, Section 1.2]. If $f \in L^{2}(\Omega \times \Omega)$, we denote by $K_{f} \colon L^{2}(\Omega) \to L^{2}(\Omega), u \mapsto \int_{\Omega} f(z, \cdot)u(z) \, dz$ the integral operator with kernel f. We say that a measurable function $\phi \colon \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a bounded Schur multiplier on S_{Ω}^{p} if for any $f \in L^{2}(\Omega \times \Omega)$ satisfying $K_{f} \in S_{\Omega}^{p}$ we have $K_{\phi f} \in S_{\Omega}^{p}$ and if the map $S_{\Omega}^{2} \cap S_{\Omega}^{p} \to S_{\Omega}^{p}, K_{f} \mapsto K_{\phi f}$ extends to a bounded map M_{ϕ} from S_{Ω}^{p} into S_{Ω}^{p} called the Schur multiplier associated with ϕ . We denote by $\mathfrak{M}_{\Omega}^{p,cb}$ the space of completely bounded Schur multipliers on S_{Ω}^{p} . We refer to the surveys [174] and [173] for the case $p = \infty$.

Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. The right regular representation $\rho: G \to B(L^2(G))$ is given by $(\rho_t \xi)(s) = \xi(st)$. Recall that ρ is a strongly continuous unitary representation. We will use the notation $\operatorname{Ad}_{\rho_s}^p: S_G^p \to S_G^p$, $x \mapsto \rho_s x \rho_{s^{-1}}$. A bounded Schur multiplier $M_{\phi}: S_G^p \to S_G^p$ is a Herz-Schur multiplier if $M_{\phi} \operatorname{Ad}_{\rho_s}^p = \operatorname{Ad}_{\rho_s}^p M_{\phi}$ for any $s \in G$. In this case, there exists a measurable function $\varphi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $\phi(r, s) = \varphi(rs^{-1})$ for almost every $r, s \in G$ and we let $M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}} = M_{\phi}$. We denote by $\mathfrak{M}_G^{p, \mathrm{cb}, \mathrm{HS}}$ the subspace of $\mathfrak{M}_G^{p, \mathrm{cb}}$ of completely bounded Herz-Schur multipliers.

In the sequel G_{disc} stands for the group G equipped with the discrete topology.

PROPOSITION 6.13. – Let G and H be second countable locally compact groups and $\sigma: G \to H$ be a continuous homomorphism. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. If $\varphi: H \to \mathbb{C}$ is a continuous function which induces a completely bounded Herz-Schur multiplier $M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}}: S_{H}^{p} \to S_{H}^{p}$, then the continuous function $\varphi \circ \sigma: G \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a completely bounded Herz-Schur multiplier $M_{\varphi \circ \sigma}^{\mathrm{HS}}: S_{G}^{p} \to S_{G}^{p}$ and

$$\left\|M^{\mathrm{HS}}_{\varphi\circ\sigma}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S^p_G\to S^p_G} \leq \left\|M^{\mathrm{HS}}_{\varphi}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S^p_H\to S^p_H}$$

Moreover, if $\sigma(G)$ is dense in H, we have an isometry $^{(47)}M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}} \mapsto M_{\varphi\circ\sigma}^{\mathrm{HS}}$.

Proof. – Let $G \xrightarrow{\pi} G/\operatorname{Ker}(\sigma) \xrightarrow{\tilde{\sigma}} \operatorname{Ran} \sigma \xrightarrow{i} H$ be the canonical decomposition of the homomorphism σ . By [39, Lemma 9.2], we have

$$\left\|M^{\mathrm{HS}}_{\varphi \circ i \circ \tilde{\sigma} \circ \pi}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S^p_G \to S^p_G} = \left\|M^{\mathrm{HS}}_{\varphi \circ i \circ \tilde{\sigma}}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S^p_{G/\operatorname{Ker} \sigma} \to S^p_{G/\operatorname{Ker} \sigma}}$$

We have a natural isomorphism $J_{\tilde{\sigma}} \colon S^p_{(G/\operatorname{Ker} \sigma)_{\operatorname{disc}}} \to S^p_{(\operatorname{Ran} \sigma)_{\operatorname{disc}}}, e_{s_1,s_2} \mapsto e_{\tilde{\sigma}(s_1),\tilde{\sigma}(s_2)}$ where the e_{s_1,s_2} 's are the matrix units.

Therefore, the group isomorphism $\tilde{\sigma}: G/\operatorname{Ker} \sigma \to \operatorname{Ran} \sigma$ yields an isometric isomorphism from the space of completely bounded Herz-Schur multipliers over $S^p_{(\operatorname{Ran} \sigma)_{\operatorname{disc}}}$

^{47.} The proof shows that if $M_{\varphi \circ \sigma}$ is completely bounded then M_{φ} is completely bounded.

to the space of completely bounded Herz-Schur multipliers over $S^p_{(G/\operatorname{Ker}\sigma)_{\operatorname{disc}}}$ by sending each $M^{\operatorname{HS}}_{\psi}$ to $M^{\operatorname{HS}}_{\psi\circ\tilde{\sigma}} = J_{\tilde{\sigma}^{-1}}M^{\operatorname{HS}}_{\psi}J_{\tilde{\sigma}}$. Thus, we obtain using [**39**, Lemma 9.2] three times

$$\begin{split} \left\| M_{\varphi \circ i \circ \tilde{\sigma}}^{\mathrm{HS}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{G/\operatorname{Ker}\sigma}^{p} \to S_{G/\operatorname{Ker}\sigma}^{p}} &= \left\| M_{\varphi \circ i \circ \tilde{\sigma}}^{\mathrm{HS}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{(G/\operatorname{Ker}\sigma)_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p} \to S_{(G/\operatorname{Ker}\sigma)_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p}} \\ &= \left\| M_{\varphi \circ i}^{\mathrm{HS}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{(\operatorname{Ran}\sigma)_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p} \to S_{(\operatorname{Ran}\sigma)_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p}} \\ &\leq \left\| M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{H_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p} \to S_{H_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p}} = \left\| M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{H}^{p} \to S_{H}^{p}} \end{split}$$

This shows the first part of the proposition.

It remains to show the isometric statement in the case where $\operatorname{Ran} \sigma$ is dense in H. In the light of the foregoing, we only need to show that

(6.2.1)
$$\|M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}}\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{H}^{p}\to S_{H}^{p}} \leq \|M_{\varphi\circ i}^{\mathrm{HS}}\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{(\mathrm{Ran}\,\sigma)_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p}\to S_{(\mathrm{Ran}\,\sigma)_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p}}$$

According to [123, Theorem 1.19], we have

$$\left\|M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{H}^{p}\to S_{H}^{p}} = \sup_{F\subset H \text{ finite}}\left\|M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}}|_{F}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{F}^{p}\to S_{F}^{p}}$$

Here, the restriction to F means that one considers the mapping

$$\sum_{s_1, s_2 \in F} a_{s_1, s_2} e_{s_1, s_2} \mapsto \sum_{s_1, s_2 \in F} \varphi(s_1^{-1} s_2) a_{s_1, s_2} e_{s_1, s_2}.$$

We fix some finite subset $F = \{s_1, \ldots, s_N\} \subset H$ and some $\varepsilon > 0$. Then for any $1 \leq k, l \leq N$, by continuity of φ , there exist a neighborhood $V_{k,l}$ of $s_k^{-1}s_l$ such that $|\varphi(t) - \varphi(s_k^{-1}s_l)| < \varepsilon$ if $t \in V_{k,l}$. Since the mapping $G \times G \to G$, $(s,t) \mapsto s^{-1}t$ is continuous, there exist neighborhoods $W_{k,l}$ of s_k and $W'_{k,l}$ of s_l such that $(W_{k,l})^{-1}W'_{k,l} \subset V_{k,l}$. For any $1 \leq k \leq N$, let now $U_k = \bigcap_{l=1}^N W_{k,l} \cap \bigcap_{l=1}^N W'_{l,k}$ which is a neighborhood U_k of s_k . Since $\operatorname{Ran} \sigma$ is dense in H, there exists $t_k \in \operatorname{Ran} \sigma \cap U_k$ and we obtain a subset $\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon} = \{t_1, \ldots, t_N\}$ of $\operatorname{Ran} \sigma$ with the same cardinality as F. Moreover, $t_k^{-1}t_l$ belongs to $U_k^{-1}U_l \subset V_{k,l}$ and consequently, $|\varphi(t_k^{-1}t_l) - \varphi(s_k^{-1}s_l)| < \varepsilon$ for any $k, l \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$.

Denote $M_A, M_B: S_N^p \to S_N^p$ the Schur multipliers with symbols $A = [\varphi(t_k^{-1}t_l)]$ and $B = [\varphi(s_k^{-1}s_l)]$. Then, we obtain using the identifications $S_{\bar{F}_{\varepsilon}}^p = S_N^p$ and $S_F^p = S_N^p$ in the first equality

$$\begin{split} \left\| \|M_{\varphi^{oi}}^{\mathrm{HS}}|_{\bar{F}_{\varepsilon}} \|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{\bar{F}_{\varepsilon}}^{p} \to S_{\bar{F}_{\varepsilon}}^{p}} - \|M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}}|_{F} \|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{F}^{p} \to S_{F}^{p}} \right\| &= \left\| \|M_{A}\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{N}^{p} \to S_{N}^{p}} - \|M_{B}\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{N}^{p} \to S_{N}^{p}} \right\| \\ &\leq \|M_{A} - M_{B}\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{N}^{p} \to S_{N}^{p}} = \left\| \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \left(\varphi(t_{k}^{-1}t_{l}) - \varphi(s_{k}^{-1}s_{l}) \right) M_{e_{kl}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{N}^{p} \to S_{N}^{p}} \\ &= \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \left| \varphi(t_{k}^{-1}t_{l}) - \varphi(s_{k}^{-1}s_{l}) \right| \|M_{e_{kl}}\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{N}^{p} \to S_{N}^{p}} < N^{2}\varepsilon. \end{split}$$

We have shown

$$\left\|M^{\mathrm{HS}}_{\varphi \circ i}\right|_{\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S^p_{\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}} \to S^p_{\tilde{F}_{\varepsilon}}} \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} \left\|M^{\mathrm{HS}}_{\varphi}\right|_F \left\|_{\mathrm{cb},S^p_F \to S^p_F}.$$

But again according to [123, Theorem 1.19], the left hand side is dominated by

$$\left\|M_{\varphi \circ i}^{\mathrm{HS}}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{(\mathrm{Ran}\,\sigma)_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p}} \to S_{(\mathrm{Ran}\,\sigma)_{\mathrm{disc}}}^{p}$$

Hence we obtain (6.2.1).

Now, we state a completely bounded version of the classical homomorphism theorem [65, page 184].

THEOREM 6.14. – Let G and H be locally compact groups and $\sigma: G \to H$ be a continuous homomorphism. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. We suppose that G and H are second countable and amenable if $1 . If <math>\varphi: H \to \mathbb{C}$ is a continuous function which induces a completely bounded Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi}: L^p(\mathrm{VN}(H)) \to L^p(\mathrm{VN}(H))$, then the continuous function $\varphi \circ \sigma: G \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a completely bounded Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi}: L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ and

$$\|M_{\varphi \circ \sigma}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \leq \|M_{\varphi}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(H)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(H))}$$

Moreover, if $\sigma(G)$ is dense in H, we have an isometry ⁽⁴⁸⁾ $M_{\varphi} \mapsto M_{\varphi \circ \sigma}$. Finally, if M_{φ} is completely positive then $M_{\varphi \circ \sigma}$ is also completely positive.

Proof. – The case $p = \infty$ is [163, Theorem 6.2]. By duality, we obtain the case p = 1. Now, we suppose that $1 . Note that by Lemma 6.5 and Lemma 6.6, the function <math>\varphi$ is bounded. Then by amenability of G and H, using [40, Theorem 4.2 and Corollary 5.3] ⁽⁴⁹⁾ with [39, Remark 9.3] and Proposition 6.13, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|M_{\varphi \circ \sigma}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} &= \left\|M_{\varphi \circ \sigma}^{\mathrm{HS}}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{G}^{p} \to S_{G}^{p}} \leq \left\|M_{\varphi}^{\mathrm{HS}}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{H}^{p} \to S_{H}^{p}} \\ &= \|M_{\varphi}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(H)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(H))} \,. \end{split}$$

The isometric statement is proved in the same way.

Finally, suppose that M_{φ} is completely positive. By Proposition 6.11, we deduce that its symbol φ is a continuous positive definite function. Since σ is continuous, the function $\varphi \circ \sigma$ is also continuous. Moreover, if $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{C}$ and $s_1, \ldots, s_n \in G$, we infer that

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \alpha_k \overline{\alpha_l} \varphi \circ \sigma(s_k s_l^{-1}) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \alpha_k \overline{\alpha_l} \varphi(\sigma(s_k) \sigma(s_l)^{-1}) \ge 0.$$

We conclude that $\varphi \circ \sigma$ is positive definite. We conclude by using again Proposition 6.11.

^{48.} The proof shows that if $M_{\varphi \circ \sigma}$ is completely bounded then M_{φ} is completely bounded.

^{49.} We warn the reader that the proof of [40, Theorem 5.2] is only valid for second countable groups. The proof uses Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem in the last line of page 7007 and this result does not admit a generalization for nets. See [113] for more information.

6.3. Extension of Fourier multipliers

The following is an extension of [86, Lemma 2.1 (2)] and a variant of [39, Theorem B.1]. In [39, Theorem B.1], we warn the reader that a factor $\mu_G(X)^{-1}$ is missing. Contrary to what is said, the alluded method does not give constant 1.

THEOREM 6.15. – Let Γ be a lattice of a second countable unimodular locally compact group G and X be a fundamental domain associated with Γ . We denote by $\gamma: G \to \Gamma$ and $x: G \to X$ the measurable mappings uniquely determined by the decomposition $s = \omega(s)\gamma(s)$ for any $s \in G$. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. We assume that G is amenable if $1 . Let <math>\phi: \Gamma \to \mathbb{C}$ be a complex function which induces a completely bounded Fourier multiplier $M_{\phi}: L^{p}(VN(\Gamma)) \to L^{p}(VN(\Gamma))$. Then the complex function $\widetilde{\phi} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{\mu_{G}(X)} \mathbb{1}_{X} * (\phi \mu_{\Gamma}) * \mathbb{1}_{X^{-1}}: G \to \mathbb{C}$, where μ_{Γ} is the counting measure on Γ defined by

(6.3.1)
$$\widetilde{\phi}(s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \int_{\mathbf{X}} \phi(\gamma(s\omega)) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(\omega), \quad s \in G$$

is continuous and induces a completely bounded Fourier multiplier

$$M_{\widetilde{\phi}} \colon \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))$$

and we have

(6.3.2)
$$\left\|M_{\widetilde{\phi}}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \leq \left\|M_{\phi}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma))}$$

Finally, if M_{ϕ} is completely positive then $M_{\widetilde{\phi}}$ is also completely positive.

Proof. – The case $p = \infty$ is [86, Lemma 2.1 (2)] and the case p = 1 follows by duality. The continuity of $\tilde{\phi}$ is alluded ⁽⁵⁰⁾ in [86] and in the proof of [86, Lemma 2.1], the Formula (6.3.1) is shown.

Now, we consider the remaining case $1 . Since G and <math>\Gamma$ are both amenable, we obtain using [40, Theorem 4.2, Corollary 5.3] ⁽⁵¹⁾ in the first and in the last equality

50. We have

$$\widetilde{\phi}(s) = \frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \int_{\mathbf{X}} \phi(\gamma(s\omega)) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(\omega) = \frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \int_G \phi(\gamma(t)) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}}(s^{-1}t) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(t).$$

Then for any $s_1, s_2 \in G$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \widetilde{\phi}(s_1) - \widetilde{\phi}(s_2) \right| &\leq \frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \int_G |\phi(\gamma(t))| \, |\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}}(s_1^{-1}t) - \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}}(s_2^{-1}t)| \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(t) \\ &\leq \frac{\|\phi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(G)}}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \int_G |\mathbf{1}_{s_1\mathbf{X}}(t) - \mathbf{1}_{s_2\mathbf{X}}(t)| \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(t) \\ &= \|\phi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(G)} \; \frac{\mu_G\left(s_1\mathbf{X}\Delta s_2\mathbf{X}\right)}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} = \|\phi\|_{\mathbf{L}^{\infty}(G)} \; \frac{\mu_G\left((s_2^{-1}s_1\mathbf{X})\Delta\mathbf{X}\right)}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \xrightarrow{s_2 \to s_1} 0, \end{split}$$

where the last line follows from [91, Theorem A page 266].

51. We warn the reader that the proof of [40, Theorem 5.2] is only valid for second countable groups. The proof uses Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem in the last line of page 7007 and this result does not admit a generalization for nets. See [113] for more information.

together with [39, Remark 9.3], and [123, Lemma 2.6] in the inequality

$$\begin{split} \left\| M_{\widetilde{\phi}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))} &= \left\| M_{\widetilde{\phi}}^{\mathrm{HS}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S^p_G \to S^p_G} \le \left\| M_{\phi}^{\mathrm{HS}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S^p_\Gamma \to S^p_\Gamma} \\ &= \left\| M_{\phi} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma))}. \end{split}$$

Suppose that M_{ϕ} is completely positive. According to the proof of [86, Lemma 2.1], for any $s, t \in G$, we have

(6.3.3)
$$\widetilde{\phi}(st^{-1}) = \frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \int_{\mathbf{X}} \phi(\gamma(s\omega')\gamma(t\omega')^{-1}) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(\omega').$$

We will show that ϕ is positive definite. Let $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n \in \mathbb{C}$ and $s_1, \ldots, s_n \in G$. Since ϕ is positive definite by Proposition 6.11, we obtain

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \alpha_k \overline{\alpha_l} \widetilde{\phi}(s_k s_l^{-1}) = \frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \alpha_k \overline{\alpha_l} \int_{\mathbf{X}} \phi(\gamma(s_k \omega') \gamma(s_l \omega')^{-1}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(\omega')$$
$$= \frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X})} \int_{\mathbf{X}} \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \alpha_k \overline{\alpha_l} \phi(\gamma(s_k \omega') \gamma(s_l \omega')^{-1}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(\omega') \ge 0$$

Since the function ϕ is continuous, we conclude that M_{ϕ} is completely positive by using again Proposition 6.11.

6.4. Groups approximable by lattice subgroups

If $(Y, \operatorname{dist}_Y)$ and $(Z, \operatorname{dist}_Z)$ are metric spaces and if $f: Y \to Z$ is uniformly continuous, we denote by $\omega(f, \cdot): [0, +\infty[\to [0, +\infty[$ a modulus of continuity of f. We have $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \omega(f, \delta) = 0$ and $\omega(f, 0) = 0$. The function $\omega(f, \cdot)$ is increasing and for any $s, t \in Y$ we have

(6.4.1)
$$\operatorname{dist}_{Z}(f(s), f(t)) \leq \omega(f, \operatorname{dist}_{Y}(s, t)).$$

Let G be a topological group. We denote by $\nu: G \to G, s \mapsto s^{-1}$ the inversion map.

The following theorem gives a variant of Theorem 4.2 for a particular class of unimodular groups.

THEOREM 6.16. – Let G be a second countable unimodular locally compact group which satisfies ALSS with respect to a sequence of lattices $(\Gamma_j)_{j\geq 1}$ and associated fundamental domains $(X_j)_{j\geq 1}$. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. We assume that G is amenable if 1 . Suppose that for some constant <math>c > 0 and any compact subset K of G we have

(6.4.2)
$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \sup_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} \left| \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_G \frac{\mu^2(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s)}{\mu^2(\mathbf{X}_j)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) - c \right| = 0,$$

where $\mu = \mu_G$ is a Haar measure of G. Then for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, there exists a linear mapping

 $P_G^p \colon \mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$

of norm at most $\frac{1}{c}$ with the properties:

MÉMOIRES DE LA SMF 177

- 1. If $T: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ is completely positive, then $P^p_G(T)$ is completely positive.
- 2. If $T = M_{\psi}$ is a Fourier multiplier on $L^{p}(VN(G))$ with bounded continuous symbol $\psi: G \to \mathbb{C}$, then $P_{G}^{p}(M_{\psi}) = M_{\psi}$. Moreover, if we have $\gamma X_{j} = X_{j}\gamma$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and any $\gamma \in \Gamma_{j}$, or alternatively, if X_{j} is symmetric in the sense that $\mu(X_{j}\Delta X_{j}^{-1}) = 0$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$, then $P_{G}^{p}(M_{\psi}) = M_{\psi}$ for any bounded measurable symbol such that $M_{\psi} \in \mathfrak{M}^{p, cb}(G)$.

For an element T belonging to $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ and to $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^q(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ for two values $p, q \in [1, \infty]$, we have $P_G^p(T)x = P_G^q(T)x$ for $x \in \operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \cap \operatorname{L}^q(\operatorname{VN}(G))$.

In the preceding lines, if $p = \infty$, we can take $CB_{w^*}(VN(G))$ as the domain space of P_G^{∞} .

Proof. – If G is amenable, note that each Γ_j is amenable by [19, Proposition G.2.2]. So each VN(Γ_j) is hyperfinite, hence QWEP.

For any j, we consider the element $h_j \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \lambda(1_{X_j}) = \int_{X_j} \lambda_s d\mu(s)$ of the group von Neumann algebra VN(G) and define for $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ the (normal ⁽⁵²⁾ if $p = \infty$) completely positive map

$$\Phi_j^p \colon \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)), \ \lambda_\gamma \mapsto \mu(\mathrm{X}_j)^{-2+\frac{1}{p}} h_j^* \lambda_\gamma h_j.$$

It is noted and shown in [39, page 19] that each Φ_j^p is completely contractive. For any $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, we also consider the adjoint (preadjoint if p = 1) $\Psi_j^p = (\Phi_j^{p^*})^* \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(\Gamma_j))$ of $\Phi_j^{p^*}$ which is also completely contractive and completely positive by Lemma 2.9. Now, use Theorem 4.2 for the discrete group Γ_j and define for some completely bounded map $T \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$, the Fourier multiplier $M_{\phi_j} \colon L^p(VN(\Gamma_j)) \to L^p(VN(\Gamma_j))$ defined by

$$\begin{cases} M_{\phi_j} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{c} P_{\Gamma_j}^p \left(\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p \right) & \text{if } 1 \le p < \infty \text{ and} \\ M_{\phi_j} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{c} P_{\Gamma_j}^\infty \left(\Psi_j^\infty P_{\mathbf{w}^*}(T) \Phi_j^\infty \right) & \text{if } p = \infty, \end{cases}$$

where the contractive map P_{w^*} : CB(VN(G)) \rightarrow CB(VN(G)) is described in Proposition 3.1, whose symbol is (if T is normal in the case $p = \infty$)

(6.4.3)
$$\phi_j(\gamma) = \frac{1}{c} \tau_{\Gamma_j} \left(\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p(\lambda_\gamma) \lambda_{\gamma^{-1}} \right) = \frac{1}{c} \tau_G \left(T \Phi_j^p(\lambda_\gamma) \Phi_j^{p^*}(\lambda_{\gamma^{-1}}) \right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{c \, \mu(\mathbf{X}_j)^3} \tau_G \left(T(h_j^* \lambda_\gamma h_j) h_j^* \lambda_{\gamma^{-1}} h_j \right).$$

^{52.} Recall that the product of a von Neumann algebra is separately weak* continuous, e.g., see [29, Proposition 2.7.4 (1)].

Then we have for $1 \leq p < \infty$

$$\begin{split} \left\| M_{\phi_j} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j))} &= \left\| \frac{1}{c} P^p_{\Gamma_j}(\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p) \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j))} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c} \left\| \Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j))} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c} \left\| T \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \end{split}$$

and similarly for $p = \infty$. Let further

(6.4.4)
$$\widetilde{\phi_j} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_j} * (\phi_j \mu_{\Gamma_j}) * \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_j^{-1}} \colon G \to \mathbb{C},$$

where μ_{Γ_j} is the counting measure on the discrete subset Γ_j of G. According to Theorem 6.15, $M_{\widetilde{\phi_j}} : L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))$ is a completely bounded Fourier multiplier with

(6.4.5)
$$\|M_{\widetilde{\phi_j}}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \leq \|M_{\phi_j}\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j))\to\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\Gamma_j))} \\ \leq \frac{1}{c} \|T\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))}.$$

If $1 , note that <math>B(CB(L^p(VN(G))))$ is a dual Banach space and admits the predual

(6.4.6)
$$\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G))) \widehat{\otimes} \left(\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \widehat{\otimes} \operatorname{L}^{p^{*}}(\operatorname{VN}(G))^{\operatorname{op}}\right),$$

where $\hat{\otimes}$ denotes the Banach space projective tensor product and where $\hat{\otimes}$ denotes the operator space projective tensor product. The duality bracket is given by

(6.4.7)
$$\langle P, T \otimes (x \otimes y) \rangle = \langle P(T)x, y \rangle_{L^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)), L^{p^*}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}.$$

The mappings $P_j^p: T \mapsto M_{\widetilde{\phi_j}}$ are linear and uniformly bounded in $B(CB(L^p(VN(G))))$ (we use $B(CB(VN(G)), CB(C^*_{\lambda}(G), VN(G)))$ if $p = \infty$). From now on, we restrict to the case 1 and we will return to the case <math>p = 1 only at the end of the proof. The elements P_j^p belong to the space $Y_p \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{c} Ball(B(CB(L^p(VN(G)))))$ for $p \in (1, \infty]$. By Banach-Alaoglu's theorem, note that each Y_p is compact with respect to the weak* topology of the underlying Banach space. Then by Tychonoff's theorem, $\prod_{p \in (1,\infty]} Y_p$ is also compact. Thus, the net $((P_j^p)_{p \in (1,\infty)})$ admits a convergent subnet $((P_{j(k)}^p)_{p \in (1,\infty)})$, which converges to some element $((P_G^p)_{p \in (1,\infty)}, P_G^\infty)$ of $\prod_{p \in (1,\infty]} Y_p$, i.e., for any p the net $(P_{j(k)}^p)$ converges to P_G^p for the weak* topology. With (6.4.7), we see that this implies that $(P_{j(k)}^p(T))$ converges for the weak operator topology (in the point weak* topology if $p = \infty$) to $P_G^p(T)$. Observe that the weak* topology (the point weak* topology if $p = \infty$) essentially by the same argument as the one of the proof of [137, Lemma 7.2] (which uses [61, Proposition 1.21]). We conclude by Lemma 6.8 that $P_G^p(T)$ is itself a Fourier multiplier.
Note that we clearly have

$$\left\|P_{G}^{p}\right\|_{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G)))\to\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G)))} \leq \liminf_{k\to+\infty}\left\|P_{j(k)}^{p}\right\|_{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G)))\to\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G)))} \leq \frac{1}{c}.$$

We next show that P_G^p preserves the complete positivity. Suppose that T is (normal if $p = \infty$) completely positive. Since Φ_j^p and Ψ_j^p are completely positive, $\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p$ is also completely positive and thus, by Theorem 4.2, $M_{\phi_j} = \frac{1}{c} P_{\Gamma_j}^p (\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p)$ is completely positive. Using Theorem 6.15, we conclude that $M_{\widetilde{\phi_j}}$ is completely positive. Since $P_G^p(T)$ is the weak operator topology limit of $M_{\widetilde{\phi_j}}$ (point weak* topology limit if $p = \infty$), the complete positivity of $M_{\widetilde{\phi_j}}$ carries over to that of $P_G^p(T)$ by Lemma 2.10.

We claim that P_G^p has the compatibility property stated in the theorem. Note that the symbol $\widetilde{\phi}_j$ of $P_j^p(T)$ does not depend on p if T belongs to two different spaces $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ and $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^q(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$. If in addition x belongs to both $\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))$ and $\operatorname{L}^q(\operatorname{VN}(G))$ and if y belongs to both $\operatorname{L}^{p^*}(\operatorname{VN}(G))$ and $\operatorname{L}^{q^*}(\operatorname{VN}(G))$, then we have

$$\left\langle P_G^p(T)x,y\right\rangle = \lim_k \left\langle P_{j(k)}^p(T)x,y\right\rangle = \lim_k \left\langle P_{j(k)}^q(T)x,y\right\rangle = \left\langle P_G^q(T)x,y\right\rangle.$$

Then it is immediate that the P_G^p 's are compatible as stated in the theorem.

We finally will show now that $P_G^p(M_{\psi}) = M_{\psi}$ for any bounded continuous symbol $\psi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ (or ψ bounded measurable under the additional symmetry/commutativity assumption on X_j) giving rise to a completely bounded L^p -multiplier. We start by computing the symbol ϕ_j . For any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, note that $\lambda_{\gamma}h_j = \lambda_{\gamma}\lambda(1_{X_j}) = \lambda(1_{\gamma X_j})$ and similarly $\lambda_{\gamma^{-1}}h_j = \lambda(1_{\gamma^{-1}X_j})$. Consequently, we have

$$\begin{split} \phi_{j}(\gamma) &= \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \tau_{G} \left(M_{\psi}(h_{j}^{*}\lambda_{\gamma}h_{j})h_{j}^{*}\lambda_{\gamma^{-1}}h_{j} \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \tau_{G} \left(M_{\psi}\lambda \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}} * \mathbf{1}_{\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}} \right)\lambda \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}} * \mathbf{1}_{\gamma^{-1}\mathbf{X}_{j}} \right) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \tau_{G} \left(\lambda \left(\psi(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}} * \mathbf{1}_{\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}} \right) \right)\lambda \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}} * \mathbf{1}_{\gamma^{-1}\mathbf{X}_{j}} \right) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{G} \psi(s) \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}} * \mathbf{1}_{\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}} \right) (s) \left(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}} * \mathbf{1}_{\gamma^{-1}\mathbf{X}_{j}} \right) (s^{-1}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s), \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from the Plancherel Formula (6.1.3) and from the fact that the functions $\psi(1_{X_j^{-1}} * 1_{\gamma X_j})$ and $1_{X_j^{-1}} * 1_{\gamma^{-1}X_j}$ belong to the space $L^1(G) \cap L^2(G)$, and thus are left bounded. Now, using [98, Theorem 20.10 (iv)], note that for any $s \in G$

$$\left(1_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}} * 1_{\gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}}\right)(s) = \int_{G} 1_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}}(t^{-1}) 1_{\gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}}(ts) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(t) = \int_{X_{j}} 1_{\gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}}(ts) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(t) = \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})$$

and

$$\left(1_{\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}} * 1_{\gamma^{-1}\mathbf{X}_{j}}\right)(s^{-1}) = \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma^{-1}\mathbf{X}_{j}s) = \mu(\gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1} \cap \mathbf{X}_{j}).$$

Thus, for any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, we conclude that

(6.4.8)
$$\phi_j(\gamma) = \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)^3} \int_G \psi(s)\mu\big(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s^{-1}\big)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s).$$

Now, we examine the asymptotic behavior of the sequence of symbols ϕ_j . Since G is second countable, it admits a right-invariant metric dist (\cdot, \cdot) , i.e., dist(s, t) = dist(sr, tr) for $r, s, t \in G$, such that the closed balls are compact [89]. We denote by B(x, r) the open ball centered on x with radius r and B'(x, r) the closed ball. We need the following lemmas.

LEMMA 6.17. – For any neighborhood V of the identity e in G, any compact subset K of G, any j sufficiently large and any $\gamma \in K$, we have

(6.4.9)
$$X_j \cap \gamma X_j s^{-1} = \emptyset, \quad s \in G \setminus \gamma V_j$$

Proof. – Since K is compact, we have $K \subset B(e, R_K)$ for some $R_K > 0$. Let j be so large that $X_j \subset B(e, \frac{1}{3})$. If $s \in G \setminus B(e, R_K + 1)$, then we have for $\omega \in X_j$ and $\gamma \in K$

$$dist(e, \gamma \omega s^{-1}) \ge dist(e, s^{-1}) - dist(s^{-1}, \gamma \omega s^{-1}) = dist(s, e) - dist(e, \gamma \omega)$$
$$\ge dist(s, e) - dist(e, \omega) - dist(\omega, \gamma \omega) \ge dist(s, e) - dist(e, \omega) - dist(e, \gamma)$$
$$\ge R_K + 1 - \frac{1}{3} - R_K \ge \frac{2}{3}.$$

Thus, for such an s, we have $X_j \cap \gamma X_j s^{-1} = \emptyset$, since $X_j \subset B(e, \frac{1}{3})$. So from now on, we can assume $s \in B(e, R_K + 1)$, in other words, varying in a compact set.

Let $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $B(e,\varepsilon) \subset V$. By [98, Theorem 4.9], there exists $\varepsilon' > 0$ such that $\gamma B(e,\varepsilon)\gamma^{-1}$ contains the ball $B(e,\varepsilon')$ for any $\gamma \in K$. Let $\gamma \in K$ and $s \in B(e, R_K + 1) \setminus \gamma V$. Since $s \notin \gamma B(e,\varepsilon)$, we have $\gamma s^{-1} \notin \gamma B(e,\varepsilon)^{-1}\gamma^{-1}$ and finally $\operatorname{dist}(\gamma, s) = \operatorname{dist}(e, \gamma s^{-1}) \geq \varepsilon'$. Consider the compact $K' = B'(e, 1) \cdot B'(e, R_K + 1)^{-1}$ and some $0 < \varepsilon'' \leq \min\{\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon', 1\}$ such that $\omega(\nu|K', \varepsilon'') \leq \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon'$. Consider j so large that $X_j \subset B(e, \varepsilon'')$. Let $\omega \in X_j$. Then

$$\operatorname{dist}(e, \gamma \omega s^{-1}) = \operatorname{dist}(e, s \omega^{-1} \gamma^{-1}) = \operatorname{dist}(\gamma, s \omega^{-1}) \ge \operatorname{dist}(\gamma, s) - \operatorname{dist}(s, s \omega^{-1}).$$

Note that s^{-1} and ωs^{-1} vary in the compact K' for ω varying in X_j . Now, using (6.4.1), we have

$$\operatorname{dist}(s, s\omega^{-1}) \le \omega \left(\nu | K', \operatorname{dist}(s^{-1}, \omega s^{-1})\right) = \omega \left(\nu | K', \operatorname{dist}(e, \omega)\right) \le \omega \left(\nu | K', \varepsilon''\right) \le \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon'.$$

We deduce that $\operatorname{dist}(e, \gamma \omega s^{-1}) \geq \varepsilon' - \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon' = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon' \geq \varepsilon''$, so that $\gamma \omega s^{-1} \notin B(e, \varepsilon'')$ and thus $X_j \cap \gamma X_j s^{-1} = \emptyset$ since $X_j \subset B(e, \varepsilon'')$. We have shown (6.4.9).

LEMMA 6.18. – Assume in addition that ψ is a continuous symbol. Then for any compact subset K of G, we have

(6.4.10)
$$\sup_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} |\phi_j(\gamma) - \psi(\gamma)| \xrightarrow{j \to +\infty} 0.$$

Proof. – We fix a compact subset K of G and a compact neighborhood V of e. Then, for any j sufficiently large and any $\gamma \in K$, Lemma 6.17 implies the existence of the integral $\int_G \psi(\gamma) \mu (X_j \cap \gamma X_j s^{-1})^2 d\mu(s)$. By definition of c, for any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K$, using (6.4.8) in the first equality, we have

$$\begin{split} |\phi_{j}(\gamma) - \psi(\gamma)| &= \left| \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{G} \psi(s)\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) - \psi(\gamma) \right| \\ &= \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \left| \int_{G} \psi(s)\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) - c\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}\psi(\gamma) \right| \\ &= \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \left| \int_{G} \psi(s)\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) - \int_{G} \psi(\gamma)\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) + \int_{G} \psi(\gamma)\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) - c\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}\psi(\gamma) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{G} |\psi(s) - \psi(\gamma)|\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) + \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} |\psi(\gamma)| \left| \int_{G} \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) - c\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{G} |\psi(s) - \psi(\gamma)|\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) - c\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{G} |\psi(s) - \psi(\gamma)|\,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) + \frac{1}{c} |\psi(\gamma)| \left| \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})} \int_{G} \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1})^{2}}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{2}} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) - c \right|. \end{split}$$

The last summand converges to 0 as $j \to \infty$ uniformly in $\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K$ according to the assumption (6.4.2) and the boundedness of ψ . It remains to treat the first summand. Then, for and j sufficiently large and $\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K$, using Lemma 6.17 in the first equality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)^3} \int_G |\psi(s) - \psi(\gamma)| \,\mu\big(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s^{-1}\big)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) \\ &= \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)^3} \sup_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} \int_{\gamma V} |\psi(s) - \psi(\gamma)| \,\mu\big(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s^{-1}\big)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)^3} \left(\sup_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} \int_{\gamma V} \mu\big(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s^{-1}\big)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) \right) \left(\sup_{s \in \gamma V, \, \gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} |\psi(s) - \psi(\gamma)| \right) \\ &= \left(\sup_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_G \frac{\mu\big(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s^{-1}\big)^2}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)^2} \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) \right) \left(\sup_{s \in \gamma V, \, \gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} |\psi(s) - \psi(\gamma)| \right). \end{split}$$

We will show that for $V = B'(e, \varepsilon')$ the last supremum converges to 0 as $\varepsilon' \to 0$ uniformly in j. Since it is not difficult to see that the first factor is uniformly bounded for $j \ge 1$ and $\gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K$ by the assumption (6.4.2) of the theorem, (6.4.10) follows. Consider some $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$. Define the compact $K' = K \cdot B'(e, 1)$. Let $0 < \varepsilon' \leq 1$ such that $\omega(\nu | K'^{-1}, \varepsilon') \leq \varepsilon$. If $s, t \in K'$ and $\operatorname{dist}(s^{-1}, t^{-1}) \leq \varepsilon'$, we have by (6.4.1)

$$\operatorname{dist}(s,t) \le \omega \left(\nu | K'^{-1}, \operatorname{dist}(s^{-1},t^{-1}) \right) \le \omega \left(\nu | K'^{-1},\varepsilon' \right) \le \varepsilon.$$

Note that the restriction $\psi | K'$ of the continuous function ψ on K' is uniformly continuous. For any j, using (6.4.1) in the first inequality, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \sup_{s \in \gamma B'(e,\varepsilon'), \ \gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} |\psi(s) - \psi(\gamma)| &\leq \sup_{s^{-1} \in B'(\gamma^{-1},\varepsilon'), \ \gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} \omega(\psi|K', \operatorname{dist}(s,\gamma)) \\ &\leq \sup_{s \in \gamma V, \ \gamma \in \Gamma_j \cap K} \omega(\psi|K',\varepsilon) = \omega(\psi|K',\varepsilon) \xrightarrow{\varepsilon \to 0} 0. \end{split}$$

We continue with the asymptotic behavior of the symbols ϕ_i .

LEMMA 6.19. – Assume in addition that ψ is a continuous symbol. Then for any $s \in G$, we have

(6.4.11)
$$\widetilde{\phi_j}(s) \xrightarrow[j \to +\infty]{} \psi(s).$$

Proof. – Let $s \in G$. Recall that we have a unique decomposition $s = \omega_j(s)\gamma_j(s)$ with $\omega_j(s) \in X_j$ and $\gamma_j(s) \in \Gamma_j$. Then, by (6.3.1), we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \widetilde{\phi_j}(s) - \psi(s) \right| &= \left| \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_{\mathbf{X}_j} \phi_j(\gamma_j(st)) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(t) - \psi(s) \right| \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \left| \int_{\mathbf{X}_j} \left(\phi_j(\gamma_j(st)) - \psi(s) \right) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(t) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_{\mathbf{X}_j} \left(\left| \phi_j(\gamma_j(st)) - \psi(\gamma_j(st)) \right| + \left| \psi(\gamma_j(st)) - \psi(s) \right| \right) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(t) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_{\mathbf{X}_j} \left| \phi_j(\gamma_j(st)) - \psi(\gamma_j(st)) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\mu(t) \\ &\quad + \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_{\mathbf{X}_j} \left| \psi(\gamma_j(st)) - \psi(s) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\mu(t). \end{split}$$

We start to prove that the first summand converges to 0 as $j \to \infty$. Indeed, according to (6.4.10), it suffices to show that $\gamma_j(st)$ remains in a fixed compact set independent of j, for t varying in X_j . We will even show that $\operatorname{dist}(\gamma_j(st), s) \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$ uniformly in $t \in X_j$.

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Consider the compact $K_s = (s \cdot B'(e, 1))^{-1}$. There exists $0 < \varepsilon' \le \min\{1, \varepsilon\}$ such that $\omega(\nu | K_s, \varepsilon') \le \varepsilon$. Then for some $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, we have $X_j \subset B(e, \varepsilon')$ for all $j \ge j_0$. Note that s^{-1} and $(st)^{-1}$ and vary in the compact set K_s for $j \ge j_0$ and t varying in X_j . For these j and any $t \in X_j$, using (6.4.1), we see that

$$dist(\gamma_j(st), s) \leq dist(\gamma_j(st), st) + dist(st, s) = dist(\omega_j(st)^{-1}st, st) + dist(st, s)$$

= dist(\omega_j(st)^{-1}, e) + dist(st, s)
\le dist(e, \omega_j(st)) + \omega(\nu|K_s, dist((st)^{-1}, s^{-1}))
\le \varepsilon' + \omega(\nu|K_s, dist(t^{-1}, e)) \le \varepsilon + \omega(\nu|K_s, \varepsilon') \le \varepsilon + \varepsilon.

We conclude that $\sup_{t \in X_j} \operatorname{dist}(\gamma_j(st), s) \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$.

For the second summand, consider $\varepsilon > 0$. Note that the restriction $\psi|B'(s,1)$ is uniformly continuous. There exists $0 < \varepsilon' \leq 1$ such that $\omega(\psi|B'(s,1),\varepsilon') \leq \varepsilon$ and there exists j_0 such that $\sup_{t \in X_j} \operatorname{dist}(\gamma_j(st), s) \leq \varepsilon'$ for any $j \geq j_0$. For these j, using (6.4.1), we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \sup_{t\in\mathcal{X}_{j}} |\psi(\gamma_{j}(st)) - \psi(s)| &\leq \sup_{t\in\mathcal{X}_{j}} \omega\big(\psi|B'(s,1), \operatorname{dist}(\gamma_{j}(st),s)\big) \\ &\leq \sup_{t\in\mathcal{X}_{j}} \omega\big(\psi|B'(s,1),\varepsilon'\big) = \omega\big(\psi|B'(s,1),\varepsilon'\big) \leq \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

That means that $\sup_{t \in \mathcal{X}_j} |\psi(\gamma_j(st)) - \psi(s)| \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$. Thus (6.4.11) follows. \Box

If $f \in L^{\infty}(G)$, the particular case p = 2 of (6.4.5) applied to M_{ψ} instead of T together with Lemma 6.5 allows us to define a well-defined operator $\Xi_j \colon L^{\infty}(G) \to L^{\infty}(G), \ \psi \mapsto \widetilde{\phi_j}$ for any j with

(6.4.12)
$$\left\|\Xi_{j}(\psi)\right\|_{L^{\infty}(G)} \leq \frac{1}{c} \left\|\psi\right\|_{L^{\infty}(G)}.$$

LEMMA 6.20. – Assume that $\gamma X_j = X_j \gamma$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$ or that $\mu(X_j \Delta X_j^{-1}) = 0$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$.

- 1. If $\psi \in L^1(G)$ then the Formula (6.4.8) gives a well-defined function $\phi_j \colon \Gamma_j \to \mathbb{C}$ for any j.
- 2. For any j, we have a well-defined bounded operator $\Xi_j \colon L^1(G) \to L^1(G), \psi \mapsto \widetilde{\phi_j}$ where $\widetilde{\phi_j}$ is defined by the formula

(6.4.13)
$$\widetilde{\phi_j} = \frac{1}{\mu(X_j)} \mathbf{1}_{X_j} * (\phi_j \mu_{\Gamma_j}) * \mathbf{1}_{X_j^{-1}}$$

Moreover, for any $\psi \in L^1(G)$ and any j, we have

(6.4.14)
$$\left\|\Xi_{j}(\psi)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} \leq \frac{1}{c} \left\|\psi\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)}$$

Proof. - 1. If $\gamma X_j = X_j \gamma$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, then using (5.1.2) in the second equality $\mu(X_j \cap \gamma X_j s^{-1}) = \mu(X_j \cap X_j \gamma s^{-1}) \le \mu(X_j \cap X_j \Gamma_j s^{-1}) = \mu(X_j \cap G s^{-1}) = \mu(X_j).$ $\begin{aligned} &\text{If } \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\Delta\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}) = 0, \text{ then using unimodularity in the last equality, we see that} \\ &\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1}) \leq \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}\cap\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1}) + \mu((\mathbf{X}_{j}-\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1})\cap\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1}) \\ &\leq \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}\cap\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1}) + \mu((\mathbf{X}_{j}\Delta\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1})\cap\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}s^{-1}) \\ &\leq \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}\cap\gamma(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1})s^{-1}) + \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}\cap\gamma(\mathbf{X}_{j}-\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1})s^{-1}) + \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\Delta\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}) \\ &\leq \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}\cap\gamma(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1})s^{-1}) + \mu(\gamma(\mathbf{X}_{j}\Delta\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1})s^{-1}) + \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\Delta\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}) \\ &\leq \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}\cap\gamma\mathbf{X}_{j}^{-1}s^{-1}) = \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j}\cap s\mathbf{X}_{j}\gamma^{-1}). \end{aligned}$

Using (5.1.2), we obtain

$$\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s^{-1}) \le \mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap s \mathbf{X}_j \Gamma_j) = \mu(\mathbf{X}_j).$$

So the integrand of (6.4.8) is integrable in both cases since $\psi \in L^1(G)$. We deduce that the function ϕ_j is well-defined.

2. For any j, using (6.4.8) in the first equality, we have

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{j}} |\phi_{j}(\gamma)| &= \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{j}} \left| \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{G} \psi(s) \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j} s^{-1})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{G} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{j}} |\psi(s)| \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j} s^{-1})^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \, \|\psi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} \sup_{s \in G} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{j}} \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j} s^{-1})^{2} \\ &= \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})} \, \|\psi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} \sup_{s \in G} \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{j}} \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j} s^{-1})^{2}}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{2}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c \,\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})} \, \|\psi\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} \sup_{s \in G} \left(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{j}} \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j} s^{-1})}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})}\right)^{2}. \end{split}$$

$$(6.4.16)$$

If $\gamma X_j = X_j \gamma$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, then we estimate (6.4.16) further with the pairwise disjointness (5.1.3) of the sets $X_j \gamma s^{-1}$ for different values of $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$ in the second equality and (5.1.2) in the third equality

$$\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j} \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s^{-1})}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} = \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j} \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \mathbf{X}_j \gamma s^{-1})}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} = \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \mathbf{X}_j \Gamma_j s^{-1})}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)}$$
$$= \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap G s^{-1})}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} = \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} = 1.$$

If $\mu(X_j \Delta X_j^{-1}) = 0$, then we estimate (6.4.16) using (6.4.15) in the first inequality and (5.1.3) in the first equality and (5.1.2) in the last equality, giving

$$\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j} \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s^{-1})}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \le \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_j} \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap s \mathbf{X}_j \gamma^{-1})}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} = \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap s \mathbf{X}_j \Gamma_j)}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} = 1.$$

By [98, Theorem 19.15], we conclude that the measure $\phi_j \mu_{\Gamma_j}$ is bounded with $\|\phi_j \mu_{\Gamma_j}\|_{\mathcal{M}(G)} \leq \frac{1}{c\mu(X_j)} \|\psi\|_{L^1(G)}$. Therefore, using (6.4.8) and [98, Theorem 20.12] in the first inequality and the unimodularity of G to write $\mu(X_j^{-1}) = \mu(X_j)$ in the third inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\widetilde{\phi_{j}}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} &\leq \frac{1}{\mu(\mathrm{X}_{j})} \left\| 1_{\mathrm{X}_{j}} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} \left\| \phi_{j} \mu_{\Gamma_{j}} \right\|_{\mathrm{M}(G)} \left\| 1_{\mathrm{X}_{j}^{-1}} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{c \, \mu(\mathrm{X}_{j})} \left\| \psi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} \left\| 1_{\mathrm{X}_{j}^{-1}} \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)} \leq \frac{1}{c} \left\| \psi \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(G)}. \end{split}$$

Thus, (6.4.14) is shown.

Next, observe that if ψ has a support away from the origin $e \in G$ then $\widetilde{\phi_j}(r) = 0$ for r close to e. More precisely, we have the following observation. This lemma is not useful if G is compact.

LEMMA 6.21. – Suppose that $\psi(s) = 0$ a.e. if dist(s, e) < R for some R > 4. Then we have $(\Xi_j \psi)(r) = 0$ for any $r \in B'(e, R - 4)$ and any j large enough.

Proof. – We pick $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ and take $j \geq j_0$ such that $X_j \subset B'(e, 1)$ for these j. By (6.3.1) (the computation of [86, Lemma 2.1 (2)] is valid) and (6.4.8), we have

$$\widetilde{\phi_j}(r) = \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_{\mathbf{X}_j} \phi_j(\gamma_j(rt)) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(t) = \frac{1}{c\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)^4} \int_{\mathbf{X}_j} \int_G \psi(s)\mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma_j(rt)\mathbf{X}_j s^{-1})^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mu(s) \,\mathrm{d}\mu(t).$$

Let $r \in B'(e, R-4)$. If dist(s, e) < R the integrand is zero. On the other hand, if dist $(s, e) \ge R$, writing $rt = \omega_j(rt)\gamma_j(rt)$ where $\omega_j(rt) \in X_j$, we have for any $\omega'_j \in X_j$

$$dist(\gamma_j(rt)\omega'_j s^{-1}, e) = dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}rt\omega'_j s^{-1}, e) = dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}rt\omega'_j, s)$$

$$\geq dist(s, e) - dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}rt\omega'_j, e)$$

$$\geq dist(s, e) - dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}rt\omega'_j, \omega'_j) - dist(\omega'_j, e)$$

$$\geq dist(s, e) - dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}rt, e) - 1$$

$$\geq dist(s, e) - dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}rt, t) - dist(t, e) - 1$$

$$\geq dist(s, e) - dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}r, e) - 2$$

$$\geq dist(s, e) - dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}r, r) - dist(r, e) - 2$$

$$= dist(s, e) - dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}r, e) - dist(r, e) - 2$$

$$= dist(s, e) - dist(\omega_j(rt)^{-1}, e) - dist(r, e) - 2$$

$$= dist(s, e) - dist(e, \omega_j(rt)) - dist(r, e) - 2$$

$$= dist(s, e) - dist(e, \omega_j(rt)) - dist(r, e) - 2$$

$$\geq dist(s, e) - dist(e, \omega_j(rt)) - dist(r, e) - 2$$

So the integrand is also zero. We infer that we have $\widetilde{\phi_i}(r) = 0$.

We turn to the weak^{*} convergence ⁽⁵³⁾ of the symbol $\widetilde{\phi_i}$.

LEMMA 6.22. – Let $\psi \in L^{\infty}(G)$. Assume in addition that $\gamma X_j = X_j \gamma$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$ or that $\mu(X_j \Delta X_j^{-1}) = 0$ for any $j \in \mathbb{N}$. Then $\Xi_j(\psi) \xrightarrow{j} \psi$ for the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}(G)$.

Proof. – Let $g \in L^1(G)$ be a testing element of weak^{*} convergence. By density of $C_c(G)$ in $L^1(G)$ and the uniform estimate (6.4.12), we can assume in fact that $g \in C_c(G)$.

Then if $\chi \in C_c(G)$ is a cut-off function with $\chi(s) = 1$ for all s with ⁽⁵⁴⁾ dist $(s, e) < R \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} 4 + \exp(\sup g, \{e\})$, (recall that the metric dist used previously is proper) we have $\psi\chi = 1$ on $\operatorname{supp}(g)$. So $\langle \psi, g \rangle_{L^{\infty}(G), L^1(G)} = \langle \psi\chi, g \rangle_{L^{\infty}(G), L^1(G)}$. Moreover, we have

$$\Xi_j(\psi) = \Xi_j(\psi\chi) + \Xi_j(\psi(1-\chi)).$$

Recall that $\psi(1-\chi)$ is zero if dist(s,e) < R. Hence by applying Lemma 6.21 with $\psi(1-\chi)$ instead of ψ , we deduce that the function $\Xi_j(\psi(1-\chi))$ is zero if $r \in B'(e, \operatorname{exc}(\operatorname{supp} g, \{e\}))$, in particular on $\operatorname{supp} g$. We conclude that $\langle \widetilde{\phi_j}, g \rangle = \langle \Xi_j(\psi\chi), g \rangle$.

Now let $\psi_{\varepsilon} \in C_c(G)$ be an ε -approximation in $L^1(G)$ norm of $\psi \chi \in L^1(G) \cap L^{\infty}(G)$. Using (6.4.14), in the second equality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left| \left\langle \Xi_{j}(\psi), g \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G), \mathcal{L}^{1}(G)} - \left\langle \psi, g \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G), \mathcal{L}^{1}(G)} \right| &= \left| \left\langle \Xi_{j}(\psi\chi), g \right\rangle - \left\langle \psi\chi, g \right\rangle \right| \\ &\leq \left| \left\langle (\Xi_{j} - \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{L}^{1}(G)})(\psi\chi - \psi_{\varepsilon}), g \right\rangle \right| + \left| \left\langle \Xi_{j}(\psi_{\varepsilon}) - \psi_{\varepsilon}, g \right\rangle \right| \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{c} + 1 \right) \left\| \psi\chi - \psi_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{1}(G)} \left\| g \right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G)} + \left| \left\langle \Xi_{j}(\psi_{\varepsilon}) - \psi_{\varepsilon}, g \right\rangle \right| \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{c} + 1 \right) \varepsilon \left\| g \right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G)} + \left| \left\langle \Xi_{j}(\psi_{\varepsilon}) - \psi_{\varepsilon}, g \right\rangle \right|. \end{split}$$

Thus the first term becomes small uniformly in $j \ge j_0$. For the second term, we use the pointwise convergence $\Xi_j \psi_{\varepsilon}(s) \to \psi_{\varepsilon}(s)$ from (6.4.11) together with the domination $|\Xi_j \psi_{\varepsilon}(s)g(s)| \le \frac{1}{c} \|\psi_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(G)} |g(s)|.$

If the assumptions of Lemma 6.22 are satisfied, we deduce by Lemma 6.7 that $M_{\widetilde{\phi_j}} \to M_{\psi}$ in the weak operator topology of B(L^{*p*}(VN(*G*))) (point weak* topology if $p = \infty$). Moreover, this convergence also holds if ψ is a continuous and bounded symbol. Indeed, according to (6.4.11), we have a pointwise convergence $\widetilde{\phi_j}(s) \to \psi(s)$, which together with the uniform bound $\|\widetilde{\phi_j}\|_{L^{\infty}(G)} \leq \frac{1}{c} \|M_{\psi}\|_{cb,L^p(VN(G))\to L^p(VN(G))}$ of (6.4.5) also implies weak* convergence $\widetilde{\phi_j} \to \psi$, so that we can again appeal to

^{53.} Note that if G is compact, the proof is more simple. No need to use χ .

^{54.} Recall that $exc(A, B) = sup\{dist(a, B) : a \in A\}$.

Lemma 6.7. According to the description of the predual space (6.4.6), we have for the convergent subnet $M_{\widetilde{\phi_j(k)}}$ of $M_{\widetilde{\phi_j}}$ that

$$\left\langle M_{\widetilde{\phi_{j(k)}}}f,g\right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G),\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}\xrightarrow{k}\left\langle P_{G}^{p}(M_{\psi})f,g\right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G),\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}$$

for $f \in L^p(VN(G))$ and $g \in L^{p^*}(VN(G))$. Since a subnet of a convergent net converges to the same limit, we deduce $P_G^p(M_{\psi}) = M_{\psi}$.

Now, we turn to the case p = 1. We simply put

$$P_G^1$$
: CB(L¹(VN(G))) \rightarrow CB(L¹(VN(G))), $T \mapsto P_G^\infty(T^*)_*$.

Note that $P_G^{\infty}(T^*)$ belongs to $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$, so that it admits indeed a preadjoint $P_G^{\infty}(T^*)_*$ belonging to $\mathfrak{M}^{1,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$ by Lemma 6.4. We check now the claimed properties of P_G^1 . Linearity and boundedness are clear. If $T: \mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G))$ is completely positive, then by Lemma 2.9, T^* is also completely positive and hence also $P_G^{\infty}(T^*)$. We conclude that $P_G^1(T) = P_G^{\infty}(T^*)_*$ is completely positive. If $M_{\psi} \in \mathfrak{M}^{1,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$, then we have $P_G^1(M_{\psi}) = P_G^{\infty}((M_{\psi})^*)_* = (P_G^{\infty}(M_{\tilde{\psi}}))_* = (M_{\tilde{\psi}})_* = M_{\psi}$.

It remains to check the claimed compatibility property. We need the following lemma.

Lemma 6.23. – For $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and any completely bounded map

$$T: L^1(VN(G)) \to L^1(VN(G)),$$

we have $P_{j}^{1}(T)^{*} = P_{j}^{\infty}(T^{*}).$

Proof. – In this proof we denote by ϕ_j^T the symbol of $\frac{1}{c} P_{\Gamma_i}^p (\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p)$.

Let $S: L^1(VN(\Gamma_j)) \to L^1(VN(\Gamma_j))$ be a completely bounded map. We denote by ψ_j^S the symbol of the Fourier multiplier $P_{\Gamma_j}^1(S)$ given by Corollary 4.7 with $G = H = \Gamma_j$. The symbol $\psi_j^{(S^*)}$ of the Fourier multiplier $P_{\Gamma_j}^{\infty}(S^*)$ is given by (where $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$)

$$\psi_j^{(S^*)}(\gamma) = \tau_{\Gamma_j} \left(S^*(\lambda_\gamma) \lambda_\gamma^{-1} \right) = \tau_{\Gamma_j} \left(\lambda_\gamma S(\lambda_\gamma^{-1}) \right) = \tau_{\Gamma_j} \left(S(\lambda_\gamma^{-1}) \lambda_\gamma \right) = \psi_j^S(\gamma^{-1}) = \check{\psi}_j^S(\gamma).$$

Using Lemma 6.4 in the second equality, we obtain

(6.4.17)
$$P_{\Gamma_j}^{\infty}(S^*) = M_{\check{\psi}_j^S} = (M_{\psi_j^S})^* = \left(P_{\Gamma_j}^1(S)\right)^*.$$

Note that $\Psi_j^{\infty} T^* \Phi_j^{\infty} = (\Psi_j^1 T \Phi_j^1)^*$. This implies

$$M_{\phi_{j}^{(T^{*})}} = \frac{1}{c} P_{\Gamma_{j}}^{\infty} \left(\Psi_{j}^{\infty} T^{*} \Phi_{j}^{\infty} \right) = \frac{1}{c} P_{\Gamma_{j}}^{\infty} \left((\Psi_{j}^{1} T \Phi_{j}^{1})^{*} \right) = \frac{1}{c} P_{\Gamma_{j}}^{1} \left(\Psi_{j}^{1} T \Phi_{j}^{1} \right)^{*} = \left(M_{\phi_{j}^{T}} \right)^{*} = M_{\phi_{j}^{T}},$$

where we use (6.4.17) in the central equality. Now, using (6.4.4), $(1_{X_j}) = 1_{X_j^{-1}}$ and $\check{\mu}_{\Gamma_j} = \mu_{\Gamma_j}$, we deduce

$$\widetilde{\phi_j^{(T^*)}} = \frac{1}{\mu(X_j)} \mathbf{1}_{X_j} * \left(\phi_j^{(T^*)} \mu_{\Gamma_j}\right) * \mathbf{1}_{X_j^{-1}} = \frac{1}{\mu(X_j)} \mathbf{1}_{X_j} * \left(\check{\phi}_j^T \mu_{\Gamma_j}\right) * \mathbf{1}_{X_j^{-1}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{\mu(X_j)} \overbrace{\mathbf{1}_{X_j} * \left(\phi_j^T \mu_{\Gamma_j}\right) * \mathbf{1}_{X_j^{-1}}}^{\mathbf{V}} = \widecheck{\phi_j^T},$$

thus finishing the proof of the lemma since $P_j^1(T)^* = \left(M_{\widetilde{\phi}_j^T}\right)^* = M_{\widetilde{\phi}_j^T} = M_{\widetilde{\phi}_j^{(T^*)}} = P_j^\infty(T^*).$

Now suppose that T belongs to both $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^1(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ and $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$. Recall that the symbol $\widetilde{\phi_j^T}$ of $P_j^p(T)$ does not depend on p if T belongs to two different spaces $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ and $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^q(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$. Consequently the symbols of $P_j^p(T)^*$ and $P_j^1(T)^*$ are identical and the symbols of $P_j^\infty(T^*)$ and $P_j^{p^*}(T^*)$ are also identical. Using the previous lemma, we conclude that

$$P_j^p(T)^* = P_j^{p^*}(T^*).$$

Passing to the limit when $j \to \infty$, we infer that $P_G^p(T)^* = P_G^{p^*}(T^*)$. Therefore, for any $x \in L^1(VN(G)) \cap L^p(VN(G))$ and any $y \in VN(G) \cap L^{p^*}(VN(G))$, using the compatibility of the P_G^q already proven, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle P_G^1(T)x, y \right\rangle &= \left\langle P_G^\infty(T^*)_*x, y \right\rangle = \left\langle x, P_G^\infty(T^*)y \right\rangle = \left\langle x, P_G^{p^*}(T^*)y \right\rangle = \left\langle x, P_G^p(T)^*y \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle P_G^p(T)x, y \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

This shows the compatibility on the L^1 level.

For the last sentence, use Proposition 3.1.

REMARK 6.24. – We ignore if the condition (6.4.2) can be removed.

Since the symbol of a completely bounded Fourier multiplier $M_{\phi} \colon VN(G) \to VN(G)$ is equal almost everywhere to a continuous function, see, e.g., [86, Corollary 3.3], the previous theorem gives projections at the level $p = \infty$ and p = 1.

COROLLARY 6.25. – Let G be a second countable unimodular locally compact group satisfying ALSS such that (6.4.2) holds. Then there exist projections $P_G^{\infty}: CB_{w^*}(VN(G)) \to CB_{w^*}(VN(G))$ and $P_G^1: CB(L^1(VN(G))) \to CB(L^1(VN(G)))$ which are compatible, onto $\mathfrak{M}^{\infty,cb}(G)$ and $\mathfrak{M}^{1,cb}(G)$ of norm at most $\frac{1}{c}$ preserving complete positivity.

6.5. Examples of computations of the density

In this chapter, we will describe some concrete non-abelian groups in which Theorem 6.16 applies. Before that, we start by recalling some information on semidirect products.

Semidirect products. – Let G_1 and G_2 be topological groups and consider some group homomorphism $\eta: G_2 \to \operatorname{Aut}(G_1)$ such that the map ⁽⁵⁵⁾

(6.5.1)
$$G_1 \times G_2 \to G_1, \ (s,t) \mapsto \eta_t(s) \text{ is continuous.}$$

The semidirect product $G_1 \rtimes_{\eta} G_2$ [74, page 183] is the topological group with the underlying set $G_1 \times G_2$ equipped with the product topology and with the group operations given by

(6.5.2)
$$(s,t) \rtimes_{\eta} (s',t') = (s\eta_t(s'),tt') \text{ and } (s,t)^{-1} = (\eta_{t^{-1}}(s^{-1}),t^{-1}).$$

The group G_1 identifies to a closed normal subgroup of $G_1 \rtimes_{\eta} G_2$ and G_2 as a closed subgroup [74, page 183] and we have $(G_1 \rtimes_{\eta} G_2)/G_1 = G_2$.

If G_1 and G_2 are locally compact groups then $G_1 \rtimes_{\eta} G_2$ is a locally compact group. If G_1 and G_2 are in addition equipped with some left Haar measures μ_{G_1} and μ_{G_2} , by [74, Proposition 9.5 Chapter III] (see also [98, 15.29]) a left Haar measure of G is given by $\mu_G = \mu_{G_1} \otimes (\delta \mu_{G_2})$ where $\delta \colon G_2 \to (0, \infty)$ is defined by $\delta(t) = \mod \eta_t$ where $t \in G_2$. By [74, Chapter III, (9.6)], a right Haar measure is given by $\Delta_{G_1} \mu_{G_1} \otimes \Delta_{G_2} \mu_{G_2}$. It is folklore and easy to deduce from [128, pages 119-120] that if G_1 and G_2 are unimodular and if each automorphism η_t of G_1 is measure-preserving, i.e., if

$$\int_{G_1} f(\eta_t(s)) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G_1}(s) = \int_{G_1} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G_1}(s), \quad t \in G_2, f \in \mathcal{C}_c(G_1),$$

then the group $G_1 \rtimes_{\eta} G_2$ is unimodular. In this case, $\mu_G = \mu_{G_1} \otimes \mu_{G_2}$ gives a Haar measure on G.

We will use the following lemma.

LEMMA 6.26. – Let G_1 and G_2 be locally compact groups. Let Γ_1 and Γ_2 be lattices in G_1 and G_2 . Suppose that $\eta: G_2 \to \operatorname{Aut}(G_1)$ is a homomorphism satisfying (6.5.1). If $\eta_t(\Gamma_1) \subset \Gamma_1$ for any $t \in G_2$ then $\Gamma = \Gamma_1 \rtimes_{\eta \mid \Gamma_2} \Gamma_2$ is a lattice of $G_1 \rtimes_{\eta} G_2$. If in addition X_1 and X_2 are associated fundamental domains, then $X = X_1 \times X_2$ is a fundamental domain associated with Γ .

Proof. – The first part is [19, Exercise B.3.5]. It remains to show that X is a fundamental domain of Γ . Indeed, this subset is clearly Borel measurable. Consider some arbitrary element (s_1, s_2) of G. Since X₁ is a fundamental domain of Γ_1 , we can write $s_1 = \omega_1 \gamma_1$ with $\omega_1 \in X_1$ and $\gamma_1 \in \Gamma_1$ and similarly $s_2 = \omega_2 \gamma_2$ with $\omega_2 \in X_2$ and $\gamma_2 \in \Gamma_2$. Consequently, using (6.5.2), we have

$$(s_1, s_2) = (\omega_1 \gamma_1, \omega_2 \gamma_2) = (\omega_1 \eta_{\omega_2}(\eta_{\omega_2^{-1}}(\gamma_1)), \omega_2 \gamma_2) = (\omega_1, \omega_2) \rtimes_{\eta} (\eta_{\omega_2^{-1}}(\gamma_1), \gamma_2),$$

where $(\omega_1, \omega_2) \in X$ and $(\eta_{\omega_2^{-1}}(\gamma_1), \gamma_2) \in \Gamma$. So we obtain (5.1.2).

Consider some $(\omega_1, \omega_2), (\omega'_1, \omega'_2) \in X$ where $\omega_1, \omega'_1 \in X_1$ and $\omega_2, \omega'_2 \in X_2$ and some elements (γ_1, γ_2) and (γ'_1, γ'_2) of Γ . If $(\omega_1, \omega_2) \rtimes_\eta (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) = (\omega'_1, \omega'_2) \rtimes_\eta (\gamma'_1, \gamma'_2)$

^{55.} If $\operatorname{Aut}(G_1)$ is equipped with the well-known Braconnier topology, the continuity of the map $(s,t) \mapsto \eta_t(s)$ from $G_1 \times G_2$ onto G_1 is equivalent to the continuity of the homomorphism $\eta: G_2 \to \operatorname{Aut}(G_1)$.

then $(\omega_1\eta_{\omega_2}(\gamma_1), \omega_2\gamma_2) = (\omega'_1\eta_{\omega'_2}(\gamma'_1), \omega'_2\gamma'_2)$. Therefore $\omega_2\gamma_2 = \omega'_2\gamma'_2$. Since X₂ is a fundamental domain we deduce by (5.1.3) that $\omega_2 = \omega'_2$ and $\gamma_2 = \gamma'_2$. Inserting into the previous first variable, we get $\omega_1\eta_{\omega_2}(\gamma_1) = \omega'_1\eta_{\omega_2}(\gamma'_1)$. Since X₁ is a fundamental domain we have by (5.1.3), $\omega_1 = \omega'_1$ and $\eta_{\omega_2}(\gamma_1) = \eta_{\omega_2}(\gamma'_1)$. So $\gamma_1 = \gamma'_1$. We conclude that X satisfies (5.1.3).

Groups acting on locally finite trees. – We give now some examples of compact nondiscrete ALSS groups acting on locally finite trees for which Theorem 6.16 yields a bounded map $P_G^p: \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p,\operatorname{cb}}(G)$ with sharp norm, i.e., with a norm equal to one.

Let $(m_j)_{j\geq 1}$ be a sequence of integers with $m_j \geq 2$. Let $\overline{Y} = (Y_j)_{j\geq 1}$ be a sequence of alphabets with $|Y_j| = m_j$ and $Y_j = \{y_{j,1}, \ldots, y_{j,m_j}\}$. If $n \geq 0$, a word of length nover \overline{Y} is a sequence of letters of the form $w = w_1 w_2 \ldots w_n$ with $w_j \in Y_j$ for all j. The unique word of length 0, the empty word, is denoted by \emptyset . The set of words of length n is called the nth level.

Now we introduce the prefix relation \leq on the set of all words over \overline{Y} . Namely, we let $w \leq z$ if w is an initial segment of the sequence z, i.e., if $w = w_1 \dots w_n$, $z = z_1 \dots z_k$ with $n \leq k$ and $w_j = z_j$ for all $j \in \{1, \dots, n\}$. This relation is a partial order and the partially ordered set \mathcal{T} of words over \overline{Y} is called the spherically homogeneous tree over \overline{Y} . We refer to [17] and [82] for more information.

Let us give now the graph-theoretical interpretation of \mathcal{T} . Every word over \overline{Y} represents a vertex in a rooted tree. Namely, the empty word \emptyset represents the root, the m_1 one-letter words $y_{1,1}, \ldots, y_{1,m_1}$ represent the m_1 children of the root, the m_2 two-letter words $y_{1,1}y_{2,1}, \ldots, y_{1,1}y_{2,m_2}$ represent the m_2 children of the vertex $y_{1,1}$, etc.



An automorphism of \mathcal{T} is a bijection of \mathcal{T} which preserves the prefix relation. From the graph-theoretical point of view, an automorphism is a bijection which preserves edge incidence and the distinguished root vertex \emptyset . We denote by $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$ the group of automorphisms of \mathcal{T} and if $j \geq 0$ by $\operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T})$ the subgroup of automorphisms whose vertex permutations at level j and below ⁽⁵⁶⁾ are trivial.

^{56.} The action is trivial on the levels $j, j + 1, j + 2, \ldots$

We equip \mathcal{T} with the discrete topology and $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$ with the topology of pointwise convergence. By [82, page 133], the sequence $(\operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T}))_{j\geq 0}$ of finite groups and the canonical inclusions ψ_{ij} : $\operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T}) \to \operatorname{Aut}_{[i]}(\mathcal{T})$ where $j \geq i \geq 0$ define an inverse system and we have an isomorphism

(6.5.3)
$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T}) = \lim_{d \to \infty} \operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T}).$$

In particular, $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$ is a profinite group, hence compact and totally disconnected by [180, Corollary 1.2.4].

If $j \ge 0$, we denote by $\operatorname{St}(j)$ the *j*th level stabilizer consisting of automorphisms of \mathcal{T} which fix all the vertices on the level *j* (and of course on the levels $0, 1, \ldots, j-1$). Then $\operatorname{St}(j)$ is a normal subgroup of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$ which is open if $j \ge 1$. By [17, page 20], for any $j \ge 0$, we have an isomorphism

(6.5.4)
$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T}) = \operatorname{St}(j) \rtimes \operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T}).$$

PROPOSITION 6.27. – The compact group $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$ is second countable and ALSS with respect to the sequence $(\operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T}))_{j\geq 1}$ of finite lattice subgroups and to the sequence $(\operatorname{St}(j))_{j\geq 1}$ of symmetric fundamental domains. Moreover, (6.4.2) holds with c = 1. More precisely, for any integer $j \in \mathbb{N}$ and any $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T})$, we have

(6.5.5)
$$\frac{1}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))} \int_{\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})} \frac{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j) \cap \gamma \operatorname{St}(j)s)^2}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))^2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) = 1.$$

Consequently, Theorem 6.16 applies.

Proof. – Since the inverse system is indexed by \mathbb{N} , by [180, Proposition 4.1.3], the group $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$ is second countable. By (6.5.4), we have $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T}) = \operatorname{St}(j)\operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T})$. Suppose that γ_1, γ_2 belong to $\operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T})$ and that $\omega_1, \omega_2 \in \operatorname{St}(j)$ satisfy $\omega_1\gamma_1 = \omega_2\gamma_2$. Then $\omega_2^{-1}\omega_1 = \gamma_2\gamma_1^{-1}$. Using again (6.5.4), we infer that $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2$. Moreover, $\operatorname{St}(j)$ is open hence Borel measurable, and a subgroup hence symmetric. We conclude that $\operatorname{St}(j)$ is a symmetric fundamental domain for $\operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T})$.

Now, we have a homeomorphism

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})/\operatorname{Aut}_{[i]}(\mathcal{T}) = (\operatorname{St}(j) \rtimes \operatorname{Aut}_{[i]}(\mathcal{T}))/\operatorname{Aut}_{[i]}(\mathcal{T}) = \operatorname{St}(j).$$

Note that the subgroup $\operatorname{St}(j)$ is open, hence closed in the compact group $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$ by [98, Theorem 5.5] and finally compact. We conclude that $\operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T})$ is a cocompact lattice. Moreover, by [82, page 133], the sequence $(\operatorname{St}(j)_{j\geq 1})$ is an open neighborhood basis of $\operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{T}}$ in $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$.

It remains to compute (6.5.5). By normality of $\operatorname{St}(j)$, for any $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T})$, we have $\gamma \operatorname{St}(j) = \operatorname{St}(j)\gamma$. Using that μ is a left Haar measure of $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$ in the last equality, for any $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}_{[j]}(\mathcal{T})$, we deduce that

$$\frac{1}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))} \int_{\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})} \frac{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j) \cap \gamma \operatorname{St}(j)s)^2}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))^2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) = \frac{1}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))} \int_{\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})} \frac{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j) \cap \operatorname{St}(j)\gamma s)^2}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))^2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))} \int_{\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})} \frac{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j) \cap \operatorname{St}(j)s)^2}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))^2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s).$$

For any $s \in Aut(\mathcal{T})$, the sets St(j) and St(j)s are right cosets of the subgroup St(j)in $Aut(\mathcal{T})$. Since two right cosets are either identical or disjoint, we deduce that

$$\operatorname{St}(j) \cap \operatorname{St}(j)s = \begin{cases} \operatorname{St}(j) & \text{if } s \in \operatorname{St}(j) \\ \emptyset & \text{if } s \notin \operatorname{St}(j). \end{cases}$$

Now, we can conclude since

$$\frac{1}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))} \int_{\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})} \frac{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j) \cap \operatorname{St}(j)s)^2}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))^2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) = \frac{1}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))} \int_{\operatorname{St}(j)} \frac{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))^2}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))^2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s)$$
$$= \frac{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))}{\mu(\operatorname{St}(j))} = 1.$$

REMARK 6.28. – By [82, page 134], note that we have an isomorphism $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T}) = \lim_{i \to \infty} (\operatorname{Sym}(Y_j) \wr \cdots \wr \operatorname{Sym}(Y_2) \wr \operatorname{Sym}(Y_1))$. If $(G_j, Y_j)_{j \ge 1}$ denotes a sequence of finite permutation groups (such that the actions are faithful), the same method gives a generalization for the inverse limit $G = \lim_{i \to \infty} (G_j \wr \cdots \wr G_2 \wr G_1)$ of iterated permutational wreath products. The verification is left to the reader.

Stability under products. – The (good) behavior of (6.4.2) under direct products is described in the following result.

PROPOSITION 6.29. – Let G_1 and G_2 be two second countable (unimodular) locally compact groups satisfying ALSS with respect to the sequences $(\Gamma_{1,j})$, $(\Gamma_{2,j})$ of lattices and to the sequences $(X_{1,j})$, $(X_{2,j})$ of associated fundamental domains. Suppose that (6.4.2) holds for both groups G_1 and G_2 with constants c_1 and c_2 . Then $G = G_1 \times G_2$ is ALSS with respect to the lattices $(\Gamma_j) = (\Gamma_{1,j} \times \Gamma_{2,j})$ and associated fundamental domains $(X_j) = (X_{1,j} \times X_{2,j})$ and it satisfies (6.4.2) with constant $c = c_1 \cdot c_2$. Moreover, if $X_{1,j}$ and $X_{2,j}$ are symmetric (resp. $\gamma_k X_{k,j} = X_{k,j} \gamma_k$ for k = 1, 2 and $\gamma_k \in \Gamma_{k,j}$) then X_j is symmetric (resp. $\gamma X_j = X_j \gamma$ for $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$). Let $1 \le p \le \infty$ and suppose that G_1 and G_2 are amenable if $1 . Then Theorem 6.16 applies to <math>G = G_1 \times G_2$.

Proof. – If *G*₁ and *G*₂ are second countable then *G*₁ × *G*₂ is also second countable. By Lemma 6.26, Γ_j = Γ_{1,j} × Γ_{2,j} is a lattice subgroup of *G*₁ × *G*₂ and X_j = X_{1,j} × X_{2,j} is an associated fundamental domain. If μ₁ and μ₂ are Haar measures on *G*₁ and *G*₂ then μ = μ₁ ⊗ μ₂ is a Haar measure on *G*. We check that *G*₁ × *G*₂ is ALSS with respect to (Γ_j) and (X_j). Let *V* be a neighborhood of *e* ∈ *G*₁ × *G*₂. Then there exist neighborhoods *U*₁ of *e*₁ ∈ *G*₁ and *U*₂ of *e*₂ ∈ *G*₂ such that *U*₁ × *U*₂ ⊂ *V*. Since *G*₁ and *G*₂ are ALSS, there exists *j*₀ ∈ N such that X_{1,j} ⊂ *U*₁ and X_{2,j} ⊂ *U*₂ for any *j* ≥ *j*₀. Consequently, X_j = X_{1,j} × X_{2,j} ⊂ *U*₁ × *U*₂ ⊂ *V*. Consequently *G*₁ × *G*₂ is ALSS. Now for γ₁ ∈ Γ_{1,j}, we put

$$I_1(\gamma_1) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{\mu_1(\mathbf{X}_{1,j})} \int_{G_1} \frac{\mu_1^2(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \cap \gamma_1 \mathbf{X}_{1,j} s_1)}{\mu_1^2(\mathbf{X}_{1,j})} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_1(s_1)$$

and similarly, for given $\gamma_2 \in \Gamma_{2,j}$ resp. $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, we define $I_2(\gamma_2)$ resp. $I(\gamma)$. We claim that $I((\gamma_1, \gamma_2)) = I_1(\gamma_1)I_2(\gamma_2)$. Indeed, using the elementary fact $(A \times B) \cap (C \times D) = (A \cap C) \times (B \cap D)$, we have

$$\begin{split} I((\gamma_{1},\gamma_{2})) &= \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{1,j}\times\mathbf{X}_{2,j})} \int_{G_{1}\times G_{2}} \frac{\mu^{2} \big((\mathbf{X}_{1,j}\times\mathbf{X}_{2,j}) \cap (\gamma_{1},\gamma_{2}) (\mathbf{X}_{1,j}\times\mathbf{X}_{2,j}) (s_{1},s_{2}) \big)}{\mu^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{1,j}\times\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \big)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s_{1},s_{2}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu_{1} \big(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \big) \mu_{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \big)} \int_{G_{1}\times G_{2}} \frac{\mu^{2} \big((\mathbf{X}_{1,j}\times\mathbf{X}_{2,j}) \cap (\gamma_{1}\mathbf{X}_{1,j}s_{1}) \times (\gamma_{2}\mathbf{X}_{2,j}s_{2}) \big)}{\mu_{1}^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \big) \mu_{2}^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \big)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s_{1},s_{2}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu_{1} \big(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \big) \mu_{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \big)} \int_{G_{1}\times G_{2}} \frac{\mu^{2} \big((\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \cap \gamma_{1}\mathbf{X}_{1,j}s_{1}) \times (\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \cap \gamma_{2}\mathbf{X}_{2,j}s_{2}) \big)}{\mu_{1}^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \big) \mu_{2}^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \big)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s_{1},s_{2}) \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu_{1} \big(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \big) \mu_{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \big)} \int_{G_{1}} \frac{\mu_{1}^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \cap \gamma_{1}\mathbf{X}_{1,j}s_{1} \big)}{\mu_{1}^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \big)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{1}(s_{1}) \int_{G_{2}} \frac{\mu_{2}^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \cap \gamma_{2}\mathbf{X}_{2,j}s_{2} \big)}{\mu_{2}^{2} \big(\mathbf{X}_{2,j} \big)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{2}(s_{2}) \\ &= I_{1} \big(\gamma_{1} \big) I_{2} \big(\gamma_{2} \big). \end{split}$$

Now let K be a compact subset of $G_1 \times G_2$. We check (6.4.2), that is

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \sup_{(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \in \Gamma_j \cap K} |I((\gamma_1, \gamma_2)) - c_1 c_2| = 0.$$

Denoting $\pi_k \colon G_1 \times G_2 \to G_k$ the canonical continuous projection, we have that $\pi_k(K) \subset G_k$ is compact (k = 1, 2). Then

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\substack{(\gamma_1,\gamma_2)\in\Gamma_j\cap K}} & |I((\gamma_1,\gamma_2)) - c_1c_2| \leq \sup_{\substack{(\gamma_1,\gamma_2)\in\Gamma_j\cap\pi_1(K)\times\pi_2(K)}} |I((\gamma_1,\gamma_2)) - c_1c_2| \\ &= \sup_{\gamma_1\in\Gamma_{1,j}\cap\pi_1(K)} \sup_{\gamma_2\in\Gamma_{2,j}\cap\pi_2(K)} |I_1(\gamma_1)I_2(\gamma_2) - c_1c_2| \\ &\leq \sup_{\gamma_1\in\Gamma_{1,j}\cap\pi_1(K)} \sup_{\gamma_2\in\Gamma_{2,j}\cap\pi_2(K)} |I_1(\gamma_1)I_2(\gamma_2) - c_1I_2(\gamma_2)| + |c_1I_2(\gamma_2) - c_1c_2| \\ &\leq \sup_{\gamma_1\in\Gamma_{1,j}\cap\pi_1(K)} |I_1(\gamma_1) - c_1| \sup_{\gamma_2\in\Gamma_{2,j}\cap\pi_2(K)} |I_2(\gamma_2)| + c_1 \sup_{\gamma_2\in\Gamma_{2,j}\cap\pi_2(K)} |I_2(\gamma_2) - c_2| \\ &\xrightarrow{\rightarrow +\infty} 0 \cdot c_2 + c_1 \cdot 0 = 0. \end{split}$$

Thus, (6.4.2) follows for $G_1 \times G_2$ and constant $c_1 c_2$. The statement about preservation of symmetric fundamental domains (resp. commutation $\gamma X_j = X_j \gamma$) is easy to check. For the application of Theorem 6.16, we only note that $G_1 \times G_2$ is amenable once that G_1 and G_2 are amenable.

REMARK 6.30. – Let G be a countable discrete group. The group G is ALSS with respect to the constant sequences (Γ_j) and (X_j) defined by $\Gamma_j = G$ and by $X_j = \{e\}$ for any j. Moreover, for any $\gamma \in G$ and any j, it is obvious that

$$\frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_G \frac{\mu_G^2(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s)}{\mu_G^2(\mathbf{X}_j)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) = 1.$$

Semidirect products of abelian groups by discrete groups. – For semidirect products, the situation is not as good as direct products.

PROPOSITION 6.31. – Let G_1 be a second countable abelian locally compact group which is ALSS with respect to a sequence $(\Gamma_{1,j})$ of lattice subgroups associated to a sequence $(X_{1,j})$ of fundamental domains such that (6.4.2) is satisfied. Let G_2 be a countable discrete group. Suppose that $\eta: G_2 \to \operatorname{Aut}(G_1)$ is a homomorphism satisfying $\eta_t(\Gamma_{1,j}) \subset \Gamma_{1,j}$ for any $t \in G_2$ and any j. Then the semidirect product $G = G_1 \rtimes_{\eta} G_2$ is second countable and ALSS with respect to the sequences (Γ_j) and (X_j) defined by $\Gamma_j = \Gamma_{1,j} \times G_2$ and $X_j = X_{1,j} \times \{e_{G_2}\}$. If in addition $\eta_t(X_{1,j}) \subset X_{1,j}$ for any $t \in G_2$ and any j then (6.4.2) holds with some $c \in (0, 1]$. If the $X_{1,j}$ are symmetric (resp. $\gamma_1 X_{1,j} = X_{1,j} \gamma_1$ for any $\gamma_1 \in \Gamma_{1,j}$) then the X_j are symmetric (resp. $\gamma X_j = X_j \gamma$ for any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$). Consequently, Theorem 6.16 applies in the case p = 1and $p = \infty$. If G_2 is in addition amenable, the result applies in the case 1 .

Proof. – It is obvious that *G* is second countable. By Lemma 6.26, each Γ_j is a lattice of *G* and each X_j is an associated fundamental domain. We check that $G_1 \times G_2$ is ALSS with respect to (Γ_j) and (X_j). Let *V* be a neighborhood of the neutral element *e* of $G_1 \times G_2$. Then there exist neighborhood U_1 of $e_1 \in G_1$ such that $U_1 \times \{e_2\} \subset V$. Since G_1 is ALSS, there exists $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $X_{1,j} \subset U_1$ for any $j \ge j_0$. Consequently, $X_j = X_{1,j} \times \{e_2\} \subset U_1 \times \{e_2\} \subset V$. Thus $G_1 \times G_2$ is ALSS.

Using [19, Proposition B.2.2 page 332], the existence of a lattice implies that G is unimodular and $\mu_G = \mu_{G_1} \otimes \mu_{G_2}$ gives a Haar measure on G. It remains to check (6.4.2). To this end, consider $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \in \Gamma_j$, $\omega = (\omega_1, e_{G_2}) \in X_j$ and $s = (s_1, s_2) \in G$. Then using (6.5.2)

$$\gamma \omega s = (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \rtimes_\eta (\omega_1, e_{G_2}) \rtimes_\eta (s_1, s_2) = (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \rtimes_\eta (\omega_1 + s_1, s_2) = (\gamma_1 + \eta_{\gamma_2}(\omega_1 + s_1), \gamma_2 s_2).$$

This element belongs to $X_j = X_{1,j} \times \{e_{G_2}\}$ if and only if $s_2 = \gamma_2^{-1}$ and $\gamma_1 + \eta_{\gamma_2}(\omega_1 + s_1) \in X_{1,j}$. By the assumption $\eta_{\gamma_2}(X_{1,j}) \subset X_{1,j}$, the latter condition is equivalent with

$$\eta_{\gamma_2}^{-1} \big(\gamma_1 + \eta_{\gamma_2} (\omega_1 + s_1) \big) \in \mathbf{X}_{1,j},$$

that is $\eta_{\gamma_2}^{-1}(\gamma_1) + \omega_1 + s_1 \in X_{1,j}$. For any $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \in \Gamma_j$ and $s = (s_1, s_2) \in G$, we infer that

$$\mu_{G}(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}s) = (\mu_{G_{1}} \otimes \mu_{G_{2}}) \big((\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \times \{e_{G_{2}}\}) \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}s \big)$$
$$= \mu_{G_{1}} \big(\{ \omega_{1} \in \mathbf{X}_{1,j} : \eta_{\gamma_{2}}^{-1}(\gamma_{1}) + \omega_{1} + s_{1} \in \mathbf{X}_{1,j} \} \big)$$

Moreover, we have $\mu_G(X_j) = \mu_{G_1 \otimes G_2}(X_{1,j} \times \{e_{G_2}\}) = \mu_{G_1}(X_{1,j})\mu_{G_2}(\{e_{G_2}\}) = \mu_{G_1}(X_{1,j})$. Therefore, with a change of variable in the second equality and using the

fact that G_1 satisfies (6.4.2) in the passage to the limit, we finally obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{G} \frac{\mu_{G}(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}s)^{2}}{\mu_{G}(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s) &= \int_{G_{1}} \frac{\mu_{G_{1}}(\{\omega_{1} \in \mathbf{X}_{1,j} : \omega_{1} + s_{1} + \eta_{\gamma_{2}}^{-1}(\gamma_{1}) \in \mathbf{X}_{1,j}\})^{2}}{\mu_{G_{1}}(\mathbf{X}_{1,j})^{3}} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G_{1}}(s_{1}) \\ &= \int_{G_{1}} \frac{\mu_{G_{1}}(\{\omega_{1} \in \mathbf{X}_{1,j} : \omega_{1} + s_{1} \in \mathbf{X}_{1,j}\})^{2}}{\mu_{G_{1}}(\mathbf{X}_{1,j})^{3}} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G_{1}}(s_{1}) \\ &= \int_{G_{1}} \frac{\mu_{G_{1}}(\mathbf{X}_{1,j} \cap (\mathbf{X}_{1,j} + s_{1}))^{2}}{\mu_{G_{1}}(\mathbf{X}_{1,j})^{3}} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G_{1}}(s_{1}) \\ &\xrightarrow{j \to +\infty} c \in (0, 1]. \end{split}$$

The statement about the symmetry (resp. commutativity with elements of Γ_j) of the fundamental domain is easy to check with (6.5.2). If G_2 is amenable then G is an amenable group by [19, Proposition G.2.2 (ii)], being a group extension of an amenable group by an abelian (hence also amenable) group.

For applying the previous result, we compute the density (6.4.2) for some abelian groups. By [52, Corollary 4.2.6], the groups described in the following proposition are the compactly generated locally compact abelian groups of Lie type.

PROPOSITION 6.32. – Suppose that $G = \mathbb{Z}^l \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{T}^m \times F$ where $l, n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and where F is a finite abelian group. For any integer j, consider the lattice subgroup

$$\Gamma_j \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \mathbb{Z}^l \times (2^{-j}\mathbb{Z})^n \times \left\{2^{-j}r : r \in \{0, \dots, 2^j - 1\}\right\}^m \times F$$

and the associated symmetric fundamental domain

$$\mathbf{X}_{j} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{0\}^{l} \times [-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1})^{n} \times [-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1})^{m} \times \{e_{F}\}.$$

Then the group G is ALSS with respect to the sequences (Γ_j) and (X_j) . Moreover, for any j and any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, we have

$$\frac{1}{\mu_G(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_G \frac{\mu_G^2\left(\mathbf{X}_j \cap (\gamma + \mathbf{X}_j + s)\right)}{\mu_G^2(\mathbf{X}_j)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_G(s) = \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{n+m}$$

Proof. – Using Lemma 6.26, it is clear that the Γ_j 's are lattice subgroups and that the X_j 's are associated fundamental domains. It is obvious that G is ALSS with respect to these sequences. For any j, a simple computation gives

$$\mu_G(\mathbf{X}_j) = (\mu_{\mathbb{R}^n} \otimes \mu_{\mathbb{T}^m}) \left(\left[-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1} \right]^n \times \left[-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1} \right]^m \right) \\ = \left(\mu_{\mathbb{R}} \left(\left[-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1} \right] \right)^n \left(\mu_{\mathbb{T}} \left(\left[-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1} \right] \right)^m = 2^{-j(n+m)} \right)^m \right) \right)$$

Now, note that if $-2a \le x \le 2a$ then we have

$$\mu_{\mathbb{R}}([-a,a] \cap [-a+x,a+x]) = 2a - |x|.$$

Further, for any j and any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, we have, writing $s = (x_1, \ldots, x_n, y_1, \ldots, y_m, z_1, \ldots, z_l, f)$,

$$\int_{G} \mu \big(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap (\gamma + \mathbf{X}_{j} + s) \big)^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s) = \int_{G} \mu_{G} \big(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap (\mathbf{X}_{j} + s) \big)^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s)$$

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \prod_{k=1}^n \mu_{\mathbb{R}} \left([-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1}) \cap [-2^{-j-1} + x_k, 2^{-j-1} + x_k) \right)^2 \mathrm{d}(x_1, \dots, x_n) \times \\ &\times \int_{\mathbb{T}^m} \prod_{l=1}^m \mu_{\mathbb{T}} \left([-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1}) \cap [-2^{-j-1} + y_l, 2^{-j-1} + y_l) \right)^2 \mathrm{d}(y_1, \dots, y_m) \\ &= \left(\int_{-2^{-j}}^{2^{-j}} (2^{-j} - |x|)^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^n \left(\int_{-2^{-j}}^{2^{-j}} (2^{-j} - |y|)^2 \, \mathrm{d}y \right)^m = \left(2 \int_0^{2^{-j}} (2^{-j} - x)^2 \, \mathrm{d}x \right)^{n+m} \\ &= \left(2 \int_0^{2^{-j}} u^2 \, \mathrm{d}u \right)^{n+m} = \left(\frac{2}{3} \right)^{n+m} 2^{-3j(n+m)}. \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\int_{G} \frac{\mu_{G} \left(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap (\gamma + \mathbf{X}_{j} + s) \right)^{2}}{\mu_{G}(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s) = 2^{3j(n+m)} \cdot \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{n+m} 2^{-3j(n+m)}$$
$$= \left(\frac{2}{3}\right)^{n+m} \in (0, 1].$$

REMARK 6.33. – The assumptions of Proposition 6.31 are satisfied in the following situation. Assume that $G_1 = \mathbb{Z}^l \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{T}^m \times F$ where $l, n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and where F is a finite abelian group. Let G_2 be a subgroup of $\operatorname{Sym}(n) \times \operatorname{Sym}(m)$ where $\operatorname{Sym}(n)$ and $\operatorname{Sym}(m)$ are the permutation groups of n and m elements. For $(\sigma_1, \sigma_2) \in G_2$, let further

(6.5.6)
$$\eta_{(\sigma_1,\sigma_2)}(z_1,\ldots,z_l,x_1,\ldots,x_n,y_1,\ldots,y_m,f) = (z_1,\ldots,z_l,x_{\sigma_1(1)},\ldots,x_{\sigma_1(n)},y_{\sigma_2(1)},\ldots,y_{\sigma_2(m)},f).$$

For any integer j, consider the lattice

$$\Gamma_{1,j} = \mathbb{Z}^l \times (2^{-j}\mathbb{Z})^n \times \left\{2^{-j}r : r \in \{0,\dots,2^j-1\}\right\}^m \times F$$

of G_1 and the symmetric fundamental domain

$$\mathbf{X}_{1,j} = \{0\}^l \times [-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1})^n \times [-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1})^m \times \{e_F\}.$$

It is easy to check that the transformation (6.5.6) preserves both $\Gamma_{1,j}$ and $X_{1,j}$. Then $G_1, G_2, (\Gamma_{1,j}), (X_{1,j})$ and η satisfy all the assumptions of Proposition 6.31 and consequently Theorem 6.16 applies to the group $G = G_1 \rtimes_{\eta} G_2$.

More generally, G_2 can be any countable discrete (amenable) group such that η_t is given by a coordinate permutation as in (6.5.6) for any $s \in G_2$.

Now, we give a natural semidirect product for which we can apply Proposition 6.31 and 6.32. Let $\mathbb{H}_n = \mathbb{R}^{2n+1}$ be the (continuous) Heisenberg group with group operations

$$(a,b,t) \cdot (a',b',t') = (a+a',b+b',t+t'+a \cdot b') \quad \text{and} \quad (a,b,t)^{-1} = (-a,-b,-t+a \cdot b),$$

where $a, b, a', b' \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $t, t' \in \mathbb{R}$ and where \cdot denotes the canonical scalar product on \mathbb{R}^n . Recall that \mathbb{H}_n is unimodular and the Haar measure on \mathbb{H}_n is just usual Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R}^n . We can use our results with the semi-discrete Heisenberg group described in the following result, see [136, page 1459] for more information on this group.

PROPOSITION 6.34. – Let $H_n = \{(x, y, t) \in \mathbb{H}_n : x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^n, t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ be the (amenable) closed subgroup of the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}_n . For any integer j, we consider the lattice subgroup $\Gamma_j = \mathbb{Z}^n \times \mathbb{Z}^n \times 2^{-j}\mathbb{Z}$ of H_n and the associated symmetric fundamental domain $X_j = \{0\} \times \{0\} \times [-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1})$. Then H_n is ALSS with respect to the increasing sequence (Γ_j) and to the sequence (X_j) . Moreover, for any j and any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, we have

(6.5.8)
$$\frac{1}{\mu(X_j)} \int_{H_n} \frac{\mu^2(X_j \cap \gamma X_j s)}{\mu^2(X_j)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) = \frac{2}{3}.$$

In particular, Theorem 6.16 applies.

Proof. – Using (6.5.7), it is easy to see that H_n is a closed subgroup of \mathbb{H}_n , so it is locally compact. If $G_1 = \{(0, b, t) : b \in \mathbb{Z}^n, t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ and $G_2 = \{(a, 0, 0) : a \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}$, it is not difficult to check by using again (6.5.7) that G_1 and G_2 are closed subgroups of H_n , $H_n = G_1G_2, G_1 \cap G_2 = \{(0, 0, 0)\}$ and that G_1 is normal in H_n . By [74, Proposition page 184], we deduce an isomorphism $H_n = G_1 \rtimes_n G_2$ of topological groups where

(6.5.9) $\eta_{(a,0,0)}(0,b,t) = (0,b,t+b\cdot a), \quad a,b \in \mathbb{Z}^n, t \in \mathbb{R}.$

Note that G_1 is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ and that G_2 is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z}^n . For any j, we consider $\Gamma_{1,j} = \mathbb{Z}^n \times 2^{-j}\mathbb{Z}$ and $X_{j,1} = \{0\}^n \times [-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1})$. For any $(a, 0, 0) \in G_2$ and any integer j, using (6.5.9), we see that $\eta_{(a,0,0)}(\Gamma_{1,j}) \subset \Gamma_{1,j}$ and $\eta_{(a,0,0)}(X_{1,j}) \subset X_{1,j}$. By Proposition 6.31, we deduce that Γ_j is a lattice subgroup of H_n , that X_j is an associated fundamental domain and that the group H_n is ALSS with respect to the sequences (Γ_j) and (X_j) . Finally the equality (6.5.8) is a consequence of Proposition 6.32 and Proposition 6.31.

We finish by bringing to light a bad behavior of (6.4.2) with respect to the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}_3 .

PROPOSITION 6.35. – For any integer j, we consider the lattice subgroup $\Gamma_j = 2^{-j}\mathbb{Z} \times 2^{-j}\mathbb{Z} \times 2^{-2j}\mathbb{Z}$ of the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}_3 and the associated fundamental domain $X_j = [-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1}) \times [-2^{-j-1}, 2^{-j-1}) \times [-2^{-2j-1}, 2^{-2j-1}]$. Then the Heisenberg group \mathbb{H}_3 is ALSS with respect to the increasing sequence (Γ_j) and to the sequence (X_j) . Moreover, for every fixed $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3) \in \Gamma_{j_0}$ for some $j_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ with $(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \neq (0, 0)$ and $\gamma_1 \cdot \gamma_2 = 0$ we have

(6.5.10)
$$\lim_{j \to +\infty} \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_j)} \int_{\mathbb{H}_3} \frac{\mu^2(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s)}{\mu^2(\mathbf{X}_j)} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) = 0.$$

In particular, for this choice of group, and sequences of lattices and fundamental domains, Theorem 6.16 is not applicable.

Proof. – Note that it is obvious that \mathbb{H}_3 is ALSS with respect to the sequences (Γ_j) and (X_j) . First observe that for any $s \in \mathbb{H}_3$ and any integer j we have

$$\begin{split} \mu(\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s) &= \int_{\mathbb{H}_3} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_j \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_j s}(t) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(t) = \int_{\mathbb{H}_3} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_j}(t) \mathbf{1}_{\gamma \mathbf{X}_j s}(t) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(t) \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{H}_3} \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_j}(t) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_j}(\gamma^{-1} t s^{-1}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(t). \end{split}$$

For any $s \in \mathbb{H}_3$, any j and any $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$, we have using the invariance of the Haar measure in the third equality (to use $u = \gamma^{-1} t s^{-1}$)

$$\begin{aligned} &(6.5.11) \\ &\frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})} \int_{\mathbb{H}_{3}} \frac{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}s)}{\mu^{2}(\mathbf{X}_{j})} \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) = \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{H}_{3}} \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}s) \mu(\mathbf{X}_{j} \cap \gamma \mathbf{X}_{j}s) \, \mathrm{d}\mu(s) \\ &= \frac{1}{\mu(\mathbf{X}_{j})^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{H}_{3}} \int_{\mathbb{H$$

If $\gamma = (\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3) \in \Gamma_j$ and if $r, u, t \in X_j$, by (6.5.7), a tedious yet elementary calculation yields (6.5.13) $\gamma^{-1}rt^{-1}\gamma u = (u_1 + r_1 - t_1, u_2 + r_2 - t_2, u_3 + r_3 - t_3 - \gamma_1r_2 + t_1t_2 - t_1\gamma_2 - t_1u_2 + r_1\gamma_2 + r_1u_2 - r_1t_2 + \gamma_1t_2).$

We estimate from above. The last indicator function in the previous triple integral can be majorized by $1_{|(\gamma^{-1}rt^{-1}\gamma u)_3| \leq 2^{-2j-1}}$. If $|(\gamma^{-1}rt^{-1}\gamma u)_3| \leq 2^{-2j-1}$ and $r, u, t \in X_j$, then by triangle inequality and (6.5.13), we have

$$\begin{aligned} |-\gamma_1 r_2 - t_1 \gamma_2 + r_1 \gamma_2 + \gamma_1 t_2| &\leq \left| (\gamma^{-1} r t^{-1} \gamma u)_3 \right| + |u_3 + r_3 - t_3 + t_1 t_2 - t_1 u_2 + r_1 u_2 - r_1 t_2| \\ &\leq 2^{-2j-1} \left(1 + 1 + 1 + 1 + 2 + 2 + 2 + 2 \right) = 6 \cdot 2^{-2j}. \end{aligned}$$

Using the equality $\frac{1}{\mu(X_j)^3} = 2^{12j}$, this says that (6.5.11) is less than

$$2^{12j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} 1_{|r_1|, |u_1|, |t_1|, |r_2|, |u_2|, |t_2| \le 2^{-j-1}} 1_{|r_3|, |u_3|, |t_3| \le 2^{-2j-1}} 1_{|-\gamma_1 r_2 - t_1 \gamma_2 + r_1 \gamma_2 + \gamma_1 t_2| \le 6 \cdot 2^{-2j}} \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}u \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

We cheaply integrate over u_1, u_2, r_3, u_3 and t_3 and obtain

$$=2^{12j}2^{-8j}\int_{\mathbb{R}^4} 1_{|r_1|,|t_1|,|r_2|,|t_2|\leq 2^{-j-1}} 1_{|-\gamma_1r_2-t_1\gamma_2+r_1\gamma_2+\gamma_1t_2|\leq 6\cdot 2^{-2j}} \,\mathrm{d}r_1 \,\mathrm{d}r_2 \,\mathrm{d}t_1 \,\mathrm{d}t_2.$$

Now suppose first that $\gamma_2 = 0$ and $\gamma_1 \neq 0$. Then the last indicator function can be simplified and we can cheaply integrate over r_1 and t_1 to estimate further

$$\leq 2^{4j} 2^{-2j} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} 1_{|r_2|, |t_2| \leq 2^{-j-1}} 1_{|-r_2+t_2| \leq \frac{1}{|\gamma_1|} 6 \cdot 2^{-2j}} \, \mathrm{d}r_2 \, \mathrm{d}t_2 \\ = 2^{2j} \int_{-2^{-j-1}}^{2^{-j-1}} \int_{-2^{-j-1}}^{2^{-j-1}} 1_{|t_2-r_2| \leq \frac{1}{|\gamma_1|} 6 \cdot 2^{-2j}} \, \mathrm{d}r_2 \, \mathrm{d}t_2 = \frac{1}{4} \int_{-1}^{1} \int_{-1}^{1} 1_{|t_2'-t_2'| \leq \frac{1}{|\gamma_1|} 12 \cdot 2^{-j}} \, \mathrm{d}r_2' \, \mathrm{d}t_2',$$

where we have performed the change of variables $r'_2 = 2^{j+1}r_2$, $t'_2 = 2^{j+1}t_2$. Now the last double integral is easily seen to converge to 0 as $j \to \infty$. The case $\gamma_1 = 0$ and $\gamma_2 \neq 0$ can be treated in the same way by symmetry.

6.6. Pro-discrete groups

An inverse system of topological groups indexed by a directed set I consists of a family $(G_j)_{j \in I}$ of topological groups and a family $(\psi_{ij} \colon G_j \to G_i)_{i,j \in I, j \ge i}$ of continuous homomorphisms such that $\psi_{ii} = \mathrm{Id}_{G_i}$ and $\psi_{ij}\psi_{jk} = \psi_{ik}$ whenever $k \geq j \geq i$ [180, Definition 1.1.1]. An inverse system is called a surjective inverse system if each map ψ_{ij} is surjective. Now let (G_j, ψ_{ij}) be an inverse system of topological groups and let G be a topological group. We shall call a family of continuous homomorphisms $\psi_j \colon G \to G_j$ compatible with the inverse system if $\psi_{ij}\psi_j = \psi_i$ whenever $j \geq i$. An inverse limit of an inverse system (G_j, ψ_{ij}) of topological groups is a topological group G together with a compatible family $\psi_j \colon G \to G_j$ of continuous homomorphisms with the following universal property: whenever $\psi'_i \colon G' \to G_j$ is a compatible family of continuous homomorphisms from a topological group G', there exists a unique continuous homomorphism $\varphi \colon G' \to G$ such that $\psi_i \varphi = \psi'_i$ for each j. Each inverse system admits an inverse limit, given by the following construction [180, Proposition 1.1.4]:

(6.6.1)
$$\varprojlim G_j = \left\{ s \in \prod_{j \in I} G_j : p_i(s) = \psi_{ij}(p_j(s)) \text{ for all } i \le j \right\}$$

with the subspace topology from the product topology and with projection maps ψ_i given by the restrictions to $\varprojlim G_j$ of the projection maps $p_i \colon \prod_{j \in I} G_j \to G_i$ from the product.

We say that a topological group G is pro-discrete if it is isomorphic to the inverse limit of an inverse system of discrete groups. We have the following characterization for locally compact groups which is a variation of [155, Lemma 1.3]. For the sake of completeness, we give a complete proof.

PROPOSITION 6.36. – A locally compact group G is pro-discrete if and only if it admits a basis (X_i) of neighborhoods of the identity e_G consisting of open compact normal subgroups. In this case, we have $G = \lim_{i \to \infty} G_j$ where the inverse system is given by the

groups $G_j = G/X_j$ and by the homomorphisms $\psi_{ij}: G_j \to G_i, sX_j \mapsto sX_i$ for $j \ge i$ and where the preorder is the opposite of inclusion⁽⁵⁷⁾ of the X_j 's. Moreover, if G is first countable then there exists a countable basis of open compact normal subgroups. Finally, a pro-discrete locally compact group G is always totally disconnected.

Proof. – Suppose that *G* admits a family (X_j) of open compact normal subgroups forming a neighborhood basis of e_G . For any $j \in I$, we set $G_j \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} G/X_j$, which is discrete by [98, Theorem 5.21] since X_j is open. We use the preorder defined in the statement of the result. For $j \geq i$, i.e., $X_j \subset X_i$, we also consider the well-defined homomorphism $\psi_{ij}: G_j \to G_i, sX_j \mapsto sX_i$. It is plain to check ⁽⁵⁸⁾ that the $(\psi_{ij})_{j\geq i}$ is an inverse system. We consider the construction (6.6.1) of the inverse limit $\lim_{i \to i} G_j$. Note that the family of continuous homomorphisms $\psi'_j: G \to G/X_j, s \mapsto sX_j$ is compatible ⁽⁵⁹⁾. According to the universal property, there exists a continuous homomorphism $\varphi: G \to \lim_{i \to i} G_j$ satisfying the compatibility $\psi'_j = \psi_j \varphi$. For any $s \in G$, this means that

$$s\mathbf{X}_j = \psi'_j(s) = \psi_j(\varphi(s)) = p_j(\varphi(s)),$$

so that $\varphi(s)$ is equal to the element $(sX_j)_{j\in I}$ of the product $\prod_{j\in I} G/X_j$.

It remains to check that φ is bijective. For the injectivity, suppose that $\varphi(s) = e$, so $sX_j = X_j$ for all j. Thus, $s \in X_j$ for all j. Since G is Hausdorff and since the X_j 's form a basis of neighborhoods, we obtain $s = e_G$. For the surjectivity, let $t = (s_jX_j)_{j \in I}$ be an element of $\varprojlim G_j$. Let F be a finite subset of I. Consider some $i \in I$ such that $i \ge j$ for any $j \in F$. For $j \in F$, we have

$$s_j \mathbf{X}_j = p_j(t) = \psi_{ji}(p_i(t)) = \psi_{ji}(s_i \mathbf{X}_i) = s_i \mathbf{X}_j,$$

so $s_i \in s_j X_j$. Hence s_i belongs to $\cap_{j \in F} s_j X_j$. We infer that the collection of the compact subsets $s_j X_j$ has the finite intersection property. We conclude that there exists $s \in \cap_{j \in I} s_j X_j$. Consequently $\varphi(s) = (sX_j)_{j \in I} = (s_j X_j)_{j \in I} = t$. We conclude that $G \cong \lim_{j \to I} G_j$.

Assume now that G is an inverse limit $\varprojlim G_j$ of discrete groups G_j . Again, we use the description (6.6.1). Since each ψ_j is continuous, each kernel Ker $\psi_j = \psi_j^{-1}(\{e_j\})$ is the preimage of an open set, hence open in G. We also know that Ker ψ_j is normal and closed as a kernel of a continuous homomorphism. It only remains to check that the Ker ψ_j 's form a neighborhood basis of the identity e_G . Indeed since Ker ψ_j will fall within any given compact neighborhood of e_G for big enough j, Ker ψ_j will also be compact for such j.

Let U be any neighborhood of e_G in G. Then by trace topology, there exists a neighborhood \tilde{U} of e_G in $\prod_{j \in I} G_j$ with $U = \tilde{U} \cap G$. By the definition of the product topology, there exists some finite subset F of I such that the subset $\tilde{V} = \prod_{j \in I} A_j$ of $\prod_{i \in I} G_j$ satisfies $\tilde{V} \subset \tilde{U}$ with $A_j = \{e_j\}$ if $j \in F$ and $A_j = G_j$ if $j \notin F$. Since I is

^{57.} We let $j \ge i$ if and only if $X_j \subset X_i$.

^{58.} If $k \ge j \ge i$ we have $\psi_{ij}\psi_{jk}(sX_k) = \psi_{ij}(sX_j) = sX_i = \psi_{ik}(sX_k)$.

^{59.} If $j \ge i$ we have $\psi_{ij}\psi'_i(s) = \psi_{ij}(sX_j) = sX_i = \psi'_i(s)$.

directed, we can choose $i \in I$ such that $i \geq j$ for any $j \in F$. Then for any $s \in \text{Ker } \psi_i$ and any $j \in F$, we have

$$p_j(s) = \psi_{ji}(p_i(s)) = \psi_{ji}(\psi_i(s)) = \psi_{ji}(e_i) = e_j.$$

Hence Ker $\psi_j \subset \tilde{V}$. Consequently, we have Ker $\psi_j \subset \tilde{V} \cap G \subset U$. We have shown that the Ker ψ_j 's form a neighborhood basis of the identity.

If G is first countable, there exists a countable neighborhood basis of e_G , so we can also extract a sequence of the Ker ψ_i forming a neighborhood basis of e_G .

We turn to the last claim. Recall that the intersection of all open subgroups of a locally compact group is the connected component of the identity e_G by [98, Theorem 7.8]. Since G is Hausdorff, the intersection of closed neighborhoods of e_G is $\{e_G\}$. Since an open subgroup is always closed [98, Theorem 5.5], we infer that the component of the identity is equal to $\{e_G\}$. By [98, Theorem 7.3], we conclude that G is totally disconnected.

In particular, by [31, Proposition 3 page 20], a pro-discrete locally compact group G is unimodular.

REMARK 6.37. – Note that a locally compact group G is totally disconnected if and only if the compact open subgroups form a basis of neighborhoods of the identity e_G . The end of the proof of Proposition 6.36 proves the more general implication \Leftarrow . The converse is [98, Theorem 7.7].

There is the following variant of Theorem 6.16.

THEOREM 6.38. – Let $G = \varprojlim G_j$ be a second countable pro-discrete locally compact group with respect to an inverse system indexed by \mathbb{N} . Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Assume that G is amenable if 1 . Then there exists a contractive map

$$P^p_G \colon \mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$$

with the properties:

- 1. If T is completely positive, then $P_G^p(T)$ is also completely positive.
- 2. If $T = M_{\psi}$ is a Fourier multiplier on $L^{p}(VN(G))$ with bounded measurable symbol $\psi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ then $P^{p}_{G}(M_{\psi}) = M_{\psi}$.

Moreover, P_G^p has the following compatibility: if $T \in \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))) \cap \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^q(\operatorname{VN}(G)))$ for some $1 \leq p, q \leq \infty$, then $P_G^p(T)$ being twice defined as an element of $\mathfrak{M}^{p,\operatorname{cb}}(G)$ and $\mathfrak{M}^{q,\operatorname{cb}}(G)$ coincides on $\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \cap \operatorname{L}^q(\operatorname{VN}(G))$. Note that in the case $p = \infty$, we can take $\operatorname{CB}_{w^*}(\operatorname{VN}(G))$ as the domain space of P_G^∞ .

Proof. – Let $G = \lim_{i \to G_j} G_j$ be a second countable pro-discrete locally compact group. By Proposition 6.36, \overline{G} admits a (countable) basis (X_j) of neighborhoods of the identity e_G consisting of open compact normal subgroups. By (6.1.5), we have an isomorphism from the group von Neumann algebra $VN(G/X_j)$ onto $p_{X_j}VN(G)$. Using Lemma 6.2, we obtain a completely positive and completely contractive map

$$L^{p}(VN(G/X_{j})) \rightarrow L^{p}(p_{X_{j}}VN(G)) = p_{X_{j}}L^{p}(VN(G)).$$

By composing this map with the identification $L^p(p_{X_j}VN(G)) \subset L^p(VN(G))$, we obtain a (normal if $p = \infty$) completely positive and completely contractive map

$$\Phi_j^p \colon \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G/\mathrm{X}_j)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)), \lambda_{G/\mathrm{X}_j,s\mathrm{X}_j} \mapsto \mu_G(\mathrm{X}_j)^{\frac{1}{p}} p_{\mathrm{X}_j} \lambda_{G,s}.$$

Furthermore, we consider the adjoint (preadjoint if p = 1)

$$\Psi_j^p = \left(\Phi_j^{p^*}\right)^* \colon \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G/\mathrm{X}_j))$$

of $\Phi_j^{p^*}$ which is also (normal if $p = \infty$) completely contractive and completely positive by Lemma 2.9 for any $1 \le p \le \infty$.

Let $T: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ be some completely bounded map. Now, using Theorem 4.2 for the discrete group G/X_j (since X_j is open; note that if $p \neq \infty$, G/X_j is amenable by [19, Proposition G.2.2]), we define the completely bounded Fourier multiplier

$$M_{\varphi_j} = P^p_{G/\mathcal{X}_j} \left(\Psi^p_j T \Phi^p_j \right) \colon \mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G/\mathcal{X}_j)) \to \mathcal{L}^p(\mathcal{VN}(G/\mathcal{X}_j))$$

if $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $M_{\varphi_j} = P^{\infty}_{G/X_j}(\Psi_j^{\infty}P_{w^*}(T)\Phi_j^{\infty})$: $\operatorname{VN}(G/X_j) \to \operatorname{VN}(G/X_j)$ if $p = \infty$, where the contractive map P_{w^*} : $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \to \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{VN}(G))$ is described in Proposition 3.1. Note that $\varphi_j \colon G/X_j \to \mathbb{C}$ is defined by $\varphi_j(s/X_j) = \tau_{G/X_j}(\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p(\lambda_{sX_j}) \lambda_{s^{-1}X_j})$ (if T is normal in the case $p = \infty$). Then

$$\begin{split} \left\| M_{\varphi_j} \right\|_{\operatorname{cb},\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G/\operatorname{X}_j)) \to \operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G/\operatorname{X}_j))} &= \left\| P_{G/\operatorname{X}_j}^p \left(\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p \right) \right\|_{\operatorname{cb},\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G/\operatorname{X}_j)) \to \operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G/\operatorname{X}_j))} \\ &\leq \left\| \Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p \right\|_{\operatorname{cb},\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G/\operatorname{X}_j)) \to \operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G/\operatorname{X}_j))} \\ &\leq \left\| T \right\|_{\operatorname{cb},\operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \to \operatorname{L}^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))} , \end{split}$$

in the case $1 \leq p < \infty$ and similarly in the case $p = \infty$. Note that each function φ_j is continuous since G/X_j is discrete. Now, we define the continuous complex function $\tilde{\varphi}_j = \varphi_j \circ \pi_j \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ where $\pi_j \colon G \to G/X_j$ is the canonical surjective map. Since the homomorphism π_j is continuous, according to Proposition 6.14, the symbol $\tilde{\varphi}_j$ induces a completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$ and we have the estimate

$$\begin{split} \left\| M_{\widetilde{\varphi}_{j}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} &= \left\| M_{\varphi_{j}} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G/\mathrm{X}_{j})) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G/\mathrm{X}_{j}))} \\ &\leq \left\| T \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \,. \end{split}$$

Now, we suppose that $T = M_{\psi}$ for a (bounded) measurable symbol $\psi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ giving rise to a completely bounded L^p Fourier multiplier. We start by giving a description of the symbol $\tilde{\varphi}_j$ as an average of ψ .

LEMMA 6.39. – For any $s \in G$, we have

(6.6.2)
$$\widetilde{\varphi}_j(s) = \int_{\mathbf{X}_j} \psi(st) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{\mathbf{X}_j}(t).$$

Proof. – The subgroup X_j is open, so $\mu_G|_{X_j}$ is a left Haar measure on X_j and $\mu_{X_j} = c_j \mu_G|_{X_j}$ where $c_j = \frac{1}{\mu_G(X_j)}$. Moreover, for any $s \in G$, the indicator function 1_{sX_j} belongs to $C_c(G)$ since sX_j is an open and compact subset of G. For any $s, t \in G$, note that

$$(1_{sX_j} * \check{1}_{X_j})(t) = \int_G 1_{sX_j}(r)\check{1}_{X_j}(r^{-1}t) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(r) = \int_{sX_j} 1_{X_j}(t^{-1}r) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G(r)$$

= $\mu_G(sX_j \cap tX_j) = \mu_G(sX_j) 1_{sX_j}(t).$

We conclude that $1_{sX_j} \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$. Then, for any $s \in G$, using the definition of a Fourier multiplier and Lemma 6.2, we see that

$$M_{\psi}(\lambda_{G,s}p_{\mathbf{X}_{j}}) = M_{\psi}(\lambda_{G,s}c_{j}\lambda_{G}(1_{X_{j}})) = c_{j}M_{\psi}(\lambda_{G}(1_{s\mathbf{X}_{j}})) = c_{j}\lambda_{G}(\psi 1_{s\mathbf{X}_{j}})$$

and similarly

$$\lambda_{G,s^{-1}}p_{\mathbf{X}_j} = c_j \lambda_{G,s^{-1}} \lambda_G(\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_j}) = c_j \lambda(\mathbf{1}_{s^{-1}\mathbf{X}_j}).$$

For any $s \in G$, using the Plancherel Formula (6.1.3), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\varphi}_{j}(s) &= \varphi_{j} \circ \pi_{j}(s) = \tau_{G/X_{j}} \left(\Psi_{j}^{p} M_{\psi} \Phi_{j}^{p} (\lambda_{G/X_{j},sX_{j}}) \lambda_{G/X_{j},s^{-1}X_{j}} \right) \\ &= \tau_{G} \left(M_{\psi} \Phi_{j}^{p} (\lambda_{G/X_{j},sX_{j}}) \Phi_{j}^{p^{*}} (\lambda_{G/X_{j},s^{-1}X_{j}}) \right) \\ &= \mu_{G}(X_{j})^{\frac{1}{p}} \mu_{G}(X_{j})^{1-\frac{1}{p}} \tau_{G} \left(M_{\psi} (\lambda_{G,s} p_{X_{j}}) \lambda_{G,s^{-1}} p_{X_{j}} \right) \\ &= c_{j} \tau_{G} \left(\lambda_{G} (\psi \mathbf{1}_{sX_{j}}) \lambda_{G} (\mathbf{1}_{s^{-1}X_{j}}) \right). \end{split}$$

Now, using the normality of the subgroup X_j , we see that

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\varphi}_{j}(s) &= c_{j} \int_{G} \psi(r) \mathbf{1}_{s\mathbf{X}_{j}}(r) \mathbf{1}_{s^{-1}\mathbf{X}_{j}}(r^{-1}) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(r) = c_{j} \int_{s\mathbf{X}_{j}} \psi(r) \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{X}_{j}s}(r) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(r) \\ &= c_{j} \int_{s\mathbf{X}_{j}} \psi(r) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(r) = c_{j} \int_{\mathbf{X}_{j}} \psi(st) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(t) = \int_{\mathbf{X}_{j}} \psi(st) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{\mathbf{X}_{j}}(t). \end{split}$$

Let $\mathbb{E}_{j}^{\infty} \colon L^{\infty}(G) \to L^{\infty}(G)$ be the normal conditional expectation associated with the σ -algebra generated by the left cosets of X_{j} in G considered in [105, page 182-183] (see also [103, page 69]) and $\mathbb{E}_{j}^{1} \colon L^{1}(G) \to L^{1}(G)$ the contractive associated map. The previous lemma says that for any integer j we have $\tilde{\varphi}_{j} = \mathbb{E}_{j}^{\infty}(\psi)$. Now, we prove the following convergence result.

LEMMA 6.40. – Let G be a pro-discrete locally compact group and let (X_j) be a decreasing basis of neighborhoods of the identity e_G consisting of open compact normal subgroups. Let $\mathbb{E}_j^{\infty} \colon L^{\infty}(G) \to L^{\infty}(G)$ be the normal conditional expectation associated with the σ -algebra generated by the left cosets of X_j in G. For any $\psi \in L^{\infty}(G)$, the net $(\mathbb{E}_j^{\infty}(\psi))$ converges to ψ for the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}(G)$.

Proof. – By [101, Proposition 2.6.32], for any $f \in L^{\infty}(G)$ and any $g \in L^{1}(G)$, we have $\langle \mathbb{E}_{j}^{\infty}(f), g \rangle_{L^{\infty}(G), L^{1}(G)} = \langle f, \mathbb{E}_{j}^{1}(g) \rangle_{L^{\infty}(G), L^{1}(G)}$. Consequently, the map $\mathbb{E}_{j}^{\infty} : L^{\infty}(G) \to L^{\infty}(G)$ admits as preadjoint the contractive

Consequently, the map $\mathbb{E}_j^{\infty} \colon L^{\infty}(G) \to L^{\infty}(G)$ admits as preadjoint the contractive map $\mathbb{E}_j^1 \colon L^1(G) \to L^1(G)$. So it suffices to show that the net (\mathbb{E}_j^1) converges to the

identity for the weak operator topology. Actually, we will show that the convergence is true ⁽⁶⁰⁾ for the norm topology of $L^1(G)$. Since the net (\mathbb{E}_j^1) is uniformly bounded, by [**32**, Proposition 5, Chapt. III, 17.4], it suffices to show that $\mathbb{E}_j^1(g)$ converges to gin $L^1(G)$ for any g belonging to some total subset of $L^1(G)$. By [**35**, Lemma 2 a), VII.15], the subset of positive functions with compact support constant on the left cosets of some X_j is total. So let g be such a function. If $i \geq j$, i.e., if $X_i \subset X_j$, each left coset of X_i in G is a subset of a left coset of X_j in G. Then for almost all $s \in G$ we have

$$\left(\mathbb{E}_i^1(g)\right)(s) = \int_{\mathcal{X}_i} g(st) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{\mathcal{X}_i}(t) = \int_{\mathcal{X}_i} g(s) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{\mathcal{X}_i}(t) = g(s).$$

So $\mathbb{E}^1_i(g) = g$. Hence, for this g, the assertion is true. The proof is complete.

Using Lemma 6.40 together with Lemma 6.7, we deduce that the sequence $(M_{\widetilde{\varphi_j}})$ converges to M_{ψ} in the weak operator topology of $B(L^p(VN(G)))$ (in the point weak* topology if $p = \infty$). Then we proceed as in the proof of Theorem 6.16 to construct the contractive linear maps $P_G^p: CB(L^p(VN(G))) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p,cb}(G)$ and to show that $P_G^p(M_{\psi}) = M_{\psi}$ whenever $M_{\psi} \in \mathfrak{M}^{p,cb}(G)$.

Finally, we show that the map P_G^p preserves the complete positivity. Suppose that T is (normal if $p = \infty$) completely positive. The operator $\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p$ is completely positive. Hence the multiplier $M_{\varphi_j} = P_{G/X_j}^p (\Psi_j^p T \Phi_j^p)$ is also completely positive. By Theorem 6.14, we infer that $M_{\widetilde{\varphi_j}} = M_{\varphi_j \circ \pi_j}$ is completely positive. Using Lemma 2.10, it is easy to deduce that $P_G^p(T)$ is completely positive.

REMARK 6.41. – According to [136, Theorem 12.3.26], a second countable nilpotent $^{(61)}$ compactly generated totally disconnected locally compact group admits a sequence (X_j) satisfying the assumptions of the theorem. Moreover, any second countable compactly generated uniscalar $^{(62)}$ *p*-adic Lie group admits such a sequence (X_j) by [81, Theorem 5.2]. Moreover, *p*-adic can be replaced by pro-*p*-adic [81, Proposition 7.4]. Finally, there exists an example of a compactly generated totally disconnected uniscalar locally compact group which does not have an open compact normal subgroup, see [25] and [117].

REMARK 6.42. – Note that the result applies to the profinite groups acting on locally finite trees described in Section 6.5.

^{60.} This fact is proved in the second countable case in [105, Theorem 3.3] and seesms alluded without proof in the general case in [105, page 184] (see also [103, page 71] for a proof). Here, we give an alternative argument. Finally, Bourbaki transformed this into an exercise [35, Exercise 10 page 89], as usual without giving any reference.

^{61.} Recall that nilpotent implies unimodular by [130].

^{62.} Note that uniscalar implies unimodular, see [136, Theorem 12.3.26].

6.7. Amenable groups and convolutors

In this chapter, we observe that we can obtain compatible projections on spaces of Fourier multipliers associated to abelian locally compact groups and more generally on spaces of convolutors associated to amenable locally compact groups.

Convolution operators. – Let G be a locally compact group and $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Here we use the left translation $\lambda_s \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ with a similar definition to the one of (6.1.1). A bounded linear operator $T \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ (supposed to be weak* continuous in the case $p = \infty^{(63)}$) is said to be a p-convolution operator of G [56, page 8] if for every $s \in G$ we have $\lambda_s T = T\lambda_s$. The set of all convolution operators (or convolutors) of G is denoted $CV_p(G)$. If G is abelian then $CV_p(G) = \mathfrak{M}^p(\hat{G})$ isometrically, see [56, Chapter 1].

If X is a Banach space, the subset $\operatorname{CV}_p(G, X)$ of $\operatorname{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(G, X))$ is defined as the space of convolution operators T such that $T \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X$ extends to a bounded operator on $\operatorname{L}^p(G, X)$. The space $\operatorname{CV}_{p, \operatorname{cb}}(G)$ of completely bounded convolutors on $\operatorname{L}^p(G)$ coincides with $\operatorname{CV}_p(G, S^p)$.

Proposition 6.43 is slight generalization of a particular case of the result [53, Corollaire page 79] (rediscovered in part in [5, Theorem 1.1]). We will thank Antoine Derighetti to communicate this reference.

PROPOSITION 6.43. – Let G be an amenable locally compact group. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Then there exists a contractive projection P_G^p : $B(L^p(G)) \to B(L^p(G))$ (in the case $p = \infty$, we have P_G^∞ : $B_{w^*}(L^\infty(G)) \to B_{w^*}(L^\infty(G))$) onto $CV_p(G)$ such that if $T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ is positive ⁽⁶⁴⁾ then $P_G^p(T)$ is positive. Furthermore, all these mappings are compatible with each other. Moreover, if 1 , $the restriction of <math>P_G^p$ to $CB(L^p(G))$ induces a well-defined contractive projection $P_G^{p,cb}: CB(L^p(G)) \to CB(L^p(G))$ onto $CV_{p,cb}(G)$.

Proof. – The case 1 is [53, Theorem 5] and [5, Theorem 1.1]. The case <math>p = 1 of [5, Theorem 1.1]) gives a projection $P_G^1: B(L^1(G)) \to B(L^1(G))$. Now for a weak^{*} continuous operator $T: L^{\infty}(G) \to L^{\infty}(G)$, we let $P_G^{\infty}(T) = P_G^1(T_*)^*$. We obtain the desired projection. The verifications are left to the reader.

Suppose $1 . Let <math>T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ be a completely bounded operator. For any $f \in L^p(G)$ and any $g \in L^{p^*}(G)$, we consider the complex function $h_{T,f,g}: G \to \mathbb{C}$, $s \mapsto \langle T(\lambda_s(f)), \lambda_s(g) \rangle_{L^p(G), L^{p^*}(G)}$ defined on G. The function $h_{T,f,g}$ is ⁽⁶⁵⁾ bounded.

$$\left| \left\langle T(\lambda_{s}(f)), \lambda_{s}(g) \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(G), \mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(G)} \right| \leq \|T\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(G) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(G)} \|\lambda_{s}(f)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(G)} \|\lambda_{s}(g)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(G)} = \|T\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(G) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(G)} \|f\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(G)} \|g\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(G)}.$$

^{63.} If G is not compact, note that there exist bounded operators $T: L^{\infty}(G) \to L^{\infty}(G)$ which commute with left translations and which are not weak* continuous. We refer to [125] for more information.

^{64.} Recall that the notions of "positivity" and "complete positivity" are identical on commutative L^p -spaces by Proposition 2.24 and a completely positive map is completely bounded by Theorem 3.26. 65. For any $s \in G$, we have

By [98, Theorem 20.4], the maps $G \to L^p(G)$, $s \mapsto T(\lambda_s(f))$ and $G \to L^{p^*}(G)$, $s \mapsto \lambda_s(g)$ are continuous. Using the continuity of the duality bracket $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{L^p(G), L^{p^*}(G)}$ [2, Corollary 6.40] on bounded subsets, we deduce that the map $h_{T,f,g}$ is continuous, hence measurable.

Since G is amenable, by [141, Proposition 4.23], there exists a right invariant mean ⁽⁶⁶⁾ \mathfrak{M} : $L^{\infty}(G) \to \mathbb{C}$. Since $L^{\infty}(G)$ is a unital commutative C*-algebra, the map \mathfrak{M} is completely contractive by [68, Lemma 5.1.1]. The map \mathfrak{B} : $L^{p}(G) \times L^{p^{*}}(G) \to \mathbb{C}$, $(f,g) \mapsto \mathfrak{M}(h_{T,f,g})$ is clearly bilinear. Moreover, for any integer n, any $[f_{ij}] \in M_{n}(L^{p}(G))$ and any $[g_{kl}] \in M_{n}(L^{p^{*}}(G))$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left[\mathfrak{B}(f_{ij},g_{k,l}) \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n^2}} &= \left\| \left[\mathfrak{M}(h_{T,f_{ij},g_{kl}}) \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n^2}} \leq \left\| \left[h_{T,f_{ij},g_{kl}} \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n^2}(\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G))} \\ &= \left\| \left[s \mapsto \left\langle T(\lambda_s(f_{ij})), \lambda_s(g_{kl}) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^p(G),\mathcal{L}^{p^*}(G)} \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n^2}(\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G))} \\ &= \left\| s \mapsto \left[\left\langle T(\lambda_s(f_{ij})), \lambda_s(g_{kl}) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^p(G),\mathcal{L}^{p^*}(G)} \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G,\mathcal{M}_{n^2})} \\ &= \sup_{s \in G} \left\| \left[\left\langle T(\lambda_s(f_{ij})), \lambda_s(g_{kl}) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^p(G),\mathcal{L}^{p^*}(G)} \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n^2}}. \end{split}$$

Now, using [68, (3.2.3)] in the first inequality and the fact left to the reader (to use [143, Proposition 2.1]) that each $\lambda_s \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ is completely isometric in the last equality, we obtain for any $s \in G$

$$\begin{split} & \left\| \left[\left\langle T(\lambda_{s}(f_{ij})), \lambda_{s}(g_{kl}) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(G), \mathcal{L}^{p^{*}}(G)} \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n^{2}}} = \left\| \left\langle \left\langle \left[T(\lambda_{s}(f_{ij})) \right], \left[\lambda_{s}(g_{kl}) \right] \right\rangle \right\rangle \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n^{2}}} \\ & \leq \left\| \left[T(\lambda_{s}(f_{ij})) \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(\mathcal{L}^{p}(G))} \left\| \left[\lambda_{s}(g_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(\mathcal{L}^{p^{*}}(G))} \\ & \leq \left\| T \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, \mathcal{L}^{p}(G) \to \mathcal{L}^{p}(G)} \left\| \left[\lambda_{s}(f_{ij}) \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(\mathcal{L}^{p}(G))} \left\| \left[\lambda_{s}(g_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(\mathcal{L}^{p^{*}}(G))} \\ & = \left\| T \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, \mathcal{L}^{p}(G) \to \mathcal{L}^{p}(G)} \left\| \left[f_{ij} \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n}(\mathcal{L}^{p}(G))} \left\| \left[g_{kl} \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{m}(\mathcal{L}^{p^{*}}(G))}. \end{split}$$

Taking the supremum, we infer that

$$\left\| \left[\mathfrak{B}(f_{ij},g_{k,l}) \right] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_{n^2}} \le \|T\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathcal{L}^p(G) \to \mathcal{L}^p(G)} \left\| [f_{ij}] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_n(\mathcal{L}^p(G))} \left\| [g_{kl}] \right\|_{\mathcal{M}_n(\mathcal{L}^{p^*}(G))}$$

We conclude that \mathfrak{B} is completely bounded in the sense of [68, page 126] with $\|\mathfrak{B}\|_{cb} \leq \|T\|_{cb,L^p(G)\to L^p(G)}$. Hence, by [68, Proposition 7.1.2] there exists a unique completely bounded operator $P_G^{p,cb}(T): L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ such that

$$\mathfrak{B}(f,g) = \left\langle P_G^{p,\mathrm{cb}}(T)(f), g \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^p(G),\mathrm{L}^{p^*}(G)}, \qquad f \in \mathrm{L}^p(G), g \in \mathrm{L}^{p^*}(G)$$

^{66.} That is a unital positive bounded linear form $\mathfrak{M}: L^{\infty}(G) \to \mathbb{C}$ such that $\mathfrak{M}(f_t) = \mathfrak{M}(f)$ for any $t \in G$ where $f_t(s) = f(st)$.

Moreover, we have $\|P_G^{p,cb}(T)\|_{cb,L^p(G)\to L^p(G)} = \|\mathfrak{B}\|_{cb} \leq \|T\|_{cb,L^p(G)\to L^p(G)}$. This operator coincides with the operator $P_G^p(T)$ provided by a slightly simplified ⁽⁶⁷⁾ proof of [5, Theorem 1.1]. The compatibility is left to the reader.

REMARK 6.44. – Consider a locally compact group G. It would be interesting to know if the amenability of G is characterized by the property of Proposition 6.43.

6.8. Description of the decomposable norm of multipliers

The following is a variant of Theorem 4.10.

THEOREM 6.45. – Let G be an amenable second countable unimodular locally compact group which is ALSS satisfying the assumption (6.4.2). Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then a measurable function $\phi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$ if and only if it induces a (completely) bounded Fourier multiplier on VN(G). In this case, we have

(6.8.1)
$$c \|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{VN}(G) \to \mathrm{VN}(G)} \le \|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{dec}, \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \le \|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{VN}(G) \to \mathrm{VN}(G)}$$

Proof. – ⇒: We start with the case of a decomposable Fourier multiplier M_{ϕ} : L^{*p*}(VN(*G*)) → L^{*p*}(VN(*G*)) with a *continuous* symbol. By Proposition 3.12, we can write $M_{\phi} = T_1 - T_2 + i(T_3 - T_4)$, where each T_j is a completely positive map on L^{*p*}(VN(*G*)). Using the map P_G^p of Theorem 6.16 (since *G* is amenable) and the continuity of ϕ , we obtain that

$$M_{\phi} = P_{G}^{p}(M_{\phi}) = P_{G}^{p}(T_{1} - T_{2} + i(T_{3} - T_{4})) = P_{G}^{p}(T_{1}) - P_{G}^{p}(T_{2}) + i(P_{G}^{p}(T_{3}) - P_{G}^{p}(T_{4})),$$

where each $P_G^p(T_j)$ is a completely positive Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$. Hence, by Proposition 6.11, it induces a completely positive Fourier multiplier on VN(G). We conclude that ϕ induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier on VN(G). If ϕ is only bounded and measurable, but the approximating fundamental domains X_j are symmetric (resp. $\gamma X_j = X_j \gamma$ for $\gamma \in \Gamma_j$), then according to Theorem 6.16, we can argue in the same way.

Without the assumption of continuity (resp. symmetry or commutativity of the fundamental domains), we adapt the method of approximation of [**39**, Remark 9.3] by completely bounded multipliers on VN(G). Let $M_{\phi}: L^{p}(VN(G)) \to L^{p}(VN(G))$ be a decomposable Fourier multiplier. Since G is amenable, by Leptin Theorem [**141**, Theorem 10.4], there exists a contractive approximative unit (ψ_i) of the Fourier algebra A(G) such that each ψ_i has compact support. In addition, consider a contractive approximate unit (χ_j) of $L^1(G)$ such that each χ_j is a function belonging to $C_c(G)$ with $\|\chi_j\|_{L^1(G)} = 1$ and $\chi_j \geq 0$ satisfying the properties of [**58**, (14.11.1)] (see [**58**, Example 14.11.2] for the existence). For any i, j, we let $\phi_{i,j} = \chi_j * (\psi_i \phi)$.

^{67.} We can replace the space of right uniformly continuous functions by $L^{\infty}(G)$. Moreover, note that translations of [5, Theorem 1.1] differ from our notation.

We claim that for any i, j, we have

...

(6.8.2)
$$\|M_{\phi_{i,j}}\|_{\operatorname{reg}, L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))} \le \|M_{\phi}\|_{\operatorname{reg}, L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G)) \to L^p(\operatorname{VN}(G))}$$

Indeed, since G is amenable, the von Neumann algebra VN(G) is approximately finitedimensional by [45, Corollary 6.9 (a)]. Using Theorem 3.24, [143, Definition 2.1], the duality [145, Theorem 4.7] and Plancherel Formula (6.1.3), we need to show that for any $N \in \mathbb{N}$, and any $f_{kl}, g_{kl} \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$ where $1 \leq k, l \leq N$ we have

$$\begin{split} \left| \left\langle \left[M_{\phi_{i,j}}(\lambda(f_{kl})) \right], \left[\lambda(g_{kl}) \right] \right\rangle_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G),\mathrm{M}_{N}),\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G),S_{N}^{1})} \right| &= \left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \int_{G} \phi_{i,j}(s) f_{kl}(s) \check{g}_{kl}(s) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(s) \right| \\ &\leq \left\| M_{\phi} \right\|_{\mathrm{reg},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \left\| \left[\lambda(f_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G),\mathrm{M}_{N})} \left\| \left[\lambda(g_{kl}) \right] \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p^{*}}(\mathrm{VN}(G),S_{N}^{1})}. \end{split}$$

Note that

$$\left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \int_{G} \psi_{i}(t)\phi(t)f_{kl}(t)\check{g}_{kl}(t) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(t) \right| = \left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \left\langle M_{\psi_{i}\phi}(\lambda(f_{kl})),\lambda(g_{kl})\right\rangle \right|$$

$$\leq \|M_{\psi_{i}}\|_{\mathrm{reg},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{reg},\mathrm{L}^{p}\to\mathrm{L}^{p}} \left\| [\lambda(f_{kl})] \right\| \left\| [\lambda(g_{kl})] \right\|.$$

By the second and the last part of the proof, we have

$$\|M_{\psi_i}\|_{\mathrm{reg},\mathrm{L}^p\to\mathrm{L}^p} \le \|M_{\psi_i}\|_{\mathrm{VN}(G)\to\mathrm{VN}(G)} \le \|\psi_i\|_{A(G)} \le 1.$$

Using the fact that $\|[\lambda_{s^{-1}}\delta_{kl}]\|_{M_N(VN(G))} = 1$, it is not difficult to prove that the regular norm is translation invariant, so that

$$\left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \int_{G} \psi_{i}(s^{-1}t) \phi(s^{-1}t) f_{kl}(t) \check{g}_{kl}(t) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(t) \right| \leq \left\| M_{\phi} \right\|_{\mathrm{reg},\mathrm{L}^{p} \to \mathrm{L}^{p}} \left\| [\lambda(f_{kl})] \right\| \left\| [\lambda(g_{kl})] \right\|.$$

Consequently, since $\|\chi_j\|_{L^1(G)} \leq 1$

$$\left| \int_{G} \chi_{j}(s) \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \left(\int_{G} \psi_{i}(s^{-1}t) \phi(s^{-1}t) f_{kl}(t) \check{g}_{kl}(t) d\mu_{G}(t) \right) d\mu_{G}(s) \right|$$

$$\leq \int_{G} |\chi_{j}(s)| \left| \sum_{k,l} \int_{G} \psi_{i}(s^{-1}t) \phi(s^{-1}t) f_{kl}(t) \check{g}_{kl}(t) d\mu_{G}(t) \right| d\mu_{G}(s)$$

$$\leq \|M_{\phi}\|_{\mathrm{reg},\mathrm{L}^{p} \to \mathrm{L}^{p}} \left\| [\lambda(f_{kl})] \right\| \left\| [\lambda(g_{kl})] \right\|.$$

But by Fubini Theorem, we have

$$\left| \int_{G} \chi_{j}(s) \sum_{k,l} \left(\int_{G} \psi_{i}(s^{-1}t) \phi(s^{-1}t) f_{kl}(t) \check{g}_{kl}(t) d\mu_{G}(t) \right) d\mu_{G}(s) \right| \\ = \left| \sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \int_{G} \left(\int_{G} \chi_{j}(s) \psi_{i}(s^{-1}t) \phi(s^{-1}t) d\mu_{G}(s) \right) f_{kl}(t) \check{g}_{kl}(t) d\mu_{G}(t) \right|.$$

.

We deduce that

$$\left|\sum_{k,l=1}^{N} \int_{G} (\chi_{j} * (\psi_{i}\phi))(t) f_{kl}(t) \check{g}_{kl}(t) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(t)\right| \leq \left\|M_{\phi}\right\|_{\mathrm{reg},\mathrm{L}^{p}\to\mathrm{L}^{p}} \left\|[\lambda(f_{kl})]\right\| \left\|[\lambda(g_{kl})]\right\|,$$

and finally, (6.8.2) follows.

Recall that $\psi_i \in C_c(G)$ and $\phi \in L^{\infty}(G)$, so $\psi_i \phi \in L^{\infty}(G)$ with compact support, so $\psi_i \phi \in L^2(G)$. Moreover, each function χ_j belongs to $L^2(G)$. We conclude that $\phi_{i,j} = \chi_j * (\psi_i \phi)$ belongs to $L^2(G) * L^2(G)$, which equals A(G) [72, théorème p. 218], so it is a continuous symbol. Then the first part of the proof and the last part show that each function $\phi_{i,j}$ induces a (completely) bounded multiplier on VN(G) with a uniform completely bounded norm. Thus, there exists a constant $C < \infty$ such that for any i, j, we have for $f, g \in C_c(G) * C_c(G)$ (to adapt if $p = \infty$ or p = 1)

$$\left| \int_{G} \phi_{i,j}(t) f(t) \check{g}(t) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(t) \right| \leq C \left\| \lambda(f) \right\|_{\mathrm{VN}(G)} \left\| \lambda(g) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}.$$

If $\phi_{i,j}$ converges to ϕ in the weak* topology of $L^{\infty}(G)$, then this will yield

$$\left| \int_{G} \phi(t) f(t) \check{g}(t) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}(t) \right| \leq C \, \|\lambda(f)\|_{\mathrm{VN}(G)} \, \|\lambda(g)\|_{\mathrm{L}^{1}(\mathrm{VN}(G))}$$

and consequently, that $||M_{\phi}||_{\mathrm{VN}(G) \to \mathrm{VN}(G)} \leq C$. We show the claimed weak* convergence. For a given $h \in \mathrm{L}^{1}(G)$, we write

$$\langle \phi_{i,j}, h \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G), \mathcal{L}^{1}(G)} = \langle \chi_{j} * (\psi_{i}\phi) - \psi_{i}\phi, h \rangle + \langle \psi_{i}\phi - \phi, h \rangle.$$

For the second summand, note that $\|\psi_i\|_{\infty} \leq \|\psi_i\|_{A(G)} \leq 1$, so that $\psi_i \phi - \phi$ is uniformly bounded in $L^{\infty}(G)$. Moreover, $\psi_i(s) \to 1$ for any $s \in G$, since it is an approximate unit. By dominated convergence, we deduce $\langle \psi_i \phi - \phi, h \rangle \to 0$ as $i \to \infty$. Now for a fixed large *i*, we have that $\langle \chi_j * (\psi_i \phi) - \psi_i \phi, h \rangle \to 0$ according to [58, (14.11.1)].

 \Leftarrow : Let M_{ϕ} : VN(G) \rightarrow VN(G) be a decomposable Fourier multiplier. Similarly, with Corollary 6.25, we can write $M_{\phi} = M_{\phi_1} - M_{\phi_2} + i(M_{\phi_3} - M_{\phi_4})$ where each M_{ϕ_j} : VN(G) \rightarrow VN(G) is completely positive. By Proposition 6.11, each Fourier multiplier ϕ_j induces a completely positive multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$. Using Proposition 3.12, we conclude that ϕ induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$.

The proof of last part is similar to the proof to the one of Theorem 4.10 together with Theorem 3.24 when one remembers that the von Neumann algebra VN(G) is approximately finite-dimensional.

REMARK 6.46. – If we replace the amenability assumption by supposing that VN(G) is approximately finite-dimensional then the end of the proof shows that for any function φ inducing a completely bounded Fourier multiplier on VN(G) we have the inequalities (6.8.1).

Similarly, we obtain the following result:

THEOREM 6.47. – Let G be a second countable amenable pro-discrete locally compact group. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then a function $\phi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\phi}: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ if and only if it induces a (completely) bounded Fourier multiplier on $M_{\phi}: VN(G) \to VN(G)$. In this case, we have

$$\left\|M_{\phi}\right\|_{\operatorname{dec},\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G))\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G))}=\left\|M_{\phi}\right\|_{\operatorname{cb},\operatorname{VN}(G)\to\operatorname{VN}(G)}=\left\|M_{\phi}\right\|_{\operatorname{VN}(G)\to\operatorname{VN}(G)}$$

REMARK 6.48. – In both situations, a function $\phi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ which induces a decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\phi}: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ is equal to a continuous function almost everywhere, see, e.g., [86, Corollary 3.3].

The following observation was communicated ⁽⁶⁸⁾ to us by Sven Raum whom we thank for this. It shows that in the pro-discrete case, a similar remark to Remark 6.46 is useless.

PROPOSITION 6.49. – A second countable pro-discrete locally compact group G is amenable if and only if its von Neumann algebra VN(G) is approximately finite-dimensional.

Proof. – Consider a pro-discrete locally compact group G such that VN(G) is approximately finite-dimensional. By Proposition 6.36, there exists an open compact normal subgroup K of G. Using the central projection p_K of Lemma 6.1, we have a *-isomorphism π : VN(G/K) → VN(G) p_K , $\lambda_{sK} \mapsto \lambda_s p_K$. It is well-known ⁽⁶⁹⁾ that this implies that VN(G) p_K is approximately finite-dimensional and thus that VN(G/K) is approximately finite-dimensional. Furthermore, since K is open, the group G/K is discrete by [98, Theorem 5.26]. By [162, Theorem 3.8.2], we infer that G/K amenable. Since K is amenable, by [19, Proposition G.2.2], we conclude that the group G is amenable. The converse is [45, Corollary 6.9 (a)].

Similarly, we obtain a proof of the next result. The first part is ⁽⁷⁰⁾ essentially stated in [4, Proposition 3.3].

THEOREM 6.50. – Let G be an amenable locally compact group. Suppose 1 . $Then a convolutor <math>T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ of $CV_p(G)$ is regular if and only if it induces a bounded convolutor $T: L^{\infty}(G) \to L^{\infty}(G)$. In this case, we have

$$\|T\|_{\operatorname{reg},\operatorname{L}^{p}(G)\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(G)}=\|T\|_{\operatorname{L}^{\infty}(G)\to\operatorname{L}^{\infty}(G)}(=\|T\|_{\operatorname{cb},\operatorname{L}^{\infty}(G)\to\operatorname{L}^{\infty}(G)}).$$

This result applies to decomposable Fourier multipliers

 $M_{\phi} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$

on an abelian locally compact group G.

^{68.} In [14], we will give another argument.

^{69.} This observation relies on the equivalence between "injective" and "approximately finitedimensional".

^{70.} We warn the reader that the proof [4, Proposition 3.3] is really problematic. The proof of the fundamental point (the surjectivity of the map τ_p) is lacking.

REMARK 6.51. – Consider a locally compact group G. It would be interesting to know if the amenability of G is characterized by the property of Theorem 6.50.

CHAPTER 7

STRONGLY AND CB-STRONGLY NON DECOMPOSABLE OPERATORS

In this chapter, we construct completely bounded operators $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ which cannot be approximated by decomposable operators. We particularly investigate different types of multipliers. We also give explicit examples of such operators on the noncommutative L^p -spaces associated to the free groups (see Theorem 7.28 and Theorem 7.29).

7.1. Definitions

The following definition is an extension of the one of [5, Remark, page 163] on classical L^p -spaces to noncommutative L^p -spaces since the regular norm and the decomposable norm are identical by Theorem 3.24.

DEFINITION 7.1. – We say that an operator $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ is strongly non decomposable if T does not belong to the closure $\overline{\text{Dec}(L^p(M))}$ of the space $\text{Dec}(L^p(M))$ with respect to the operator norm $\|\cdot\|_{L^p(M)\to L^p(M)}$.

It means that T cannot be approximated by decomposable operators. We also introduce the following variation of this definition.

DEFINITION 7.2. – We say that a completely bounded operator $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ is CB-strongly non decomposable if T does not belong to the closure $\overline{\text{Dec}(L^p(M))}^{\text{CB}}$ of the space $\text{Dec}(L^p(M))$ with respect to the completely bounded norm $\|\cdot\|_{cb,L^p(M)\to L^p(M)}$.

If M is approximately finite-dimensional, we also use the words strongly non regular and CB-strongly non regular.

REMARK 7.3. – These two notions are related. Indeed, let $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ be a completely bounded operator in $\overline{\operatorname{Dec}(L^p(M))}^{\operatorname{CB}}$. There exists a sequence (T_n) of decomposable operators acting on $L^p(M)$ such that $||T - T_n||_{cb,L^p(M) \to L^p(M)}$ tends to zero when n approaches $+\infty$. Hence, we have

$$\|T - T_n\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(M) \to \mathrm{L}^p(M)} \le \|T - T_n\|_{\mathrm{cb}, \mathrm{L}^p(M) \to \mathrm{L}^p(M)} \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} 0.$$

Hence T belongs to the closure $\overline{\text{Dec}(L^p(M))}$. We deduce that if T is completely bounded and strongly non decomposable then T is CB-strongly non decomposable.

7.2. Strongly non regular completely bounded Fourier multipliers on abelian groups

Arendt and Voigt proved that the Hilbert transforms on the groups \mathbb{R} , \mathbb{Z} and \mathbb{T} are strongly non regular [5, Example 3.3, 3.4, 3.9]. In the case of an arbitrary abelian locally compact group G, a notion of Hilbert transform is not available in general. Nevertheless, we prove in this section that there exists a strongly non regular completely bounded Fourier multiplier acting on $L^p(G)$.

Complements on convolution operators. – If $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(G)$ is a bounded Borel measure on G, then $\rho_G^p(\mu)$ denotes the element of $\mathrm{CV}_p(G)$, defined by $\rho_G^p(\mu)(f) = f * \Delta_G^{\frac{1}{p^*}} \check{\mu}$ for any continuous function $f: G \to \mathbb{C}$ with compact support, [56, page 8]. Moreover, if $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(G)$ and if H is a closed subgroup of G note that

(7.2.1)
$$1_H \mu = i(\operatorname{Res}_H \mu),$$

where $i(\nu)$ denotes the image of the measure ν under the inclusion map i of H in G.

If X is a Banach space, the subset $CV_p(G, X)$ of $B(L^p(G, X))$ is defined as the space of convolution operators T such that $T \otimes Id_X$ extends to a bounded operator on $L^p(G, X)$.

Positive convolution operators. – The following is [141, Theorem 9.6] (see also [56, page 8], and [4, pages 280–281] for a good explanation). Let G be an *amenable* locally compact group and suppose $1 . Let <math>T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ be a positive convolution operator. Then there exists a positive bounded measure $\mu \in M(G)$ on G such that $T(f) = f * \Delta_G^{\frac{1}{p^*}} \check{\mu}$ for any continuous function $f: G \to \mathbb{C}$ with compact support ⁽⁷¹⁾. Moreover, we have $||T||_{L^p(G)\to L^p(G)} = ||\mu||$.

Canonical isometry from $CV_p(H, X)$ into $CV_p(G, X)$. – Let G be a locally compact group, H a closed subgroup of G, X a Banach space and 1 . There exists acanonical linear isometry

(7.2.2)
$$i: \operatorname{CV}_p(H, X) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G, X).$$

It is a vectorial extension of [56, Theorem 2 page 113], (see also [7, Theorem 2.6]) which can be proven with a similar proof. Note that the remark [56, Remark page 106] gives for any $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(H)$ the equality

(7.2.3)
$$i(\rho_H^p(\mu)) = \rho_G^p(i(\mu)),$$

71. If $s \in G$ we have by [56, page 7] $\left(f * \Delta_G^{\frac{1}{p^*}}\check{\mu}\right)(s) = \int_G f(st)\Delta_G(t)^{\frac{1}{p}} \mathrm{d}\mu(t).$
where $i(\mu)$ denotes the image of the measure μ under the inclusion map i of H in G. Suppose in addition that G is abelian. Using the isomorphism $\widehat{G}/H^{\perp} = \widehat{H}$ given by $\overline{\chi} \mapsto \chi | H$ we can reformulate [56, Theorem 1 page 123] under the equality

$$i(M_{\varphi}) = M_{\varphi \circ \pi}$$

where $\pi \colon \hat{G} \to \hat{G}/H^{\perp}$ is the canonical map.

Isometry from $\operatorname{CV}_p(G/H)$ into $\operatorname{CV}_p(G)$. – Let G be an amenable locally compact group and H be a normal closed subgroup of G such that G/H is compact. By [54, page 4 and 11], there exist an isometry $\Omega: \operatorname{CV}_p(G/H) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G)$ and a contraction $R: \operatorname{CV}_p(G) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G/H)$ satisfying $R\Omega = \operatorname{Id}_{\operatorname{CV}_p(G/H)}$ such that for any $\mu \in \operatorname{M}(G)$

$$R(\rho_G^p(\mu)) = \rho_{G/H}^p(T_H\mu),$$

where the measure $T_H(\mu)$ is defined by (see [151, 8.2.12 page 233])

$$\int_{G/H} g \,\mathrm{d}\big(T_H(\mu)\big) = \int_G g \circ \pi_H \,\mathrm{d}\mu_G,$$

for all continuous functions $g: G/H \to \mathbb{C}$ with compact support.

Let G be a locally compact abelian group and H be a compact subgroup of G. We denote by $\pi: G \to G/H$ the canonical map. The mapping $\chi \mapsto \chi \circ \pi$ is an isomorphism of $\widehat{G/H}$ onto H^{\perp} . If $\varphi: H^{\perp} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a complex function, we denote by $\widetilde{\varphi}: \widehat{G} \to \mathbb{C}$ the extension of φ on \widehat{G} which is zero off H^{\perp} . Let X be a Banach space. By [7, Proposition 2.8], the linear map

(7.2.4)
$$\operatorname{CV}_p(G/H, X) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G, X), \quad M_\varphi \to M_{\hat{\varphi}}$$

is an isometry.

Projection from $B(L^p(G))$ onto $CV_p(G)$. – Let G be an amenable group and suppose $1 \le p < \infty$. The result [5, Theorem 1.1] says that there exists a positive contractive projection

(7.2.5) $P_G \colon \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}^p(G)) \to \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{L}^p(G)).$

onto $\mathrm{CV}_p(G)$.

Projection from $\operatorname{CV}_p(G)$ onto $\operatorname{CV}_p(H)$. – Let G be a locally compact group and H be an amenable closed subgroup. Suppose $1 . By [55, Theorems 12 and 15], there exists a projection <math>\mathcal{P} \colon \operatorname{CV}_p(G) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G)$ onto $\{S \in \operatorname{CV}_p(G) : \operatorname{supp} S \subset H\}$ such that if $Q_H = i^{-1} \circ \mathcal{P} \colon \operatorname{CV}_p(G) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(H)$ we have the following properties:

1. $\mathcal{P}(\rho_G^p(\mu)) = \rho_G^p(1_H\mu)$ for every bounded measure $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(G)$,

2.
$$||Q_H(T)||_{L^p(H)\to L^p(H)} \le ||T||_{L^p(G)\to L^p(G)},$$

3. $Q_H(i(S)) = S$ for $S \in CV_p(H)$.

Restriction of multipliers. – Let G be a locally compact abelian group. Let H be a closed subgroup of the dual group \widehat{G} . Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Let $\varphi : \widehat{G} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous complex function which induces a bounded Fourier multiplier (i.e., a convolutor) $M_{\varphi} : L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$. Then, by [154, Corollary 4.6] (see also [47, abstract and page 6]), the restriction $\varphi_{|_H} : H \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a bounded Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi_{|_H}} : L^p(\widehat{H}) \to L^p(\widehat{H})$ and we have

(7.2.6)
$$\|M_{\varphi_{|_H}}\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\hat{H})\to\mathrm{L}^p(\hat{H})} \leq \|M_{\varphi}\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(G)\to\mathrm{L}^p(G)}.$$

We start with a useful observation.

LEMMA 7.4. – Let G be a unimodular amenable locally compact group and H be a closed subgroup of G. Suppose $1 . The map <math>Q_H : \operatorname{CV}_p(G) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(H)$ is positive.

Proof. – Let $T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ be a positive convolution operator. There exists a positive measure $\nu \in M(G)$ such that $T = \rho_G^p(\check{\nu})$. We consider $\mu = \check{\nu}$. We have $T = \rho_G^p(\mu)$. Using (7.2.3) and (7.2.1), we see that

$$\mathcal{P}(\rho_G^p(\mu)) = \rho_G^p(1_H\mu) = \rho_G^p(i(\operatorname{Res}_H\mu)) = i(\rho_H^p(\operatorname{Res}_H\mu)).$$

Using the definition $Q_H = i^{-1} \circ \mathcal{P}$ of Q_H , we obtain finally

$$Q_H(T) = Q_H(\rho_G^p(\mu)) = i^{-1} \left(\mathcal{P}(\rho_G^p(\mu)) \right) = \rho_H^p(\operatorname{Res}_H \mu).$$

Since $\operatorname{Res}_{H}\mu$ is a positive measure, we deduce that $Q_{H}(T)$ is a positive operator. \Box

Similarly, we can prove the two following results.

LEMMA 7.5. – Let G be a unimodular amenable locally compact group and H be a normal closed subgroup of G such that G/H is compact. Suppose 1 . The $map <math>R: \operatorname{CV}_p(G) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G/H)$ is positive.

LEMMA 7.6. – Let G be a unimodular amenable locally compact group and H be a closed subgroup of G. Suppose $1 . The map <math>i: \operatorname{CV}_p(H) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G)$ is positive.

Now, we state our first transference result.

PROPOSITION 7.7. – Let G be a unimodular amenable locally compact group and H be a closed subgroup of G. Then a convolution operator $T: L^p(H) \to L^p(H)$ is a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier if and only if the convolutor $i(T): L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ is strongly non regular. *Proof.* – Note that H is also amenable since it is a subgroup of the amenable group G.

 \Leftarrow : Suppose that T belongs to $\overline{\operatorname{Reg}(\operatorname{L}^p(H))}^{\operatorname{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(H))}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exist some positive operators $R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4 \colon \operatorname{L}^p(H) \to \operatorname{L}^p(H)$ and a bounded map $R \colon \operatorname{L}^p(H) \to \operatorname{L}^p(H)$ of norm less than ε such that $T = R_1 - R_2 + \operatorname{i}(R_3 - R_4) + R$. Since H is amenable, we can use the map (7.2.5) and suppose that R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4 and R are convolution operators. Using the isometry $i \colon \operatorname{CV}_p(H) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G)$ we obtain

$$i(T) = i(R_1) - i(R_2) + i(i(R_3) - i(R_4)) + i(R).$$

Using Lemma 7.6, we see that the operators $i(R_j)$ are positive. Moreover, note that we have $||i(R)||_{L^p(G)\to L^p(G)} = ||R||_{L^p(H)\to L^p(H)} \leq \varepsilon$. It follows that the convolution operator i(T) is ε -close to $\operatorname{Reg}(L^p(G))$ in the Banach space $\operatorname{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(G))$. So letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ yields that $i(T) \in \overline{\operatorname{Reg}(\operatorname{L}^p(G))}^{\operatorname{B}(\operatorname{L}^p(G))}$. This is the desired contradiction.

⇒: Suppose that i(T) belongs to $\overline{\text{Reg}(L^p(G))}^{B(L^p(G))}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exist some positive maps $R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4 \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ and a bounded map $R \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ of norm less than ε such that $i(T) = R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4) + R$. Since G is amenable, using the map (7.2.5), we can suppose that R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4 and R are convolution operators.

Since H is amenable, we can use the contraction $Q_H \colon \mathrm{CV}_p(G) \to \mathrm{CV}_p(H)$. We obtain

$$T = Q_H(i(T)) = Q_H(R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4) + R)$$

= $Q_H(R_1) - Q_H(R_2) + i(Q_H(R_3) - Q_H(R_4)) + Q_H(R)$

Moreover, by the contractivity of Q_H , the convolution operator $Q_H(R) : L^p(H) \to L^p(H)$ is bounded of norm less than ε . Furthermore, by Lemma 7.4, each convolution operator $Q_H(R_k) : L^p(H) \to L^p(H)$ is a positive operator. It follows that T is ε -close to $\operatorname{Reg}(L^p(H))$ in the Banach space $\operatorname{B}(L^p(H))$. So letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ yields that $T \in \overline{\operatorname{Reg}(L^p(H))}^{\operatorname{B}(L^p(H))}$. This is the desired contradiction.

PROPOSITION 7.8. – Let G be a unimodular amenable locally compact group and H be a normal closed subgroup of G such that G/H is compact. If the convolution operator $T: L^p(G/H) \to L^p(G/H)$ is strongly non regular then the convolution operator $\Omega(T): L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ is strongly non regular.

Proof. – Suppose that $\Omega(T)$ belongs to $\overline{\operatorname{Reg}(L^p(G))}^{\operatorname{B}(L^p(G))}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exist some positive maps $S_1, S_2, S_3, S_4 \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ and a bounded map $S \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ of norm less than ε such that $\Omega(T) = S_1 - S_2 + i(S_3 - S_4) + S$. Since G is amenable, using the map (7.2.5), we can suppose that S_1, S_2, S_3, S_4 and S are convolution operators. Using the contraction $R \colon \operatorname{CV}_p(G) \to \operatorname{CV}_p(G/H)$, we obtain

$$T = R(\Omega(T)) = R(S_1) - R(S_2) + i(R(S_3) - R(S_4)) + R(S).$$

Moreover, by R's contractivity, the convolution operator R(S): $L^p(G/H) \to L^p(G/H)$ is bounded of norm less than ε . By Lemma 7.5, each convolution operator $R(S_k): L^p(G/H) \to L^p(G/H)$ is positive. It follows that T is ε -close to $\operatorname{Reg}(L^p(G/H))$ in the Banach space $B(L^p(G/H))$.

So letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ yields that $T \in \overline{\text{Reg}(L^p(G/H))}^{B(L^p(G/H))}$. This is the desired contradiction.

PROPOSITION 7.9. – Let G be a compact abelian group and let H be a closed subgroup of G. If $\varphi: H^{\perp} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a complex function, we denote by $\tilde{\varphi}: \widehat{G} \to \mathbb{C}$ the extension of φ on \widehat{G} which is zero off H^{\perp} . If the function φ induces a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi}: L^p(G/H) \to L^p(G/H)$ then the function $\widetilde{\varphi}$ induces a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier $M_{\widetilde{\varphi}}: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$.

Proof. – Suppose that $M_{\tilde{\varphi}}$ belongs to $\overline{\operatorname{Reg}(L^p(G))}^{\operatorname{B}(L^p(G))}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exist some positive maps $R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4 \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ and a bounded map $R \colon L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ of norm less than ε such that $M_{\tilde{\varphi}} = R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4) + R$.

Since G is amenable, the linear map (7.2.5) yields the existence of some complex functions $\phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3, \phi_4$ and ψ on \hat{G} such that $M_{\tilde{\varphi}} = M_{\phi_1} - M_{\phi_2} + i(M_{\phi_3} - M_{\phi_4}) + M_{\psi}$ such that the Fourier multipliers M_{ϕ_k} are positive on $L^p(G)$ and M_{ψ} is again of norm less than ε .

By Proposition 6.11, each (continuous ⁽⁷²⁾) function ϕ_k induces a positive linear operator $M_{\phi_k} \colon \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G) \to \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G)$ and ϕ_k is positive definite. We infer that the restriction $\phi_k | H^{\perp} \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ is (continuous and) positive definite, and thus by [51, Proposition 4.2], induces a positive operator $M_{\phi_k | H^{\perp}} \colon \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G/H) \to \mathcal{L}^{\infty}(G/H)$. Then by Proposition 6.11, it follows that the Fourier multiplier $M_{\phi_k | H^{\perp}} \colon \mathcal{L}^p(G/H) \to \mathcal{L}^p(G/H)$ is positive.

Note that the group $H^{\perp} = \widehat{G}/\widehat{H}$ is discrete. By (7.2.6), since the function ψ is continuous, the Fourier multiplier $M_{\psi|H^{\perp}} : L^p(G/H) \to L^p(G/H)$ is bounded of norm less than ε . Since

$$M_{\varphi} = M_{\varphi_1|H^{\perp}} - M_{\varphi_2|H^{\perp}} + i \left(M_{\varphi|H^{\perp}} - M_{\varphi_4|H^{\perp}} \right) + M_{\psi|H^{\perp}}$$

it follows that M_{φ} is ε -close to $\operatorname{Reg}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(G/H))$ in the Banach space $\operatorname{B}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(G/H))$, so that letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ yields that $M_{\varphi} \in \overline{\operatorname{Reg}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(G/H))}^{\operatorname{B}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(G/H))}$. This is the desired contradiction.

Let $(\varepsilon_k)_{k\geq 0}$ be a sequence of independent Rademacher variables on some probability space Ω_0 . Let X be a Banach space and let 1 . We let $<math>\operatorname{Rad}_p(X) \subset \operatorname{L}^p(\Omega_0, X)$ be the closure of $\operatorname{span} \{ \varepsilon_k \otimes x \mid k \geq 0, x \in X \}$ in the Bochner space $\operatorname{L}^p(\Omega_0, X)$. Thus, for any finite family $(x_k)_{0 < k < n}$ of elements of X, we have

$$\left\|\sum_{k=0}^{n}\varepsilon_{k}\otimes x_{k}\right\|_{\operatorname{Rad}_{p}(X)}=\left(\int_{\Omega_{0}}\left\|\sum_{k=0}^{n}\varepsilon_{k}(\omega)x_{k}\right\|_{X}^{p}\mathrm{d}\omega\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

^{72.} Note that the group \hat{G} is discrete.

We simply write $\operatorname{Rad}(X) = \operatorname{Rad}_2(X)$. By Kahane's inequalities (see, e.g., [57, Theorem 11.1]), the Banach spaces $\operatorname{Rad}(X)$ and $\operatorname{Rad}_p(X)$ are canonically isomorphic. We will use the following result which is a variant of [65, Theorem 4.1.9].

PROPOSITION 7.10. – Let X be a UMD Banach space. Suppose 1 .

- 1. Let G be a countably infinite discrete abelian group. Assume that there exists a sequence $(H_n)_{n>0}$ of subgroups of the (compact) dual group \hat{G} such that
 - (a) each H_n is open,
 - (b) $H_{n+1} \subsetneqq H_n$,
 - (c) $\bigcap_{n>0} H_n = \{0\}$ and $H_0 = \hat{G}$.

For any integer $n \geq 0$, consider the subset $\Delta_n = H_n \setminus H_{n+1}$ of \hat{G} . Then for any $f \in L^p(G,X)$, the series $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_n \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_n}} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f)$ converges in $\operatorname{Rad}(L^p(G,X))$ and we have the norm equivalence

(7.2.7)
$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(G,X)} \approx \left\|\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_{n} \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_{n}}} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{X})(f)\right\|_{\mathrm{Rad}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(G,X))}$$

- 2. Let G be a compact abelian group. Assume that there exists a sequence $(Y_n)_{n\geq 0}$ of subgroups of the (discrete) dual group \hat{G} such that
 - (a) each Y_n is finite
 - (b) $Y_n \subsetneq Y_{n+1}$,
 - (c) $Y_0 = \{0\}$ and $\bigcup_{n>0} Y_n = \hat{G}$.

Let $\Delta_0 = Y_0$ and $\Delta_n = Y_n \setminus Y_{n-1}$ for $n \ge 1$. Then for any $f \in L^p(G, X)$, the series $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_n \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_n}} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f)$ converges in $\operatorname{Rad}(L^p(G, X))$ and we have the norm equivalence

(7.2.8)
$$\|f\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(G,X)} \approx \left\|\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_n \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_n}} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_X)(f)\right\|_{\mathrm{Rad}(\mathrm{L}^p(G,X))}.$$

Proof. – 1. Let $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{P}(G)$ denote the full σ -algebra of subsets of G. For $n \geq 0$, consider the annihilator $G_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} H_n^{\perp}$ in G. Since each H_n is open and compact, each G_n is compact and open by [151, Remark 4.2.22], hence finite (G is discrete).

For any negative integer $k \leq 0$ consider the σ -algebra \mathcal{F}_k generated by the cosets of G_{-k} in G. Since G is countably infinite, there are only countably many cosets of G_{-k} in G. So by [1, Exercice 4 (a) page 227] the elements of \mathcal{F}_k are the sets which are a union of cosets of G_{-k} in G. Since $H_{-k+1} \subset H_{-k}$ for all $k \leq 0$, by [151, Proposition 4.2.24], we have $G_{-k} \subset G_{-k+1}$. Then it is not difficult to see that $\mathcal{F}_{k-1} \subset \mathcal{F}_k$ if $k \leq 0$. We conclude that $(\mathcal{F}_k)_{k \leq 0}$ is a filtration in G. It is elementary to check ⁽⁷³⁾ that $\bigcup_{n \geq 0} G_n = G$.

Moreover, since G is countable, the counting measure μ_G is σ -finite. Since the G_{-k} are finite, so the restriction of μ_G to each \mathcal{F}_k is also σ -finite. So, by [101, Corollary 2.6.30], the conditional expectation $\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_k)$ with respect to \mathcal{F}_k is well-defined and it is explicitly described in [105, page 183] (see also [103, page 69]), since G_{-k} is compact, by

$$\mathbb{E}(f|\mathcal{F}_k) = T_{G_{-k}}(f) \circ \pi_k \quad \text{(almost everywhere)},$$

where $\pi_k \colon G \to G/G_{-k}$ is the canonical map and where $T_{G_{-k}}$ is essentially defined in [151, page 100]. For any integer $k \leq 0$, since H_{-k} is open, the Poisson formula [151, 5.5.4] says that

$$(T_{G_{-k}}(f) \circ \pi_k)(s) = \int_{H_{-k}} \chi(s)\hat{f}(\chi) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{H_{-k}}(\chi) = \int_{\hat{G}} \chi(s) \mathbf{1}_{H_{-k}}(\chi)\hat{f}(\chi) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{\hat{G}}(\chi).$$

We conclude that the conditional expectation $\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_k)$: $L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ is ⁽⁷⁴⁾ a Fourier multiplier whose symbol is the indicator function $1_{H_{-k}}$. Hence for any $n \ge 0$

$$M_{1_{\Delta_n}} = M_{1_{H_n \setminus H_{n+1}}} = M_{1_{H_n}} - M_{1_{H_{n+1}}} = \mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_{-n}) - \mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_{-n-1})$$

as bounded operators on $L^{p}(G)$. Note that the right hand side is regular on $L^{p}(G)$. Consequently, their tensor products with the identity Id_{X} also coincide.

For any $f \in L^p(G, X)$ and any integer $k \leq 0$, we let $f_k \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_k) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f)$. By [101, Proposition 2.6.3 and Example 3.1.2], we obtain a martingale $(f_k)_{k\leq 0}$ with respect to the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_k)_{k\leq 0}$. Note that since $G_0 = H_0^{\perp} = \hat{G}^{\perp} = \{0\}$ we have $\mathcal{F}_0 = \mathcal{F}$ and thus $f_0 = (\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_0) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f) = f$. Consequently, for any integer $N \geq 1$, we have $\sum_{k=-N+1}^{0} df_k = \sum_{k=-N+1}^{0} (f_k - f_{k-1}) = f_0 - f_{-N} = f - f_{-N}$ and $df_k = f_k - f_{k-1} = (\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_k) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f) - (\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_{k-1}) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f)$. By [101, Proposition 4.2.3] with the change of index n = -k, we infer that

$$\|f - f_{-N}\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(G,X)} \cong \left\| \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} \varepsilon_{n} \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_{n}}} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{X})(f) \right\|_{\mathrm{Rad}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(G,X))}$$

^{73.} Let $s \in G$ and let $I_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} s(H_n)$ be the subgroup of \mathbb{T} where we identify s with $\eta(s)$ where $\eta: G \to \hat{G}$ is the canonical map. Since H_n is compact, I_n is a closed subgroup of \mathbb{T} . Any decreasing sequence of closed subgroups of \mathbb{T} stabilizes (each closed subgroup is finite or equal to \mathbb{T}). So there exists $N \geq 0$ such that I_n is the same for all $n \geq N$. Let I be this common value. We have $I \subset I_n = s(H_n)$ for any $n \geq 0$.

If $I = \{1\}$, then s annihilates H_n for $n \ge N$. Hence $s \in G_n$ for $n \ge N$.

Suppose that I is not trivial. Let $i \in I \setminus \{1\}$ and let $C_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} s^{-1}(\{i\}) \cap H_n$. Then the sets C_n are nonempty for any $n \geq 0$ and form a decreasing sequence of compact subsets of \hat{G} . The intersection $C \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \bigcap_{n \geq 0} C_n$ is thus nonempty. But $C \subset \bigcap_{n \geq 0} H_n = \{0\}$, so this means $0 \in C$. Hence $0 \in s^{-1}(i)$. This is a contradiction, since $i \neq 1$ and s(0) = 1.

^{74.} We can alternatively compute the conditional expectation with [1, Exercice 4 (c) page 227] instead of the Poisson formula.

It is straightforward to check ⁽⁷⁵⁾ that $\bigcap_{k\leq 0} \mathcal{F}_k = \{\emptyset, G\}$. We conclude that the restriction of the measure μ_G to $\bigcap_{k\leq 0} \mathcal{F}_k$ is purely infinite in the sense of [101, Definition 1.2.27 (c)] on the σ -algebra $\mathcal{F}_{-\infty} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \bigcap_{k\leq 0} \mathcal{F}_k$. According to [101, Theorem 3.3.5 (3)], f_{-N} converges to zero in $L^p(G, X)$ when N goes to ∞ . Since X is UMD, X does not contain the Banach space c_0 . Using Hoffmann-Jorgensen-Kwapien Theorem [99], [122], it is not difficult to conclude that the series $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_n \otimes (M_{1\Delta_n} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_X)(f)$ converges in Rad($L^p(G, X)$) and to obtain the claimed norm equivalence of Littlewood-Paley type.

2. Let \mathcal{F} denote the Borel σ -algebra generated by the open subsets of G. For $n \geq 0$, consider the annihilator $G_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Y_n^{\perp}$ in G and the σ -algebra \mathcal{F}_n generated by the cosets of G_n in G. Since each Y_n is open and compact, each G_n is compact and open by [151, Remark 4.2.22]. Since $Y_n \subset Y_{n+1}$ for all $n \geq 0$, we have $G_{n+1} \subset G_n$ and finally $\mathcal{F}_n \subset \mathcal{F}_{n+1}$. We conclude that $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n\geq 0}$ is a filtration in G. Since G is compact, the Haar measure μ_G is finite, so trivially σ -finite on each \mathcal{F}_n . So, by [101, Corollary 2.6.30], the conditional expectation $\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_n)$ with respect to \mathcal{F}_n is welldefined and it is explicitly described in [103, page 69] (since G_n is compact) by

$$\mathbb{E}(f|\mathcal{F}_n) = T_{G_n}(f) \circ \pi_n \quad \text{(almost everywhere)}.$$

where $\pi_n: G \to G/G_n$ is the canonical map and where T_{G_n} is essentially defined in [151, page 100]. For any integer $n \ge 0$, since Y_n is open, the Poisson formula [151, (5.5.4)] says that

$$(T_{G_n}(f) \circ \pi_n)(s) = \int_{Y_n} \chi(s)\hat{f}(\chi) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{Y_n}(\chi) = \int_{\hat{G}} \chi(s) \mathbb{1}_{Y_n}(\chi)\hat{f}(\chi) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{\hat{G}}(\chi).$$

We conclude that the conditional expectation $\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_n): L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$ is a Fourier multiplier whose symbol is the indicator function 1_{Y_n} . Hence for any $n \ge 1$

$$M_{1_{\Delta_n}} = M_{1_{Y_n \setminus Y_{n-1}}} = M_{1_{Y_n}} - M_{1_{Y_{n-1}}} = \mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_n) - \mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_{n-1})$$

as bounded operators on $L^p(G)$. Note that the right hand side is regular on $L^p(G)$. Consequently, their tensor products with the identity Id_X also coincide. Similarly, we have $M_{1_{\Delta_0}} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_X = M_{1_{Y_0}} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_X = \mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_0) \otimes \mathrm{Id}_X$.

$$s_0 \bigcup_{k \le 0} G_{-k} = \bigcup_{k \le 0} s_0 G_{-k} \subset \bigcup_{k \le 0} s_{-k} G_{-k} \subset A.$$

On the other hand, we have already observed that the first set equals G.

^{75.} Let $A \in \bigcap_{k \leq 0} \mathcal{F}_k$. Suppose that $A \neq \emptyset$. Now, we construct a sequence (s_k) of elements of G by induction. There exists some $s_0 \in G$ such that $\{s_0\} = s_0G_0 \subset A$. Suppose that $s_{-k} \in G$ for some $k \leq 0$ satisfy $s_{-k}G_{-k} \subset A$. Since we can write $A = \bigcup_{s \in I_{-k+1}} sG_{-k+1}$ for some index set I_{-k+1} and since G_{-k} is a subgroup of G_{-k+1} , we can choose $s_{-k+1} \in G$ such that $s_{-k}G_{-k} \subset s_{-k+1}G_{-k+1} \subset A$. Moreover, we have $s_{-k}G_{-k} = s_{-k-1}G_{-k}$. Indeed, since $s_{-k-1}G_{-k-1} \subset s_{-k}G_{-k}$, we have $s_{-k-1} \in s_{-k}G_{-k}$. Hence there exists $r_{-k} \in G_{-k}$ such that $s_{-k-1} = s_{-k}r_{-k}$. We deduce that $s_{-k} = s_{-k-1}r_{-k}^{-1}$ and consequently $s_{-k}G_{-k} = s_{-k-1}r_{-k}^{-1}G_{-k} = s_{-k-1}G_{-k}$. Finally, we obtain

For any $f \in L^p(G, X)$ and any integer $n \ge 0$, we let $f_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (\mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_n) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f)$. By [101, Proposition 2.6.3 and Example 3.1.2], we obtain a martingale $(f_n)_{n\ge 0}$ with respect to the filtration $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{n\ge 0}$.

For any integer $N \ge 1$, we have $\sum_{n=1}^{N} df_n = \sum_{n=1}^{N} (f_n - f_{n-1}) = f_N - f_0$ and $df_n = f_n - f_{n-1} = (\mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_n) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f) - (\mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_{n-1}) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f)$ if $n \ge 1$ and $df_0 = f_0 = (\mathbb{E}(\cdot | \mathcal{F}_0) \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f)$.

Note that $\bigcap_{n\geq 0} G_n = \{0\}$. Indeed, if $t \in G_n$, then for any $\chi \in Y_n = G_n^{\perp}$ we have $\chi(t) = 1$. So if $t \in \bigcap_{n\geq 0} G_n$, then $\chi(t) = 1$ for all $\xi \in \bigcup_{n\geq 0} Y_n = \hat{G}$. Thus t = 0 and the claim is proved. Then it is not difficult to check ⁽⁷⁶⁾ that $(G_n)_{n\geq 0}$ is a neighborhood system at 0. Now by [98, (4.21)] (see also [33, Example page 223]), the family of subsets of the form sG_n where $n \geq 0$ and where s runs through G is an open basis for G. So the limit σ -algebra $\mathcal{F}_{\infty} = \sigma\left(\bigcup_{n\geq 0} \mathcal{F}_n\right)$ equals \mathcal{F} .

According to [101, Theorem 3.3.2 (2)], f_N converges to $(\mathbb{E}(\cdot|\mathcal{F}_{\infty}) \otimes \mathrm{Id}_X)(f) = f$ in $\mathrm{L}^p(G, X)$ when N goes to ∞ . Similarly to the case 1, we obtain the convergence of the series $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_n \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_n}} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_X)(f)$ and the equivalence

$$\|f - f_0\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(G,X)} \cong \left\| \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \varepsilon_n \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_n}} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_X)(f) \right\|_{\mathrm{Rad}(\mathrm{L}^p(G,X))}$$

One easily incorporates $||f_0||_{L^p(G,X)} = ||(M_{1_{\Delta_0}} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_X)(f)||_{L^p(G,X)}$ on both sides with [102, page 5] to deduce the claimed Littlewood-Paley norm equivalence.

Note that in the case $X = \mathbb{C}$, using the Maurey-Khintchine inequalities [57, 16.11] the equivalences (7.2.7) and (7.2.8) become

(7.2.9)
$$||f||_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(G)} \approx \left\| \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |M_{1_{\Delta_{n}}} f|^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{p}(G)}.$$

We need the following characterization [150] of the closure $\overline{\mathrm{B}(\hat{G})}$ of the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra $\mathrm{B}(\hat{G}) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{\hat{\mu} : \mu \in \mathrm{M}(G)\}$ of the dual of a locally compact abelian group G in the space $C_b(\hat{G})$ of bounded continuous complex-valued functions on \hat{G} equipped with the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\infty}$. If $f : \hat{G} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a bounded continuous function then f belongs to $\overline{\mathrm{B}(\hat{G})}$ if and only if for any sequence (μ_n) of bounded Borel measures on \hat{G} the conditions $\sup_{n\geq 1} \|\mu_n\| < \infty$ and $\widehat{\mu_n}(x) \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} 0$ for all $x \in G$ imply that $\int_{\hat{G}} f \, \mathrm{d}\mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} 0$.

PROPOSITION 7.11. – Let G be an infinite compact abelian group. Suppose $1 . Then there exists a strongly non regular Fourier completely bounded Fourier multiplier on <math>L^p(G)$.

^{76.} If U is an open subset of G containing 0, consider the decreasing sequence of compact subsets $(G - U) \cap G_n$ and conclude that $G_n \subset U$ if n is large enough.

Proof. – Since G is compact, its dual \hat{G} is discrete. Suppose first that \hat{G} contains an element of infinite order, thus a (necessarily closed) subgroup isomorphic with \mathbb{Z} . Consider the closed subgroup $H = \mathbb{Z}^{\perp}$ of G. Then we have an isomorphism $\widehat{G/H} = H^{\perp} = \mathbb{Z}$. Hence G/H is isomorphic to \mathbb{T} . According to [5, Example 3.9], the Hilbert transform on \mathbb{T} defines a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier on $L^p(G/H)$.

Since S^p is UMD, the Hilbert transform induces a bounded operator on $L^p(\mathbb{R}, S^p)$ by [101, Theorem 5.1.1]. According to the estimate [101, Proposition 5.2.5], the Hilbert transform on \mathbb{T} induces a bounded operator $L^p(G/H, S^p) \to L^p(G/H, S^p)$. Then by the canonical isometry $L^p(G/H, S^p) = S^p(L^p(G/H))$ of [145, (3.6)] and Proposition 2.3, we deduce that the Hilbert transform is completely bounded on $L^p(G/H)$. Thus, by Proposition 7.9 and using the isometry (7.2.4), we deduce that there exists a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier on $L^p(G)$.

Now suppose that no element in \hat{G} has infinite order, i.e., \hat{G} is an infinite abelian torsion group. Then it contains a countably infinite abelian torsion group (consider some countably infinite collection of elements in \hat{G} and take the subgroup spanned by this collection, which is again countably infinite). Arguing as before with Proposition 7.9 and the isometry (7.2.4), it suffices to find a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier on a group having as dual this countable group, so we assume now that \hat{G} is a countably infinite abelian torsion discrete group.

It is (really) elementary to see there exists a sequence $(Y_n)_{n\geq 0}$ of subgroups of \hat{G} with the properties:

- 1. each Y_n is finite,
- 2. $Y_n \subsetneq Y_{n+1}$,
- 3. $Y_0 = \{0\}$ and $\bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} Y_n = \hat{G}$.

Consider now $\Delta_0 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Y_0$, $\Delta_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} Y_n \setminus Y_{n-1}$ for $n \ge 1$. According to Proposition 7.10, the Littlewood-Paley equivalence (7.2.9) holds. This in turn is equivalent [**65**, 1.2.5 pages 8 and 14] to the property that any $\psi \in L^{\infty}(\hat{G})$ which is constant on any Δ_n , $n = 0, 1, 2, \ldots$ and vanishes on all but finitely many Δ_n induces a bounded Fourier multiplier M_{ψ} on $L^p(G)$ with $\|M_{\psi}\|_{L^p(G)\to L^p(G)} \le C_p \|\psi\|_{L^{\infty}(\hat{G})}$. For any integer n, consider the function $\phi_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{k=0}^n 1_{\Delta_{2k+1}}$ defined on \hat{G} . Since $\|\phi_n\|_{L^{\infty}(\hat{G})} \le 1$, we have $\|M_{\phi_n}\|_{L^p(G)\to L^p(G)} \le C_p$. Consider the function $\phi \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (1_{Y_{2n+1}} - 1_{Y_{2n}})$ of $L^{\infty}(\hat{G})$. Since $\phi_n(x) \to \phi(x)$ as $n \to \infty$ for any $x \in \hat{G}$, we conclude using Proposition 6.12 that the Fourier multiplier M_{ϕ} is bounded on $L^p(G), 1 .$

Now, we prove that M_{ϕ} is strongly non regular. According to [5, Theorem 3.1], it suffices to show that ϕ does not belong to the closure of the Fourier-Stieltjes algebra $B(\hat{G})$ in $L^{\infty}(\hat{G})$ -norm. For this in turn, it suffices to find a sequence of measures μ_n on \hat{G} with the properties

- 1. $\|\mu_n\|_{\mathcal{M}(\hat{G})} \leq 2$,
- 2. $\widehat{\mu_n}(s) \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} 0$ for any $s \in G$,

3.
$$\int_{\hat{G}} \phi \, \mathrm{d} \mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} 0.$$

We choose the sequence (μ_n) defined by

$$\mu_n \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \frac{1}{|Y_{n+1}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{n+1}} \delta_x - \frac{1}{|Y_n|} \sum_{x \in Y_n} \delta_x.$$

Then property 1 is clearly satisfied, since the Haar measure on \hat{G} is the counting measure.

For property 2, we have $\widehat{\mu_n} = \mathbf{1}_{G_{n+1}} - \mathbf{1}_{G_n}$, where G_n is the annihilator of Y_n in G, i.e., $G_n = Y_n^{\perp} = \{s \in G : \xi(s) = 1 \text{ for all } \xi \in Y_n\}$.

- If s = 0 then $\widehat{\mu_n}(s) = 1_{G_{n+1}}(0) 1_{G_n}(0) = 0$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.
- Consider now the case $s \in G \setminus \{0\}$. Recall that we have seen in the proof of Proposition 7.10 that $\bigcap_{n\geq 0} G_n = \{0\}$. Hence, by the fact that the Y_n increase and thus the G_n decrease, there exists an index n_0 such that $s \notin G_n$ for any $n \geq n_0$. Therefore, $\widehat{\mu_n}(s) = 0$ for any $n \geq n_0$.

It remains to show property 3. We have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\hat{G}} \phi \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{2n} = \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n+1}} \phi(x) - \frac{1}{|Y_{2n}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n}} \phi(x) \\ &= \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n+1}} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (1_{Y_{2k+1}} - 1_{Y_{2k}}) \right)(x) - \frac{1}{|Y_{2n}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n}} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (1_{Y_{2k+1}} - 1_{Y_{2k}}) \right)(x) \\ &= \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n+1}} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 1_{Y_{2k+1}}(x) - 1_{Y_{2k}}(x) \right) - \frac{1}{|Y_{2n}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n}} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 1_{Y_{2k+1}}(x) - 1_{Y_{2k}}(x) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n+1}} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left(1_{Y_{2k+1}}(x) - 1_{Y_{2k}}(x) \right) - \frac{1}{|Y_{2n}|} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n}} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(1_{Y_{2k+1}}(x) - 1_{Y_{2k}}(x) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n+1}} 1_{Y_{2k+1}}(x) - \sum_{x \in Y_{2n+1}} 1_{Y_{2k}}(x) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \sum_{x \in Y_{2n}} 1_{Y_{2k+1}}(x) - \sum_{x \in Y_{2n}} 1_{Y_{2k}}(x) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left(|Y_{2k+1}| - |Y_{2k}| \right) - \frac{1}{|Y_{2n}|} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(|Y_{2k+1}| - |Y_{2k}| \right) \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} - \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \right) \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(|Y_{2k+1}| - |Y_{2k}| \right) + \frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} \left(|Y_{2n+1}| - |Y_{2n}| \right) \\ &= 1 - \frac{|Y_{2n}|}{|Y_{2n+1}|} + \left(\frac{1}{|Y_{2n+1}|} - \frac{1}{|Y_{2n}|} \right) \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(|Y_{2k+1}| - |Y_{2k}| \right) \end{split}$$

$$\geq 1 - \frac{|Y_{2n}|}{|Y_{2n+1}|} - \frac{1}{|Y_{2n}|} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(|Y_{2k+1}| - |Y_{2k}| \right).$$

The second term in the last line is smaller than 1/2 in modulus by the fact that the Y_n increase strictly and the fact that the order of a subgroup divides the order of the whole group. For the third term, we note that by skipping several indices n we can assume recursively that $|Y_{2n}|$ is so large that $\frac{1}{|Y_{2n}|} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (|Y_{2k+1}| - |Y_{2k}|) < \frac{1}{4}$. Thus the whole expression in the last line is bigger than $1 - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4} = \frac{1}{4}$ and hence does not converge to 0.

According to Proposition 2.3, it suffices now to show that $M_{\phi} \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{S^p}$ extends to a bounded operator on the Bochner space $L^p(G, S^p)$. Using both inequalities of Proposition 7.10, the fact that S^p has UMD and Kahane's contraction principle [119, Proposition 2.5] for the scalars δ_n even, we get

$$\begin{split} \left\| (M_{\phi} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{S^{p}}) f \right\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(G,S^{p})} &\lesssim \mathbb{E} \left\| \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_{n} \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_{n}}} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{S^{p}}) (M_{\phi} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{S^{p}}) (f) \right\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(G,S^{p})} \\ &= \mathbb{E} \left\| \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_{n} \otimes \delta_{n \text{ even}} (M_{1_{\Delta_{n}}} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{S^{p}}) (f) \right\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(G,S^{p})} \\ &\leq \mathbb{E} \left\| \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \varepsilon_{n} \otimes (M_{1_{\Delta_{n}}} \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{S^{p}}) (f) \right\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(G,S^{p})} \lesssim \|f\|_{\operatorname{L}^{p}(G,S^{p})} . \end{split}$$
The proof is complete.

The proof is complete.

Recall that a topological space X is 0-dimensional if X is a non-empty T_1 -space and if the family of all sets that are both open and closed is a basis for the topology [98, page 11] [70, page 360]. By [70, Theorem 6.2.1], every 0-dimensional space is totally disconnected, i.e., X does not contain any connected subsets of cardinality larger than one.

PROPOSITION 7.12. – Let G be an infinite discrete abelian group. Suppose 1 .Then there exists a strongly non regular completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(G)$.

Proof. – Suppose first that G contains an element of infinite order, so a (closed) subgroup H isomorphic with \mathbb{Z} . Then by [5, Example 3.4], the Hilbert transform induces a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier on $L^{p}(H)$. Since S^{p} is UMD and according to [23, Theorem 2.8], the Hilbert transform is bounded on $L^p(H, S^p)$ so completely bounded on $L^{p}(H)$ by Proposition 2.3. Now, using Proposition 7.7 and the isometry (7.2.2), the composed Fourier multiplier $M_{\phi\circ\pi}$ on $L^p(G)$, where $\pi: \hat{G} \to \hat{G}/H^{\perp}$ is the canonical map, is a strongly non regular completely bounded Fourier multiplier.

Now suppose that every element of G is of finite order, so G is a torsion group. We can assume that G is countably infinite. Indeed, otherwise choose a countably infinite number of elements in G, and let H be the subgroup of G generated by these elements.

Then H is again countably infinite. If there is a strongly non regular completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^{p}(H)$ then Proposition 7.7 and the isometry (7.2.2) yield a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier on $L^{p}(G)$.

Note that since G is countably infinite, by [98, Theorem 24.15], its dual G is metrizable. The fact that G is torsion implies by [98, Theorem 24.21] that \hat{G} is 0-dimensional. This in turn implies that \hat{G} is totally disconnected.

So \hat{G} is an infinite compact abelian metrizable totally disconnected group. By the second part of [65, remark page 68], there exists a sequence $(H_n)_{n\geq 0}$ of closed subgroups of \hat{G} such that

- 1. each H_n is open,
- 2. $H_{n+1} \subsetneq H_n$,
- 3. $\bigcap_{n=0}^{\infty} H_n = \{0\}, H_0 = \hat{G}.$

Then the sets $\Delta_n = H_n \setminus H_{n+1}$ enjoy the Littlewood-Paley equivalence (7.2.9) according to Proposition 7.10. With $\phi = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (1_{H_{2n-1}} - 1_{H_{2n}})$, as in the proof of Proposition 7.11, we see that M_{ϕ} is a bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(G)$, 1 .

It remains to show that M_{ϕ} is strongly non regular. Invoking [5, Theorem 3.1 and Remark 3.2], it suffices to show that ϕ is not equal almost everywhere to a continuous function.

So assume that $\psi: \hat{G} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a continuous function with $\psi = \phi$ almost everywhere. We will show a contradiction, which will end the proof. Since the H_n are closed and open by the point 1, $H_{n-1} \setminus H_n$ is open. As it is also non-empty by the point 2, it must be of positive Haar measure. Therefore, there exists $x_n \in H_{n-1} \setminus H_n$ with

$$\psi(x_n) = \phi(x_n) = \begin{cases} 0 & n \text{ even} \\ 1 & n \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$

Consider now the sequence $y_n = x_{2n-1}$. By compactness, there exists a subsequence of y_n which converges against some $\xi \in \hat{G}$. Since y_n belongs to H_{2n-1} , by the point 2, y_m belongs to H_{2n-1} for all $m \ge n$. As H_{2n-1} is closed, ξ belongs to H_{2n-1} , so to $\bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} H_{2n-1} = \bigcap_{n=1}^{\infty} H_n = \{0\}$. Therefore, a subsequence of y_n converges to 0.

In the same manner, one shows that a subsequence of x_{2n} converges to 0. However, ψ applied to these two subsequences is constant to 1 and to 0 respectively, so does not converge. Hence ψ cannot be continuous.

Now use Proposition 7.10 in a similar fashion to the compact case to deduce that M_{ϕ} is completely bounded on $L^{p}(G)$. The proof is complete.

Recall the following structure theorem for locally compact abelian groups, see, e.g., [98, Theorem 24.30] and [151, Theorem 4.2.31].

THEOREM 7.13. – Any locally compact abelian group is isomorphic to a product $\mathbb{R}^n \times G_0$ where $n \geq 0$ is an integer and G_0 is a locally compact abelian group containing a compact subgroup K such that G_0/K is discrete.

With the help of the previous theorem, we can now prove the following.

THEOREM 7.14. – Let G be an infinite locally compact abelian group. Suppose $1 . Then there exists a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier on <math>L^p(G)$ which is completely bounded and CB-strongly non decomposable.

Proof. – We use the previous structure Theorem 7.13 to decompose G and we distinguish three cases.

If $n \geq 1$ then G has a closed subgroup H isomorphic to \mathbb{R} and we consider the Hilbert transform on $L^p(H)$ which is strongly non regular by [5, Example 3.3]. Since the Schatten class S^p has UMD, the Hilbert transform is bounded on $L^p(H, S^p)$ and hence completely bounded on $L^p(H)$ according to Proposition 2.3. Now appeal to the isometry (7.2.2) and Proposition 7.7 to extend the Hilbert transform to a strongly non regular and completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(G)$.

If n = 0 then $G = G_0$. Suppose first that the compact subgroup K is infinite. Using Proposition 7.11, there exists a completely bounded Fourier multiplier which is strongly non regular. Again, using the isometry (7.2.2) and Proposition 7.7, we obtain a strongly non regular and completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(G)$.

If n = 0 and if the compact subgroup K is finite, then it is itself discrete (since it is Hausdorff) and thus $G = G_0$ is discrete and infinite. Now, use Proposition 7.12 to find a strongly non regular completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(G)$.

The last assertion is a consequence of Section 7.1.

7.3. Strongly non regular completely bounded convolutors on non-abelian groups

THEOREM 7.15. – Let G be a unimodular amenable locally compact group which contains an infinite abelian subgroup. Suppose 1 . There exists a strongly non $regular completely bounded convolution operator <math>T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$.

Proof. – Suppose that G contains an infinite abelian group H. Note that the closure \overline{H} of H is a closed abelian infinite subgroup of G. By Theorem 7.14, there exists a strongly non regular completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(\overline{H})$. Since G is amenable and unimodular, we conclude by using Proposition 7.7.

COROLLARY 7.16. – Let G be an infinite compact group. Suppose 1 . $There exists a strongly non regular completely bounded convolution operator <math>T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$.

Proof. – Note that G is amenable [141, Proposition 12.1] and unimodular [35, VII.12]. By [182, Theorem 2], the infinite compact group G contains an infinite abelian subgroup. Hence, we can use Theorem 7.15. \Box

A group G is locally finite if each finitely generated subgroup is finite, see [153, page 422]. A locally compact group G is called topologically locally finite if the closure of every finitely generated subgroup of G is compact [38, Section 2].

COROLLARY 7.17. – Let G be an infinite unimodular locally finite locally compact group. Suppose 1 . There exists a strongly non regular completely bounded $convolution operator <math>T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$.

Proof. – Observe that a locally finite locally compact group is topologically locally finite, hence amenable by [38, Corollary 2.4]. By [153, Theorem 14.3.7], such a group has an infinite abelian subgroup. We conclude with Theorem 7.15. \Box

COROLLARY 7.18. – Let G be an infinite nilpotent locally compact group. Suppose $1 . There exists a strongly non regular completely bounded convolution operator <math>T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$.

Proof. – Such a group is unimodular [130] (see also [75, page 53] in the connected case) and amenable [141, Corollary 13.5] since it is solvable. Now, if G is locally finite we can use Corollary 7.17. Otherwise, G contains an infinite finitely generated subgroup which is nilpotent as a subgroup of a nilpotent group. By [71, Lemma 8.2.2], this group has an element of infinite order, so also contains an infinite abelian subgroup.

Finally, since a discrete group is unimodular [35, VII.12], we obtain the following result.

COROLLARY 7.19. – Let G be an amenable discrete group which contains an infinite abelian subgroup. Suppose $1 . There exists a strongly non regular completely bounded convolution operator <math>T: L^p(G) \to L^p(G)$.

7.4. CB-strongly non decomposable Schur multipliers

We start with a result which gives a manageable condition which is necessary to ensure that a completely bounded Schur multiplier belongs to the closure of the space of decomposable operators.

PROPOSITION 7.20. – Suppose $1 . If the Schur multiplier <math>M_{\phi}: S_{I}^{p} \to S_{I}^{p}$ is completely bounded and belongs to the closure $\overline{\operatorname{Dec}(S_{I}^{p})}^{\operatorname{CB}(S_{I}^{p})}$ of the space $\operatorname{Dec}(S_{I}^{p})$ with respect to the completely bounded norm then M_{ϕ} belongs to the closure $\overline{\mathfrak{M}_{I}^{\infty}}^{\ell_{I\times I}^{\infty}}$ of the space $\mathfrak{M}_{I}^{\infty}$ in the Banach space $\ell_{I\times I}^{\infty}$.

Proof. – Let $R: S_I^p \to S_I^p$ be a decomposable operator. By Proposition 3.12, we can write $R = R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4)$ where each R_j is a completely positive map on S_I^p . Using the projection $P_I: \operatorname{CB}(S_I^p) \to \mathfrak{M}_I^{p,\operatorname{cb}}$ of Corollary 4.4, we obtain

$$P_I(R) = P_I(R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4)) = P_I(R_1) - P_I(R_2) + i(P_I(R_3) - P_I(R_4)).$$

By Proposition 3.12, we conclude that the Schur multiplier $P_I(R)$ is decomposable. By Proposition 4.11, we infer that $P_I(R)$ is bounded on S_I^{∞} , i.e., belongs to \mathfrak{M}_I^{∞} . According to Proposition 4.11, it also belongs to $\mathfrak{M}_{I}^{\infty,cb}$ with same norm. Now, using the contractivity of P_{I} , we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| M_{\phi} - R \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{I}^{p} \to S_{I}^{p}} &\geq \left\| P_{I}(M_{\phi} - R) \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{I}^{p} \to S_{I}^{p}} = \left\| P_{I}(M_{\phi}) - P_{I}(R) \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{I}^{p} \to S_{I}^{p}} \\ &= \left\| M_{\phi} - P_{I}(R) \right\|_{\mathrm{cb}, S_{I}^{p} \to S_{I}^{p}} \geq \left\| M_{\phi} - P_{I}(R) \right\|_{S_{I}^{2} \to S_{I}^{2}} \\ &\geq \operatorname{dist}_{\ell_{I \times I}^{\infty}}(M_{\phi}, \mathfrak{M}_{I}^{\infty}). \end{split}$$

Hence, we deduce that

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\operatorname{CB}(S_I^p)}(M_{\phi}, \operatorname{Dec}(S_I^p)) \geq \operatorname{dist}_{\ell_{I\times I}^{\infty}}(M_{\phi}, \mathfrak{M}_I^{\infty}).$$

It is folklore that if $M_A \colon \mathcal{B}(\ell^2) \to \mathcal{B}(\ell^2)$ is a bounded Schur multiplier and the limits

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \lim_{j \to \infty} a_{ij} = s \text{ and } \lim_{j \to \infty} \lim_{i \to \infty} a_{ij} = t$$

exist then s = t, see [137, Ex 8.15 page 118]. This property turns out to be also true for Schur multipliers belonging to the *closure* $\overline{\mathfrak{M}^{\infty}}_{\mathbb{N}\times\mathbb{N}}^{\ell_{\mathbb{N}\times\mathbb{N}}^{\infty}}$.

PROPOSITION 7.21. – Let $M_A \in \overline{\mathfrak{M}^{\infty}}^{\ell_{\mathbb{N}\times\mathbb{N}}^{\infty}}$. If the limits

$$\lim_{i \to \infty} \lim_{j \to \infty} a_{ij} = s \text{ and } \lim_{j \to \infty} \lim_{i \to \infty} a_{ij} = t$$

exist then s = t.

Proof. – Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and let $[b_{ij}]$ be a matrix corresponding to a bounded Schur multiplier $M_B: B(\ell^2) \to B(\ell^2)$, such that $|b_{ij} - a_{ij}| \leq \varepsilon$ for any $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$. By the description [137, Corollary 8.8] of bounded Schur multipliers $B(\ell^2) \to B(\ell^2)$, there exist a Hilbert space H, some bounded sequences (x_i) and (y_j) of elements of H such that $b_{ij} = \langle x_i, y_j \rangle$ for any $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$. By the weak compactness of closed bounded subsets of H, there exist subsequences (i_k) and (j_l) and $x, y \in H$ such that weak- $\lim_k x_{i_k} = x$ and weak- $\lim_l y_{j_l} = y$. Thus, we have

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} b_{i_k j_l} = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \langle x_{i_k}, y_{j_l} \rangle = \langle x, y_{j_l} \rangle$$

and finally

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \lim_{k \to +\infty} b_{i_k j_l} = \lim_{l \to +\infty} \langle x, y_{j_l} \rangle = \langle x, y \rangle$$

By the same reasoning, we also have $\lim_{k \to +\infty} \lim_{l \to +\infty} b_{i_k j_l} = \langle x, y \rangle$. Now, we infer that

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} b_{i_k j_l} - \lim_{k \to +\infty} a_{i_k j_l} \bigg| \le \varepsilon \quad \text{and thus} \quad \left| \lim_{l \to +\infty} \lim_{k \to +\infty} b_{i_k j_l} - t \right| \le \varepsilon.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \lim_{l \to +\infty} b_{i_k j_l} - s \bigg| \le \varepsilon.$$

We infer that $|s - t| \leq 2\varepsilon$. Letting ε go to zero yields the proposition.

Recall [134, Section 6] that the triangular truncation $\mathcal{T}: S^p \to S^p$ and the discrete noncommutative Hilbert transform $\mathcal{H}: S^p \to S^p$ are completely bounded Schur multipliers defined by $\mathcal{T}([a_{ij}]) = [\delta_{i \leq j} a_{ij}]$ and that $\mathcal{H}([a_{ij}]) = [-i\delta_{i < j} a_{ij} + i\delta_{i > j} a_{ij}]$ for any $[a_{ij}] \in S^p$ where $i^2 = -1$. The fact that \mathcal{T} and \mathcal{H} are completely bounded on S^p can be found in [134, Section 6].

From the last two propositions, we deduce the following result.

COROLLARY 7.22. – The triangular truncation $\mathcal{T}: S^p \to S^p$ and the discrete noncommutative Hilbert transform $\mathcal{H}: S^p \to S^p$ are CB-strongly non decomposable.

7.5. CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multipliers

We start with a transference result.

PROPOSITION 7.23. – Let G and H be two discrete groups such that H is a subgroup of G. If $\varphi \colon H \to \mathbb{C}$ is a complex function, we denote by $\widetilde{\varphi} \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ the extension of φ on G which is zero off H. Suppose 1 and that <math>VN(G) has QWEP. If φ induces a CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon L^p(VN(H)) \to L^p(VN(H))$ then $\widetilde{\varphi}$ induces a CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\widetilde{\varphi}} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$.

Proof. – Let \mathbb{E} be the trace preserving conditional expectation from VN(G) onto VN(H) and J be the canonical inclusion of VN(H) into VN(G). The map $JM_{\varphi}\mathbb{E}$ is completely bounded on $L^p(VN(G))$ and is clearly equal to the Fourier multiplier $M_{\widetilde{\varphi}}$ induced by $\widetilde{\varphi}$. Suppose that $M_{\widetilde{\varphi}}$ belongs to $\overline{Dec(L^p(VN(G)))}^{CB(L^p(VN(G)))}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then there exist some completely positive maps

$$R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4 \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$$

and a completely bounded map $R: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ of completely bounded norm less than ε such that $M_{\widetilde{\varphi}} = R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4) + R$. For any $h \in H$, we have

$$\tau_G \big(M_{\widetilde{\varphi}}(\lambda_h)(\lambda_h)^* \big) = \widetilde{\varphi}(h) \tau_G \big(\lambda_h(\lambda_h)^* \big) = \varphi(h).$$

Hence, using the map P_H^p given by Corollary 4.7 since VN(G) is QWEP, we obtain

$$M_{\varphi} = P_{H}^{p} \left(M_{\widetilde{\varphi}} \right) = P_{H}^{p} \left(R_{1} - R_{2} + i(R_{3} - R_{4}) + R \right)$$

= $P_{H}^{p} (R_{1}) - P_{H}^{p} (R_{2}) + i \left(P_{H}^{p} (R_{3}) - P_{H}^{p} (R_{4}) \right) + P_{H}^{p} (R)$

Moreover, by P_H 's contractivity, the Fourier multiplier $P_H^p(R) \colon L^p(VN(H)) \to L^p(VN(H))$ is completely bounded of completely bounded norm less than ε . Furthermore, each Fourier multiplier $P_H^p(R_i) \colon L^p(VN(H)) \to L^p(VN(H))$ is completely positive. It follows that M_{φ} is ε -close to $\text{Dec}(L^p(VN(H)))$ in the Banach space $\text{CB}(L^p(VN(H)))$. So letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ yields that M_{φ} belongs to $\overline{\text{Dec}(L^p(VN(H)))}^{\text{CB}(L^p(VN(H)))}$. This is the desired contradiction. COROLLARY 7.24. – Let G be a discrete group which contains an infinite abelian subgroup such that VN(G) is QWEP. Suppose $1 . There exists a CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multiplier on <math>L^p(VN(G))$.

Proof. – It suffices to use Proposition 7.23, Theorem 7.14 and Remark 7.3. \Box

For example, consider $1 , <math>n \in \mathbb{N}$ and the free group $G = \mathbb{F}_n$ of n generators. Since $VN(\mathbb{F}_n)$ is QWEP, there exists a CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(\mathbb{F}_n))$. The next criterion allows us to give concrete examples in Proposition 7.28 and Proposition 7.29.

PROPOSITION 7.25. – Let G be a unimodular locally compact group. Suppose $1 \le p \le \infty$.

- 1. Let $\varphi \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ be a complex function inducing a completely bounded Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$. Suppose that there exists a bounded, complete positivity preserving mapping $P_G^p \colon CB(L^p(VN(G))) \to \mathfrak{M}^{p,cb}(G)$, such that $P_G^p(M_{\varphi}) = M_{\varphi}$. If $M_{\varphi} \in \overline{Dec(L^p(VN(G)))}^{CB(L^p(VN(G)))}$ then the multiplier M_{φ} belongs to $\overline{\mathfrak{M}^{\infty,cb}(G)}^{L^{\infty}(G)}$.
- 2. Assume that the limits $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \varphi(s^n)$ and $\lim_{n \to +\infty} \varphi(s^{-n})$ exist for some $s \in G$ and that M_{φ} belongs to the closure $\overline{\mathfrak{M}^{\infty, cb}(G)}^{L^{\infty}(G)}$ for some measurable $\varphi: G \to \mathbb{C}$. Then

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \varphi(s^n) = \lim_{n \to +\infty} \varphi(s^{-n}).$$

Proof. – 1. Let $R: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ be a decomposable operator. By Proposition 3.12, we can write

$$R = R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4),$$

where each R_j is a completely positive map on $L^p(VN(G))$. Using the mapping P_G^p from the statement of the proposition, we obtain

$$P_G^p(R) = P_G^p(R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4)) = P_G^p(R_1) - P_G^p(R_2) + i(P_G^p(R_3) - P_G^p(R_4)).$$

Using Proposition 6.11, we see that the Fourier multiplier $P_G^p(R)$ is decomposable on VN(G) and in particular completely bounded by Proposition 3.30. Now, using the boundedness of P_G^p and Lemma 6.5, we obtain

$$\begin{split} & \left\|P_{G}^{p}\right\|\left\|M_{\varphi}-R\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \geq \left\|P_{G}^{p}(M_{\varphi}-R)\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \\ & = \left\|P_{G}^{p}(M_{\varphi})-P_{G}^{p}(R)\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} = \left\|M_{\varphi}-P_{G}^{p}(R)\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \\ & \geq \left\|M_{\varphi}-P_{G}^{p}(R)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} \geq \mathrm{dist}_{\mathrm{L}^{\infty}(G)}\left(M_{\varphi},\mathfrak{M}_{G}^{\infty,\mathrm{cb}}\right). \end{split}$$

Hence, we deduce that

$$\left\|P_{G}^{p}\right\|\operatorname{dist}_{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G)))}\left(M_{\varphi},\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G)))\right) \geq \operatorname{dist}_{\operatorname{L}^{\infty}(G)}\left(M_{\phi},\mathfrak{M}_{G}^{\infty,\operatorname{cb}}\right)\right)$$

2. Suppose that M_{φ} belongs to $\overline{\mathfrak{M}^{\infty,\mathrm{cb}}(G)}^{\mathbb{L}^{\infty}(G)}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and $M_{\psi} \in \mathfrak{M}^{\infty,\mathrm{cb}}(G)$ with $\|\varphi - \psi\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$. According to [164, page 2], there exist a Hilbert space H and two maps $P, Q: G \to H$ with $\|P\|_{\infty} = \sup_{r \in G} \|P(r)\|_{H}$, $\|Q\|_{\infty} = \sup_{t \in G} \|Q(t)\|_{H} < \infty$ such that $\psi(rt^{-1}) = \langle P(r), Q(t) \rangle_{H}$ for any $r, t \in G$. The sequences $(P(s^{i}))_{i \geq 0}$ and $(Q(s^{j}))_{j \geq 0}$ are bounded in H and thus admit weak* convergent subsequences $(P(s^{i_k}))$ and $(Q(s^{j_l}))$ to some elements h_1 and h_2 of H. Thus, for any l, we have

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \psi(s^{i_k - j_l}) = \lim_{k \to +\infty} \langle P(s^{i_k}), Q(s^{j_l}) \rangle = \langle h_1, Q(s^{j_l}) \rangle,$$

which implies

$$\lim_{l \to +\infty} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \psi(s^{i_k - j_l}) = \lim_{l \to +\infty} \left\langle h_1, Q(s^{j_l}) \right\rangle = \left\langle h_1, h_2 \right\rangle.$$

We obtain similarly that $\lim_{k\to+\infty} \lim_{l\to+\infty} \psi(s^{i_k-j_l}) = \langle h_1, h_2 \rangle$.

But by $\|\varphi - \psi\|_{\infty} \leq \varepsilon$, we deduce that

$$\left|\lim_{k \to +\infty} \varphi(s^{i_k - j_l}) - \lim_{k \to +\infty} \psi(s^{i_k - j_l})\right| \le \varepsilon \text{ and thus } \left|\lim_{n \to +\infty} \varphi(s^n) - \lim_{l \to +\infty} \lim_{k \to +\infty} \psi(s^{i_k - j_l})\right| \le \varepsilon.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\left|\lim_{n \to +\infty} \varphi(s^{-n}) - \lim_{k \to +\infty} \lim_{l \to +\infty} \psi(s^{i_k - j_l})\right| \le \varepsilon.$$

Hence the limit $\lim_{n\to+\infty} \varphi(s^n)$ is 2ε -close to $\lim_{n\to+\infty} \varphi(s^{-n})$. We deduce 2. by letting $\varepsilon \to 0$.

THEOREM 7.26. – Let G be a second countable amenable locally compact group and H be a normal open (and then also closed) subgroup of G (so G/H is discrete). Let $\pi: G \to G/H$ be the canonical map and $\varphi: G/H \to \mathbb{C}$ be a continuous bounded complex function. Suppose 1 . If the complex func $tion <math>\varphi \circ \pi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ induces a CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi \circ \pi}: L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ then φ induces a CB-strongly non decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi}: L^p(VN(G/H)) \to L^p(VN(G/H))$.

Proof. – Note that the Fourier multiplier M_{φ} is completely bounded by Theorem 6.14. Suppose that M_{φ} belongs to $\overline{\text{Dec}(L^p(\text{VN}(G/H)))}^{\text{CB}(L^p(\text{VN}(G/H)))}$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Then, by Proposition 3.12, there exist some completely positive maps R_1, R_2, R_3, R_4 : L^p(VN(G/H)) → L^p(VN(G/H)) and a completely bounded map R: L^p(VN(G/H)) → L^p(VN(G/H)) of completely bounded norm less than ε such that $M_{\varphi} = R_1 - R_2 + i(R_3 - R_4) + R$.

Corollary 4.7 yields the existence of some complex functions $\varphi_1, \varphi_2, \varphi_3, \varphi_4$ and ψ such that $M_{\varphi} = M_{\varphi_1} - M_{\varphi_2} + i(M_{\varphi_3} - M_{\varphi_4}) + M_{\psi}$ such that the Fourier multipliers M_{φ_k} are completely positive on $L^p(VN(G/H))$ and M_{ψ} is again of completely bounded norm less than ε . Since G/H is discrete, the functions $\psi, \varphi_1, \varphi_2, \varphi_3, \varphi_4$ are continuous. Then by Theorem 6.14 it follows that $M_{\varphi_k \circ \pi} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ is completely positive and the Fourier multiplier $M_{\psi \circ \pi} \colon L^p(VN(G)) \to L^p(VN(G))$ is completely bounded of completely bounded norm less than ε . Since

$$M_{\varphi \circ \pi} = M_{\varphi_1 \circ \pi} - M_{\varphi_2 \circ \pi} + i (M_{\varphi_3 \circ \pi} - M_{\varphi_4 \circ \pi}) + M_{\psi \circ \pi}$$

it follows that $M_{\varphi \circ \pi}$ is ε -close to $\text{Dec}(L^p(\text{VN}(G)))$ in the Banach space $\text{CB}(L^p(\text{VN}(G)))$, so that letting $\varepsilon \to 0$ yields that $M_{\varphi \circ \pi} \in \overline{\text{Dec}(L^p(\text{VN}(G)))}^{\text{CB}(L^p(\text{VN}(G)))}$. This is the desired contradiction.

Riesz transforms. – An affine representation (\mathcal{H}, α, b) of a discrete group G is an orthogonal representation $\alpha: G \to O(\mathcal{H})$ over a real Hilbert space \mathcal{H} together with a mapping $b: G \to \mathcal{H}$ satisfying the cocycle condition $b(st) = \alpha_s(b(t)) + b(s)$ for any $s, t \in G$, see [138, Definition 10.6] and [19]. In this situation, by [138, Theorem 10.10] the function $s \mapsto ||b(s)||^2_{\mathcal{H}}$ is conditionally of negative type, vanishes at the identity e and is symmetric. We also refer to [12] for related information. By [110, page 532], for any normalized vector $h \in \mathcal{H}$, we can consider the Riesz transform $R_h = M_{\phi}$ whose symbol $\phi: G \to \mathbb{R}$ is defined by

(7.5.1)
$$\phi(s) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{cases} \frac{\langle b(s), h \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}{\|b(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}} & \text{if } b(s) \neq 0\\ 0 & \text{if } b(s) = 0. \end{cases}$$

We will use the subgroup $G_0 \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \{s \in G : b(s) = 0\}$ of G.

LEMMA 7.27. – Let G be a discrete group equipped with an affine representation (\mathcal{H}, α, b) . Suppose $1 . The symbol <math>\phi$ from (7.5.1) induces a completely bounded operator $R_h = M_{\phi}$: $L^p(VN(G)) \rightarrow L^p(VN(G))$.

Proof. – It is essentially shown in [110] that R_h is completely bounded on the subspace $L_0^p(VN(G)) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \operatorname{Ran}(\operatorname{Id}_{L^p(VN(G))} - M_{1_{G_0}})$ of $L^p(VN(G))$. Indeed, consider some orthonormal basis (e_j) of \mathcal{H} with $e_1 = h$ and some independent Rademacher variables $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2, \ldots$ on some probability space Ω_0 . For any $x \in S_m^p(L_0^p(VN(G)))$, using the inequalities [110, Theorem A1 and Remark 1.8] for $p \in [2, \infty)$, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| (\mathrm{Id}_{S_m^p} \otimes R_h)(x) \right\|_{S_m^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)))} &\leq \left\| \sum_i \varepsilon_i \otimes (\mathrm{Id}_{S_m^p} \otimes R_{e_i})(x) \right\|_{\mathrm{L}^p(\Omega_0, S_m^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))))} \\ &\approx \left\| \left((\mathrm{Id}_{S_m^p} \otimes R_{e_i})x \right) \right\|_{\mathrm{RC}_p(S_m^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))))} \lesssim \|x\|_{S_m^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)))} \,. \end{split}$$

Thus R_h is completely bounded on $L_0^p(VN(G))$ for $p \in [2, \infty)$.

Since G is discrete, the indicator function 1_{G_0} is continuous. Let G/G_0 denote the discrete space of left cosets of G_0 and consider the quasi-left regular representation $\pi_{G_0}: G \to B(\ell^2_{G/G_0})$ given by $\pi_{G_0}(s)\delta_{tG_0} = \delta_{stG_0}$. For any $s \in G$, we can write $1_{G_0}(s) = \langle \pi_{G_0}(s)\delta_{G_0}, \delta_{G_0} \rangle$. Consequently the indicator function 1_{G_0} is a continuous positive definite function. According to Proposition 6.11, this function induces a completely positive Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(G))$. We deduce that $\mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))} - M_{1_{G_0}}$ is completely bounded on $\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))$. If $s \in G$ satisfies $\phi(s) \neq 0$, then s does not belong to G_0 , so $\phi = \phi \cdot (1 - 1_{G_0})$. Hence we can write

$$R_{h} = R_{h} \left(\mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} - M_{1_{N}G_{0}} \right) = M_{\phi \cdot (1 - 1_{G_{0}})}$$

We conclude that R_h is completely bounded on $L^p(VN(G))$ for $p \in [2, \infty)$, and by duality and selfadjointness (note that ϕ is real-valued) also for $p \in (1, 2]$.

Let \mathcal{H} be a real Hilbert space and fix some non-zero vectors h_1, \ldots, h_n in \mathcal{H} (or a sequence if $n = \infty$). We introduce the affine representation (\mathcal{H}, α, b) of the free group \mathbb{F}_n defined by $\alpha_s = \operatorname{Id}_{\mathcal{H}}$ for all $s \in G$ and

$$b\left(g_{i_1}^{j_1}\cdots g_{i_N}^{j_N}\right) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} j_1h_{i_1}+\cdots+j_Nh_{i_N}, \quad j_1,\ldots,j_N \in \mathbb{Z},$$

where g_1, \ldots, g_n stand for the generators of \mathbb{F}_n .

PROPOSITION 7.28. – Let $G = \mathbb{F}_n$ the free group on n generators. Suppose 1 . $The previous Riesz transform <math>R_h$, associated with a family (h_i) where $h = h_1$ is normalized, is a CB-strongly non decomposable selfadjoint Fourier multiplier on $L^p(VN(\mathbb{F}_n))$.

Proof. – We have shown in Lemma 7.27 that R_h is completely bounded on $L^p(VN(\mathbb{F}_n))$. On the other hand, for any $m \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$, we have

$$\phi(g_1^m) = \frac{\langle b(g_1^m), h_1 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}{\|b(g_1^m)\|_{\mathcal{H}}} = \frac{\langle mh_1, h_1 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}{\|mh_1\|_{\mathcal{H}}} = \operatorname{sign}(m) \frac{\langle h_1, h_1 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}}{\|h_1\|_{\mathcal{H}}} = \operatorname{sign}(m) \|h_1\|_{\mathcal{H}}.$$

So we have $\lim_{m\to+\infty} \phi(g_1^m) = \|h_1\|_{\mathcal{H}} \neq -\|h_1\|_{\mathcal{H}} = \lim_{m\to+\infty} \phi(g_1^{-m})$. Using Proposition 7.25 (since $G = \mathbb{F}_{\infty}$ is discrete and that $VN(\mathbb{F}_{\infty})$ is QWEP), we conclude that R_h is CB-strongly non decomposable.

Free Hilbert transform. – A different class of linear operators which are CB-strongly non decomposable on $L^p(VN(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}))$ is given in [132]. Namely, let $G = \mathbb{F}_{\infty}$ be the free group with a countable sequence of generators g_1, g_2, \ldots For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let $L_n^{\pm} \colon L^2(VN(\mathbb{F}_{\infty})) \to L^2(VN(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}))$ be the orthogonal projection such that

$$L_n^{\pm}(\lambda_s) = \begin{cases} \lambda_s & s \text{ starts with the letter } g_n^{\pm 1} \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let further $\varepsilon_n^+, \varepsilon_n^- \in \{-1, 1\}$ for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Following [132], we define the free Hilbert transform associated with $\varepsilon = (\varepsilon_n^{\pm})$ as $H_{\varepsilon} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \varepsilon_n^+ L_n^+ + \varepsilon_n^- L_n^-$. Clearly, since the ranges of the L_n^{\pm} are mutually orthogonal, H_{ε} is bounded on $L^2(VN(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}))$. The far reaching generalization in [132, Section 4] is that H_{ε} induces a completely bounded map on $L^p(VN(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}))$ for any 1 .

PROPOSITION 7.29. – Let $1 and <math>\varepsilon$ as previously. If ε is not identically constant 1 or -1, then H_{ε} is CB-strongly non decomposable on $L^p(VN(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}))$.

Proof. – Clearly, $H_{\varepsilon} = M_{\phi_{\varepsilon}}$ is a Fourier multiplier with symbol $\phi_{\varepsilon}(s)$ depending only on the first letter of s. This implies that $\phi_{\varepsilon}(s^n) = \phi_{\varepsilon}(s)$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$. According to Proposition 7.25, it suffices now to find some $s \in \mathbb{F}_{\infty}$ such that $\phi_{\varepsilon}(s) \neq \phi_{\varepsilon}(s^{-1})$. Take $n, m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a, b \in \{\pm\}$ such that $\varepsilon_n^a \neq \varepsilon_m^b$, whose existence is guaranteed by $H_{\varepsilon} \neq \pm \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(\mathbb{F}_{\infty}))}$. Take further $s = g_n^a g_k g_m^{-b}$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{n, m\}$. Then $\phi_{\varepsilon}(s) = \varepsilon_n^a \neq \varepsilon_m^b = \phi_{\varepsilon}(s^{-1})$.

7.6. CB-strongly non decomposable operators on approximately finite-dimen. algebras

We start with a transference result.

PROPOSITION 7.30. – Let M be a von Neumann algebra and N be a sub-von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace such that the inclusion $N \subset M$ is trace preserving. Suppose $1 . We denote by <math>\mathbb{E}: L^p(M) \to L^p(N)$ the canonical conditional expectation and $J: L^p(N) \to L^p(M)$ the canonical embedding map. Then

1. The map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{I} \colon & \mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(N)) & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(M)) \\ & T & \longmapsto & JT\mathbb{E} \end{array}$$

is an isometry and the map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{Q} \colon & \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(M)) & \longrightarrow & \operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(N)) \\ & S & \longmapsto & \mathbb{E}SJ \end{array}$$

is a contraction. Both maps preserve the complete positivity and satisfy the equality $\mathcal{QI} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(N))}$.

- 2. We have $\mathcal{Q}(\text{Dec}(L^p(M))) = \text{Dec}(L^p(N))$ and $\mathcal{I}(\text{Dec}(L^p(N))) \subset \text{Dec}(L^p(M))$. Moreover, the previous maps induce an isometry $\mathcal{I} \colon \text{Dec}(L^p(N)) \to \text{Dec}(L^p(M))$ and a contraction $\mathcal{Q} \colon \text{Dec}(L^p(M)) \to \text{Dec}(L^p(N))$.
- 3. For any completely bounded operator $T\colon \mathrm{L}^p(N)\to \mathrm{L}^p(N),$ we have

 $\operatorname{dist}_{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(N))}(T,\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^p(N))) = \operatorname{dist}_{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(M))}(\mathcal{I}(T),\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^p(M))).$

In particular, T is CB-strongly non decomposable if and only if $\mathcal{I}(T)$ is CB-strongly non decomposable.

Proof. – 1. Recall that $\mathbb{E}J = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{L}^p(N)}$. We have $\mathcal{QI}(T) = \mathcal{Q}(JT\mathbb{E}) = \mathbb{E}JT\mathbb{E}J = T$. Now, it is obvious that \mathcal{Q} is a contraction and that \mathcal{I} is an isometry. Since \mathbb{E} and J are completely positive, the maps \mathcal{Q} and \mathcal{I} preserve the complete positivity.

2. Let $T: L^p(N) \to L^p(N)$ be a decomposable operator. Since \mathbb{E} and J are contractively decomposable, we deduce by composition that $\mathcal{I}(T)$ is decomposable. Hence we have $\mathcal{I}(\operatorname{Dec}(L^p(N))) \subset \operatorname{Dec}(L^p(M))$. Similarly, we have the inclusion $\mathcal{Q}(\operatorname{Dec}(L^p(M))) \subset \operatorname{Dec}(L^p(N))$. Moreover, we have

$$\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(N)) = \mathcal{QI}(\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(N))) \subset \mathcal{Q}(\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^{p}(M))).$$

We conclude that $\mathcal{Q}(\operatorname{Dec}(L^p(M))) = \operatorname{Dec}(L^p(N))$. Other statements are obvious.

3. Let $T: L^p(N) \to L^p(N)$ be a completely bounded operator. Using the isometric map \mathcal{I} and the inclusion $\mathcal{I}(\operatorname{Dec}(L^p(N))) \subset \operatorname{Dec}(L^p(M))$ we see that

$$dist_{CB(L^{p}(N))}(T, Dec(L^{p}(N))) = dist_{CB(L^{p}(M))}(\mathcal{I}(T), \mathcal{I}(Dec(L^{p}(N))))$$
$$\geq dist_{CB(L^{p}(M))}(\mathcal{I}(T), Dec(L^{p}(M))).$$

Now, consider a sequence (T_n) of decomposable operators acting on $L^p(M)$ with

$$\|\mathcal{I}(T) - T_n\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^p(M)\to\mathrm{L}^p(M)} \xrightarrow[n\to+\infty]{} \mathrm{dist}_{\mathrm{CB}(\mathrm{L}^p(M))} \big(\mathcal{I}(T),\mathrm{Dec}(\mathrm{L}^p(M))\big).$$

By part 2, the operator $\mathcal{Q}(T_n): L^p(N) \to L^p(N)$ is decomposable. Moreover, we have

$$dist_{CB(L^{p}(N))}(T, Dec(L^{p}(N))) \leq \|T - \mathcal{Q}(T_{n})\|_{cb, L^{p}(N) \to L^{p}(N)}$$
$$= \|\mathcal{Q}(\mathcal{I}(T) - T_{n})\|_{cb, L^{p}(N) \to L^{p}(N)}$$
$$\leq \|\mathcal{I}(T) - T_{n}\|_{cb, L^{p}(M) \to L^{p}(M)}.$$

Letting n go to infinity, we obtain that

$$\operatorname{dist}_{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(N))}(T,\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^p(N))) \leq \operatorname{dist}_{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(M))}(\mathcal{I}(T),\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^p(M))).$$

We will use the following elementary lemma.

LEMMA 7.31. – Suppose $1 . For any matrix <math>A \in M_n$, we have

$$||M_A||_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} \le n^{\frac{1}{p}} ||M_A||_{S_n^p \to S_n^p}.$$

Proof. – Let $B \in S_n^{\infty}$. We denote by $s_1(B), \ldots, s_n(B)$ the singular values of B. We have

$$\|B\|_{S_n^p} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^n s_i(B)^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \le \left(n \cdot \sup_{1 \le i \le n} s_i(B)^p\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} = n^{\frac{1}{p}} \cdot \sup_{1 \le i \le n} s_i(B) = n^{\frac{1}{p}} \cdot \|B\|_{S_n^{\infty}}.$$

We deduce that

$$\|M_A(B)\|_{S_n^{\infty}} \le \|M_A(B)\|_{S_n^p} \le \|M_A\|_{S_n^p \to S_n^p} \|B\|_{S_n^p} \le n^{\frac{1}{p}} \|M_A\|_{S_n^p \to S_n^p} \|B\|_{S_n^{\infty}}.$$

PROPOSITION 7.32. – Let \mathcal{R} be the hyperfinite factor of type II₁ with separable predual equipped with a normal finite faithful trace. Let $1 . There exists a CB-strongly non decomposable operator <math>T: L^p(\mathcal{R}) \to L^p(\mathcal{R})$.

Proof. – Let G be the discrete group of permutations of the integers that leave fixed all but a finite set of integers (the set may vary with the permutation). By [114, page 902], the von Neumann algebra VN(G) is *-isomorphic to the hyperfinite factor \mathcal{R} of type II₁. Moreover, by [114, page 902], the group G is locally finite. By [153, Theorem 14.3.7], it has an infinite abelian subgroup. Now, it suffices to use Corollary 7.24.

We introduce the sub-von Neumann algebra $K_{\infty} = \bigoplus_{n \ge 1} M_n$ of $\mathbb{B}(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$ equipped with its canonical trace and its noncommutative L^p -space $K^p = \bigoplus_{n \ge 1}^p S_n^p$. We denote by $J \colon K_{\infty} \to \mathbb{B}(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$ the canonical inclusion and $\mathbb{E} \colon \mathbb{B}(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to K_{\infty}$ the canonical trace preserving faithful normal conditional expectation.

PROPOSITION 7.33. – Let $1 , <math>p \neq 2$. There exists a CB-strongly non decomposable operator $T: K^p \to K^p$.

Proof. – If $n = 2^m$, by [62, page 53], there exists a positive constant C and matrices $D_n \in \mathcal{M}_n$ such that $Cn^{\frac{1}{2}} \leq ||M_{D_n}||_{S_n^\infty \to S_n^\infty}$ and $||M_{D_n}||_{S_n^p \to S_n^p} \leq n^{\left|\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right|}$ for n large enough. Since the argument of [62] of the latter inequality is based on interpolation and duality, we have the better estimate

$$||M_{D_n}||_{\operatorname{cb},S_n^p \to S_n^p} \le n^{\left|\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right|}.$$

Still working with $n = 2^m$, we consider the matrix

$$A_n = \frac{1}{n^{\left|\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right|}} D_n.$$

By Proposition 3.4, we can suppose p > 2. For n large enough, we have

$$\|M_{A_n}\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} = \left\|\frac{1}{n^{\left|\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right|}} M_{D_n}\right\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} = \frac{1}{n^{\left|\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right|}} \|M_{D_n}\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} \ge cn^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{1}{n^{\left|\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}\right|}} = cn^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Moreover, we have the estimate

$$\|M_{A_n}\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_n^p \to S_n^p} = \left\|\frac{1}{n^{|\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p}|}} M_{D_n}\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_n^p \to S_n^p} \le 1.$$

Now, we introduce the well-defined completely bounded linear operator

$$\Phi: \quad K^{p} \longrightarrow K^{p}$$

$$(B_{n}) \longmapsto (0, M_{A_{2}}(B_{2}), 0, M_{A_{4}}(B_{4}), 0, 0, 0, M_{A_{8}}(B_{8}), 0, \ldots)$$

Using the map \mathcal{I} of Proposition 7.30, we note that the map

$$\mathcal{I}(\Phi) = J\Phi\mathbb{E} \colon S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$$

is a completely bounded Schur multiplier M_A on $S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$. Now, we will use the following lemma.

LEMMA 7.34. – There exists $\varepsilon > 0$ small enough such that if a completely bounded Schur multiplier $M_B: S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$ satisfies

$$\|M_B - M_A\|_{\operatorname{cb}, S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)} \le \varepsilon$$

then M_B is not decomposable.

Proof. – If $n = 2^m$, let B_n the $n \times n$ -submatrix of the matrix B occupying the same place as A_n in A. The triangular inequality and Lemma 7.31 give

$$\begin{split} \|M_{B_n}\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} &\geq \|M_{A_n}\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} - \|M_{B_n} - M_{A_n}\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} \\ &\geq \|M_{A_n}\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} - n^{\frac{1}{p}} \|M_{B_n} - M_{A_n}\|_{S_n^{p} \to S_n^{p}} \\ &\geq \|M_{A_n}\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} - n^{\frac{1}{p}} \|M_{B_n} - M_{A_n}\|_{\operatorname{cb}, S_n^{p} \to S_n^{p}} \end{split}$$

We take $0 < \varepsilon < c$. Suppose $||M_B - M_A||_{\operatorname{cb}, S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)} \leq \varepsilon$. In particular, for any integer n, we have $||M_{B_n} - M_{A_n}||_{\operatorname{cb}, S^p_n \to S^p_n} \leq \varepsilon$. If n is large enough we obtain

$$\|M_{B_n}\|_{S_n^{\infty} \to S_n^{\infty}} \ge cn^{\frac{1}{p}} - \varepsilon n^{\frac{1}{p}} = (c - \varepsilon)n^{\frac{1}{p}} \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} + \infty$$

Hence the matrix B does not induces a bounded Schur multiplier M_B on $B(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$. By Theorem 4.11, we conclude that M_B is not decomposable.

Now, suppose that there exists a decomposable operator $T: S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$ such that $||T - M_A||_{\operatorname{cb}, S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)} \leq \varepsilon$. We can write

$$T = T_1 - T_2 + i(T_3 - T_4),$$

where each T_j is a completely positive map acting on $S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$. Using the projection P of Theorem 4.2, we obtain $P(T) = P(T_1) - P(T_2) + i(P(T_3) - P(T_4))$. Since each $P(T_j)$ is completely positive, we conclude that the Schur multiplier $P(T): S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)$ is decomposable. Note also that

$$\begin{aligned} \|P(T) - M_A\|_{\operatorname{cb}, S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)} &= \|P(T - M_A)\|_{\operatorname{cb}, S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)} \\ &\leq \|T - M_A\|_{\operatorname{cb}, S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2) \to S^p(\ell^2 \otimes_2 \ell^2)} \leq \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

This is impossible by Lemma 7.34. Hence the map $M_A = \mathcal{I}(\Phi)$ is CB-strongly non decomposable. By the point 3 of Proposition 7.30, we conclude that Φ is CB-strongly non decomposable.

THEOREM 7.35. – Let M be an infinite-dimensional approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. Let 1 , $<math>p \neq 2$. There exists a CB-strongly non decomposable operator $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$.

Proof. – By the classification given by [90, Theorem 5.1] (see also [149, Theorem 10.1] and [168]), the operator space $L^{p}(M)$ is completely isomorphic to precisely one of the following thirteen operator spaces:

$$egin{aligned} \ell^p, & \mathrm{L}^p([0,1]), & S^p, & K^p, & K^p \oplus \mathrm{L}^p([0,1]), & S^p \oplus \mathrm{L}^p([0,1]), \ & \mathrm{L}^p([0,1],K^p), & S^p \oplus \mathrm{L}^p([0,1],K^p), & \mathrm{L}^p([0,1],S^p), & \mathrm{L}^p(\mathcal{R}), \ & S^p \oplus \mathrm{L}^p(\mathcal{R}), & \mathrm{L}^p([0,1],S^p) \oplus \mathrm{L}^p(\mathcal{R}), & \mathrm{L}^p(\mathcal{R},S^p). \end{aligned}$$

A careful examination of the proofs of [90, pages 59-60] and [168, pages 143-145] shows that we can replace "completely isomorphic" by "completely order and completely isomorphic".

By [5, Examples 3.4 and 3.9], the Hilbert transforms $\ell^p_{\mathbb{Z}} \to \ell^p_{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $L^p(\mathbb{T}) \to L^p(\mathbb{T})$ are strongly non regular. Since the Schatten space S^p is UMD, by Proposition 2.3, these operators are also completely bounded (use [23, Theorem 2.8] for the discrete case). Using Proposition 7.30, Proposition 7.33, Proposition 7.32 and Corollary 7.22, it is not difficult to conclude using a reasoning by cases.

COROLLARY 7.36. – Suppose $1 \le p < \infty$, $p \ne 2$. Let M be an infinite-dimensional approximately finite-dimensional von Neumann algebra equipped with a faithful normal semifinite trace. The following properties are equivalent

1.
$$p = 1$$
.

2.
$$\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(M)) = \operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^p(M)).$$

3. $\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(M)) = \overline{\operatorname{Dec}(\operatorname{L}^p(M))}^{\operatorname{CB}(\operatorname{L}^p(M))}$.

Proof. – Implications $1. \Rightarrow 2. \Rightarrow 3$. are obvious. Theorem 7.35 says that the contraposition of $3. \Rightarrow 1$. is true.

For the case $p = \infty$, the situation is well-known for every von Neumann algebra. Indeed, by [85, page 171], if M is a von Neumann algebra then we have the equality CB(M) = Dec(M) if and only if M is approximately finite-dimensional. Moreover, Haagerup showed that the following properties are equivalent.

- 1. M is approximately finite-dimensional.
- 2. For every C*-algebra A and every completely bounded map $T: A \to M$ we have $||T||_{dec} = ||T||_{cb}$.
- 3. For every integer $n \ge 1$ and for every linear map $T: \ell_n^{\infty} \to M$ we have $\|T\|_{\text{dec}} = \|T\|_{\text{cb}}.$
- 4. There exists a positive constant $C \ge 1$, such that for every integer $n \ge 1$ and every linear map $T: \ell_n^{\infty} \to M$ we have $||T||_{dec} \le C ||T||_{cb}$.

Now, we show that these equivalences do not admit extensions to the case 1 . $It suffices to use the following proposition and the completely positive and completely isometric inclusion <math>\ell_n^p \subset \ell^p$.

PROPOSITION 7.37. – Suppose 1 . There exists an integer <math>n large enough and a (completely bounded) linear map $T: \ell_n^p \to \ell_n^p$ such that we have $\|T\|_{\operatorname{cb},\ell_n^p \to \ell_n^p} < \|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\ell_n^p \to \ell_n^p}$. More precisely, there does not exist a positive constant $C \geq 1$ satisfying for every integer $n \geq 1$ and every linear map $T: \ell_n^p \to \ell_n^p$ the inequality $\|T\|_{\operatorname{dec},\ell_n^p \to \ell_n^p} \leq C \|T\|_{\operatorname{cb},\ell_n^p \to \ell_n^p}$.

Proof. – By Theorem 7.14, there exists a strongly non regular Fourier multiplier M_{φ} : L^{*p*}(T) → L^{*p*}(T) which is completely bounded. We can suppose $||M_{\varphi}||_{cb} \leq 1$. Now, we approximate M_{φ} using the method of the proof [7, Proposition 3.8] (and [9, proof of Theorem 3.5]). We deduce the existence of Fourier multipliers C_{a_n} on L^{*p*}(Z/*n*Z) = ℓ_n^p with $||C_{a_n}||_{cb} \leq 1$ and arbitrary large $||C_{a_n}||_{reg}$ when *n* goes to the infinity. We can apply this method since $||T||_{dec} = ||T||_{reg} = \sup_X ||T \otimes Id_X||_{L^p(\Omega,X) \to L^p(\Omega,X)}$. □

CHAPTER 8

PROPERTY (\mathcal{P}) AND DECOMPOSABLE FOURIER MULTIPLIERS

In this chapter, we give a proof of Proposition 8.2 which is our characterization of selfadjoint contractively decomposable Fourier multipliers. Section 8.3 describes new Fourier multipliers which satisfy the noncommutative Matsaev inequality, relying on Theorem 8.5 which gives the new result of factorizability.

8.1. A characterization of selfadjoint contractively decomposable multipliers

Let M be a von Neumann algebra equipped with a normal semifinite faithful trace and $T: M \to M$ be a weak^{*} continuous operator. Recall the following definition from [118, Definition 3]. We say that T satisfies (\mathcal{P}) if there exist linear maps $v_1, v_2: M \to M$ such that the linear map $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & T \\ T^{\circ} & v_2 \end{bmatrix}: M_2(M) \to M_2(M)$ is completely positive, completely contractive, weak^{*} continuous and selfadjoint ⁽⁷⁷⁾. In this case, v_1 and v_2 are completely positive, weak^{*} continuous and selfadjoint. An operator T satisfying (\mathcal{P}) is necessarily contractively decomposable, weak^{*} continuous and selfadjoint. The converse statement is false by [118, Example 2] in general.

We start to show that the converse is true for Fourier multipliers on discrete groups. If $M_{\phi} \colon \mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma) \to \mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma)$ is a bounded Fourier multiplier on a discrete group Gequipped with a T-valued 2-cocycle σ , it is not difficult to check that $(M_{\phi})^{\circ} = M_{\overline{\phi}}$ and that M_{ϕ} is selfadjoint in the sense of Section 2.6 if and only if its symbol $\phi \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ is a real-valued function. Finally, it is straightforward to prove that the preadjoint $(M_{\phi})_* \colon \mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma)) \to \mathrm{L}^1(\mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma))$ of M_{ϕ} identifies to M_{ϕ} .

LEMMA 8.1. – Let G be a discrete group equipped with a T-valued 2-cocycle σ . Suppose that $\psi_1, \psi_2, \psi_3, \psi_4 \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ are some complex-valued functions inducing some bounded Fourier multipliers $M_{\psi_1}, M_{\psi_2}, M_{\psi_3}$ and M_{ψ_4} on the von Neumann algebra $VN(G, \sigma)$. If the operator

$$T = \begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\psi_2} \\ M_{\psi_3} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix} : \mathcal{M}_2(\mathcal{VN}(G, \sigma)) \to \mathcal{M}_2(\mathcal{VN}(G, \sigma))$$

^{77.} The assumption selfadjoint is equivalent to the selfadjointness of v_1 , v_2 and T.

is completely contractive then it induces a completely contractive operator T_1 on the space $S_2^1(L^1(VN(G, \sigma)))$.

Finally the Banach adjoint $(T_1)^* \colon M_2(VN(G,\sigma)) \to M_2(VN(G,\sigma))$ identifies to $\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\psi_2} \\ M_{\psi_3} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix}$.

Proof. - According to Theorem 4.2, we have

$$\|T\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{M}_2(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))\to\mathrm{M}_2(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))} = \|T\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{M}_2(\mathrm{VN}(G))\to\mathrm{M}_2(\mathrm{VN}(G))}$$

and similarly, $\|T\|_{cb,S_2^1(L^1(VN(G,\sigma))) \to S_2^1(L^1(VN(G,\sigma)))} = \|T\|_{cb,S_2^1(L^1(VN(G))) \to S_2^1((VN(G)))}$ provided that one of these terms is finite. So if we prove the first statement of the lemma for the trivial cocycle $\sigma = 1$, then it follows for a general T-valued 2-cocycle σ . We thus suppose now that $\sigma = 1$ is trivial. Consider the *-anti-automorphism $\kappa \colon VN(G) \to VN(G)$, $\lambda_s \mapsto \lambda_{s^{-1}}$. An easy computation gives $(\mathrm{Id}_{M_2} \otimes \kappa) \begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\psi_2} \\ M_{\psi_3} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix} (\mathrm{Id}_{M_2} \otimes \kappa) = \begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\psi_2} \\ M_{\psi_3} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix}$ where $\check{\psi}_i(s) = \psi_i(s^{-1})$. Since the map $\kappa \colon VN(G) \to VN(G)^{\mathrm{op}}$ is a complete isometry, we conclude that the linear map $\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\psi_2} \\ M_{\psi_3} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix} \colon M_2(VN(G)) \to M_2(VN(G))$ is completely contractive. Moreover, by Lemma 6.4, each symbol ψ_i induces a bounded Fourier multiplier $M_{\psi_i} \colon L^1(VN(G)) \to L^1(VN(G))$. Consequently, $\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\psi_2} \\ M_{\psi_3} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix}$ induces a bounded operator on $S_2^1(L^1(VN(G)))$. Furthermore, by Proposition 3.3 and Lemma 6.4, we see that the Banach adjoint of the operator $\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\psi_2} \\ M_{\psi_3} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix} \colon S_2^1(L^1(VN(G))) \to S_2^1(L^1(VN(G)))$

$$\begin{bmatrix} (M_{\psi_1})^* & (M_{\psi_2})^* \\ (M_{\psi_3})^* & (M_{\psi_4})^* \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} M_{\check{\psi}_1} & M_{\check{\psi}_2} \\ M_{\check{\psi}_3} & M_{\check{\psi}_4} \end{bmatrix} : M_2(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to M_2(\mathrm{VN}(G)).$$

We conclude that the operator $\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\psi_2} \\ M_{\psi_3} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix}$: $S_2^1(L^1(VN(G))) \rightarrow S_2^1(L^1(VN(G)))$ is completely contractive. Finally, the last statement of the lemma for a general \mathbb{T} -valued 2-cocycle σ follows from

$$\tau_{G,\sigma}\left((M_{\psi})^{*}(\lambda_{\sigma,s})\lambda_{\sigma,t}\right) = \tau_{G,\sigma}\left(\lambda_{\sigma,s}M_{\psi}(\lambda_{\sigma,t})\right) = \psi(t)\tau_{G,\sigma}\left(\lambda_{\sigma,s}\lambda_{\sigma,t}\right)$$
$$= \psi(t)\sigma(s,t)\delta_{s,t^{-1}} = \psi(s^{-1})\sigma(s,s^{-1})\delta_{s,t^{-1}}$$

and

$$\tau_{G,\sigma}\left(M_{\check{\psi}}(\lambda_{\sigma,s})\lambda_{\sigma,t}\right) = \check{\psi}(s)\tau_{G,\sigma}\left(\lambda_{\sigma,s}\lambda_{\sigma,t}\right) = \psi(s^{-1})\sigma(s,s^{-1})\delta_{s,t^{-1}}.$$

PROPOSITION 8.2. – Let G be a discrete group equipped with a \mathbb{T} -valued 2-cocycle σ . Let $\phi: G \to \mathbb{C}$ be a complex-valued function. The following assertions are equivalent.

- 1. The complex function ϕ induces a selfadjoint contractively decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\phi} \colon \text{VN}(G, \sigma) \to \text{VN}(G, \sigma)$ on the twisted group von Neumann algebra $\text{VN}(G, \sigma)$.
- 2. The function ϕ induces a Fourier multiplier M_{ϕ} : VN $(G, \sigma) \rightarrow$ VN (G, σ) with (\mathcal{P}) .

3. There exist some real-valued functions $\varphi_1, \varphi_2 \colon G \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} M_{\varphi_1} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi}^{\circ} & M_{\varphi_2} \end{bmatrix} : \mathcal{M}_2(\mathcal{VN}(G,\sigma)) \to \mathcal{M}_2(\mathcal{VN}(G,\sigma))$$

is unital, completely positive, weak* continuous and selfadjoint.

Proof. – The statements 3. ⇒ 2. and 2. ⇒ 1. are obvious. Now, we show the last implication 1. ⇒ 3. The multiplier M_{ϕ} is selfadjoint thus we have $\overline{\phi} = \phi$ and finally $(M_{\phi})^{\circ} = M_{\overline{\phi}} = M_{\overline{\phi}}$. Since the operator M_{ϕ} is contractively decomposable there exist linear maps v_1, v_2 : VN $(G, \sigma) \rightarrow$ VN (G, σ) such that the map $\begin{bmatrix} v_1 & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\overline{\phi}} & v_2 \end{bmatrix}$: M₂(VN (G, σ)) \rightarrow M₂(VN (G, σ)) is completely positive and completely contractive. By using the same reasoning as the one in the proof of Proposition 3.4, we can suppose that this map is in addition weak* continuous. Since G is discrete, we can use the projection $P_{\{1,2\},G,\sigma}^{\infty}$: CB_w*(M₂(VN (G, σ))) \rightarrow $\mathfrak{M}_{\{1,2\}}^{\infty,c,b}(G, \sigma)$ from Theorem 4.2. We obtain that

$$P^{\infty}_{\{1,2\},G,\sigma}\left(\begin{bmatrix}v_1 & M_{\phi}\\ M_{\check{\phi}} & v_2\end{bmatrix}\right) = \begin{bmatrix}P^{\infty}_G(v_1) & P^{\infty}_G(M_{\phi})\\ P^{\infty}_G(M_{\check{\phi}}) & P^{\infty}_G(v_2)\end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix}P^{\infty}_G(v_1) & M_{\phi}\\ M_{\check{\phi}} & P^{\infty}_G(v_2)\end{bmatrix}.$$

We deduce that there exist some complex functions $\psi_1, \psi_2 \colon G \to \mathbb{C}$ such that the map $T \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi} & M_{\psi_2} \end{bmatrix} \colon M_2(\text{VN}(G, \sigma)) \to M_2(\text{VN}(G, \sigma))$ is completely positive, completely contractive and weak* continuous.

By Lemma 8.1, the operator T induces a completely positive and completely contractive operator $T_1: S_2^1(L^1(VN(G,\sigma))) \to S_2^1(L^1(VN(G,\sigma)))$. The operator $(T_1)^*: M_2(VN(G,\sigma)) \to M_2(VN(G,\sigma))$ is also completely contractive and completely positive by Lemma 2.9. Again by Lemma 8.1, we have $(T_1)^* = \begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi} & M_{\psi_2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} M_{\overline{\psi_1}} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi} & M_{\overline{\psi_2}} \end{bmatrix}$, where we used [19, Proposition C.4.2] and the fact that ψ_1 and ψ_1 are definite positive since $M_{\psi_1}: VN(G,\sigma) \to VN(G,\sigma)$ and $M_{\psi_2}: VN(G,\sigma) \to VN(G,\sigma)$ are completely positive.

Consider the transpose map $^{(78)}$ $\eta: M_2 \to M_2^{op}$, $A \mapsto tA$, which is an algebra isomorphism, hence a complete isometry and a completely positive map (see also Lemma 2.8). An easy computation gives

$$(\eta \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)}) \begin{bmatrix} M_{\overline{\psi_1}} & M_{\check{\phi}} \\ M_{\phi} & M_{\overline{\psi_2}} \end{bmatrix} (\eta \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)}) = \begin{bmatrix} M_{\overline{\psi_1}} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\check{\phi}} & M_{\overline{\psi_2}} \end{bmatrix}$$

We conclude that the linear map $R \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \begin{bmatrix} M_{\overline{\psi_1}} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi} & M_{\overline{\psi_2}} \end{bmatrix}$: $M_2(VN(G, \sigma)) \to M_2(VN(G, \sigma))$ is completely contractive and completely positive.

Now, $\frac{1}{2}(T+R)$: $M_2(VN(G,\sigma)) \rightarrow M_2(VN(G,\sigma))$ is a matrix block multiplier $\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_3} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix}$ which is completely positive, completely contractive and selfadjoint with

^{78.} Here M_2^{op} identifies to the algebra M_2 with the multiplication reversed.

 M_{ϕ} in the corner. Note that M_{ψ_3} and M_{ψ_4} are completely positive. So $\psi_3(e) = M_{\psi_3}(1) = ||M_{\psi_3}|| \le 1$ and similarly for ψ_4 . Hence the linear maps $w_1 = M_{\psi_3} + \tau_{G,\sigma}(\cdot)(1 - \psi_3(e)) \mathbb{1}_{\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)}$ and $w_2 = M_{\psi_4} + \tau_{G,\sigma}(\cdot)(1 - \psi_4(e)) \mathbb{1}_{\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)}$ are completely positive, selfadjoint and weak* continuous. We have

$$\begin{split} w_{1}(\lambda_{\sigma,s}) &= \left(M_{\psi_{3}} + \tau_{G,\sigma}(\cdot)(1 - \psi_{3}(e))\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{VN}(\sigma,\sigma)}\right)(\lambda_{\sigma,s}) \\ &= M_{\psi_{3}}(\lambda_{\sigma,s}) + \tau_{G,\sigma}(\lambda_{\sigma,s})(1 - \psi_{3}(e))\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)} \\ &= \psi_{3}(s)\lambda_{\sigma,s} + \delta_{s,e}(1 - \psi_{3}(e))\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)} = \lambda_{\sigma,s} \begin{cases} \psi_{3}(s) & \text{if } s \neq e \\ 1 & \text{if } s = e \end{cases} \end{split}$$

and similarly for w_2 . We deduce that these maps are selfadjoint unital Fourier multipliers M_{φ_1} and M_{φ_2} . Now, the map $\Phi = \begin{bmatrix} M_{\varphi_1} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi}^{\circ} & M_{\varphi_2} \end{bmatrix}$: $M_2(VN(G, \sigma)) \to M_2(VN(G, \sigma))$ is obviously unital, selfadjoint and weak* continuous. Moreover

$$\begin{split} \Phi &= \begin{bmatrix} M_{\varphi_1} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi}^{\circ} & M_{\varphi_2} \end{bmatrix} \\ &= \begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_3} & M_{\phi} \\ M_{\phi}^{\circ} & M_{\psi_4} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} \tau_{G,\sigma}(\cdot)(1-\psi_3(e))\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)} & 0 \\ 0 & \tau_{G,\sigma}(\cdot)(1-\psi_4(e))\mathbf{1}_{\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)} \end{bmatrix}. \end{split}$$

It is easy to conclude that Φ is completely positive.

REMARK 8.3. – Let G be an amenable discrete group. By [51, Corollary 1.8], a contractive Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon VN(G) \to VN(G)$ is completely contractive and finally contractively decomposable by [85, Theorem 2.1] since VN(G) is approximately finite-dimensional.

8.2. Factorizability of some matrix block multipliers

Second quantization. – We denote by Sym(n) the symmetric group of order n. If σ is a permutation of Sym(n) we denote by $|\sigma|$ the number

$$\operatorname{card}\left\{(i,j) \ : \ 1 \le i < j \le n, \ \sigma(i) > \sigma(j)\right\}$$

of inversions of σ .

Let \mathcal{H} be a complex Hilbert space. The antisymmetric (or fermionic) Fock space over \mathcal{H} is $\mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H}) = \mathbb{C}\Omega \oplus (\bigoplus_{n \geq 1} \mathcal{H}^{\otimes_n})$, where Ω is a unit vector called the vacuum and where the scalar product on \mathcal{H}^{\otimes_n} is given, after dividing out the null space, by

$$\langle h_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes h_n, k_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes k_n \rangle_{-1} = \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Sym}(n)} (-1)^{|\sigma|} \langle h_1, k_{\sigma(1)} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \cdots \langle h_n, k_{\sigma(n)} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}.$$

The creation operator c(e) for $e \in \mathcal{H}$ is given by $c(e): \mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H})$, $h_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes h_n \mapsto e \otimes h_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes h_n$. We have $c(e)^2 = 0$. Moreover, they satisfy the *q*-commutation relation

(8.2.1)
$$c(f)^*c(e) + c(e)c(f)^* = \langle f, e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H})}.$$

We denote by $\omega(e): \mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H}) \to \mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H})$ the selfadjoint operator $c(e) + c(e)^*$. If $e \in \mathcal{H}$ has norm 1, then (8.2.1) says that the operator $\omega(e)$ satisfies

(8.2.2)
$$\omega(e)^2 = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H})}.$$

Let H be a real Hilbert space with complexification $H_{\mathbb{C}}$. We let $\mathcal{H} = H_{\mathbb{C}}$. The fermion von Neumann algebra $\Gamma_{-1}(H)$ is the von Neumann algebra generated by the operators $\omega(e)$ where $e \in H$. It is a finite von Neumann algebra with the trace τ defined by $\tau(x) = \langle \Omega, x \Omega \rangle_{\mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H})}$ where $x \in \Gamma_{-1}(H)$.

Let H and K be real Hilbert spaces and $T: H \to K$ be a contraction with complexification $T_{\mathbb{C}}: \mathcal{H} = H_{\mathbb{C}} \to K_{\mathbb{C}} = \mathcal{K}$. We define the following linear map

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \mathcal{F}_{-1}(T) \colon & \mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{H}) & \longrightarrow & \mathcal{F}_{-1}(\mathcal{K}) \\ & h_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes h_n & \longmapsto & T_{\mathbb{C}} h_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes T_{\mathbb{C}} h_n. \end{array}$$

Then there exists a unique map $\Gamma_{-1}(T)$: $\Gamma_{-1}(H) \to \Gamma_{-1}(K)$ such that for every $x \in \Gamma_{-1}(H)$ we have $(\Gamma_{-1}(T)(x))\Omega = \mathcal{F}_{-1}(T)(x\Omega)$. This map is normal, unital, completely positive and trace preserving. If $T: H \to K$ is a surjective isometry, $\Gamma_{-1}(T)$ is a *-isomorphism from $\Gamma_{-1}(H)$ onto $\Gamma_{-1}(K)$.

Finally for any $e, f \in H$, we have the covariance formula

(8.2.3)
$$\tau(\omega(e)\omega(f)) = \langle e, f \rangle_H.$$

Kernels of positive type. – Let X be a topological space. A (real) kernel of positive type on X [19, Definition C.1.1] is a continuous function $\Phi: X \times X \to \mathbb{C}$ (into \mathbb{R}) such that, for any integer $n \in \mathbb{N}$, any elements $x_1, \ldots, x_n \in X$ and any (real) complex numbers c_1, \ldots, c_n , the following inequality holds:

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{n} c_k \overline{c_l} \Phi(x_k, x_l) \ge 0.$$

In this case, we have $\Phi(x, y) = \overline{\Phi(y, x)}$ for any $x, y \in X$ by [19, Proposition C.1.2]. If Φ is such a kernel, by [21, page 82] and [19, Theorem C.1.4], then there exists a (real) Hilbert space H and a continuous mapping $e: X \to H$ with the following properties:

- 1. $\Phi(x,y) = \langle e_x, e_y \rangle_H$ for any $x, y \in X$,
- 2. the linear span of $\{e_x : x \in X\}$ is dense in H.

Factorizable maps. – Let M be a von Neumann equipped with a faithful normal finite trace τ_M . A τ_M -Markov map $T: M \to M$ is called factorizable ⁽⁷⁹⁾ [3], [88], [108], [152] if there exists a von Neumann algebra N equipped with a faithful normal finite trace τ_N , and *-monomorphisms $J_0: M \to N$ and $J_1: M \to N$ such that J_0 is (τ_M, τ_N) -Markov and J_1 is (τ_M, τ_N) -Markov, satisfying moreover $T = J_0^* \circ J_1$. We say that $T: M \to M$ is QWEP-factorizable [8] if N has additionally QWEP.

^{79.} The definition given here is slightly different but equivalent by [88, Remark 1.4 (a)].

Twisted crossed products. – In order to prove our results we need the notion of crossed product. Let H be a Hilbert space and M be a sub-von Neumann algbra of B(H). We consider a discrete group G equipped with a T-valued 2-cocycle σ . Let $\alpha: G \to \operatorname{Aut}(M)$ be a representation of G on M. The twisted crossed product von Neumann algebra $M \rtimes_{\sigma,\alpha} G$ [170, Definition 2.1] (see also [181] for a unitary transform of this definition) is generated by the operators $\pi_{\sigma}(x)$ and $\lambda_{\sigma,s}$ acting on $\ell_G^2(H)$ where $x \in M$ and $s \in G$, defined by

$$\begin{aligned} (\pi_{\sigma}(x)\xi)(s) &= \alpha_{s^{-1}}(x)\xi(s), & x \in M, \ \xi \in \ell_{G}^{2}(H), \ s \in G \\ (\lambda_{\sigma,s}\xi)(t) &= \sigma(t^{-1},s)\xi(s^{-1}t), & \xi \in \ell_{G}^{2}(H), \ s,t \in G. \end{aligned}$$

We have the following relations of commutation [170, Proposition 2.2]: (8.2.4)

$$\pi_{\sigma}(\alpha_{s}(x))\lambda_{\sigma,s} = \lambda_{\sigma,s}\pi_{\sigma}(x), \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_{\sigma,s}\lambda_{\sigma,t} = \sigma(s,t)\lambda_{\sigma,st} \qquad x \in M, \ s,t \in G.$$

We can identify M and $VN(G, \sigma)$ as subalgebras of $M \rtimes_{\sigma, \alpha} G$.

Suppose that τ is a *G*-invariant normal semi-finite faithful trace on *M*. If \mathbb{E} is the normal conditional expectation from $M \rtimes_{\sigma,\alpha} G$ onto *M* then $\tau_{\rtimes} \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \tau \circ \mathbb{E}$ defines a normal semifinite faithful trace on $M \rtimes_{\sigma,\alpha} G$, see [181, Proposition 8.16]. For any $x \in M$ and any $s \in G$, we have

(8.2.5)
$$\tau_{\rtimes}(x\lambda_{\sigma,s}) = \delta_{s,e_G}\tau(x).$$

Moreover, τ_{\rtimes} is finite if and only if τ is finite. Finally we will use the notation $M \rtimes_{\alpha} G = M \rtimes_{1,\alpha} G$.

The following proposition generalizes a part of [51, Proposition 4.2]. It probably admits a groupoid generalization (see also [14]).

PROPOSITION 8.4. – Suppose that I is a finite set. Let G be a discrete group equipped with a T-valued 2-cocycle σ . Let $(\varphi_{ij})_{i,j\in I}$ be a family of complex functions on G. Let $\Psi \colon M_I(VN(G,\sigma)) \to M_I(VN(G,\sigma))$ be a normal completely positive map such that $\Psi([\lambda_{\sigma,s_{ij}}]) = [\varphi_{ij}(s_{ij})\lambda_{\sigma,s_{ij}}]$ for any family $(s_{ij})_{i,j\in I}$ of elements of G. Then the map $\Phi \colon I \times G \times I \times G \to \mathbb{C}$, $(i, s, j, s') \mapsto \varphi_{ij}(s^{-1}s')$ is a kernel of positive type, that is: for any integer $n \in \mathbb{N}$, any elements $i_1, \ldots, i_n \in I$, any $s_1, \ldots, s_n \in G$ and any complex numbers c_1, \ldots, c_n , the following inequality holds:

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{n} c_k \overline{c_l} \varphi_{i_k i_l} \left(s_k^{-1} s_l \right) \ge 0.$$

Proof. – Consider $i_1, \ldots, i_n \in I$ and $s_1, \ldots, s_n \in G$ and some complex numbers $c_1, \ldots, c_n \in \mathbb{C}$. Let ξ be a unit vector of $L^2(VN(G, \sigma))$. For any integer $1 \leq k \leq n$, we let $\xi_k \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \overline{c_k} \lambda_{\sigma,s_k}^{-1} \xi$. Then using (4.1.3) several times, we have

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{n} c_k \overline{c_l} \varphi_{i_k i_l} \left(s_k^{-1} s_l \right) = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \varphi_{i_k i_l} \left(s_k^{-1} s_l \right) c_k \overline{c_l} \langle \xi, \xi \rangle = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \varphi_{i_k i_l} \left(s_k^{-1} s_l \right) \left\langle \overline{c_k} \xi, \overline{c_l} \xi \right\rangle$$

$$\begin{split} &= \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}} \left(s_{k}^{-1} s_{l} \right) \left\langle \lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}} \xi_{k}, \lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}} \xi_{l} \right\rangle = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}} \left(s_{k}^{-1} s_{l} \right) \left\langle \xi_{k}, (\lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}})^{*} \lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}} \xi_{l} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}} \left(s_{k}^{-1} s_{l} \right) \overline{\sigma(s_{k}, s_{k}^{-1})} \left\langle \xi_{k}, \lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}^{-1}} \lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}} \xi_{l} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}} \left(s_{k}^{-1} s_{l} \right) \overline{\sigma(s_{k}, s_{k}^{-1})} \sigma(s_{k}^{-1}, s_{l}) \left\langle \xi_{k}, \lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}^{-1}s_{l}} \xi_{l} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \overline{\sigma(s_{k}, s_{k}^{-1})} \sigma(s_{k}^{-1}, s_{l}) \left\langle \xi_{k}, M_{\varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}}} \left(\lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}^{-1}s_{l}} \right) \xi_{l} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \overline{\sigma(s_{k}, s_{k}^{-1})} \left\langle \xi_{k}, M_{\varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}}} \left(\sigma(s_{k}^{-1}, s_{l}) \lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}^{-1}s_{l}} \right) \xi_{l} \right\rangle \\ &= \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \overline{\sigma(s_{k}, s_{k}^{-1})} \left\langle \xi_{k}, M_{\varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}}} \left(\lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}^{-1}} \lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}} \right) \xi_{l} \right\rangle = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \left\langle \xi_{k}, M_{\varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}}} \left((\lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}})^{*} \lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}} \right) \xi_{l} \right\rangle, \end{split}$$

where the brackets denote scalar products in the Hilbert space $L^2(VN(G, \sigma))$. Now, we consider the vector $\eta = (\eta_{l,t})_{l \in [\![1,n]\!], t \in I} \in \ell^2_n(\ell^2_I(L^2(VN(G, \sigma))))$, where each $\eta_{l,t}$ belongs to $L^2(VN(G, \sigma))$, defined by

$$\eta_{l,t} = \delta_{t,i_l} \xi_l.$$

We consider

$$\mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{M}_{n}} \otimes \Psi = \left[M_{\varphi_{rt}}\right]_{k,l \in [\![1,n]\!], r,t \in I} \colon \mathrm{M}_{[\![1,n]\!] \times I}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)) \to \mathrm{M}_{[\![1,n]\!] \times I}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))$$

and the matrix

$$C = \left[(\lambda_{\sigma, s_k})^* \lambda_{\sigma, s_l} \right]_{k, l \in \llbracket 1, n \rrbracket, r, t \in I} \in \mathcal{M}_{\llbracket 1, n \rrbracket \times I}(\mathcal{VN}(G, \sigma))$$

Note that C is positive (a matrix $[a_i^*a_j]_{ij}$ of $M_n(A)$ is positive [137, page 34] and we use [24, Lemma 1.3.6]) and that

$$(\mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{M}_n} \otimes \Psi)(C) = \left[M_{\varphi_{rt}} \left((\lambda_{\sigma, s_k})^* \lambda_{\sigma, s_l} \right) \right]_{k, l \in [\![1, n]\!], r, t \in I} \stackrel{\mathrm{def}}{=} [b_{k, l, r, t}]_{k, l \in [\![1, n]\!], r, t \in I}.$$

We have

$$\begin{split} 0 &\leq \left\langle \eta, (\mathrm{Id}_{\mathrm{M}_{n}} \otimes \Psi)(C)\eta \right\rangle_{\ell_{n}^{2}(\ell_{I}^{2}(\ell_{G}^{2}))} \\ &= \left\langle (\eta_{k,r})_{k \in [\![1,n]\!], r \in I}, [b_{k,l,r,t}]_{k,l \in [\![1,n]\!], r,t \in I} (\eta_{l,t})_{l \in [\![1,n]\!], t \in I} \right\rangle_{\ell_{n}^{2}(\ell_{I}^{2}(\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))))} \\ &= \left\langle (\eta_{k,r})_{k \in [\![1,n]\!], r \in I}, \left(\sum_{l=1}^{n} \sum_{t \in I} b_{k,l,r,t} \eta_{l,t} \right)_{k \in [\![1,n]\!], r \in I} \right\rangle_{\ell_{n}^{2}(\ell_{I}^{2}(\mathrm{L}^{2}(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma))))} \\ &= \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \sum_{r,t \in I} \left\langle \eta_{k,r}, b_{k,l,r,t} \eta_{l,t} \right\rangle = \sum_{k,l=1}^{n} \sum_{r,t \in I} \left\langle \eta_{k,r}, M_{\varphi_{rt}} \left((\lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}})^{*} \lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}} \right) \eta_{l,t} \right\rangle \end{split}$$

$$=\sum_{k,l=1}^{n}\sum_{r,t\in I}\left\langle \delta_{r,i_{k}}\xi_{k}, M_{\varphi_{rt}}\left((\lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}})^{*}\lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}}\right)\delta_{t,i_{l}}\xi_{l}\right\rangle$$
$$=\sum_{k,l=1}^{n}\sum_{r,t\in I}\delta_{r,i_{k}}\delta_{t,i_{l}}\left\langle \xi_{k}, M_{\varphi_{rt}}\left((\lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}})^{*}\lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}}\right)\xi_{l}\right\rangle$$
$$=\sum_{k,l=1}^{n}\left\langle \xi_{k}, M_{\varphi_{i_{k}i_{l}}}\left((\lambda_{\sigma,s_{k}})^{*}\lambda_{\sigma,s_{l}}\right)\xi_{l}\right\rangle,$$

where the brackets denote scalar products in the Hilbert space $L^2(VN(G, \sigma))$.

The following result generalizes the results of [152].

THEOREM 8.5. – Let G be a discrete group equipped with a \mathbb{T} -valued 2-cocycle σ on G and I be a finite set. Let $(\varphi_{ij})_{i,j\in I}$ be a family of real-valued functions on G such that $\varphi_{ii}(e) = 1$ for any $i \in I$. If the (selfadjoint unital trace preserving⁽⁸⁰⁾) map $[M_{\varphi_{ii}}]: M_I(VN(G,\sigma)) \to M_I(VN(G,\sigma))$ is completely positive then $[M_{\varphi_{ii}}]$ is factorizable on a von Neumann algebra of the form $M_I(\Gamma_{-1}(H) \rtimes_{\sigma,\alpha} G)$ where α is an action of G on the von Neumann algebra $\Gamma_{-1}(H)$ for some Hilbert space H.

Proof. – By Proposition 8.4, the map $\Phi: I \times G \times I \times G \to \mathbb{R}, (i, s, j, s') \mapsto \varphi_{ij}(s^{-1}s')$ is a real kernel of positive type. Hence for any $i, j \in I$ and any $s, s' \in G$ we have $\varphi_{ij}(s^{-1}s') = \varphi_{ji}(s'^{-1}s)$ in particular

(8.2.6)
$$\varphi_{ij}(s) = \varphi_{ji}(s^{-1}).$$

Moreover, there exists a real Hilbert space H and a map $e: I \times G \to H$, $(i, s) \mapsto e_{i,s}$ such that the linear span of $\{e_{i,s} : i \in I, s \in G\}$ is dense in H and such that for any $i, j \in I$ and any $s, s' \in G$

$$\Phi(i,s,j,s') = \left\langle e_{i,s}, e_{j,s'} \right\rangle_H, \quad \text{i.e.,} \quad \varphi_{ij}(s^{-1}s') = \left\langle e_{i,s}, e_{j,s'} \right\rangle_H.$$

In particular, we have (8.2.7)

$$\varphi_{ij}(s) = \langle e_{i,e}, e_{j,s} \rangle_H$$
 and $\|e_{i,s}\|_H^2 = \langle e_{i,s}, e_{i,s} \rangle_H = \varphi_{ii}(s^{-1}s) = \varphi_{ii}(e) = 1.$

Note that for any family of real numbers $(a_{i,t})_{i \in I, t \in G}$ with only finitely many non-zero terms, we have

$$\left\|\sum_{i\in I,t\in G}a_{i,t}e_{i,st}\right\|_{H}^{2} = \sum_{i,j\in I}\sum_{t,t'\in G}a_{i,t}\overline{a_{j,t'}}\langle e_{i,st}, e_{j,st'}\rangle_{H} = \sum_{i,j\in I}\sum_{t,t'\in G}a_{i,t}\overline{a_{j,t'}}\varphi_{ij}(t^{-1}t')$$
$$= \sum_{i,j\in I}\sum_{t,t'\in G}a_{i,t}\overline{a_{j,t'}}\langle e_{i,t}, e_{j,t'}\rangle_{H} = \left\|\sum_{i\in I,t\in G}a_{i,t}e_{i,t}\right\|_{H}^{2}.$$

Hence, we can define the following surjective isometric operator $\theta_s \colon H \to H$, $e_{i,t} \mapsto e_{i,st}$. Consequently, we obtain a group action θ of G on the Hilbert space H.

^{80.} Hence (Tr $\otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}$)-Markovian.

In order to simplify the notations in the sequel of the proof, in the von Neumann algebra $\Gamma_{-1}(H)$, we use the notation $\omega_{i,s}$ instead of $\omega(e_{i,s})$. For any $s \in G$, we define the trace preserving *-automorphism

$$\alpha(s) = \Gamma_{-1}(\theta_s) \colon \begin{cases} \Gamma_{-1}(H) & \longrightarrow \Gamma_{-1}(H) \\ \omega_{i,t} & \longmapsto \omega_{i,st}. \end{cases}$$

The group homomorphism $\alpha: G \to \operatorname{Aut}(\Gamma_{-1}(H))$ allows us to define the twisted crossed product von Neumann algebra $\Gamma_{-1}(H) \rtimes_{\sigma,\alpha} G$. We identify $\Gamma_{-1}(H)$ and $\operatorname{VN}(G, \sigma)$ as subalgebras of $\Gamma_{-1}(H) \rtimes_{\sigma,\alpha} G$. We can write the first relations of commutation 8.2.4 as

(8.2.8)
$$\lambda_{\sigma,s}\omega_{i,t} = \omega_{i,st}\lambda_{\sigma,s}$$

We denote by τ the faithful finite normal trace on $\Gamma_{-1}(H)$. Recall that, for any $s \in G$, the map $\alpha(s)$ is trace preserving. Thus, the trace τ is α -invariant. We equip $\Gamma_{-1}(H) \rtimes_{\sigma,\alpha} G$ with the induced canonical finite trace τ_{\rtimes} . Now, we introduce the von Neumann algebra

(8.2.9)
$$M = M_I (\Gamma_{-1}(H) \rtimes_{\sigma, \alpha} G).$$

81. We have

equipped with its canonical trace $\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{\rtimes}$ and we consider the element $d = \sum_{i \in I} e_{ii} \otimes \omega_{i,e}$ of M. By 8.2.7 and (8.2.2), it is easy to see⁽⁸¹⁾ that $d^2 = 1_M$. We let $J_1 \colon \operatorname{M}_I(\operatorname{VN}(G, \sigma)) \to M$ the canonical unital *-monomorphism and we define the unital *-monomorphism

$$\begin{array}{rccc} J_0 \colon & \mathcal{M}_I(\mathrm{VN}(G,\sigma)) & \longrightarrow & M \\ & e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,t} & \longmapsto & d(e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,t})d = e_{kl} \otimes \omega_{k,e} \lambda_{\sigma,t} \omega_{l,e}. \end{array}$$

It is not difficult to check that the maps J_0 and J_1 are trace preserving, hence markovian. Now, for any $i, j, k, l \in I$ and any $s, t \in G$ we have

$$(\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{\rtimes}) \left(J_{1}(e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) J_{0}(e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,t}) \right) = (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{\rtimes}) \left((e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s})(e_{kl} \otimes \omega_{k,e} \lambda_{\sigma,t} \omega_{l,e}) \right)$$

$$= (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{\rtimes}) \left(e_{ij} e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s} \omega_{k,e} \lambda_{\sigma,t} \omega_{l,e} \right) = \operatorname{Tr} \left(e_{ij} e_{kl} \right) \tau_{\rtimes} \left(\lambda_{\sigma,s} \omega_{k,e} \lambda_{\sigma,t} \omega_{l,e} \right)$$

$$= \delta_{jk} \delta_{il} \tau_{\rtimes} \left(\omega_{k,s} \lambda_{\sigma,s} \omega_{l,t} \lambda_{\sigma,t} \right) \quad \text{by (8.2.8)}$$

$$= \delta_{jk} \delta_{il} \sigma(s,t) \tau_{\rtimes} \left(\omega_{k,s} \omega_{l,st} \lambda_{\sigma,st} \right) = \delta_{jk} \delta_{il} \delta_{e,st} \sigma(s,t) \tau(\omega_{k,s} \omega_{l,st}) \quad \text{by (8.2.5)}$$

$$= \delta_{jk} \delta_{il} \delta_{e,st} \sigma(s,t) \langle e_{k,s}, e_{l,st} \rangle \quad \text{by (8.2.3)}$$

$$= \delta_{jk} \delta_{il} \delta_{e,st} \sigma(s,t) \langle e_{k,s}, e_{l,st} \rangle \quad \text{by (8.2.6)}$$

$$= \delta_{jk} \delta_{il} \delta_{s,t^{-1}} \sigma(s,t) \varphi_{ij}(s) \quad \text{by (8.2.6)}$$

$$= \varphi_{ij}(s) \operatorname{Tr} \left(e_{ij} e_{kl} \right) \tau_{G,\sigma} \left(\lambda_{\sigma,s} \lambda_{\sigma,t} \right) = \varphi_{ij}(s) (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \left(e_{ij} e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s} \lambda_{\sigma,t} \right)$$

$$d^2 = \sum_{i,j \in I} (e_{ii} \otimes \omega_{i,e})(e_{jj} \otimes \omega_{j,e}) = \sum_{i \in I} \left(e_{ii} \otimes \omega_{i,e}^2 \right) = \sum_{i \in I} \left(e_{ii} \otimes 1_{\Gamma_{-1}(H) \rtimes_{\sigma,\alpha} G} \right) = 1_M.$$

$$= \varphi_{ij}(s)(\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big((e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s})(e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,t}) \big) \\ = (\operatorname{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma}) \big(\big([M_{\varphi_{ij}}](e_{ij} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,s}) \big) (e_{kl} \otimes \lambda_{\sigma,t}) \big).$$

Hence, for any $x, y \in M_2(VN(G, \sigma))$, we deduce that

$$(\mathrm{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma})\big(\big([M_{\varphi_{ij}}](x)\big)y\big) = (\mathrm{Tr} \otimes \tau_{\rtimes})\big(J_1(x)J_0(y)\big) = (\mathrm{Tr} \otimes \tau_{G,\sigma})\big(J_0^*J_1(x)y\big).$$

We conclude that $[M_{\varphi_{ij}}] = J_0^* \circ J_1$, i.e., that the map $[M_{\varphi_{ij}}]$ is factorizable.

8.3. Application to the noncommutative Matsaev inequality

In this chapter, we give an application of Theorem 8.5. Other applications will be given in subsequent publications. If $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ we denote by $S: \ell^p \to \ell^p$ the right shift operator defined by $S(a_0, a_1, a_2, \ldots) \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} (0, a_0, a_1, a_2, \ldots)$. If 1 , the validity of the following inequality

(8.3.1)
$$\left\|P(T)\right\|_{\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)\to\mathrm{L}^{p}(M)} \leq \left\|P(S)\right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\ell^{p}\to\ell^{p}}$$

is open within the class of all contractions $T: L^p(M) \to L^p(M)$ on a noncommutative L^p -space $L^p(M)$ and all complex polynomials P. We refer to the papers [9], [13] and [140] for more information on this problem. The following result allows us to generalize [9, Corollary 4.5 and Corollary 4.7].

THEOREM 8.6. – Let G be a discrete group and σ be a T-valued 2-cocycle on G such that for any real Hilbert space H, any action α from G onto $\Gamma_{-1}(H)$ the crossed product $\Gamma_{-1}(H) \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ has QWEP. Let $\varphi \colon G \to \mathbb{R}$ be a real function which induces a (selfadjoint) contractively decomposable Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon \mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma) \to \mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma)$. Suppose $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Then, the induced completely contractive Fourier multiplier $M_{\varphi} \colon \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma)) \to \mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G, \sigma))$ satisfies the noncommutative Matsaev inequality (8.3.1). More precisely, for any complex polynomial P, we have

$$\left\|P(M_{\varphi})\right\|_{\operatorname{cb},\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G,\sigma))\to\operatorname{L}^{p}(\operatorname{VN}(G,\sigma))}\leq\left\|P(S)\right\|_{\operatorname{cb},\ell^{p}\to\ell^{p}}.$$

Proof. – Using (4.2.2), we can suppose that $\sigma = 1$. Using Proposition 8.2, we see that there exist Fourier multipliers M_{ψ_1}, M_{ψ_2} : VN(G) \rightarrow VN(G) such that the map

$$\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\varphi} \\ M_{\varphi}^{\circ} & M_{\psi_2} \end{bmatrix} : \mathbf{M}_2(\mathbf{VN}(G)) \to \mathbf{M}_2(\mathbf{VN}(G))$$

is unital, completely positive, selfadjoint and weak^{*} continuous. Note that by Lemma 8.1 and interpolation, the previous map induces a (completely contractive)
well-defined map on $S_2^p(L^p(VN(G)))$. For any complex polynomial P, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| P(M_{\varphi}) \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)) \to \mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))} &\leq \left\| \begin{bmatrix} P(M_{\psi_{1}}) & P(M_{\varphi}) \\ P(M_{\varphi}^{\circ}) & P(M_{\psi_{2}}) \end{bmatrix} \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{2}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))) \to S_{2}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)))} \\ &= \left\| P\left(\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_{1}} & M_{\varphi} \\ M_{\varphi}^{\circ} & M_{\psi_{2}} \end{bmatrix} \right) \right\|_{\mathrm{cb},S_{2}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G))) \to S_{2}^{p}(\mathrm{L}^{p}(\mathrm{VN}(G)))}. \end{split}$$

By Theorem 8.5, the operator $\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\varphi} \\ M_{\varphi}^{\circ} & M_{\psi_2} \end{bmatrix}$: $M_2(VN(G)) \to M_2(VN(G))$ is QWEP-factorizable. Using [88, Theorem 4.4], we deduce that this operator is dilatable on a von Neumann algebra and it is left to the reader to check that this von Neumann algebra is QWEP. Finally, it is not difficult to deduce that the operator $Id_{B(\ell^2)} \otimes \begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\varphi} \\ M_{\varphi}^{\circ} & M_{\psi_2} \end{bmatrix}$: $B(\ell^2)\overline{\otimes}M_2(VN(G)) \to B(\ell^2)\overline{\otimes}M_2(VN(G))$ is also dilatable on a QWEP von Neumann algebra. We conclude by using [9, Corollary 2.6 and (1.5)] that

$$\begin{split} & \left\| P\left(\begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\varphi} \\ M_{\varphi}^{\circ} & M_{\psi_2} \end{bmatrix} \right) \right\|_{\operatorname{cb}, S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))) \to S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)))} \\ & = \left\| P\left(\mathrm{Id}_{S^p} \otimes \begin{bmatrix} M_{\psi_1} & M_{\varphi} \\ M_{\varphi}^{\circ} & M_{\psi_2} \end{bmatrix} \right) \right\|_{S^p(S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G)))) \to S^p(S_2^p(\mathrm{L}^p(\mathrm{VN}(G))))} \\ & \leq \left\| P(S) \right\|_{\operatorname{cb}, \ell^p \to \ell^p}. \end{split}$$

The proof is complete.

Acknowledgments. – The authors would like to thank Gilles Pisier, Hatem Hamrouni, Colin Reid, Anne Thomas, Pierre de la Harpe, Christian Le Merdy, Éric Ricard, Antoine Derighetti, Sven Raum, Adam Skalski, Ami Viselter, Mikael de la Salle, Catherine Aaron, Dominique Manchon, Yves Stalder and Bachir Bekka for some discussions. We will thank Erwin Neuhardt for a useful remark.

Finally, we especially thank the referee of the present paper for a detailed report containing some corrections and some improvements.

Both authors were supported by the grant ANR-18-CE40-0021 of the French National Research Agency ANR (project HASCON). The second author was partly supported by the grant ANR-17-CE40-0021 (project Front).

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [1] Y. A. ABRAMOVICH & C. D. ALIPRANTIS An invitation to operator theory, Graduate Studies in Math., vol. 50, Amer. Math. Soc., 2002.
- [2] C. D. ALIPRANTIS & K. C. BORDER Infinite dimensional analysis. A hitchhiker's guide, third ed., Springer, 2006.
- [3] C. ANANTHARAMAN-DELAROCHE "On ergodic theorems for free group actions on noncommutative spaces", *Probab. Theory Related Fields* **135** (2006), p. 520–546.
- [4] W. ARENDT "On the o-spectrum of regular operators and the spectrum of measures", Math. Z. 178 (1981), p. 271–287.
- [5] W. ARENDT & J. VOIGT "Approximation of multipliers by regular operators", *Indag. Math. (N.S.)* 2 (1991), p. 159–170.
- [6] C. ARHANCET "Noncommutative Figà-Talamanca-Herz algebras for Schur multipliers", Integral Equations Operator Theory 70 (2011), p. 485–510.
- [7] _____, "Unconditionality, Fourier multipliers and Schur multipliers", Colloq. Math. 127 (2012), p. 17–37.
- [8] _____, "Analytic semigroups on vector valued noncommutative L^p-spaces", Studia Math. 216 (2013), p. 271–290.
- [9] _____, "On Matsaev's conjecture for contractions on noncommutative L^p-spaces", J. Operator Theory 69 (2013), p. 387–421.
- [10] _____, "On a conjecture of Pisier on the analyticity of semigroups", Semigroup Forum 91 (2015), p. 450–462.
- [11] _____, "Dilations of Markovian semigroups of Fourier multipliers on locally compact groups", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 148 (2020), p. 2551–2563.
- [12] C. ARHANCET & C. KRIEGLER Riesz transforms, Hodge-Dirac operators and functional calculus for multipliers, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 2304, Springer, 2022.

- [13] C. ARHANCET & C. LE MERDY "Dilation of Ritt operators on L^p-spaces", Israel J. Math. 201 (2014), p. 373–414.
- [14] C. ARHANCET & C. KRIEGLER "Fourier-Stieltjes algebras, decomposable Fourier multipliers and amenability", preprint arXiv:2205.13823.
- [15] C. ARHANCET "Contractively decomposable projections on noncommutative L^p-spaces", preprint arXiv:1910.13894.
- [16] _____, "Quantum information theory and Fourier multipliers on quantum groups", preprint arXiv:2008.12019.
- [17] L. BARTHOLDI, R. I. GRIGORCHUK & Z. ŠUNIK "Branch groups", in Handbook of algebra, Vol. 3, Handb. Algebr., vol. 3, Elsevier/North-Holland, 2003, p. 989– 1112.
- [18] E. BÉDOS & R. CONTI "On twisted Fourier analysis and convergence of Fourier series on discrete groups", J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 15 (2009), p. 336–365.
- [19] B. BEKKA, P. DE LA HARPE & A. VALETTE Kazhdan's property (T), New Mathematical Monographs, vol. 11, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2008.
- [20] R. BENEDETTI & C. PETRONIO Lectures on hyperbolic geometry, Universitext, Springer, 1992.
- [21] C. BERG, J. P. R. CHRISTENSEN & P. RESSEL Harmonic analysis on semigroups, Graduate Texts in Math., vol. 100, Springer, 1984.
- [22] J. BERGH & J. LÖFSTRÖM Interpolation spaces. An introduction, Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 223, Springer, 1976.
- [23] E. BERKSON, T. A. GILLESPIE & P. S. MUHLY "Abstract spectral decompositions guaranteed by the Hilbert transform", Proc. London Math. Soc. 53 (1986), p. 489–517.
- [24] R. BHATIA Positive definite matrices, Princeton Series in Applied Mathematics, Princeton Univ. Press, 2007.
- [25] M. BHATTACHARJEE & D. MACPHERSON "Strange permutation representations of free groups", J. Aust. Math. Soc. 74 (2003), p. 267–285.
- [26] M. BJÖRKLUND, T. HARTNICK & F. POGORZELSKI "Aperiodic order and spherical diffraction, I: auto-correlation of regular model sets", *Proc. Lond. Math.* Soc. 116 (2018), p. 957–996.
- [27] B. BLACKADAR Operator algebras, Encyclopaedia of Math. Sciences, vol. 122, Springer, 2006.

- [28] D. P. BLECHER, S. GOLDSTEIN & L. E. LABUSCHAGNE "Abelian von Neumann algebras, measure algebras and L[∞]-spaces", *Expo. Math.* 40 (2022), p. 758– 818.
- [29] D. P. BLECHER & C. LE MERDY Operator algebras and their modules—an operator space approach, London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series, vol. 30, The Clarendon Press Univ. Press, 2004.
- [30] L. M. BORASI "Review and concrete description of the irreducible unitary representations of the universal cover of the complexified Poincaré group", *Rev. Math. Phys.* 35 (2023), Paper No. 2230004.
- [31] N. BOURBAKI Éléments de mathématique. Fascicule XXIX. Livre VI: Intégration. Chapitre 7: Mesure de Haar. Chapitre 8: Convolution et représentations, Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, No. 1306, Hermann, 1963.
- [32] _____, Topological vector spaces. Chapters 1-5, Elements of Mathematics (Berlin), Springer, 1987.
- [33] _____, General topology. Chapters 1-4, Elements of Mathematics (Berlin), Springer, 1998.
- [34] _____, Integration. I. Chapters 1-6, Elements of Mathematics (Berlin), Springer, 2004.
- [35] _____, Integration. II. Chapters 7–9, Elements of Mathematics (Berlin), Springer, 2004.
- [36] M. BOŻEJKO & G. FENDLER "Herz-Schur multipliers and completely bounded multipliers of the Fourier algebra of a locally compact group", *Boll. Un. Mat. Ital.* A 3 (1984), p. 297–302.
- [37] N. P. BROWN & N. OZAWA C*-algebras and finite-dimensional approximations, Graduate Studies in Math., vol. 88, Amer. Math. Soc., 2008.
- [38] P.-E. CAPRACE "Amenable groups and Hadamard spaces with a totally disconnected isometry group", Comment. Math. Helv. 84 (2009), p. 437–455.
- [39] M. CASPERS, J. PARCET, M. PERRIN & E. RICARD "Noncommutative de Leeuw theorems", Forum Math. Sigma 3 (2015), Paper No. e21.
- [40] M. CASPERS & M. DE LA SALLE "Schur and Fourier multipliers of an amenable group acting on non-commutative L^p-spaces", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 367 (2015), p. 6997–7013.

- [41] C. CHABAUTY "Limite d'ensembles et géométrie des nombres", Bull. Soc. Math. France 78 (1950), p. 143–151.
- [42] Z. CHEN, Q. XU & Z. YIN "Harmonic analysis on quantum tori", Comm. Math. Phys. 322 (2013), p. 755–805.
- [43] M. D. CHOI "Completely positive linear maps on complex matrices", *Linear Algebra Appl.* 10 (1975), p. 285–290.
- [44] M. D. CHOI & E. G. EFFROS "Injectivity and operator spaces", J. Functional Analysis 24 (1977), p. 156–209.
- [45] A. CONNES "Classification of injective factors. Cases II_1 , II_{∞} , III_{λ} , $\lambda \neq 1$ ", Ann. of Math. 104 (1976), p. 73–115.
- [46] Y. CORNULIER & P. DE LA HARPE Metric geometry of locally compact groups, EMS Tracts in Mathematics, vol. 25, European Mathematical Society (EMS), 2016.
- [47] M. G. COWLING "Extension of Fourier L^p-L^q multipliers", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 213 (1975), p. 1–33.
- [48] M. DAWS "Representing multipliers of the Fourier algebra on non-commutative L^p spaces", Canad. J. Math. 63 (2011), p. 798–825.
- [49] M. DAWS, P. FIMA, A. SKALSKI & S. WHITE "The Haagerup property for locally compact quantum groups", J. reine angew. Math. 711 (2016), p. 189–229.
- [50] M. DAWS, A. KASPRZAK, PAWEŁAND SKALSKI & P. M. SOŁTAN "Closed quantum subgroups of locally compact quantum groups", Adv. Math. 231 (2012), p. 3473–3501.
- [51] J. DE CANNIÈRE & U. HAAGERUP "Multipliers of the Fourier algebras of some simple Lie groups and their discrete subgroups", Amer. J. Math. 107 (1985), p. 455–500.
- [52] A. DEITMAR & S. ECHTERHOFF Principles of harmonic analysis, Universitext, Springer, 2009.
- [53] A. DERIGHETTI "Relations entre les convoluteurs d'un groupe localement compact et ceux d'un sous-groupe fermé", *Bull. Sci. Math.* **106** (1982), p. 69–84.
- [54] _____, "Å propos des convoluteurs d'un groupe quotient", Bull. Sci. Math. 107 (1983), p. 3–23.
- [55] _____, "Conditional expectations on $CV_p(G)$. Applications", J. Funct. Anal. 247 (2007), p. 231–251.

- [56] _____, Convolution operators on groups, Lecture Notes of the Unione Matematica Italiana, vol. 11, Springer; UMI, Bologna, 2011.
- [57] J. DIESTEL, H. JARCHOW & A. TONGE Absolutely summing operators, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Math., vol. 43, Cambridge Univ. Press, 1995.
- [58] J. DIEUDONNÉ Éléments d'analyse. Tome II: Chapitres XII à XV, Cahiers Scientifiques, Fasc. XXXI, Gauthier-Villars, Éditeur, 1968.
- [59] J. DIXMIER C^{*}-algebras, North-Holland Mathematical Library, vol. 15, North-Holland Publishing Co.-New York-Oxford, 1977.
- [60] _____, von Neumann algebras, North-Holland Mathematical Library, vol. 27, North-Holland Publishing Co.-New York, 1981.
- [61] R. G. DOUGLAS Banach algebra techniques in operator theory, second ed., Graduate Texts in Math., vol. 179, Springer, 1998.
- [62] I. DOUST "Norms of 0-1 matrices in C_p", in Geometric analysis and applications (Canberra, 2000), Proc. Centre Math. Appl. Austral. Nat. Univ., vol. 39, Austral. Nat. Univ., Canberra, 2001, p. 50–55.
- [63] N. DUNFORD & J. T. SCHWARTZ Linear Operators. I. General Theory, Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 7, Interscience Publishers; Interscience Publishers Ltd., London, 1958.
- [64] S. DUTTA, P. MOHANTY & U. B. TEWARI "Multipliers which are not completely bounded", *Illinois J. Math.* 56 (2012), p. 571–578.
- [65] R. E. EDWARDS & G. I. GAUDRY Littlewood-Paley and multiplier theory, Ergebn. Math. Grenzg., vol. 90, Springer, 1977.
- [66] E. G. EFFROS & Z.-J. RUAN "The Grothendieck-Pietsch and Dvoretzky-Rogers theorems for operator spaces", J. Funct. Anal. 122 (1994), p. 428–450.
- [67] _____, "Mapping spaces and liftings for operator spaces", Proc. London Math. Soc. 69 (1994), p. 171–197.
- [68] _____, Operator spaces, London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series, vol. 23, The Clarendon Press Univ. Press, 2000.
- [69] T. EISNER, B. FARKAS, M. HAASE & R. NAGEL Operator theoretic aspects of ergodic theory, Graduate Texts in Math., vol. 272, Springer, 2015.
- [70] R. ENGELKING General topology, second ed., Sigma Series in Pure Mathematics, vol. 6, Heldermann Verlag, 1989.

- [71] D. B. A. EPSTEIN, J. W. CANNON, D. F. HOLT, S. V. F. LEVY, M. S. PATERSON & W. P. THURSTON – Word processing in groups, Jones and Bartlett Publishers, 1992.
- [72] P. EYMARD "L'algèbre de Fourier d'un groupe localement compact", Bull. Soc. Math. France 92 (1964), p. 181–236.
- [73] J. M. G. FELL "A Hausdorff topology for the closed subsets of a locally compact non-Hausdorff space", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 13 (1962), p. 472–476.
- [74] J. M. G. FELL & R. S. DORAN Representations of *-algebras, locally compact groups, and Banach *-algebraic bundles. Vol. 1, Pure and Applied Mathematics, vol. 125, Academic Press, 1988.
- [75] G. B. FOLLAND A course in abstract harmonic analysis, second ed., Textbooks in Mathematics, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, 2016.
- [76] D. H. FREMLIN Measure theory. Vol. 2, Torres Fremlin, Colchester, 2003.
- [77] _____, Measure theory. Vol. 3, Torres Fremlin, Colchester, 2004.
- [78] _____, Measure theory. Vol. 4, Torres Fremlin, Colchester, 2006.
- [79] H. FÜHR Abstract harmonic analysis of continuous wavelet transforms, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1863, Springer, 2005.
- [80] S. A. GAAL Linear analysis and representation theory, Die Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 198, Springer, 1973.
- [81] H. GLÖCKNER & G. A. WILLIS "Uniscalar *p*-adic Lie groups", Forum Math. 13 (2001), p. 413–421.
- [82] R. I. GRIGORCHUK "Just infinite branch groups", in New horizons in pro-p groups, Progr. Math., vol. 184, Birkhäuser, 2000, p. 121–179.
- [83] U. HAAGERUP "An example of a nonnuclear C*-algebra, which has the metric approximation property", Invent. math. 50 (1978/79), p. 279–293.
- [84] _____, "On the dual weights for crossed products of von Neumann algebras. II. Application of operator-valued weights", Math. Scand. 43 (1978/79), p. 119–140.
- [85] _____, "Injectivity and decomposition of completely bounded maps", in Operator algebras and their connections with topology and ergodic theory (Buşteni, 1983), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1132, Springer, 1985, p. 170–222.
- [86] _____, "Group C*-algebras without the completely bounded approximation property", J. Lie Theory 26 (2016), p. 861–887.

- [87] U. HAAGERUP & J. KRAUS "Approximation properties for group C*-algebras and group von Neumann algebras", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 344 (1994), p. 667– 699.
- [88] U. HAAGERUP & M. MUSAT "Factorization and dilation problems for completely positive maps on von Neumann algebras", Comm. Math. Phys. 303 (2011), p. 555–594.
- [89] U. HAAGERUP & A. PRZYBYSZEWSKA "Proper metrics on locally compact groups, and proper affine isometric actions on Banach spaces", preprint arXiv:math/0606794.
- [90] U. HAAGERUP, H. P. ROSENTHAL & F. A. SUKOCHEV Banach embedding properties of non-commutative L^p-spaces, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., vol. 163, 2003.
- [91] P. R. HALMOS Measure Theory, D. Van Nostrand Co., N. Y., 1950.
- [92] H. HAMROUNI & B. KADRI "Discretely approximable locally compact groups and Jessen's theorem for nilmanifolds", *Bull. Sci. Math.* **140** (2016), p. 1–13.
- [93] _____, "Pro-Lie groups approximable by discrete subgroups", Forum Math. 28 (2016), p. 189–192.
- [94] H. HAMROUNI & S. SOUISSI "On approximation of Lie groups by discrete subgroups", Proc. Indian Acad. Sci. Math. Sci. 124 (2014), p. 37–55.
- [95] A. HARCHARRAS "Fourier analysis, Schur multipliers on S^p and noncommutative $\Lambda(p)$ -sets", Studia Math. 137 (1999), p. 203–260.
- [96] P. DE LA HARPE "Spaces of closed subgroups of locally compact groups", preprint arXiv:0807.2030.
- [97] E. HEWITT & K. A. ROSS Abstract harmonic analysis. Vol. II: Structure and analysis for compact groups. Analysis on locally compact Abelian groups, Die Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 152, Springer-Berlin, 1970.
- [98] _____, Abstract harmonic analysis. Vol. I, second ed., Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 115, Springer, 1979.
- [99] J. HOFFMANN-JØRGENSEN "Sums of independent Banach space valued random variables", Studia Math. 52 (1974), p. 159–186.
- [100] R. B. HOLMES Geometric functional analysis and its applications, Graduate Texts in Math., No. 24, Springer, 1975.

- [101] T. HYTÖNEN, J. VAN NEERVEN, M. VERAAR & L. WEIS Analysis in Banach spaces. Vol. I. Martingales and Littlewood-Paley theory, Ergebn. Math. Grenzg., vol. 63, Springer, 2016.
- [102] _____, Analysis in Banach spaces. Vol. II, Ergebn. Math. Grenzg., vol. 67, Springer, 2017.
- [103] A. IONESCU TULCEA & C. IONESCU TULCEA "On the existence of a lifting commuting with the left translations of an arbitrary locally compact group", in Proc. Fifth Berkeley Sympos. Math. Statist. and Probability (Berkeley, Calif., 1965/66), Vol. II: Contributions to Probability Theory, Part 1, Univ. California Press, Berkeley, Calif., 1967, p. 63–97.
- [104] T. ITOH "Completely positive decompositions from duals of C^{*}-algebras to von Neumann algebras", Math. Japon. 51 (2000), p. 89–98.
- [105] M. JERISON & G. RABSON "Convergence theorems obtained from induced homomorphisms of a group algebra", Ann. of Math. 63 (1956), p. 176–190.
- [106] M. JUNGE "Fubini's theorem for ultraproducts of noncommutative L_p -spaces", Canad. J. Math. 56 (2004), p. 983–1021.
- [107] _____, "Fubini's theorem for ultraproducts of noncommutative L_p -spaces, II", preprint.
- [108] M. JUNGE, C. LE MERDY & Q. $XU H^{\infty}$ functional calculus and square functions on noncommutative L^{p} -spaces, Astérisque, vol. 305, 2006.
- [109] M. JUNGE, T. MEI & J. PARCET "Smooth Fourier multipliers on group von Neumann algebras", Geom. Funct. Anal. 24 (2014), p. 1913–1980.
- [110] _____, "Noncommutative Riesz transforms—dimension free bounds and Fourier multipliers", J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 20 (2018), p. 529–595.
- [111] M. JUNGE & Z.-J. RUAN "Approximation properties for noncommutative L_p -spaces associated with discrete groups", *Duke Math. J.* 117 (2003), p. 313–341.
- [112] _____, "Decomposable maps on non-commutative L_p-spaces", in Operator algebras, quantization, and noncommutative geometry, Contemp. Math., vol. 365, Amer. Math. Soc., 2004, p. 355–381.
- [113] V. KADETS & A. LEONOV "Dominated convergence and Egorov theorems for filter convergence", *Zh. Mat. Fiz. Anal. Geom.* 3 (2007), p. 196–212, 284.
- [114] R. V. KADISON & J. R. RINGROSE Fundamentals of the theory of operator algebras. Vol. II, Graduate Studies in Math., vol. 16, Amer. Math. Soc., 1997.

- [115] E. KANIUTH & A. T.-M. LAU Fourier and Fourier-Stieltjes algebras on locally compact groups, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 231, Amer. Math. Soc., 2018.
- [116] L. KANTOROVITCH "Linear operations in semi-ordered spaces. I", Rec. Math. [Mat. Sbornik] N.S. 7 (49) (1940), p. 209–284.
- [117] A. KEPERT & G. A. WILLIS "Scale functions and tree ends", J. Aust. Math. Soc. 70 (2001), p. 273–292.
- [118] C. KRIEGLER "Analyticity angle for non-commutative diffusion semigroups", J. Lond. Math. Soc. 83 (2011), p. 168–186.
- [119] P. C. KUNSTMANN & L. WEIS "Maximal L_p -regularity for parabolic equations, Fourier multiplier theorems and H^{∞} -functional calculus", in *Functional analytic methods for evolution equations*, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1855, Springer, 2004, p. 65–311.
- [120] R. A. KUNZE " L_p Fourier transforms on locally compact unimodular groups", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 89 (1958), p. 519–540.
- [121] M. KURANISHI "On everywhere dense imbedding of free groups in Lie groups", Nagoya Math. J. 2 (1951), p. 63–71.
- [122] S. KWAPIEŃ "On Banach spaces containing c₀", Studia Math. 52 (1974), p. 187–188.
- [123] V. LAFFORGUE & M. DE LA SALLE "Noncommutative L^p-spaces without the completely bounded approximation property", *Duke Math. J.* 160 (2011), p. 71– 116.
- [124] C. LANCE "On nuclear C*-algebras", J. Functional Analysis 12 (1973), p. 157– 176.
- [125] A. T.-M. LAU "Operators which commute with convolutions on subspaces of $L_{\infty}(G)$ ", Colloq. Math. 39 (1978), p. 351–359.
- [126] C. LE MERDY "Finite rank approximation and semidiscreteness for linear operators", Ann. Inst. Fourier 49 (1999), p. 1869–1901.
- [127] B. R. LI Introduction to operator algebras, World Scientific Publishing Co., River Edge, NJ, 1992.
- [128] L. H. LOOMIS An introduction to abstract harmonic analysis, D. Van Nostrand Co., Toronto-New York-London, 1953.

- [129] G. W. MACKEY "Induced representations of locally compact groups. I", Ann. of Math. 55 (1952), p. 101–139.
- [130] MARTIN "Are nilpotent Lie groups unimodular?", https://math. stackexchange.com/questions/323017/are-nilpotent-lie-groups-unimodular.
- [131] R. E. MEGGINSON An introduction to Banach space theory, Graduate Texts in Math., vol. 183, Springer, 1998.
- [132] T. MEI & E. RICARD "Free Hilbert transforms", Duke Math. J. 166 (2017), p. 2153–2182.
- [133] P. MEYER-NIEBERG Banach lattices, Universitext, Springer, 1991.
- [134] S. NEUWIRTH & E. RICARD "Transfer of Fourier multipliers into Schur multipliers and sumsets in a discrete group", Canad. J. Math. 63 (2011), p. 1161–1187.
- [135] S. OKADA & W. J. RICKER "Classes of localizable measure spaces", in *Pos-itivity and noncommutative analysis*, Trends Math., Birkhäuser/Springer, 2019, p. 425–469.
- [136] T. W. PALMER Banach algebras and the general theory of *-algebras. Vol. 2, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications, vol. 79, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2001.
- [137] V. PAULSEN Completely bounded maps and operator algebras, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Math., vol. 78, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2002.
- [138] V. I. PAULSEN & M. RAGHUPATHI An introduction to the theory of reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces, Cambridge Studies in Advanced Math., vol. 152, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2016.
- [139] G. K. PEDERSEN C*-algebras and their automorphism groups, London Mathematical Society Monographs, vol. 14, Academic Press, London-New York, 1979.
- [140] V. PELLER "Estimates of operator polynomials on the Schatten-von Neumann classes", in *Linear and Complex Analysis Problem Book 3*, Lectures Notes in Mathematics, vol. 1573, Springer, 1994, p. 244–246.
- [141] J.-P. PIER Amenable locally compact groups, Pure and Applied Mathematics (New York), John Wiley & Sons, 1984.
- [142] G. PISIER "Complex interpolation and regular operators between Banach lattices", Arch. Math. 62 (1994), p. 261–269.
- [143] _____, "Regular operators between non-commutative L_p -spaces", Bull. Sci. Math. 119 (1995), p. 95–118.

- [144] _____, The operator Hilbert space OH, complex interpolation and tensor norms, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., vol. 122, 1996.
- [145] _____, "Non-commutative vector valued L_p -spaces and completely *p*-summing maps", Astérisque 247 (1998), p. 131.
- [146] _____, Introduction to operator space theory, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, vol. 294, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2003.
- [147] _____, Complex interpolation between Hilbert, Banach and operator spaces, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc., vol. 208, 2010.
- [148] G. PISIER & Q. XU "Non-commutative L^p-spaces", in Handbook of the geometry of Banach spaces, Vol. 2, North-Holland, 2003, p. 1459–1517.
- [149] F. POP & R. R. SMITH "Schur products and completely bounded maps on the hyperfinite type II₁ factor", J. London Math. Soc. 52 (1995), p. 594–604.
- [150] D. E. RAMIREZ "Uniform approximation by Fourier-Stieltjes transforms", Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 64 (1968), p. 323–333.
- [151] H. REITER & J. D. STEGEMAN Classical harmonic analysis and locally compact groups, second ed., London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series, vol. 22, The Clarendon Press Univ. Press, 2000.
- [152] E. RICARD "A Markov dilation for self-adjoint Schur multipliers", Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 136 (2008), p. 4365–4372.
- [153] D. J. S. ROBINSON A course in the theory of groups, second ed., Graduate Texts in Math., vol. 80, Springer, 1996.
- [154] S. SAEKI "Translation invariant operators on groups", Tohoku Math. J. 22 (1970), p. 409–419.
- [155] J. SAUER "K-theory for proper smooth actions of totally disconnected groups", in *High-dimensional manifold topology*, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 2003, p. 427–448.
- [156] H. H. SCHAEFER Banach lattices and positive operators, Die Grundl. math. Wiss., vol. 215, Springer, 1974.
- [157] K. SCHMÜDGEN Unbounded self-adjoint operators on Hilbert space, Graduate Texts in Math., vol. 265, Springer, 2012.
- [158] W. J. SCHREINER "Matrix regular operator spaces", J. Funct. Anal. 152 (1998), p. 136–175.

- [159] W. J. SCHREINER "Matrix-regular orders on operator spaces", Ph.D. Thesis, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1995.
- [160] I. E. SEGAL "Equivalences of measure spaces", Amer. J. Math. 73 (1951), p. 275–313.
- [161] C. L. SIEGEL "Discontinuous groups", Ann. of Math. 44 (1943), p. 674–689.
- [162] A. M. SINCLAIR & R. R. SMITH Finite von Neumann algebras and masas, London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series, vol. 351, Cambridge Univ. Press, 2008.
- [163] N. SPRONK "Measurable Schur multipliers and completely bounded multipliers of the Fourier algebras", Proc. London Math. Soc. 89 (2004), p. 161–192.
- [164] T. STEENSTRUP "Herz-Schur multipliers and non-uniformly bounded representations of locally compact groups", Probab. Math. Statist. 33 (2013), p. 213–223.
- [165] W. F. STINESPRING "Integration theorems for gages and duality for unimodular groups", Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 90 (1959), p. 15–56.
- [166] C. STRĂTILĂ Modular theory in operator algebras, Editura Academiei Republicii Socialiste România, Bucharest; Abacus Press, Tunbridge Wells, 1981.
- [167] C. STRĂTILĂ & L. ZSIDÓ Lectures on von Neumann algebras, Editura Academiei, Bucharest; Abacus Press, Tunbridge Wells, 1979.
- [168] F. A. SUKOCHEV "Linear-topological classification of separable L_p-spaces associated with von Neumann algebras of type I", *Israel J. Math.* **115** (2000), p. 137– 156.
- [169] V. S. SUNDER An invitation to von Neumann algebras, Universitext, Springer, 1987.
- [170] C. E. SUTHERLAND "Cohomology and extensions of von Neumann algebras. I, II", Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 16 (1980), p. 105–133, 135–174.
- [171] M. TAKESAKI Theory of operator algebras. I, Encyclopaedia of Math. Sciences, vol. 124, Springer, 2002.
- [172] _____, Theory of operator algebras. II, Encyclopaedia of Math. Sciences, vol. 125, Springer, 2003.
- [173] I. G. TODOROV "Interactions between harmonic analysis and operator theory", Serdica Math. J. 41 (2015), p. 13–34.

- [174] I. G. TODOROV & L. TUROWSKA "Schur and operator multipliers", in Banach algebras 2009, Banach Center Publ., vol. 91, Polish Acad. Sci. Inst. Math., Warsaw, 2010, p. 385–410.
- [175] J. TOMIYAMA "On the projection of norm one in W*-algebras. III", Tohoku Math. J. 11 (1959), p. 125–129.
- [176] H. TOYAMA "On discrete subgroups of a Lie group", KBodai Math. Sem. Rep. 1 (1949), p. 36–37.
- [177] H. TRIEBEL Interpolation theory, function spaces, differential operators, second ed., Johann Ambrosius Barth, 1995.
- [178] S. P. WANG "On the limit of subgroups in a group", Amer. J. Math. 92 (1970), p. 708–724.
- [179] D. P. WILLIAMS Crossed products of C^{*}-algebras, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 134, Amer. Math. Soc., 2007.
- [180] J. S. WILSON Profinite groups, London Mathematical Society Monographs. New Series, vol. 19, The Clarendon Press Univ. Press, 1998.
- [181] G. ZELLER-MEIER "Produits croisés d'une C*-algèbre par un groupe d'automorphismes", J. Math. Pures Appl. 47 (1968), p. 101–239.
- [182] E. I. ZEL'MANOV "On periodic compact groups", Israel J. Math. 77 (1992), p. 83–95.
- [183] X. ZHAN Matrix inequalities, Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1790, Springer, 2002.

Série MÉMOIRES DE LA S.M.F.

2022

- 176. É. CAUDRON & G. RÉMOND Nouveaux théorèmes d'isogénie
- 175. R. OLLIVIER & P. SCHNEIDER On the pro-p lwahori Hecke Ext-algebra of $SL_2(\mathbb{Q}_p)$
- 174. R. CARLES & C. CHEVERRY Constructive and destructive interferences in nonlinear hyperbolic equations
- 173. C. PARK & Z. QIAN On mod p local-global compatibility for $GL_n(\mathbf{Q}_p)$ in the ordinary case
- 172. L. BIGORGNE Asymptotic properties of small data solutions of the Vlasov-Maxwell system in high dimensions

2021

- 171. K. COULIBALY-PASQUIER & L. MICLO On the evolution by duality of domains on manifolds
- 170. A. ARABIA Espaces de configuration généralisés. Espaces topologiques *i*-acycliques. Suites spectrales basiques
- 169. C. ERIGNOU Hydrodynamic limit for an active exclusion process
- 168. V. A. DOLGUSHEV Stable Formality Quasi-isomorphisms for Hochschild Cochains

2020

- 167. D. BENOIS p-adic height and p-adic Hodge theory
- 166. Y. ALMOG & B. HELFFER The spectrum of a Schrödinger operator in a wire-like domain with a purely imaginary degenerate potential in the semiclassical limit
- 165. D. ARA & G. MALTSINIOTIS Joint et tranches pour les ∞ -catégories strictes
- 164. S. GHAZOUANI & L. PIRIO Moduli spaces of flat tori and elliptic hypergeometric functions

2019

- 163. D. XU Lifting the Cartier transform of Ogus-Vologodsky module p^n
- 162. J.-H. CHIENG, C.-Y. HSIAO & I-H. TSAI Heat kernel asymptotics, local index theorem and trace integrals for Cauchy-Riemann manifolds with S^1 action
- 161. F. JAUBERTEAU, Y. ROLLIN & S. TAPIE Discrete geometry and isotropic surfaces
- 160. P. VIDOTTO Ergodic properties of some negatively curved manifolds with infinite measure

2018

- 159. L. POSITSELSKI Weakly curved A_{∞} -algebras over a topological local ring
- 158. T. LUPU Poisson ensembles of loops of one-dimensional diffusions
- 157. M. SPITZWECK A commutative \mathbb{P}^1 -spectrum representing motivic cohomology over Dedekind domains
- 156. C. SABBAH Irregular Hodge Theory

2017

- 155. Y. DING Formes modulaires *p*-adiques sur les courbes de Shimura unitaires et compatibilité local-global
- 154. G. MASSUYEAU, V. TURAEV Brackets in the Pontryagin algebras of manifolds
- 153. M.P. GUALDANI, S. MISCHLER, C. MOUHOT Factorization of non-symmetric operators and exponential H-theorem
- 152. M. MACULAN Diophantine applications of geometric invariant theory
- 151. T. SCHOENEBERG Semisimple Lie algebras and their classification over p-adic fields
- 150. P.G. LE FLOCH, Y. MA The mathematical validity of the f(R) theory of modified gravity

- 149. R. BEUZART-PLESSIS La conjecture locale de Gross-Prasad pour les représentations tempérées des groupes unitaires
- 148. M. MOKHTAR-KHARROUBI Compactness properties of perturbed sub-stochastic C_0 -semigroups on $L^1(\mu)$ with applications to discreteness and spectral gaps
- 147. Y. CHITOUR, P. KOKKONEN Rolling of manifolds and controllability in dimension three
- 146. N. KARALIOLIOS Global aspects of the reducibility of quasiperiodic cocycles in compact Lie groups
- 145. V. BONNAILLIE-NOËL, M. DAUGE, N. POPOFF Ground state energy of the magnetic Laplacian on corner domains
- 144. P. AUSCHER, S. STAHLHUT Functional calculus for first order systems of Dirac type and boundary value problems

2015

- 143. R. DANCHIN, P.B. MUCHA Critical functional framework and maximal regularity in action on systems of incompressible flows
- 142. J. AYOUB Motifs des variétés analytiques rigides
- 140/141. Y. LU, B. TEXIER A stability criterion for high-frequency oscillations

2014

- 138/139. T. MOCHIZUKI Holonomic D-modules with Betti structures
 - 137. P. SEIDEL Abstract analogues of flux as symplectic invariants
 - 136. J. SJÖSTRAND Weyl law for semi-classical resonances with randomly perturbed potentials

2013

- 135. L. PRELLI Microlocalization of subanalytic sheaves
- 134. P. BERGER Persistence of stratification of normally expanded laminations
- 133. L. DESIDERI Problème de Plateau, équations fuchsiennes et problème de Riemann Hilbert
- 132. X. BRESSAUD, N. FOURNIER One-dimensional general forest fire processes

2012

- 130/131. Y. NAKKAJIMA Weight filtration and slope filtration on the rigid cohomology of a variety in characteristic p > 0
 - 129. W. A STEINMETZ-ZIKESCH Algèbres de Lie de dimension infinie et théorie de la descente
 - 128. D. DOLGOPYAT Repulsion from resonances

2011

- 127. B. LE STUM The overconvergent site
- 125/126. J. BERTIN, M. ROMAGNY Champs de Hurwitz
 - 124. G. HENNIART, B. LEMAIRE Changement de base et induction automorphe pour GL_n en caractéristique non nulle

2010

- 123. C.-H. HSIAO Projections in several complex variables
- 122. H. DE THÉLIN, G. VIGNY Entropy of meromorphic maps and dynamics of birational maps
- 121. M. REES A Fundamental Domain for V_3
- 120. H. CHEN Convergence des polygones de Harder-Narasimhan

2009

- 119. B. DEMANGE Uncertainty principles associated to non-degenerate quadratic forms
- 118. A. SIEGEL, J. M. THUSWALDNER Topological properties of Rauzy fractals
- 117. D. HÄFNER Creation of fermions by rotating charged black holes
- 116. P. BOYER Faisceaux pervers des cycles évanescents des variétés de Drinfeld et groupes de cohomologie du modèle de Deligne-Carayol

Mémoires de la S.M.F.

Instructions aux auteurs / Instructions to Authors

Les *Mémoires* de la SMF publient, en français ou en anglais, des articles longs de recherche ou des monographies de la plus grande qualité qui font au moins 80 pages. Les *Mémoires* sont le supplément du *Bulletin* de la SMF et couvrent l'ensemble des mathématiques. Son comité de rédaction est commun avec celui du *Bulletin*.

Le manuscrit doit être envoyé au format pdf au comité de rédaction, à l'adresse électronique memoires@smf.emath.fr Les articles acceptés doivent être composés en LAT_EXavec la classe smfart ou smfbook, disponible sur le site de la SMF http://smf.emath.fr/ ou avec toute classe standard. In the Mémoires of the SMF are published, in French or in English, long research articles or monographs of the highest mathematical quality, that are at least 80 pages long. Articles in all areas of mathematics are considered. The Mémoires are the supplement of the Bulletin of the SMF. They share the same editorial board.

The manuscript must be sent in pdf format to the editorial board to the email address memoires@smf.emath.fr. The accepted articles must be composed in $E^{A}T_{E}X$ with the smfart or the smfbook class available on the SMF website http://smf.emath.fr/ or with any standard class. We introduce a noncommutative analogue of the absolute value of a regular operator acting on a noncommutative L^p -space. We equally prove that two classical operator norms, the regular norm and the decomposable norm are identical. We also describe precisely the regular norm of several classes of regular multipliers. This includes Schur multipliers and Fourier multipliers on some unimodular locally compact groups which can be approximated by discrete groups in various senses. A main ingredient is to show the existence of a bounded projection from the space of completely bounded L^p operators onto the subspace of Schur or Fourier multipliers, preserving complete positivity. On the other hand, we show the existence of bounded Fourier multipliers which cannot be approximated by regular operators, on large classes of locally compact groups, including all infinite abelian locally compact groups. We finish by introducing a general procedure in order to prove positive results on selfadjoint contractively decomposable Fourier multipliers, beyond the amenable case.

On introduit un analogue non commutatif de la valeur absolue d'un opérateur régulier agissant sur un espace L^p non commutatif. Nous prouvons également que deux normes classiques d'opérateurs, la norme régulière et la norme décomposable sont identiques. On décrit aussi précisément la norme régulière de plusieurs classes de multiplicateurs réguliers. Cela inclut les multiplicateurs de Schur et les multiplicateurs de Fourier sur certains groupes localement compacts unimodulaires qui peuvent être approximés par des groupes discrets dans des sens variés. Le principal ingrédient est l'existence d'une projection bornée de l'espace des opérateurs complètement bornés sur l'espace des multiplicateurs de Schur ou de Fourier, préservant la positivité complète. Par ailleurs, on montre l'existence de multiplicateurs de Fourier bornés qui ne peuvent être approximés par des opérateurs réguliers, sur de larges classes de groupes localement compacts, incluant tous les groupes localement compacts abéliens infinis. On termine en introduisant une procédure générale pour prouver des résultats positifs sur les multiplicateurs de Fourier contractivement décomposables autoadjoints, au-delà du cas moyennable.